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EBRBRNERAANFAEESERE
B 18ER1903F - RRERLHFAKANE
BEEM - RF1993F6A16B M - B
BREEABTTHERZLIA7RISAEEEY
ARPAERATLT  HMAEBREGNHLETH
BAGE  AF7AEERNEATAERETRN
BR2ZZEELBELARSMET -

AEMEREERWERE  HELUREZA
BRNER - AR ERAEF4ERELE
BABEZESLER  HHR2E17@E%H
BRENMENEERRNERTRZE - HEE
MEERBAREMS LRANRENTER
B ETHERADTHERRNME -

Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the “Company”), the earliest
beer manufacturer in China, can trace its root back to 1903
when its predecessor, Tsingtao Brewery Factory, was first
established. The Company was registered on 16th June, 1993 as
a joint stock company in China and then issued “H” shares in
Hong Kong which were listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 15th July, 1993. It was the first enterprise in
mainland China listed on the stock exchange. In July 1993, the
Company issued “A” shares in Shanghai, which were listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange on 27th August, 1993.

The business scope of the Company is beer manufacturing,
distribution and the related business. The Company, the largest
domestic brewer in terms of production scale and market share,
currently owns 48 beer plants and 3 maiting mills in 17 provinces
and cities all over China. Its product, Tsingtao Beer has become
one of the most well known Chinese brands in the international

market and has been distributed to more than 40 countries and

regions throughout the world.
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EHBERE
Financial Highlights

-~ RERETERGR 1. PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH HK GAAP

(Bl : ARETFTT)

HET-_A=T—BILLFE

(UNIT: RMB’000)

For the year ended 31st December

2003 2001
1TE¥EHE Turnover 6,713,785 6,195,197 4,692,616
2BRBEGAF Profit attributable to shareholders 245,045 221,974 82,942
3BEE Total assets 8,923,569 8,892,456 8,223,093
sBRER Shareholders’ equity 4,414,826 3,184,206 3,071,905
5.8REH (7T Earnings per share(RMB) 0.238 0.222 0.084
6 FEEWGER Return on net assets 5.55% 6.97% 2.70%
7ERERE (T Net assets employed per share(RMB) 4.16 3.18 3.07
8.0 R f & Lt A1 Shareholders’ equity ratio 49.47% 35.81% 37.36%
£H
Group

2003 2002 2007 2000 1999

EEE Turnover 6,713,785 6,195,197 4,692,616 3,448,264 2,253,159
B AT AR Profit before taxation 417,364 368,608 163,000 115,832 74,952
iR Taxation (134,988) (109,317) (62,293) (34,070) {29,071)
LEREER Minority interests (37,331) (37,317) 17,765) (17,950) (3,199)
RREE Profit attributable to 245,045 221,974 82,942 63,812 42,681

BH shareholders

BEE Total assets 8,923,569 8,892,456 8,223,093 6,962,870 5,223,433
HOE=RE Total liabilities (3,929,278)  (5,038,466)  {4,528,405)  (4,177,402)  (2,675,576)
LERRER Minority interests (579,465) (669,784) (622,783) (454,255) (280,448)
REER Shareholders’ equity 4,414,826 3,184,206 3,071,905 2,331,213 2,267,409
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T HRTHEEHENRR

1. RBR003E B EH

(Efr - AREFTT)

2. PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH PRC GAAP

1. 2003 financial information of the Group

(UNIT : RMB’000)

FlE@s Profit before tax 426,212
FAE Net profit 253,872
HEFEFHREBENFAE  Net profit after adjusting the extraordinary items 220,981
FTEEBAE Gross profit 2,387,706
HpEBEH3 Profit from other operations 17,408
2EFNA Operating profit 409,523
HEKH Investment income 13,902
EEEVON Subsidy income 62,885
BRI R Net non-operating expenses (60,098)
GEEHELNBRSMEEE  Net cash flows from operating activities 1,137,961
ReBEME Net increase in cash 75,584
i OEEFEEARERAE
1 RERBRERE BTEBEE - 1. Losses on disposal of long-term (12,645)
REIE BFEE  HEfi equity investments, fixed assets, construction
RHBEELENBRX in progress and other long-term assets
2 BRFTHEE 2. Subsidy income 62,885
3EFENRA(TEERE 3. Non-operating income (excluding gain on 9,584
BEEEKZ) disposal of fixed assets)
4 BRI (TRERE 4. Non-operating expense (excluding loss on {10,734)
BEEERRRIR disposal of fixed assets and impairment
BEFEEREER) provision of fixed assets)
5 AERUERNNGREER 5. Tax effect on extraordinary gain and losses (16,200)

Total

32,890

E
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Financial Highlights {Continued)

LASBEFERSMER QA LAHRMAE
BRETRRARETELNER
E%%L%E'Jéﬁizligﬁz/imﬁ?!i%?mﬁﬁmt?l

(Efl - AR®TT)

= i&ﬁnjiﬁ@ ,

2. The financial statements of the Group are prepared under
generally accepted accounting principles in Hong Kong (“HK

GAAP”) for disclosure purposes of its H Shares listed on The

Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. These standards are

different from the statutory financial statements of the Group

prepared under generally accepted accounting principles in

China (“PRC GAAP”")

(UNIT: RMB’000)

PRC HK
GAAP GAAP
BE Items A B
&R gHER
EHE S BREREERBF Net profit/Profit attributable to shareholders 253,872 245,045
EEHA - Explanation of differences 2003F 20025
BHREGERGFTENFNE  Net profit under PRC GAAP 253,872 230,657
az%.s/%;;zw;;ﬂ%au HK GAAP
Fﬁf’?ﬁ’ﬁﬂ% adjustments:
BEALREHARAUE Additional depreciation charges for (11,480) (11,480)
ﬁhmlmﬁﬁ?ﬁ% fixed assets under HKGAAP
Wikh B e ERKRE Adjustment on amortisation of (11,953) (12,443)
%Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ’]?ﬂ” investment differences under PRC GAAP
iR F R B 2 BIE KT Forfeited payable balances of subsidiaries 840 1,464
REMNEE LR ER Adjustments arising from adoption of (785) (571)
FREMELZRE HK SSAP 12
BREBRRETRYEEREIT  Difference in accounting for interest of 14,493 —
MR ES B A convertible bonds
Ef@ Others 58 14,347
REBEAREHRAFE Profit attributable to shareholders under 245,045 221,974
ZRREERT HK GAAP
TREFEHBERTBER 3. Principal financial data and financial indicators
(BEfz - ARETT) (UNIT: RMB’000)
LE 2003F 2002% 2001 %
TEERBIA Turnover 7,507,959 6,936,734 5,276,725
FHE Net Profit 253,872 230,657 102,888
BEE Total assets 9,002,203 8,938,616 8,243,838
RRES (T2 HBRRER) Total shareholders’ equity 3,513,903 3,197,354 3,074,915
{excluding minority interests)
= Farnings per share 0.2395 0.2307 0.1029
ERFEE Net assets per share 3.32 3.20 3.07
FERNEREEE Net assets per share after adjustments 3.24 3.1 2.94
ERELEYELNBATRERE Net cash flow from operating 1.07 1.1 0.53
activities per share
EEENHE Return on net assets 7.22% 7.21% 3.35%
NEFEENERETEE Return on net assets after adjusting
extraordinary items 6.29% 5.73% 0.75%
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Financial Highlights {Continued)

4 BMEBNBREZEZHEN

(Bl ARBTT)

4. Change in shareholders’ equity in the reporting period

(UNIT: RMB’000)

Opening balance Additions  Reduction Closing balance

ER Items LR rEEM  FEES BREY

A Share capital 1,000,000 60,000 — 1,060,000

BALHE Capital reserve 1,575,972 222,905 — 1,798,877

EELESE Statutory surplus reserve 162,655 55,530 — 218,185

EELES Statutory public 129,570 47,409 — 176,979
welfare fund

ADEMNE Unappropriated profits 328,828 253,872 322,940 259,760

SNERETEEZS Cumulative translation 329 — 228 101
adjustments

BRERERST Total shareholders’ equity 3,197,354 639,489 322,940 3,513,903

ZPRA - Reasons for the changes:

(R : 2003F7EA-BRRIBAENE SR
AEHELEEE60008HRED

(Q)EXLDE  JEREFERPROBRTR
ERMBARERREMR

Q)EEREE  AFRIVATEHROESR

GAEPHEE  AFREBEATOHEE

(G)ARDEMA  REEMSAFERANZFT
B AERIATFRDERABRNER
R

B)IERRFEZRE : MBAFIMERRN
EE®-

(1) Share capital: Conversion of Tranche | of convertible bonds
held by A-B Company into 60,000,000 new H shares.

{2) Capital reserve: Increase due to share premium arising from
the conversion of convertible bonds and forfeiture of payable

halances of subsidiaries.

(3) Statutory surplus reserve: Current year’s appropriation to

statutory surplus reserve.

{4) Statutory public welfare fund: Current year’s appropriation

of statutory public welfare fund.

(5) Unappropriated profits: Addition in current year is the net
profit for the year; Reduction in current year is due to

appropriations to reserves and distribution of dividend.

(6) Cumulative translation adjustment: Translation differences
arising from the translation of financial statements of subsidiaries

denominated in foreign currencies.
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EFR: FuREs

Mr. Li Gui Rong, Chairman

HEURRE

MEEEN2003F  HEEME 2T F LA —
EoBMAELRTEEREBFEL  F
THOBFMLR MEBBTEMBEITAEE
MNSIATEREEE - ASHMACERET
[GRA| - ABAESHTANEEFENZR -
BEEFREETERELRTERHEZ
E EESEHEREEBRRTSRETER
ER EERAAMDIGENRERTEDERE

BARESEIN

20035 - FEIRENSINARE T REERL
BT 2EEERESELT 25408 T
Rt iBRe.4%  LEERE— MSHBEER
MALERT  SOLERENR  BAREE
BABRAMERBEER  INERETE M
AEFENRENE  CEHSREABER
f£ e

TC THE SHAREHOLDERS,

2003 was a significant year of the Company, in which, the
Company not only started a new era by celebrating its centenary
and successfully introduced strategic investor by issuance of
Mandatorily Convertible Bonds, but also suffered and strived
through the impact and trial of “SARS”, “Inundation” and other
calamities. Despite the slight difference existing between the
real annual output and sales volume and the estimated target,
the Board of Directors of the Company confirms and respects
the achievement acquired by the Senior Managements of the
Company through their energetic and innovative hard work under

seriously acute market condition.
DOMESTIC BEER MARKET

The beer market in China maintained a steady year on year
growth of 6.4% in 2003 with annual beer output of 254 million
hl ranking as the world’s No.1 beer market. The market share of
large corporations continuously increased and intensification was
accelerated. Following the conclusion of the Strategic Alliance
between the Company and A-B, foreign breweries enhanced
their investment in China, which further internationalized the

beer market competition.

>g
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Chairman’s Statement {(Continued)

RERBBIRS

LRIREEGRIEE D8 ME - HEInT
EEE  BELEEEE2002EREERNE
BIERBETREER 2FEREAHEEE
3268 T - AEERILY 2EHBHER
125%REE12.8% « REPE LG
B ERTEHEWATS.08ET  ALLERS
% BRZME254ET  BALER106% :
HEO788F#  ALERIS7% - (E2EEE
HOBER50% AL -

ZEABBEBRHACCPRE

n

003 FRABIHIEEBE] - RRIMEEEBK
FHABEHEH -

E2002FRS2BEEETER]| 2% - 2003F
108 REIEERBITEESLER T HACCPEE
EmTEEGIRERE ERHEEIEER
HE2BIER - REIHBREEFHEERER
ﬁl

£ ERTERMTE2TRAK - 87 2FRH

STEADY IMPROVEMENT IN OPERATING RESULTS

Under the principle of “Quality, Brand, efficiency &
standardization”, the Company remained steady growth in all-
economic indexes based on the significant improvement in 2002.
The annual beer output and sales amount of the Company was
32.6 million hl with 9.2% vear on year growth and the market
share of the Company was increased from 12.5% to 12.8%.
Calculated in accordance with GAAP of P.R.C., the sales income
was RMB7,508 million with 8% year on year growth; net profit
was RMB254 million with 10.6% year on year growth; and export
amount was 778.2 thousand hl with 15.7% year on vear growth,

representing over 50% of the nation’s total beer export amount.

AUTHENTICATED BY HACCP

In 2003, the “Year of Quality” of the Company, the management

level of the Company was significantly improved.

After being awarded the “Quality Management” prize in 2002,
the Company passed authentication of HACCP-international food
safety controlling system in October 2003, being the first in

beer industry. During the entire progress from purchase of raw

materials to end of production, the Company realized Zero-risk
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

REBETEE-RBESE RR Z2EHAN
RREREMEBAARRELERBRERN
HERLNEBLE -

REREREBNAER

203 F R [EBRE] B MEENES —
F - RAGEITSERBEERBE  BET R
BEUNREEREE S8R ETIREHEE
EREICETHA -RABEE BRI E
- EH WKEZRE - BRARTEAS
BHHEEREENSY  FRTENREZS
BEmMEEMNMERLES -

AEREHMEABANNER L HHEEXR
ETTERENES  BUTUERTH RO
MEERRBE ERTHENHE  2¥
B RET2ETSNELLL -

through strict regulations on key quality controlling points. Till
now, the Company is the only brewery enterprise in beer industry
that has passed the international authentication of so called “Four
System” including Quality, Environment Protection, Security and

Hygiene & Food Security and owned nation-class researching center.

ADJUSTMENT OF BRAND AND PRODUCT STRUCTURE

Consolidation and development of the “Tsingtao Beer” brand
was the Company’s core strategy in 2003, pursuant to which,
the Company clarified the strategy of brand orientation and brand
development by formulating a five-year plan of brand growing.
Sales amount of Tsingtao Beer, the principal brand, has reached
10.6 million hi, and the secondary brands, which include
“Laoshan”, “Hansi” and “Shanshui”, have also been enhanced.
The sales amount of the top four brands of the Company, Tsingao
Beer, Laoshan, Hansi and Shanshui, represents 53% of the total
sales, which led to a more scientific and reasonable brand

orientation and product structure,

Basing on micro-market research, the Company consolidated its
distribution system and established a distribution network with
core strength in local markets, by which, the Company

maintained its leading role in the national market with

continuous growth of sales market.

>11
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Chairman’s Statement {Continued)

BEEBRARMES

EARLTHEERRRME  BEHRTER
it - REMEFRBETTRAZR  EPD
AEREETERIS BB AIEET -
K& EHRRINEBRE  HAEHEIE

BEFERRREFENLL

EBFERCR  AFBFEEANER BEY
BEX(CETT2E  RANBEFER-BF
RIEOCEBSURDER  hEFaFNHE
BRETHZRT - BRE—% CEEEE
RBRARRLHRFNOEREKED

DEANMEEXICERR  RIEEEHELE
RER RRANEREUER  EEFEILZ
REKOBEELBEYE  REANE B
BWE ERATERBIXBENERRE
MERSEORE  ARAEHNENE

SIGNIFICANT SUCCESS OF BEST PRACTICE EXCHANGE

The Company benefits a lot from the conclusion of the strategic
alliance with A-B through adopting its successful operating
experience and participation of A-B's staffs in the Company’s

governing structure.

With the establishment of Best Practice Exchange Group, the
Company and A-B further exchanged their experiences in process
technology, system efficiency and etc. resulting our management
attention to “High Quality, Precision, Existing Standard and
Sophistication”, which has significant effect on promoting quality

assurance and cost control of the Company.

REFINEMENT OF CENTENNIAL CULTURE IN THE COMPANY’s
CENTENARY

With the Company’s centenary, the Company thoroughly
summarized and refined its culture in the past 100 years together
with domestic and overseas experts and scholars. The exploration
of hundred years’ culture of the brand enlightens the
development in new centenary. Branding as well as corporate
culture has become the significant compositions of the

Company’s core competitiveness.

The Company’s image has been enhanced by the popularity of
corporate culture films and series of books. Tsingtao Beer History
Museum, established during the Company’s centenary, is the
only beer museum in China and has become the history

testimony for development of Chinese beer industry and
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BRENENABRBREESINEREA (7
FREINERBREUNRIUARK I EERR
CBEARLERRBENEAR  RBTH#
BEROBZHIT -

&)

ExmBNEEH

NAHEABRTRIEAEMBB AR  2003F487
108 BRC(ERUERERZINT  MA-BLD
RIBTTAMN N QREEINERNTERE
% BRANUSEEREETTER -

EE ARNEREBRERREEEESGTER
WIMREENEZRRE  RATEEARATSHTEK
BEARS HRREALE LT TEROES
Mim RAF-FKHRRE-—EBHARRES
NSNS

NEERE

EA2004F  PEEETSREARBLARE
BRBENANES  REER  RHHERN

RoHBELELE O THERNE
4 o

coagulation for characteristic culture of Tsingtao Beer. With the
management principle of “Integration of rigid and scientific
management and harmonious interpersonal relationship”, the
development foundation of “Centennial reputation” and the
management theory of “Humanization”, the Company led the

development trend of modern enterprises arousing public awareness.

IMPACT IN CAPITAL MARKET WAS ENHANCED

After the conclusion of strategic alliance with A-B, respectively
in April and October 2003, pursuant to the Strategic Investment
Agreement, the Company issued to A-B Convertible Bonds in
aggregate of HK$1.162 billion, which contributes to the

continuous development of the Company.

The impact of the Company in capital market has been improved
a lot with the widely approve of domestic and overseas investors
in the Company’s development strategy and investment value.
Stock price of the Company’s H shares was the highest among
its 10 years’ listing to become the first listed company who has
ever had higher H share price than A share.

BUSINESS PROSPECTS IN THE COMING YEAR

In 2004, Chinese beer market will face enhanced severe
competition from international large brewery groups and price
inflation of energy and raw materials, and thus breweries will

bear more burdens on production and operation.

>13
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AHBRRENNE  DRSEENENED
RGBS URBEAMEARBER  LERA
e BLEREE  HEBHOCXERE
HORSFEEENTIRNE  EEREREM
BERMEEE MATImE F_RENE
HERRSAMEREN  BBREBARA
MBTENESN  BEEAEER £ —#
REF ESIGOBER R - BLEIE - ARM
EmEHEN  ENRSEREE  LHLRY
DERESKOTAER  NFRERER
iy 5

HLENBEFEORE  RERAETHBAEIX
fim 0 WIB2004F ARIMEE FHEA B
B RLHIT BAEBE EETR 5
BEE SBHER| BOIRTHEARF
MELBENMASERRESE N UBEENE
EFECERBER -

2004FRRIMKREER EREEEHSE
0B TH  HREZMEEEII20BTAH 2%
ERREEEERBERN BRY LFEE
EAZHREMBAERTRMED -

B AARABE-—FTHTOAANLE
MEABRRNERSHNEREREREIH
DAL By LT

EER

EH R
FEARANE - 58
20045 4H18

Facing various difficulties and challenges, the Company shall
continue to enhance internal system consolidation, optimize
resource distribution with the target of improving system efficiency
by utilization of synergy effect; Improve utilization efficiency of
inventory capitals by reorganizing the acquired enterprises; Continue
to optimize products and brands structure and enhance sales amount
and market competitiveness of the principal brand and the
secondary brands and promote brand image and vitality by brand
consolidation; Continue to consolidate value chain to search for
new improvement measures in every sector; Promote attentive
management; Raise product selling price timely under market
research to offset the negative affect caused by price inflation of

raw materials and strive for a rich return to the shareholders.

With the beginning of another 100 years, the Company launched
the “Continuous Development” Symposium and established the
Company’s 2004 operation principal “attentive management,
enhanced execution, consolidation of value chain, promotion
of exchange, continuous development and rebuilding of a new
base”. The Company is dedicating to enhance its core
competitiveness and continuous developing capability and build

a solid base for development.

Operating target of the Company in 2004: Beer output of 36
million hl, of which 12 million hl is the principal brand. The
Board of Directors confirms that the above target is pragmatic
and steady, and the senior management is quite confident in

realizing it.

Finally, | would like taking this chance to express my sincere
gratitude and appreciation to the shareholders for their strong,
wholehearted support and to the enterprise top management as
well as alf the staff members for their loyalty, dedication and

excellent result achieved in the past year.

Li Gui Rong

Chairman

Qingdao, People’s Republic of China
1st April, 2004
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PRAENRRERNBEEENNTHESS
HTREMSNSE BEER - OFRER
BEEEMGNATEHTEAMENRENE
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B ZAEEEB —BHRIADHEARZ
% TEHBRETENEEEHKT  FHF
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B-EERBENERRETHBEASINE
2 WMTRREDSNELE

1. HOW DO YOU THINK THE PROSPECT FOR CHINESE
BEER MARKET?

The continuous development of Chinese economy and consuming
level promoted the continuous and steady growth of domestic
beer market. International Beer Giants enhanced their investment
in Chinese beer market and formed some regional beer
enterprises groups with foreign capital background. After the
new round competition and market trial, the Chinese beer
industry will be further intensified in production and the average
profit margin and profitability will also be improved. Most of
the market share of Chinese beer market will be dominated by
several large beer groups. The Company’s target is continuously
enhancing its own advantages to keep its leader’s role in Chinese

beer market.
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Freguently Asked Questions (Continued)

2. RESHENTEREEBEME"?

RANEERSPEEEQ T EAEE - T
BEPREENBEERMEEKENER
MAERSHTENEE - 2035 FBERE
BEI0BTH  SEHEF120ETAH -2
EIRERANEENMZENE G (BIEB
W GEHE W) RBEE A FERIER28%  F
mENE _—_mENEESFHRERERARE
BIHEN60% o

3. HEERENE KRSRENERL
o oRBAEE"?

SENREANBERSARERMHEBERER
REEE L £ERKAE  ESHFRNE
BHBEMRLA - REREZBHERARARNE
ERARLEMAO4% « Bt B MBRIUAT
B (DEARRRES BRAIREH
E ENBEA QBIREREEBNEL:
B)oEE 728 KELHIBERE
B (ESEERE
K G)REHERE ZEEFR - BBUL
BERNAFEERERZURTHTE -

REER - BEMX

2. WHAT ARE THE BRAND MARKETING STRATEGIES OF
THE COMPANY IN THE FUTURE?

The Company will continue to follow its strategy of developing all
premium, medium and low grade products as a whole and increase
the sales volume in premium and medium market with the
continuous growth of Chinese economy and consuming level. The
sales volume of the principal brand has reached 10.6 million hl in
2003, and will be increased to 12 million hl this vear. The Company
also enhanced its secondary brands in the last year, which includes
“Laoshan”, “Hansi” and “Shanshui”, to have 28% year on year
growth. The sales volume of the principal brand and secondary
brands will be increased to represent 60% of the Company’s total

sales volume.

3. WHAT WILL THE COMPANY BO TO OFFSET THE IMPACT OF PRICE
INFLATION IN RAW MATERIALS, ENERGY AND TRANSPORTATION?

Due to the significant price inflation in raw materials and energy
like rice, water, power supply and coal this year, the production
cost of the Company will have a 4% year on year growth. In
order to offset the aforesaid impacts, the Company will execute
the following: (1) Promote brand consolidation, increase sales
volume of the principal brand and improve sales income; (2)
Promote product structure consolidation; (3) Adjust product sales
price timely in some regions and brands; {4) Improve operation

efficiency & lower costs; (5) Improve synergy effect and

consolidate resource.
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Frequently Asked Questions (Continued)

4. FHRSHEFBOEARBAWL?

BEATRLCABEATENEEARE - B

PEHERENERERERAARAERE LT
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BEHR70% - RMBERARELEERT
ARERASEBEEEENTIEFE - &8
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NHEERATRTEATSAHBHRRE B
ERFHeEmnBanEd  EL£FARR
B RABERABEBRENR 25 RNE
BEBLENEE  UWARSEABREZELA
MRRENE ARENSISRINES &
MEeBERTETENXFTREL  UESE
NEIBBRESEX -

5. HABLAIKEAEMBEBER HEE
BEEMNERMAE"?

REEREBRERR  RATERBRA
ﬁ BBESFMESTILEZETINE
FEENZTSIATABEEHELERS
BRI - RA-BARIMRREALRTEE
CEEEREFETRNEMZERUILE
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R
B
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BELEM RIBERRE &

\>)

i

A

ETEBEFEETTEANRE  HABLAF
HMEZMEESTEREAAFNNANHEERL
Mg EHEBRSENEREHEL -

mm%mwrﬂ@m}W‘M

&

4. WHAT IS THE ACQUISITION AND DEVELOPMENT PLAN
OF THE COMPANY IN NEXT YEARS?

The Company has changed its developing strategy of enlargement
to internal consolidation after the fulfillment of its strategic
fayout. Currently, the Company has in total 50 million hl annual
production output with capacity utilization rate of 70%. The
improvement of capacity utilization rate will become the major
development strategy of the Company. During the development
in previous years, the Company seized the chance to fulfill its
strategic layout in domestic market. However, some factories
acquired that were too concentrated in the map had very low
capacity utilization rate. The Company will consolidate the
capitals of aforesaid factories to set out the scale effect of the
Company and in appropriated time acquire existing breweries
or build new factories in markets with better prospect to keep

the enlargement of the Company.

5. WHAT KIND OF ASSISTANCE HAS A-B PROVIDED TO
THE COMPANY AFTER THE CONCLUSION OF STRATEGIC
ALLIANCE?

With the conclusion of strategic alliance with A-B, the Company
not only raised US$182 million by issuing Convertible Bonds to
A-B, but also introduced the advanced operation, management
principles and techniques from A-B. Besides the participation of
A-B representatives in the Board, the Supervisory Committee
and the Special Committees under the Board, the Company has
also established 5 Best Practice Exchange Groups with A-B to
exchange experience in enterprise system efficiency and quality
control. The Company benefited a lot on its development by
introducing mature management experience and technique of

international large corporates from A-B.
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ARRINFERBAEERHESEH - B2  The Company is principally engaged in the production and
AKEERAFENEREEE HEREA  distribution of beer products. The Subsidiaries and associated
25 companies are principally engaged in the production, sales and

domestic trading of beer products.

AEBEEBRBAETT2HEEREES  The Group’s turnover and profit are substantially derived from
EmMESE - the production and domestic trading of beer products.

1. REFEEBRWANFEIMENER 1. The Group’s turnover and profit from principal operating
TR (RPEEHERTH) activities by geographical markets (Calculated in
accordance with PRC GAAP)

hE Region FTEERRN TEEENE
Turnover Profit

(AREET) (AREET)

(RMB0000) (RMB'0000)

B Qingdao 216,193 81,951
WER(T2ES) Shandong (Except Qingdao) 110,526 18,024
Eit North China 172,656 39,256
EE South China 265,625 86,675

O E Export 37,966 12,865
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2. FEERQATARSKRLAFAMEEBEAR 2. Operations and results of principal holding companies
ES and investors

RENOFRFIZAMAIRFLAER: (8 The particulars of the top three most profitable subsidiaries of

FEEHELNHE) the Company in year 2003: (Calculated in accordance with
PRC GAAP)
(Ef7 - ARKET) (Unit: RMB'0000)
nNEER ITEER ZRET RERK IE€ FNE
3.2 ON
Company Name Principal Activities Registered Assets  Income Net Profit
Capital from
principal
operating
activities
EEEERREREMALH ERNRELERHE 22,220 59723 111,529 6,758
Tsingtao Brewery Xi‘an Company Domestic production
Limited and sales of beer
RNEERBHEAFRAA TERRERE 30008%7T 73,208 41,645 6,018
Shenzhen Tsingtao Beer Ashai Production and sales US$30 million
Company Limited of beer
FIMESREREERAF BREEES 2,000 48,824 139,092 5,846
Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Sales Domestic trading of beer

Company Limited

3. ZEEIEHEBNEFER 3. Major suppliers and customers during the year

(WA QB R KE)HEE BEE Cerecom Cereal (1) The largest supplier of the Company during the year was

Commerce GmBh ' BIA &M EE S5 #5KE  Cerecom Cereal Commerce GmBh of Germany and the top five

SHERAREERELSTEN135% - largest suppliers of the Company during the year accounted for
13.5% of the total purchases of the Company.

—~

]

DELARANBEEEFLABEFTERMAAEMR () The largest customer of the Company during the year was

A ADEEPHEEEAHELRHERSE  Taiwan Tsingtao Beer Co., Ltd. And the top five largest customers
898% & HFIGHNHE R D LD H30% of the Company during the year accounted for 8%, less than
30% of the total sales of the Company.

AEEARN AREEESE EERHEBHEATLT  During the year, none of the Directors, Supervisors and their
NEABERRERAZ A% ZRRBIWEHEE  associates or shareholders holding more than 5% of the
iz R REERNEMES - Company’s share capital had an interest in any of the top five

largest suppliers or customers of the Company.
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1. ROZHBER

(Bfz - BiR)

2. DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of RMBO0.2 per
share for the year ended 31st December, 2003, and the remaining

unappropriated profit wilt be transferred to the next financial

year. The above proposal could only be put into effect after

approval of the Company’s 2003 Annual General Meeting.

3. CHANGES OF SHARE CAPITAL & INFORMATION OF
SHAREHOLDERS

1. Changes of Share Capital

{Unit: ‘0000 Shares)

TREEIEH
(+4)
R Increase/ R
SEA Decrease 2%
Beginning  (+, -) During End of
of Period the Year Period
— FLEWmRERR (1) Unlisted Shares
N Promoter’s Shares
= Including:
BxREERH State-owned Shares 39,982 39,982
BREABERD Domestic Legal 5,333 5,333
RETRBREAS Sub-total of Unlisted Shares 45315 45,315
Z.BLWMIRBERAR {2) Listed Shares
LAREZTER 1.RMB-Dominated
(ARR) Ordinary Shares (A shares) 20,000 20,000
2. BN ETRIINVE R 2.0verseas Listed
(HR) Foreign Shares (H shares) 34,685 6,000 40,685
ELmRARGE Sub-total of Listed Shares 54,685 60,685
= Bheg (3) Total Listed Shares 100,000 6,000 106,000
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LRERTRLETRER

() ZALDEIR2001F2A58E208E LBES
RPMIEEARBEER100008% - 5E
TERARE787T  2000E6 7882 £
MRE e ARBRAEEIER -

(2)2002% 108218 - AAFEZREEEE
BEEH-MAEAR([ABLE]) BEE(EEKL
REWE) - KOFMA-BL A D = HE M7
BEER1,416,1953428 TR E B AT RE
5 HERMERTNERALEHERRLRE
SNEVETHER « 2 BBRTME - A-BREIEARLD
AR L B2 NEI27% -

200354818 RRFRBERBEHLTERA-
BZX 7817 7 E1E907,920,000/E LK & — H 7
REZGNES  ZEESER2003F4518
B8R © 2003F10H218 + KALQ B AA-BAAE#
TT{EBE254137,671TBETME=ZEMNE—5
HipER  ZEELTHN2003F10A21AER
NERITIRS o

N

2. Issue of Shares and Listing

{1) The Company Issued 100 million additional RMB-Dominated
Ordinary Shares in addition from 5th February to 20th February,
2001 in Shanghai Security and Stock Exchange with price of
RMB7.87 per share. The above shares are all listed from 7th
June, 2001 and the total share capital of the Company was

increased to 1 billion shares.

(2) Pursuant to the Strategic Investment Agreement signed by
the Company with a US beer brewer, Anheuser-Busch (A-B),
Inc. on 21st October, 2002, the Company shall issue an aggregate
of HK$1,416,195,342 Mandatorily Convertible Bonds to A-B in
three tranches, and convert all bonds into additional H shares
of the Company within a specified period pursuant to the
agreement. Upon full conversion into additional H shares of the
Company, the shareholding of A-B in the Company will be

increased to 27%.

On Tst April, 2003, the Company issued Tranche | and Tranche
Il Convertible Bonds in an aggregate of HK$907,920,000 to A-B
pursuant to the agreement, which was remitted to the specified
account of the Company On 1st April, 2003. On 21st October,
2003, the Company issued the first Sub-tranche of Tranche IlI
Convertible Bonds to A-B in an aggregate of HK$254,137,671,
which was remitted to the specified account of the Company on
27st October, 2003.
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2003F7R28 « AARIMA-BARIBEITNEE
28,0808 BTN E MU BBEFERALT
EE1TH6,000B8BHARR G - BRR{ER4.68E
T ME-—HREFBRAARTERE (10E
R)EI6% °

3.RERER

(MNHEHRLIBELEH92,605F + HF
HIERR R B610F ©

On 2nd July, 2003, Tranche I convertible bonds in an aggregate
of HK$280,800,000, which the Company issued to A-B, was
converted to 60 million new H shares at HK$4.68 per share.
The above 60 million new H shares represent 6% of the
Company’s total share capital {1 billion shares) before closing

of Tranche I.

3. Shareholders

{1) At the end of the reporting period, the total number of the
shareholders of the Company was 92,605, out of which there

are 610 H-share shareholders.
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(DBEBREREFI0ELRE - (2) The top 10 shareholders of the Company at the end of the

reporting period

BAEA HREE BRERE GERELA HRER BOHE
Name Type of Share At end of period  Percentage to Increase/ Nature of
() total share Decrease  Shareholding
(shares) capital ()
(%) (shares)

EEMERAEEENRAE A 399,820,000 37.72 0 BEx i
Office of Qingdao State-owned State-owned
Assets Administration Bureau shares
BETREE(REA)BRAT H 293,981,380 27.73 2,769,000 B
HKSCC Nominees Limited Listed shares
TR - ARERERLE H 105,000,000 9.91 60,000,000 Rk
Anheuser-Busch Companies Inc. Listed shares
FREBTLRENTT A 29,250,000 276 — EAR
Bank of China, Shandong Legal Person
Province Branch Shares
TEERBGTERTNT A 19,080,000 1.8 - EAR
Construction Bank of China, Legal Person
Qingdao Branch Shares
GHETREREFREES A 6,437,028 0.61 - BB
E Fund Stable Growth Fund Listed shares
BBHERESFREED A 5,025,025 0.47 — RBBR
Rongtong New Blue Chip Fund Listed shares
ERETUBRBERLT A 5,000,000 0.47 — EAK
Qingdao Huaging Financial Service Legal Person
Company Limited Shares
BUBHREES A 4,976,131 0.47 — AR
Tonggian Fund Listed shares
REESREES A 3,708,475 0.35 — AR
Han Sheng Fund Listed shares

RAFESEAREESMALESREES  The fund managers of Rongtong New Blue Chip Fund and
NESEBARARBESEEEMR~AT &  Tonggian Fund are both within Rongtong Fund. Office of
EMEEEETERAE([HEM]) MA-BL  Qingdao State-owned Assets Administration Bureau (State Asset
AIEARAISIAEEABREEEMNEX - Office) and A-B Company became concerted parties after the
TEA - Company introduced A-B as the strategic investor.
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BRULDASH » RDRE A HEA 10ZERE2HE
REEEMBUEER ARROHREFEER

RRENER  WREBTR-HOIPA -
B ARAE-ABRRREBTHAEEERE
WAE EEBMEZEBAEEENRTHA -

(4)BERRARFFI0ZRBBRBEE

Save as disclosed herein, the Company is not aware of any
existence of associated relationship among the top 10
shareholders and of whether the shares held have been pledged

or prohibited for sale or held by concerted parties.

(3) Office of Qingdao State-owned Assets Administration Bureau
is the controlling shareholder of the Company, which is the
government department of Qingdao City for administrating state-

owned assets.

{4) The top 10 listed-shares shareholders of the Company at the
end of the reporting period

BEA BRES HRBERE
Name Type of Share At end of period
(&)

(shares)

%%#%%ﬁ(ﬁ@/\%ﬁﬂﬁﬂﬂ HKSCC Nominees Limited H 293,981,380
TR — TEBREERAR Anheuser-Busch International Inc H 105,000,000
HHETRBERBHREES E Fund Stable Growth Fund A 6,437,028
ﬁaﬁ@% EEBHRERER Rongtong New Blue Chip Fund A 5,025,025
BuEFREES Tonggian Fund A 4,976,131
ERESFREES Han Sheng Fund A 3,708,475
WrtERREES: Yu Yuan Fund A 3,463,638
%ﬁﬁ% H5HREES Yu Yang Fund A 3,409,406
BREsREES Kexiang Fund A 2,540,000
ERRTUSESLREES Bo Ying Hong Li Income Fund A 2,000,000

SHEFREREFREZSNHAEBSFRE
EENESEEARARSHEESEBRERA
Al MBHERESFRELGVBRESFRE
EENECEEARARBESEEARA
A MTESRAZSNHBEESREESY
ESEREARSBRESEEARLA - Kt
SN - RREE A HER 0B RERER ZE
RETEMEBEE-

4 BRARE

ARRERATEEHELEZRENGEN

The fund managers of E Fund Stable Growth Fund and Kexiang
Fund are both within E Fund Stable Crowth Fund; The fund
managers of Rongtong New Blue Chip Fund and Tonggian Fund
are both within Rongtong Fund; The fund managers of Yu Yuan
Fund and Yu Yang Fund are both within Bo Shi Fund
Management Co., Ltd. Save as disclosed herein, the Company is
not aware of any existence of associated relationship among the

top 10 shareholders.

4. Share option

There are no provisions regarding share option under the Articles

of the Company.
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N EE-EBEE SREBAEER 4. PROFILES OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORS, SENIOR
MANAGEMENT
1LEE ESNEREBABRELSER 1. Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management
$E Mh F& BB L) # K
Name Sex Age Title BRE BREY

Number of Number of
Shares held Shares held
at beginning of at end of

period period
(&) (8)
(shares) (shares)
ThE& 5 64 EEFEER 0 0
Li Gui Rong Male Chairman
EEH £ 47 EHEER B 0 0
Jin Zhi Guo Male Vice Chairman, President
BIR S 5 47 E=Z 5000 5000
Liu Ying Di Male Director
HLE £ 49 EF AR BEHH 0 0
Sun Yu Guo Male Director, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer
Stephen Burrows % 51 EHITEES 0 0
Male Non-executive Director
il 2 55 HUEF 0 0
Chu Zhen Gang Male Independent Director
EavAS B 47 FBMOEE 0 0
Wang Li Jun Male Non-executive Director
BEE 82 40 BUEEF 0 0
Tan Li Ning Male Independent Director
REE g 37 BuEE 0 0
Wu Hai Hua Male Independent Director
BER Z 54 BUEBE 0 0
Pan Gui Rong Female Independent Director
RIF g 58 EEEIR 0 0
Wu Yu Ting Male Chairman of Supervisory Committee
TET g 41 EE= 0 0
Yu Jia Ping Male Supervisor
TR g 41 E= 0 0
Ren Zeng Gui Male Supervisor
BT B 38 E=Z 8000 8000
Huang Zu Jiang Male Supervisor
David Renaud g 49 E= 0 0
Male Supervisor
ElpEp 5 5 E= 0 0
Liu Qing Yuan Male Supervisor
ERR L g 52 E=x 0 0
Zhong Ming Shan  Male Supervisor
RE 2 36 E= 0 0

Chen Jun Male Supervisor
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e Rl & BE B4 X
Name Sex Age Title BRY BRE
Number of  Number of
Shares held Shares held
at beginning of at end of
period period
(&) (&)
(shares) (shares)
B g 47 EBREEx 1261 1261
Sun Ming Bo Male Executive Vice President
Bx £ 53 IgxR 0 0
Teng An Gong Male Chairman of Workers” Union
B 5 44 RITEE 3882 3882
Fan Wei Male Senior Engineer
BB 7o 39 ElEH 0 0
Yan Xu Female Vice President
RER 5 49 AR 1000 1000
Zhang Xue Ju Male Vice President
EIRES g 52 Fex 2000 2000
Cao Xiang Dong Male Vice President
e Z 47 BEIRE 1000 0
Jjiang Hong Female Vice President
R# Z 48 EERHE ETEUE 0 0
Yuan Lu Female Assistant Chairman, Company Secretary

ARE2003F8A13A BE2003F 2R BE
BRE A= &S Mr. Stephen Burrows B E LR &
EEEE ERNALARBUES  EEMn
David Renaud BENEES € EE - 200356
RI7BRBIRRMESESRSRIAER
ARAEBIRREINES -

FTiEE EEREREEAES - M
Stephen Burrows * Mr. David Renaud#& F 8
B2003F8R13B £22005F6A248 1+ &
MIAETHE2003F6R178 8 F200556
A24BIF - EX XL HEHBE2003F10H 28R
FE2005F6 82481 ERABTHF2002
F6A24BBRE205F6724R 1 - ZRL L
RESHBYVDEHEMFEERARARS »

On the 2nd Extraordinary General Meeting held on 13rd August,
2003, Mr. Stephen Burrows was elected as the director of the
4th session Board of Directors, Mr. Chu Zhen Gang was elected
as the independent director and Mr. David Renaud was elected
as the supervisor of the 4th session Supervisory Committee. On
the meeting of Company staffs’ Representatives , Mr. Huang Zu

Jiang was elected as the supervisor representing Company staffs.

Among the above Directors, Supervisors and Senior
Managements, Mr. Stephen J. Burrows, Mr. David Renaud, will
be employed from 13th August, 2003 to 24th June, 2005; Mr.
Huang Zu Jiang will be employed from 17th June, 2003 to 24th
June, 2005; Miss Jiang Hong will be employed from 28th
October, 2003 to 24th June, 2005; the others will be employed
from 24th June, 2002 to 24th June, 2005. Miss Jiang Hong sell
all her shares of the Company at beginning of the reporting

period.
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2. FEBRBMER

(N HMARERF  SHETEE

REEE  BESNENERBELIBRRASES
BENESE EEFEFMIENEE K2
BESOARRATANEERNEERREEH
Bl REEAEEABRNFHREESRAN
KEEFUHIR BEATNEEEEMEAN
AENTERBEARFESHMH -

X

SHEBEISVETARE  £EREH
ZEEYMAEAR76ET 2HEEIH
FEREBANBENABAEGTET

(BIEE EZASHEEABIMEE
AT

k

]
]

T

puss]

G)EUESHNREREMEE

003FELRAIBULEFEURABASETAR
BER)  BEUIIMEESRH -

WELFIEDFMONEE ESARRER
ABF FHI0ETLUARBIA 102158
BBA  15E20BTLH4A  208TLALES
A ° Mr. Stephen J. Burrows * Mr. David
Renaud TR 2 Gl 5 A fth B8 3% 28 iy SHERER B -

2. Annual remuneration
(1) Procedure and Basis for deciding remuneration

The remuneration of the Company’s directors and supervisors
should be decided in accordance with the operating profit of
the Company, the annual remuneration plan and the service
agreement for the Company’s directors and supervisors approved
by the Company’s General Meeting; The remuneration of the
Company’s top managements should be decided in accordance
with the remuneration plan for the Company’s top managements
approved by the Board, the Company’s operating profit and

individual role responsibility.

{2) The 2003 annual remuneration of the Company’s directors ,
supervisors and top managements was in total RMB2.8 million;
the total annual remuneration of the highest paid top three
directors was RMB476 thousand, and the total remuneration of
the highest paid top three senior managements was RMB670

thousand.
{3) Subsidy and other pay of independent directors

The 2003 annual subsidy of the independent directors paid by
the Company was RMB50 thousand (including tax) for each

without any other payments.

(4) Among the Company paid directors , supervisors and top
managements, one people was paid within RMB100 thousand
annual remuneration; 8 people were paid RMB100 thousand to
RMB150 thousand annual remuneration; 4 people were paid
RMB150 thousand to RMB200 thousand annual remuneration;
and 3 people were paid more than 200 thousand. Mr. Stephen J.
Burrows and Mr. David Renaud are not on the payroll of the
Company, shareholder’s companies or other associated

companies.
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3.2003510A28H AR ZEWNEEEEENR
eE BEILNAEE RLFEFEAEHT
REBEHM  BARFBRDEERLZ LA
NRIBEEE  BIRESENERRZ IR
TRFEERHE -

I. EEREEUBROZEAR

BRLEXHFREZEN  FAATRAECANBEAR
BENERNIABEHSEEARE  AHELD
AlZEERESUREB AR AFARITEME
BRI EFMER -

N, REEEER

1. NERRE

Rl

ARFCEITRHBRENGELEE =&
TERRAE E2¢ EF® LEERIH
BWEERN TEYTHABNZFRIMI
EHE  UREBERHEEE  BEEE-- BE
HARB(ETARAEERDNENR  BRT
REEREBAT  HNHEF  HBEZEH
EZSEMESEREN—FU L EPBEVE
EEESEREN=NZ ML

3. On the Ninth Meeting of the Fourth Session Board of
Directors held on 28th October, 2003, Mr. Sun Yu Guo, the
director and vice president of the Company, was appointed as
chief accountant of the Company; Miss Jiang Hong, the assistant
president of the Company, was appointed as vice president of
the Company, and Miss Yuan Lu, the Company secretary , was

appointed as assistant director of the Board.

5. DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS RIGHTS TC ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Supervisors,
their associates and senior management has any interests in the
equity or debt securities of the Company or any of its associated
company, or had been granted or exercised any right to subscribe

for the shares or debentures of the Company.

6. CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

1. Corporate Governance

The Company has established regulatory corporate governance
structure, perfected the management mechanism characterized
by intro-surveillance among the shareholders’ meeting , the
Board, the Supervisory Committee and top management, and
set up relevant procedure rules as well as working regulations
to ensure harmonized, regulatory operation. During the reporting
period, the Articles of the Company was amended in accordance
with Criteria of Corporate Governance of Listed Companies. The
external directors and supervisors represented respectively over
half of the composition of the Board and the Supervisory
Committee, of which independent directors represent over one

third of the Board Members.
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The Board of Directors deeply recognized the importance of
proper corporate governance for protection of shareholders’
interest and enhancement of shareholders’ value and operate in
strict compliance with relevant supervision regulations of both
domestic and abroad as well as the Company’s Articles. The
Board has set up three special committees respectively as Strategy
and Investment Committee, Audit and Finance Committee and
Human Resource and Corporate Governance Committee, all of
which have their own working regulations so as to ensure
scientific and efficient decision of the Board. In accordance
with the Stragetic Investment Agreement signed by the Company
with A-B, respective representatives of A-B have entered the
Board, the Supervisory Committee and the special committees
of the Board during the report period to promote the
internationalization and advance the corporate governance of

the Company.

2. Discharge of Responsibilities by Independent Directors

Among the three special committees, independent directors
representing the majority assume chairmanship in Audit and
Finance Committee and Human Resource and Corporate
Governance Committee except Strategy & Investment Committee.
The independent directors attended all the meetings held by the
Board in the reporting period and chaired 7 meetings of the
special committees under the Board, in which they put forward
many constructive opinions and recommendations related to
financial auditing, appointment of top management, material

operational decisions and etc..

3. The Company has been separated from its controlling
shareholder (Qingdao State-owned Assets Administration Office)
in business, staff, asset, organization, finance and etc. to have

its individual and complete business and self operating capability.

4. The Human Resource and Corporate Governance Committee
has initially established the remuneration and assessment policy
for the Company’s top managements, and award or punish them
in accordance with the evaluation of their responsibilities and

annual achievements.
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1.2003F 1 A23B AR 8D 52 H2003 F B
BEAE NERBEHBEEAS  HREER
RA® LR BARN200FNAIBETAE
E(REERB)  (LEBEHB  BA(XE
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HEEREREASHREMRERIZEARRE
B (7 80816,404,9508% © {2 A B8 KK
81.64% @ HAEARBERER - BEREAE
NEBAZRFZUBRBNUTRZ (D
£ WAREBR(EBUREGS) RMBERERE
BERETHRS  QLERREREES
SR EERERZReRB(EALANE
REHTEDRAEER  ABAFRIREMBMES
—“HOTEMATEL#R  AFTREATHE
REREMEERZS REFRLAREERENT
B LWRRIRBREEZL BB TARE
(NEBEEMABLAINEREAZITASE
HR1,416,195 3428 T A B ES - TIRE
ESTAMENLEFMEE  UREEHA
AEREDAERVENEBI  URMOTH
MR EE - ) KEZEZETHABAFIT
FABBREFNERERAVERITH  8R
HEARBITOHERED : QRERRER
RrERESNELABER (WA (WHE
FERAEHT(EBURERS) RETIER
ERRLEZEARNARERELEI - 5

7. PROFILE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

1. On 23rd January, 2003, the Company held respectively EGM,
the H Shares EGM and the A Shares EGM, and the notices of
the above meetings were published on 9th December, 2002 in
“China Securities Journal”, “Shanghai Securities Journal”, Hong
Kong “Wen Wei Po” and “The Standard”.

The shareholders and their agents attending the EGM represented
816,404,950 shares, 81.64% of the Company’s total share capital,
which was in accordance with the Articles of the Company. The
following resolutions had been considered and approved in the
EGM: (1) Approve and confirm the Strategic Investment
Agreement and the related transactions in accordance with the
Agreement; (2) Approve and confirm the Securities and Futures
Commission of Hong Kong to issue Whitewash Waiver Certificate
to Qingdao State-Owned Assets Administration Office, A-B
Company and their concert parties in accordance with Takeovers
Code of Hong Kong to authorize them to acquire the exist shares
of their own company without having to put forward mandatory
acquirement proposal. The following special resolutions have
been considered and approved: (1) Directors are hereby
authorized to issue to A-B or it's nominees the Convertible Bonds
in the aggregate of HK$1,416,195,342 and the Directors are
also authorized to increase the registered capital of the Company
and make appropriate and necessary amendments to the Articles
of Association of the Company as they think fit to reflect such
increase in the registered capital of the Company. (2) The
Directors are authorized to issue such number of H shares of
RMB1.00 each as may be required to be issued pursuant to the
conversion of Convertible Bonds. (3) The shareholders approve
the waiver and giving up of their pre-emptive rights (if any). (4)
Approved and confirmed the amendments to the Articles of the
Company which was made incidental to the performance of the
Strategic Investment Agreement and the issue of the Convertible
Bonds; The Directors are authorized to modify the wordings in

the Articles of the Association of the Company as appropriate
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NEREESEVERBITRAEEAXE I
R RSEENTEARBIENR

EREAERBFRREAEHRTIRETREA
HRERMDE5E479,310,5828% - EALQEE
BOTNERRNNTI.I8%  FEALRERE
Ko NARBERRASUREIAZERRABU
TRE: (VEREZERABRAAIIEREAR
TTARSBER,416,1953428 L 7] B (E
o UEBESUEENAAFERERE L
FEBHARMARRREELEERLENE
FoURBOABEMRANES: Q) BEE
ERTEABARITRAIEABEMERER
FrBRas SREEAREITHHRR
Q) EAEREERETERAESNELE
ER(WAE) (D EREZESRT(EBEER
ERB)RBOIAERELRNLEZHRAAN
DAIBEREHEI  BIERESEVERE
SRRERANT  UHER—MESLEEL
TEVABBITER -

HEHRESREARENBRRAMBRERZEAL
REBRMDE H337,094,3688  EADEICH
THER A9 #997.18% - HEAABIERER -
HEBEERRAEFZBRT ENEREGRR
RAEEZNTARNNBERRRER -

2.20035F58208 A QA BA200EEREF
g LERRFEMNRENRERBAZARE
% 17 £1800,375,3398  {E R D B AR A&
80.04%  FTEEARBERNERX -

and to do all acts may be necessary or desirable to give effect to

the amendments.

The shareholders and their agents attending the EGM of A shares
represented 479,310,582 shares, which is 73.38% of the
Company’s total A share capital in accordance with the Articles
of the Company. The following resolutions had been considered
and approved in the EGM of A shares: (1) Directors are hereby
authorized to issue to A-B or it's nominees the Convertible Bonds
in the aggregate principal amount of HK$1,416,195,342.00 and
the Directors are also authorized to increase the registered capital
of the Company to make appropriate and necessary amendments
to the Articles of the Company as they think fit to reflect such
increase in the registered capital of the Company. (2) The
Directors are authorized to issue such number of H shares of
RMB1.00 each as may be required to be issued pursuant to the
conversion of Convertible Bonds. (3) The shareholders approve
the waiver and giving up of their pre-emptive rights (if any). (4)
Approved and confirmed the amendments to the Articles of the
Association of the Company which was made incidental to the
performance of the Strategic Investment Agreement and the issue
of the Convertible Bonds; The Directors are authorized to modify
the wordings in the Articles of the Association of the Company
as appropriate and to do all acts may be necessary or desirable

to give effect to the amendments.

The shareholders and their agents attending the EGM of H shares
represented 337,094,368 shares, which is 97.18% of the
Company’s total H share capital in accordance with the Articles
of the Company. The four same special resclutions with A shares
ECM had been considered and approved in the EGM of H shares.

2. The Company convened its 2002 annual general meeting
(AGM) on 20th May, 2003. The shareholders and their agents
attending the AGM represented 800,375,379 shares, which is
80.04% of the Company’s total share capital in accordance with

the Articles of the Company.
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CEREUNERAZREEZVBAIRA200FE
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3.200358R13B AR A BF2003F H2.REE
HREAE - LHERBREASHBRIARR
REAERREDE610,091,6815 © (FAAQ
RIBIRAES5755% MEALRERER -

BERRAGUEAXZRZFELIBEBUTR
2 HARLRESEREBAERAFER
FOMEB TR BINBME13ENEE T
REEZSAEEREHMBRLIEMHER (10
B)RERBUFHEANFERREM—Y)
EECURBAMNAZREER D BBUTRE
(1) 555 - EEMr. Stephen J. Burrows 5 A& R
AFERITESE ¢ (2) 8% - EHEDavid Andrew
Renaud AR ARIESE 0 3)BELQAHTHER
TEFERBAAERBIES -

el

i

The following 5 ordinary resolutions were considered and
approved in the AGM: The Work Report of the Company’s Board
of Directors for the year 2002, The Work Report of the Company’s
Supervisory Committee for the year 2002, The Company’s Audited
Financial Statements for the year 2002, The Company’s Proposal
for Profit Distribution and Special Dividend Payment, The
Appointment of domestic auditor and international auditor for
the year 2003 and the authorization to the Board of Directors

for fixing auditors’ remunerations.

3. The Company convened the 2nd ECM of 2003 in 13th August,
2003. The shareholders and their agents attending the EGM
represented 610,091,681 shares, which is 57.55 % of the
Company’s total share capital in accordance with the Articles of

the Company.

The following ordinary resolutions have been considered and
approved by the EGM: The Board of Directors was authorized to
modify paragraph 1 of Article 93, Article 122 and Article 123
and was also authorized to modify the wordings in the Article
of the Company and to do all acts may be necessary or desirable
to give effects to the amendments pursuant to the requirement
(if any) of the relevant governmental authorities. The following
special resolutions have been considered and approved by the
EGM:, (1) Appoint and elect Mr. Stephen J. Burrows as a non-
executive director of the Company; (2) Appoint and elect Mr.
David Andrew Renaud as a supervisor of the Company; (3)
Appoint and elect Mr. Chu Zhen Gang (currently a non-executive
director of the Company) as an independent director of the

Company.
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8. DAILY WORKS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Meeting of the Board of Directors in the reporting period:

The Company convened the extraordinary meeting of the 4th
session Board of Directors on 8th January, 2003. The Board
considered and approved the resolution of acquiring 24% equity

of Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou) Company Limited.

On 28th January, 2003, the Company convened the extraordinary
meeting of the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board
considered and approved the resolution that the Company was
entrusted for the management of 80% equity of Tsingtao Brewery

(Yangzhou) Company Limited by the Group.

On 15th February, 2003, the Company convened the 5th meeting
of the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board considered and
approved the 2002 Annual Working Report of the President,
Budget Plan of 2003 and the Construction of Tsingtac Beer

Museum.

On 28th February, 2003,

extraordinary meeting of the 4th session Board of Directors. The

the Company convened the

Board considered and approved the cooperation between the

Company and Shanxi Baoji Brewery Company Limited.

On 31st March, 2003, the Company convened the extraordinary
meeting of the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board
considered and approved the issue of Tranche | and Tranche |
Convertible Bonds to A-B.

On 2nd April, 2003, the Company convened the 6th meeting of
the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board considered and
approved the Annual Report of 2002, the Company's proposal
for profit distribution and special dividend payment, the
utilization plan of the proceed raised from the issuance of
Tranche | and Tranche Il Convertible Bonds to A-B by the
Company, the amendments of some Articles in the Articles of

the Company.

—
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2003F4F29HBRFENEEEEE7NE; On 29th April, 2003, the Company convened the 7th meeting of
ZERRBTLR003FE1FERSE (REE  the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board considered and
i) oo approved the First Quarter Repart of 2003 (unaudited).

2003F6 A2 EHEMEEEGHETEEE - On 26th June, 2003, the Company convened the extraordinary
EZBBENREABRRE-HHESLSE
% - B8R [El B Mr. Stephen Burrows BE B 1R
AMBRBIEERDNBAIBLESHEEALNE  Bonds into shares by A-B, The approval of Mr. Stephen Burrows
e as the Candidate of the Company’s Director and Mr. Chu Zhen

e

meeting of the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board

e

considered and approved the Conversion of Tranche | Convertible

Gang as the Candidate of the Company’s independent Director.

2003 58A13REHRELNEESE R
REBE BRLBEBR2003FHHE
EREEN) BUESHE A8
ESgTEN=-EEMEEgRE
FTETIEAMNZER  BEEEHME
BHE-

On 13th August, 2003, the Company convened the 8th

meeting of the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board
considered and approved The Interim Results of
2003(unaudited), Regulations of Independent Directors,
Adjustment of the three Special Committees & the
Modification of their working rules, and the

Renumeration Plan of the Directors.

2003F9A3CRERENEES
EREgE  FERABEREA-
BARIBITE =M E— 55K
EHETHMNER

On 30th September, 2003, the Company convened
the extraordinary meeting of the 4th session Board

of Directors. The Board considered and approved

o

the resolution of issuing the first part of Tranche Il

Convertible Bonds to A-B.

2003F10ACHEBHENEES
eHREBeE ERABERNEHR
HERDVPTERGHRBERS
EEMEE -

On 8th October, 2003, the Company convened the
extraordinary meeting of the 4th session Board of
Directors. The Board considered and approved the
resolution of constructing a new brewery in

Ningxiang County, Changsha City, Hunan Province.

20035 10A1EBRENEESE2BRESHE - On 15th October, 2003, the Company convened the
EZ RPN PEEZE=EEMEEE€EHE extraordinary meeting of the 4th session Board of Directors. The
MEE - Board considered and approved the resolution of adjusting the

three Special Committees.
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h. BRESEABR

1. RRER2001ELEIBARAEEE S A
R¥787ET  BEARSEHER KBRAZLT
MEBEEREMTSARREAKRPIN &
BREEESRAEEC 2B IRELELH
#e HBRBEEESARMI2820BTERAR
REIREBESFE -

~,

On 28th October, 2003, the Company convened the 9th meeting
of the 4th session Board of Directors. The Board considered and
approved the Company’s third quarter report of 2003 (unaudited);
the resolution of the loan of US$15 million to Tsingtao Beer
(H.K.) Trading Company Limited and the gurantee provided by
the Company in respect thereof; the capital arrangement of the
first sub-tranche of Tranche lIl Convertible Bonds issued by the
Company and the appointment of the Company’s senior

managements.

On 19th December, 2003, the Company convened the
extraordinary meeting of the 4th session Board of Directors. The
Board considered and approved the resolution of the equity

transfer of Tsingtao Brewery (Langfang) Company Limited.

{2) Execution of the Board of Directors on resolutions approved

by the General Meetings

The proposed cash dividend per share distributable to
shareholders amounted to RMBO0.16 (A shares tax included). In
order to celebrate the 100th anniversary of Tsingtao Brewery,
payment of a special cash dividend per share of RMB0.06 (A
shares tax included). The above dividends have been distributed
to the shareholders in 18th July, 2003.

9. USE OF PROCEEDS

1. The Company raised in an aggregate of RMB787 million
through issuance of 100 million additional A shares in 2001.
Till the end of the reporting period, except the draft beer project
in Xian has not been started yet due to the local market prospect,
the other projects invested with the capital raised by additional
issuance of A shares have been completed and begun to bring
about profit. The remaining RMB128.2 million is temporally used

for the Company’s cash flow.
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LERBTIABKRESOEEEERBESNA 2. The capital raised through the subscription of Mandatorily
MABEAMBA  EEBELQRNHES ©  Convertible Bonds has not been invested into any capital
investments in the reporting period, while is temporally used for

compensation of the Company’s cash flow.
T. REEATH 10. CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

E=2HERE2003F1 815 E12831848912  The Board of Directors confirms that the Company has complied

BAEE ARFACAT(EBHAEXHME  with the Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix 14 of the

FETRADMETN 2 GERATE - Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited throught the 12 months period from 1st
January, 2003 to 31st December, 2003,

+-—. EENESESHNERREERIE 11, DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ INTEREST IN
=Xy CONTRACT

AFEERNEZFRESHETRARARLEME  None of the Directors and Supervisors was with material interests
RRGINEAGOREREENES ° in any contracts entered into with the Company or any of its

subsidiaries during the year.

ARAIMAREZIESRESHEEARDEET  Service contracts have been entered into between the Company
URBEHD REFREEHEMAREET  and all appointed Directors and Supervisors. The Directors and
R —FRNEARRRAREMBLERIEEL  Supervisors have not entered into any service contracts with the
BAFLEBNRBEOCETEBERIN o Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year, which are
not terminable by the Company, or such subsidiaries within the
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).

+ . BE  HERERRH 12. PURCHASE, SALES AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

BEHA ALF U ABLERIEEFMET  During the report period, neither of the Company nor any of its
7 MARAREMBLAGETEEEREL  subsidiaries had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed
ERREEFLETBREG o securities of the Company.

]
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13. PRINCIPAL IARIES AND ASSOCIATED

COMPANIES

SUBSID

The particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries and associated
companies are set out in notes of accompanying financial

statements.

14. FIXED ASSETS

Details of movement in fixed assets during the year are set out

in notes of accompanying financial statements.

15. BANK LOANS

Details of bank [oans as at 31st December, 2003 are set out in

notes of accompanying financial statements.

16. OTHER MATTERS TO BE REPORTED

The summary of 2003 annual report of the Company was
published on 2nd April, 2004 in both Chinese and English in
“China Securities Journal”, “Shanghai Securities Journal”, Hong
Kong “Wen Wei Po” and “The Standard” respectively. The annual
report has been compiled in both Chinese and English, in case
any conflicts occurs (except for the audited financial statements

prepared under HK GAAP), the Chinese version shall prevail.

17. AUDITORS

During the year, Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian CPAs
Co., Ltd. and PricewaterhouseCoopers were appointed as
domestic and international auditors of the Company respectively,

who have audited the accompanying financial statements.

On behalf of the Board

Li Gui Rong

Chairman

Qingdao, People Republic of China
Tst April, 2004
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- “EZ=HFEARETSMRR
DOMESTIC BEER MARKET IN 2003

o RSARSTE FXFEARET - THELRNR -
Due to the impact and trial of “SARS”, the domestic
beer market remained steady in the first half year,
while grew faster in the latter half year.

cPEBRBREECE2M0BTI  ALER 64%
ERHRE—-
The beer market in China maintained a steady year
on year growth of 6.4% in 2003 with annual beer
output of 254 million hl ranking as the world’s largest
beer market.

MNERENRETRARENE
FRE - EFME
Foreign breweries enhanced their investment in China,
which further intensified and internationalized the beer
market competition.

CMISNBEEAACEET  FOLERNE -
Big corporations continued to dominate the market
with increasing intensification.

CREFRMHMERN L ERELELEFNHKAE
FIAK o
The price inflation in barley and other raw materials
added to the cost burden of breweries.

e B % 6 B IR (L K

Z. ZEEC-EEATARBBLEERRER
THE TOP 10 DOMESTIC BREWERIES IN 2003

Unit: ‘0000 kilolitres

B BT
400 T
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350 EF e .
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e
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o " TR
oz of T3 F¥ QB BE Ts 9B o
¥ 3 &3 ¢=3 Zm €35 Fr &3 83
sB »f SH R ZE ZE X% SE 8
o8 23 TE I8 &5 B £ -¥ 5P
TR OEF 2B 38 =B g2 3 3% g8
3B 88 33 TF JE 58 FE 38 SE
¢ B gxE § <n f® <n TE
2 D OB n 3@ ¥ 8
3 o =< Bo» 3
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%
Source : Statistics and Information Center of China Brewing Industry
Association Beer Sub-Association
EHRR: THREIERERESESHERTL.

EmERER
PRODUCTION MIX OF THE COMPANY

Unit: "0000 kilolitres
B BTFH
M

s Bl s
Totags 1Y Grown

e

[ £88 The Principal Brand
S 2% The Secondary Brands

[ Bt k¥ Other Brands

2002

M SHEREEER
BEER PRODUCTION
DIFFERENT REGIONS

QUTPUT IN

Unit: “0000 kilolitres
B BTH
——
T Emer &
L Y-0¥ Growih Sinciz

315 |
! [ #&:cB Southern China

%4k Northern China

O 4® (TET0)
Shandong {excluding Qingdao)

O #1S Oingdao

2002

2003

A, ZER-FIREEER
MAJOR OPERATING ACTIVITIES IN YEAR
2003

oEBEBKETHIER  ELBBBBHACCPRE °
Passed the authentication of international HACCP with
continuous improvement of quality and management
level.

CELRERABRERAERE -
Brand consolidation and product structure adjustment.
CEEEEEABRANREERRINEAY
Promote the Best Practice Exchange with A-B.
viEIEABEERMERRE  ERAZRENES -
Enhance internal management and save cost to offset
the impact of price inflation in barley.

CEABBFEREARR REARENXL-
Refining & improving the Company’s centenary culture
through its centennial celebration.
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TEREREE (REASHEL
KEY OPERATING INDICATORS
accordance with HK GAAP)

Py
AW
(in

Unit: RMB’0000

BEE

Total assets

889,246 892,357

REER
Shareholders’ equity
EXE
Turn over
PREE AT
Profit before taxation
BEFHIERSREA
Net cash flow in from
operating activities
REEEARR
Profit attributable
to shareholders

318,421 441,483

619,520 671,379

36,861 41,736

112,139 115,484 3.0%

22,197 24,505 10.4%

t. BRALERFER
PRODUCTION COST STRUCTURE OF
PARENT COMPANY

"

19.2% 1342%\/'

T Malt B

. Rice A

CHop JBfE

B Water 7K

B Auxiliary materials  EBI#T#

B tnergy EER

O Packages BEN

& Direct laborcost HEEILE
Production cost ZiE&FH

N HOER
EXPORT SALES

;a‘ilf‘ S Unit: kilolitres
ofal: 77,8 Pryr

gt ) B FA
Totah 64,287

BT o

12,463

2002

[ & Taiwen

2003
{7 4R TG North America

FFE DT South-east Asia [ BRI Europe

h. BRRFEE

EXISTING CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Unit: (%)
His Ef: (%)
H shares
28.48%

BER
State-owned
. shares

EAR
Leagal person
shares
5.03%

A B (HER)
A-B Company (H Shares)
9.9%

t. —EERFLERE
BUSINESS PROSPECT FOR THE YEAR 2004

CNMBENTRRES REBFEEENMBRE -
Enhance internal system consolidation and improve
utilization efficiency of inventory capitals.

CHERE EABMLENEELME -
Consolidating the capital and layout of neighboring
enterprises.

CEEAEEMERLREEE - IRBNE _MER
HRHER60% -
Continue to modify product structure and brand
structure; 60% of the total sales volume should be
the principal brand and the secondary brands.

CETHELN T pRE - DRBBERARE
@EME -
Research and analyze the market to adjust the product
price timely in various regions and brands.

CE-SBALERE  EHRERDIHR-KFEI0E
T Fr ey e B R -
Enlarge enterprise scale by building a new brewery in
Hunan Changsha with 1 million hl annual output.

T-—SRNFREERIREEERRR
TARGET OF TOTAL OUTPUT AND OUTPUT

OF THE PRINCIPAL BRAND IN 2004
Unit: '0000 kilolitres
o BFH

IaEER 106 120 13%
Output of the

principal brand
RES 326 360 10%
Total output
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS:

In the reporting period, with the working task of realizing the
2003 working target confirmed by the Genera! Meeting and the
Board of Directors and ensuring the healthy growth of the
Company, with the core of “Quality, Brand, Profit and Standard”
and “Innovation”, the Supervisory Committee assumed office in
accordance with regulations stipulated in the related state laws
as “Company Law of the People’s Republic of China”, “Securities
Law” as well as the Articles of the Company to ensure the
Company’s regulatory operation and protect the shareholders’

interests from being harmed.

1. MEETINGS HELD DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

1. On Tst April, 2003, the 4th meeting of the 4th session
Supervisory Committee was held in the meeting room of the
Company, in which, the 2002 Annual Report of the Company, the
2002 Profit Allocation Scheme and the utilization plan of capital
raised from Convertible Bonds, and the 2002 Working Report of

the Supervisory Committee were considered and approved.
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2.2003%F4H288  ARENEEEEEAR
EREAREZERE  BEZBBT AT2003
EE-FEFRE -

3.2003F6526A - ARENEESEEAR
SEUEREANABE  BRRBETLEN
— MEREIEBHNENELE (Mr.David
Andrew Renaud) B R B EMNEEEFEE SR E
A BRTBIRREREEAATEE2REE
EEHIEERARESEHERIARIME
MES BELRESEH(ARERE—8
CTIRME-—BTZEMOEREER -

4.2003F88128  ARENEESEELR
ERFERFNECHRELR  BHBBT 272003
FREPHRE -

5.2003F 108278 > ARENEEEFEEN
REZELICEEEH EHRETAT
003EFE=ZFERE  BRARFEEER

B(EE)VERRE500BETEREHRRZEE
RER -
Z. UEBEEENRBIER

1. DRMEEERR

FR BEEERBEFZREZERRAERED
RE B2NMPESNTEABRFTFAGHNES
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EEREERPHERB(REAREINER

2. On 28th April, 2003, the fifth meeting of the 4th session
Supervisory Committee was held in the meeting room of the
Company, in which, the 2003 First Quarter Result Report of the

Company was considered and approved.

3. On 26th June, 2003, the bth meeting of the 4th session
Supervisory Committee was held in written form, in which, Mr.
David Renaud from A-B was approved to be the candidate for
Supervisor of the 4th session Supervisory Committee, Mr. Huang
Zu Jiang was approved to be the Supervisor representing
Company Staffs elected by the Meeting of the Company Staff's
Representatives and in this meeting the Committee suggested
the Board to amend appropriately the Article 122 and Article
123 of the Articles of the Company.

4. On 12th August, 2003, the 7th meeting of the 4th session
Supervisory Committee was held in the meeting room of the
Company, in which, the 2003 Interim Report of the Company

was considered and approved.

5. On 27th October, 2003, the 8th meeting of the 4th session
Supervisory Committee was held in the meeting room of the
Company, in which, the 2003 Third Quarter Result Report of the
Company and the Gurantee of US$15 million loan provided by
the Company to Tsingtao Brewery (H.K.) Company Limited was

considered and approved.

2. INDEPENDENT OPINIONS OF RELEVANT MATTERS

1. The Company has operated in compliance with all the laws

during the year

During the year, the Supervisory Committee attended every
General Meetings and Meetings of the Board in accordance
with related state laws and the Articles of the Company to
supervise the convening and resolution procedures, execution
of resolutions, performance of the Senior Management and
regulations of the Company. The Committee confirmed that the

Directors of the Board and the the Senior Management have
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performed their duties in strict compliance with “Company Law
of the People’s Republic of China”, “Coverning Regulations of
Listed Companies”, “Listing Rules”, “Securities Law”, “the Articles
of the Company” as well as related regulations of HKSE, Shanghai
Stock Exchange and Securities Supervision Committee of P.R.C.
The Board of Directors duly exercised all the resolutions and
authorizations of the General Meetings with all decisions in
legal procedures and the legal governing structure, internal
management and internal controlling regulations were
continuously improved. The Senior Management stringently
executed the resolutions of the Board with all decisions and all
material project investment in legal procedures. Timely,
accurately and transparently disclosed information of the
Company. Formulated material resolutions, operating target,
working principle and core of working, and promoted the
fulfillment of all targets with fruitful results. The Directors and
Senior Management had exercised their duties in good faith and
strictly adhered to state laws and regulations and Articles of the
Company without contravening or abusing their power to hurt
the interest of shareholders and staffs. Under the correct leading
of the Board, the Company is unified to promote, develop and
innovate the enterprise management system and culture with

enhanced core competitiveness.

2. Examination of the Financial Statement

The Committee thoroughly examined the Financial Principles,
Financial Reports, Quarter Reports, Interim Report and Annual
Report of the Company and approved the truth of 2003 Annual
Financial Report. PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian CPAs Co.,
Ltd. also approved in its auditing report that the Financial Report
of the Company fairly reflected the financial position and
operating results of the Company and was in compliance with
the “Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises” and the

“Accounting Regulations for Business Enterprises” of the PRC.



“r=r ' ANNUAL REPORT 2003

ExgHed (&)

Report of the Supervisors (Continued)

3R-RBEREEEAER

EEQUARAMFABARETNRG LT ER
EHFERINERETTEE BERESH
REREMEBERERAMAER - TEHE
TRENAPGERAS -

St A

L BEPRAAIHE  WBREEEBR

EEeRR HEHA - RAKWEEERER
B AZRRAAT  HEEREMERR  BBRE
THERE BFeE BEBEE  RERF
ABERZMNBEERRMNENTS -

5. BEMRBERIZER

EEeRs BEHNEREALAREND
EMARAESREBLSNEE - HERT
REMLERERBLCLOBERS AT
MEHEETTRANBE FEEEHFA)
EET ATAE TECAREAFRAT
BEFSOTAE

EFETRE
REF
200435318

3. Application of latest raised proceeds

The Committee supervised the capital payment of the Mandatorily
Convertible Bonds issued by the Company to A-B and confirmed
that till the end of the reporting period, this proceed hadn't
been invested into any capital investments while was temporally

used as compensation for the cash flow of the Company.
4. Acquisition and sales of assets during the reporting period

The Committee approves that the Company acquired the capital
assets in accordance with the principles of open, fair and
creditable as well as related regulations with reasonable prices,
while found no activities of hurting the interests of the Company

and its shareholders.
5. Connected transactions during the reporting period

The Committee confirms the Company had no connected
transactions with companies owning its shareholdings in the
reporting period. All the connected transactions among the
Company, its minority shareholders and joint-operated enterprises
had been disclosed. All the activities were fair, reasonable and
in accordance with related laws without hurting the interests of

the Company and its shareholders.

Wu Yu Ting
Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Tst April, 2004
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DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Gui Rong, aged 64, is the Chairman of the Company. Mr.
Li has served as the Deputy Director and the Director of Qingdao
Municipal Planning Commission. In June 1996. Mr. Li joined
the Company and became the Chairman of the Company,. Mr.
Li has been undertaking business management and economic
management responsibilities for many years. He is knowledgeable
on the state economic policies and regulations and has broad
experience in corporate and business management. He is capable
of strategic insights and plays a key role in setting up of the

Company’s development strategy.

Mr. Jin Zhi Guo, aged 47, is the Vice Chairman and President of
the Company. Mr. Jin Zhi Guo joined the Company’s precedent,
Tsingtao Brewery Factory in 1975. He has served as clerk and
head of Power Department. In 1994, he took office as the
assistant director of Tsingtao Brewery No.1, and the General
Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Xian Company Limited in October
of 1996. He became the Assistant General Manager of the
Company in August of 2000, and the General Manager in August
of 2001. Mr. Jin has more than 20 years of experience in
corporate management and a strong sense marketing, corporate

culture as well as innovation spirits.

Mr. LiuYing Di, aged 47, is the executive director of the Company
and has served as the Deputy Manager of Tsingtao Brewery, Vice
General Manager of the Company. Mr. Liu has more than 20
years of experience in the production, technical and operational

management of enterprises. He is a senior engineer.

Mr. Sun Yu Guo, aged 49, is the director and vice president of the
Company. He had been Vice Department Head of Finance Bureau
and Department Head of State Assets Administration Bureau of
Qingdao. Mr. Sun has been engaging in financial work for more
than 20 years and has extensive experience in financial

management, He is a charted accountant and chartered assessor.
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Mr. Stephen J. Burrows, aged 51, is the non-executive director
of the Company and Chief Executive Officer and President of
Anheuser- Bush International Inc. He obtained bachelor’s degree
in psychology and geography from University of Wisconsin of
America, and a master’s degree in business administration from
Lindewood University, Missouri, the United States. Mr. Burrows
has served as Vice Sales Manger of A-B in southwest of the
United States, Vice President of Consumer Awareness and
Education, Brand Management Vice President and etc.
responsible for the advertising, sales, packaging, research and
other marketing development activities of “Budweiser” beer and
other brand names of Anheuser- Bush Company. Mr Burrows
possesses over 20 years of experience in enterprise management

and economic management.

Mr. Chu Zhen Gang, aged 55, is the Independent Director of
the Company. He is the General Manager of Qingdao Enterprise
Investment Company and a Senior Economist. Mr. Chu has served
as the Vice Manager of Qingdao Energy Company, the Head of
Economic Commission, Vice Director of Qingdao Municipal
Economic Commission and Vice Head of Southern District
Government of Qingdao. Mr. Chu has more than 20 years of

experience in corporate and economic management.

Mr. Wang Li Jun, aged 46, is non-executive director of the
Company. He is now the vice director of Bank of China Shandong
Branch. Mr. Wang has worked with Bank of China for many
years and acted as chief of international settlement department,
assistant and vice director of Bank of China Shandong Branch.
He has over 20 years’ experience in investment and finance

management.
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Mr. Tan Li Ning, aged 40, is the independent director of the
Company. He is now working as the managing director ICEA
Capital Limited, PH.D. of Cambridge University, Bachelor of
London University and chartered U.S financial analyst. Mr. Tan
has participated in issuing and listing of shares both domestic
and overseas as well as financial consultation, who has rich
experience in financing and investment in both international

and domestic markets.

Mr. Wu Hai Hua, aged 37, is the independent director of the
Company. He is the Head of the Finance Faculty of Qingdao
University. Mr. Wu is a Professor in Finance. Prof. Wu studied
in Hunan Economics Faculty of Wuhan University and holds the
Doctor of Economics degree. Mr. Wu has a long experience in
study of finance and economic development who has chaired
state natura! science fund, state social science fund programs
and etc.. He is now a doctorship’s guiding teacher in major of

finance engineering in Hunan university.

Ms. Pan Gui Rong, aged 54, is an independent director of the
Company. Ms. Pan was the deputy Head of Qingdao Audit Firm,
the Company's supervisor, and now is the head of Shandong
Tian Hua Accountants Firm. She is a senior auditor and chartered
accountant. Ms. Pan has many years of experience in corporate

finance auditing.

SUPERVISORS

Mr. Wu Yu Ting, aged 58, is the Chairman of the Supervisory
Committee. Mr. Wu has been involved in supervisory work and
corporate accounting for many years. He was the Head and the
Deputy Head of Qingdao Discipline and Inspection Commission
and the Deputy Head of Supervisory Bureau. He joined the
Company in April, 1998. Mr. Wu gained broad experience in

law knowledge and accounting supervisory.
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Mr. Yu Jia Ping, aged 41, is a Supervisor of the Company. Mr. Yu
is now the director of Tsingtao Brewery. He was the Deputy
General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Malting Plant, Deputy
General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Factory No. 1, General
Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Factory No. 2. He has broad

experience in brewery management.

Mr. Ren Zeng Gui, aged 41, is the Company's supervisor. He is
now working as the deputy chief of Auditing Department. He
served as financial director of Tsingtao Brewery No.5, chief of
auditing division under office for the Supervisory Committee.
He has been with finance over 20 years and gained broad

experience in enterprise financial management and auditing.

Mr. Huang Zu jiang, aged 38, is the Supervisor of the Company.
Mr. Huang is now the director of Tsingtao Brewery No.2 and
vice director of Qingdao Business Unit of the Company. He was
the chief of Brewing and Fermenting Department , director of
Planning Department , Assistant Director and Vice Director of
Tsingtao Brewery No.2, Director to the Board and Vice General
Manager of Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Asahi Company Limited,

Mr. Huang has rich experience in enterprise management.

Mr. David Andrew Renaud, aged 49, supervisor of the Company
and Finance and Planning Vice President of Anheuser-Busch Asia
Inc. He has master degree in business administration from St.
Louis University, Missouri, U.S.A., and Certified Accountant of
U.S.A. Mr. Renaud was CFO of Anheuser-Busch International
Inc. and Possess extensive experience in Monetary and Finance

with Long-term works in financial analysis and planning.

Mr. Liu Qing Yuan, aged 55, is a Supervisor of the Company.
Mr. Liu is now the Director of Qingtao Tianhe Law Firm, and
was the solicitor of the Southern District Law Firm of Qingdao,

and. He has many years experience in legal field.
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Mr. Zhong Ming Shan, aged 52, is the Company's supervisor.
He is now the chief of Shandong Desheng Accountants. He
acted as vice chief of Qingdao Accountants and has long been
with financial management as well as auditing. He is qualified

with chartered accountants in securities.

Mr. Chen Jun, aged 36, is the Company's supervisor and working
as General Manager of CITIC Wantong Securities Company, with
MBA's degree. He was division head of CITIC Securities
Shandong Investment Bank, who has rich experience in corporate

investment & financing.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Sun Ming Bo, aged 47, is the Executive Vice President. Mr.
Sun was the Deputy General Manager and Chief Engineer of
Tsingtao Brewery Factory No. 1, and the Assistant to General
Manager and Deputy Chief Engineer of the Company. He gained
broad experience in beer production, management and strategic

planning. He is a senior engineer.

Mr. Teng An Gong, aged 53, Chairman of Labour Union of the
Company. Mr. Teng was the Deputy Head and Deputy Director
of the Policy Research Unit of Qingdao Party Committee. He
joined the Company in 1997 and gained broad experience in

political and legal fields.

Mr. Fan Wei, aged 44, is the Chief Engineer of the Company.
Mr. Fan was the Deputy General Manager and the Chief Engineer
of the Tsingtao Brewery Factory No. 2. He is a senior engineer
and has gained broad experience in production and technical

management of brewery industry.



ANNUAL REPORT 2003 ' o/ |

ES EENSREEAEHN(K)

Profiles of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management (Continued)

BREXL RE39% - ARAEERREER
BEMBERERARBLAE BT SERT
BEEEALEHE  EFRELLE 1999
FIANBARR - BRI REUEREHES
RTEERIE ERLENTHLEER -

RERsE RER ALTHRR B
EEEARASBREA EEENED  HE
RABEE  AEZEHEECEERAGS

EHER -

BRRLE  BERE AARPEHESS
EEERITREROFNLLER CEAFE_R
RR BRESE-BEE AR5 REEL
BER AEREMNEECEGEEELS -

EERL  BE47R - ARFEIBIEFEANE
RERBRHE  ZntEERRAIEED
K BEEWE_BRE FOTEE GXF
EREE SRpESH AFYENRED
XLIENEELR BEESRLENMERE -

RBLZL BT8R ALPEERYE B
FENE FEXARAEFESHUEEIIT B
FENE - ERIRIANELTEFTEUER
RAEZMAERIE 2HTLARZELLE
FRENRE  KHURER ERFAEALE
BERRNLTLTEETEAREENR
£ o

Ms. Yan Xu, aged 39, is the Vice President of the Company and
the General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery South China [nvestment
Co, Ltd. Prior to joining the Company in January 1999, Ms. Yan
was the Assistant to the General Manager and Director & Deputy
General Manager of the Zhujiang Brewery Group. Ms. Yan has
been undertaking beer sales and marketing management for many

years, and gained broad experience in marketing.

Mr. Zhang Xue Ju, aged 49, is the Vice President of the Company.
He was the Head of the Finance Department and the Secretary
to the Board and General Manager of the sales company, who
has many years of experience in corporate management and

marketing.

Mr. Cao Xiang Dong, aged 52, vice president of the Company
and General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery East China Holding
Co., Ltd. He acted as division chief, director of Tsingtao Brewery
No.2, director of brewery No. 1, assistant general manager of
the Company and has long experience in operation and

management of brewery.

Miss Jiang Hong, aged 47, Vice President and Director of Human

Resource Department of the Company. She was Director of

Production Department of the Company, Director of Tsingtao
Brewery No.2, Supervisor of the Company, Director of Enterprise
Management and Assistant President of the Company. Miss Jiang
Hong has rich experience in production and management of

beer enterprises with gualification of senior economist.

Miss Yuan Lu, aged 48, Assistant Director and Secretary of the
Board. She was Director of the Secretary Office to the Board,
Secretary of the Board. Miss Yuan has long-term working
experience in the positions of Secretary of the Board and Investor
Relationship and has rich experience in construction of
company’s legal governing structure and operation of listed
companies by participating in planning, negotiation and

execution of many capital operation activities of the Company.
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1. NO IMPORTANT LITIGATIONS AND ARBITRATIONS
DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD EXCEPT FOR THOSE
MENTIONED BELOW

(1) In the reporting period, the Intermediate People’s Court of
Qingdao made a ruling in relation to the Company’s litigation
with Qingdao Honglong Trading Company Limited {(“Honglong
Company”) over the disputed purchase orders. It was ruled that
Honglong Company and its shareholders should pay the
outstanding amount of RMB15,105,047 for the beer purchased.
Honglong Company appealed to the Higher People’s Court of
Shandong (Shandong Higher Court) who ruled that Honglong
Company should pay the outstanding amount of RMB11,385,837
for the beer purchased with its capital. The Company appealed
to the Higher People’s Court of Shandong. Tifl now, there is no

new significant progress.

(2) The case of Guangming General Company suing the Company
for the breach of distribution contract as disclosed in the

Company 2001 Annual Report has no updated progress till now.

2. ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF ASSETS OF THE

COMPANY DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD
(1) On 13th January, 2003, the Company signed “The
Supplementary Agreement of Equity Transfer” with Fujian Brewery
(Singapore) Private Company Limited (“Fuzhou Foreign
shareholder”), pursuant to which the Company was assigned
24% equity of Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou) Company Limited
(Fuzhou Company) held by Fuzhou foreign shareholder in RMB40
million. The aforesaid “The Supplementary Agreement of Equity
Transfer” has been approved and put into effect by Fuzhou
Foreign Trade Cooperation Bureau and the registration in Industry
and Commerce Bureau has been altered. After the aforesaid
equity transfer, the Company holds 75% equity of Fuzhou
Company and Fuzhou foreign shareholder holds 25% equity of
it.
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On 18th December, 2003, Tsingtac Brewery (Hong Kong)
Company Limited (“Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong”), one of the
Company’s wholly owned subsidiaries, signed the “Agreement
of Equity Transfer” with Fuzhou foreign shareholder, pursuant to
which Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong was assigned 25% equity of
Fuzhou Company held by Fuzhou foreign shareholder in
RMB41.67 million. The aforesaid “Agreement of Equity Transfer”
has been approved and put into effect by Fuzhou Foreign Trade
Cooperation Bureau and the registration in Industry and
Commerce Bureau has been altered. After the aforesaid equity
transfer, the Company holds 75% equity of Fuzhou Company
and Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong holds 25% equity of it.

(2) On 16th December, 2003, the Company entered into an
agreement with Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited
(Group), pursuant to which, the Company will invest additional
RMB9.5 million in cash to Tsingtao Brewery (Langfang) Company
Limited (Langfang Company) and the Group invested
RMB500,000 by converting debt into shares. After the aforesaid
investment, the registered capital of Langfang Company will be
increased from RMB10 million to RMB20 million. The Company
will transfer all 95% of its shareholdings in Langfang Company
to Tsingtao Brewery (Xi‘an) Company Limited (Xi’an Company),
pursuant to which, Xi‘an Company and the Group respectively
hold 95% and 5% of the shareholdings of Langfang Company.
The legal procedures of this equity interest transfer is still in

progress as at year end.

(3) On 22nd December, 2003, Tsingtao Brewery (Changsha)
Company Limited (“Changsha Company”) was established
together by the Company with Tsingtao Brewery Huanan
Investment Company Limited {“Huanan Investment”) with
registered capital of RMB10 million, among which the Company
holds 70% of its equity by RMB7 million investment and Huanan
Investment holds 30% of its equity by RMB3 million investment.
There was no actual investment in the reporting period. Changsha
Company will be designed in accordance with production
process of Tsingtao beer with annual output capacity of 2 million
hl beer. The first stage of the Changsha Project will be designed
with annual output capacity of 1 million hl beer and RMB130

million investments.
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3. MATERIAL CONNECTED TRANSACTION

there were no material connected transactions during the
reporting period. The connected parties are mainly minority

shareholders of subsidiaries and associated companies.

4. DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD, THE COMPANY HAD
NO MATERIAL GUARANTEE AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
BY ENTRUSTMENT.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company provided
guarantee to its subsidiaries in an aggregate of RMB494.51

million.

5. LEASES AND ENTRUSTMENTS

(1) On 20th January, 2003, Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Company
Limited (Tsingtao Xi‘an Company), a subsidiary of the Company,
and Shanxi Baoji Brewery Co., Ltd (“Baopi Company”) entered
into a Tenancy Agreement, pursuant to which, Tsingtao Brewery
Baoji Co., Ltd (Tsingtao Baoji), jointly established by the
Company and Tsingtao Xi'an Company, leased all the assets
other than the current assets of Baoji Company for operation at
nil consideration. Tsingtzao Baoji Company has an annual
production output of 3 million hl beer. Leasing of Bacji Company
for operation further enhances the market share of the Company

in Northwest China.




EEERE (&)

Significant Events (Continued)

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 |/ o/ uJ

BREERAFIMERABAREI00ET K
RAILBEHE0BET  hEMELRH30%
BAELRNMNESHEE70ET  AiaMERY
70% ©

(2) 200318288 ' ARAREEEBEEER
ﬁ@ﬂﬁ%@@ﬂnuﬂKéﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁ%
Y HRAARNHERLAESTERE (BM)

“ﬁ RATBMRE) RHEN80%REET
THEE £EQRUAEELADTIRELEER
FMEFANBEMNAT80%REEHEEL
AR - BMARNI1998F 11 ARY - EME
AS500ETARE  RARHEB20%MHE -

R, BIFE

BEERXEEAE AQRAREFATARET
ERERELEE -

t. BREHR ADABELEKERRE
AHMEBMERABRERRKERHENES
Fim2003 B FEEAREBREAE - BTk
BERIF - LASHNEBEAERELLANE
SEME@BERB2F -

BEBHA  RADASZ MR EEKEPRSHEA
ERMAERLANBERMKECHMER
20022003 BF EENEHERT  BIEMHA
RE27ETL  WAXNAREI9ET AL
ATAREERERAMARRER -

Tsingtao Baoji has a registered capital of RMB1 million, of which
the Company contributed RMB300,000 in cash, accounting for
30% of its registered capital, and Tsingtao Xi’an Company
contributed 700,000 in cash accounting for 70% of its registered

capital.

(2) On 28th January, 2003, the Company and Tsingtao Beer
Group Co., Ltd (Group Co.) entered into the Operation and
Management Entrustment Agreement, whereby, management of
the 80% interests in Tsingtao Brewery (Yangzhou) Company
Limited (Yangzhou Company) held by the Group Co. was
entrusted to the Company. The Group Co. undertook that it
would transfer the entire 80% interests in Yangzhou Company
held by it to the Company upon its request. Yangzhou Company
was established in November 1998 with registered capital of
RMB5 million, of which the Company holds 20%.

6. STAFF'S LODGINGS

The Company and its subsidiaries pay lodging reserve to the

staffs in accordance with the related national regulations.

.7. In the reporting period, the Company appointed, Messrs.

Ltd.

PricewaterhouseCoopers respectively as domestic and

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian CPAs Co., and
international auditors of the Company in 2003 with one-year
contract term. Till now, PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian CPAs
Co., Ltd. and PricewaterhouseCoopers have served as the auditors

of the Company continuously for two years.

In the reporting period, the Company has paid audit fees of
RMB2.17 million to PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhongtian CPAs
Co., Ltd. and PricewaterhouseCoopers with RMB3.69 million
unpaid. The Company did not pay for traveling and other

disbursement other than the above fees.
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8. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(1) On 31st March, 2004, the Company issued the Second Sub-
tranche of Tranche 11l convertible bonds to A-B in an aggregate
amount of HK$254,137,671, which was remitted to the Company
on the same date. Up to this point, the Company has issued all
the three Tranches Mandatory Convertible bonds to A-B in

accordance with the Strategic Investment Agreement.

{2) On 18th December, 2003, the Company and Tsingtao Beer
Hong Kong Company Limited entered into the Equity Transfer
Agreement with QEA Investment Group, pursuant to which,
Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company Limited acquired 20% and
5% interests of Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen) Company Limited
(Xiamen Company) held respectively by the Company and QEA
Investment Group in amount of RMB2 million and 500 thousand.
In February 2004, the Company and Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong
Company Limited increased their investment in Xiamen Company
respectively by additional RMB60 million and RMB20 million.
After the aforesaid activity, the registered capital of Xiamen
Company was increased from RMB10 million to RMB90 million,
pursuant to which, the Company holds 75% interests of Xiamen
Company and Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company Limited holds
the remaining 25%. Xiamen Foreign Investment Bureau has
approved the above equity transfer and investment increase and
Xiamen Company has been changed to Sino-foreign joint venture

enterprise, The change of business registration is in progress.
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(3)2004F2 8178 * MEKEVCREEMRDF  (3) On 17th February, 2004 the Company entered into an
(TEVG)) BA AR H#E - EVCRIIERE  agreement with EVG Enterprise Company Limited of Canada
EEBE=RARAF([ZBRA)) : 3t + X (EVQ), pursuant to which, EVG will withdraw from Beijing
RAIRBEREBAREI(RERBERFE) 8 Tsingtao Beer Sanhuan Company Limited (Sanhuan Company);
EREBARREZIROF25%NRE « KD As a result, the Company has entered into the Equity Transfer
AEEREELNRMZBORIRPIRREFHE  Agreement with Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company Limited,
SITRAAEKEARANER - LM=BARIS  pursuant to which, Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company Limited
RRETEENGFELBBREERTER > will take up 25% equity of Sanhuan Company. New joint

operating contract and articles have been signed among the

Company, Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company Limited and
Domestic shareholder of Sanhuan Company. The aforesaid
change of foreign shareholder of Sanhuan Company could only

be put into effect after approval of related government bureaus.
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PricewaterhouseCoopers
22nd Floor Prince’s Building
Central Hong Kong

AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED

(A sino-foreign joint stock company established in the People’s
Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the accounts on pages 61 to 143 which have
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in Hong Kong.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES
AUDITORS

OF DIRECTORS AND

The directors of the company are respansible for the preparation
of accounts which give a true and fair view. In preparing accounts
which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that appropriate

accounting policies are selected and applied consistently.

It is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based
on our audit, on those accounts and to report our opinion to
you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for

the contents of this repart.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of
Auditing Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants. An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of
evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the accounts.
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the
accounts, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate
to the circumstances of the Company and of the Group,

consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
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We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which we considered necessary in
order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable
assurance as to whether the accounts are free from material
misstatement. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the
accounts. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis

for our opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion the accounts give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31st
December, 2003 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for
the year then ended and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 1st April, 2004
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Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
(REEGHEUEE) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)
BE_FTT=F+-RA=+—81FE Forthe vear ended 31st December, 2003

BE

As restated

2003 2002

ok AR T AREFR

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

g Turnover 4 6,713,785 6,195,197
HERA Cost of sales 13 (4,326,079) (4,031,922)
7 Gross profit 2,387,706 2,163,275
Hiplh a5 8 Other revenues, net 4 22,689 96,765
DA Distribution costs (1,265,814) {1,129,830)
THRAXZ Administrative expenses (618,167) (609,882)
RERH Operating profit 5 526,414 520,328
BB Finance costs 8 (101,799) (146,661)
EREE N ELE Share of profits less losses (7,251) (5,059)

BIREE of associated companies

BRAAF Profit before taxation 417,364 368,608
HE Taxation 9a (134,988) {109,317)
Biiia AT Profit after taxation 282,376 259,291
LEBREES Minority interests (37,331) (37,317)
BRE RSB F Profit attributable to shareholders 10 245,045 221,974
g5 Dividends 71 220,000 110,000
BREXEF Basic earnings per share 12 RMB0.24 RMB0.22
FREERA Diluted earnings per share 12 RMBO0.21 RMBO0.22
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Balance Sheets

(REBGHEAURBE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)
RZFE=ZFE+ZA=+—H8 Asat31st December, 2003

58 AF
Group Company
BEF
As restated
2003 2002 2003 2002
MZ AREFT ARETT AR¥FT ARETT
Note RMB’000 RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000
FRBEE Non-current assets
EMEE Intangible assets 16 257,041 247,372 81,368 80,796
BrEE Fixed assets 14 5,467,547 5571972 1,064,444 1,140,504
FelE Construction-in-progress 15 210,144 208,575 68,347 70,009
RHRE Long-term investments 17 17,930 55,163 16,853 54,209
BERKBARE Investments in subsidiaries 18 — — 1,653,555 1,611,622
BERBEDLE Investments in associated 19 21,197 28,448 6,265 6,265
companies
aEe Negative goodwill 20 (98,191)  (108,435) — -
EREMERE Deferred tax assets 25 7,111 12,629 — 5,107
EnREEE Other long-term assets 13, 21 58,826 69,396 56,386 66,789
5,941,605  6,085120 2,947,218 3,035,295
RYEE Current assets
rE Inventories 22 1,305,503 1,223,807 277,753 269,435
HEHRE Short-term investment — 150 — —
BB L E Amounts due from 13,18 — - 219,591 494,185
subsidiaries
FEMBEF Trade receivables 13, 21 165,204 167,722 173,909 175,697
& U B ) Dividends receivable — — - 10,675
BEUEE Bills receivable 50,883 65,899 5,455 71,100
RES  BHEER Deposits, prepayments, 13 527,474 495,387 1,943,768 442,009
KEARER foans to subsidiaries and
Hio B R other receivables
EHRIEH Short-term bank deposits - 29,000 - 29,000
BEANRTER Pledged bank deposits 23,24 83,135 63,205 28,000 —
Be R Bank balances and cash 849,765 762,166 229,826 250,656
2,981,964 2,807,336 2,878,302 1,742,757
RHARE Current liabilities
R Trade payable 13, 24 646,913 651,513 105,476 97,175
HA MR Other payables 13 940,836 865,987 102,415 92,655
BREE Bills payable 24 525,450 435,628 99,385 124,376
HERD Sales depasits 13 129,068 147,983 52,082 42,702
BREAR Accruals 67,365 46,193 22,870 10,384
AXBE Taxes payable 47,520 2,885 23,973 (4,450)
JE 9 R A Dividends payable 1,100 — 1,100 -
BHETER Short-term bank loans 23 1,302,613 2,669,481 579,369 946,000
—FRIEES Current portion of 23 61,386 110,054 25,147 35,516
RITER long-term bank loans
3,722,251 4,929,724 1,011,817 1,344,358
HE(BE EERE Net current (liabilities) 23 (740,287) (2,122,388) 1,866,485 398,399
assets
BEERRDAE Total assets less current 5,201,318 3,962,732 4,813,703 3,433,694

liabilities

______




ANNUAL REPORT 2003 @ .’

EEREEX(4)

Balance Sheets (Continued)
(REAEGERER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)
M-BFE=ZFEF+-_AZ+—8 Asat31st December, 2003

3 2 H
Group Company
RES
As restated
2003 2002 2003 2002

Wiz ARETR ARBTT ARBTRT ARETZE
Note RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'G00  RMB'000

BeRE: Financed by:
gy Share capital 26 1,060,000 1,000,000 1,060,000 1,000,000
ARBES Convertible bonds 27 923,738 — 923,738 —
& Reserves 28 2,219,088 1,964,206 2,582,288 2,165,475
RERSERE Proposed final dividends 17, 28 212,000 220,000 212,000 220,000
4,414,826 3,184,206 4,778,026 3,385,475
VEBRRER Minority interests 579,465 669,784 - —
ERBERE Non-current liabilities
EHEAER Long-term bank loans 23 53,784 90,644 23,564 48,219
ERHBAE Deferred tax liabilities 25 17,083 18,098 - -
ERLBE Deferred liabilities 27 12,113 — 12,113 —
ROENREER Long-term loan due to 13(h) 124,047 - — —

a shareholder

207,027 108,742 35,677 48,219

5,201,318 3,962,732 4,813,703 3,433,694

ZH#Li Gui Rong &% EJin Zhi Guo
E Z Director Z ZEDirector
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

(REE S EIBH)

(Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

HE_TT=FT-_A=ZF+—BLFE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003
2003
BE RZRE TRRER &ABE  BR  DER g RIEE RRAT HEAES
MEE MHES
HEER
Share Share  Convertible  Capital ~ Surplus Public Cumulative Accumulated Reserves  Proposed
capital  premium bonds  reserve  reserve welfare ~ transfation losses total  dividends
fund adjustments
ARBTITL ARBTT ARSTRTAEETAARETIR ARBTRA ARBIT ARBTTARBTI ARETZ
RMB’000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
“%EZE At Tst January, 2003, 1,000,000 1,893,626 — 11,448 162,654 129,569 339 (232,413) 1,965,423 220,000
-A-8 as previously
UEIE reported
SHHREE  Cumulative effect - - - - - - - 1279 (1,217 -
LEHYE of changes in
(it accounting
policy (Note 2)
“ERZCE AL st January, 2003, 1,000,000 1,893,826 — 11,448 162,654 129,569 339 (233,630) 1,964,206 220,000
-f-8- as restated
BEF
BERRE Dividends declared - - - - - - - - — (220,000
(fstn) (Note 11)
REFE Profit for the year - - - - - - - 245,085 245,045 -
BRER Walver of payables — - - 840 - ~ - (840) - -
BERE Proposed dividends - - - - - ~ — {212,000 (212,000) 212,000
) (Note 11
EDRBAEE  Profit appropriation - - ~ — 35,531 - - (55,531) - -
(K2 fo surplus reserve
{Note 28)
FRAES Profit appropriation to ~ - ~ - — 4T - (47,409) - -
(K5 28) public welfare fund
(Note 28)
HEEZ Translation ~ - - - - - 228 - (228) -
jﬁ%% difierence
TQ qak fssuance of convertible - — 1,205,170 - - - - - - -
B5 5% bonds, net
(Hi07) (Note 27)
BENTAK  Conversion of 60,000 221,432 (281,432) - - - - - 143 -
E% convertible
(Hi27) bonds (Note 27)
BERE Donation received - - - 633 - - - - 633 -
~8%=F At 31st December, 1,060,000 2,115,258 923,738 12921 218,185 176,978 m (304,365) 2,219,088 212,000
tZAZ1-8 2183
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Consohdated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

(fﬁ%% AR (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)
BHE_FE=ZFFT_A=ZT—BILFEE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003

2002
BE RAZE TARER 21EE 2 REg 2% EZHER EBRAx HERE
NER hgE
S
Share Share - Convertible  Capital  Surplus Public Cumulative Accumulated  Reserves  Proposed
capital - premium bonds  reserve  reserve  welfare  translation losses tofal  dividends

fund  adjustments
ARETR ARETE ARBTTARBTTARETT ARETT AREFR ARETRIARETT ARETZ
RMB000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMBO00  RMB'0OOO  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

“E3F At st January, 2002, 1,000,000 1,893,826 - 9984 119,89 90,581 12 {151,703} 1,962,551 110,000
-A-8 as previously
UEIE reported
g3 i&%xi Cumulative effect - - - - - - - (646 (646 -
of change in
(WE?Z) accounting policy
{Note 2)
“3%-% Al Tst January, 2002, 1,000,000 1,893,826 - 9,984 119,851 90,581 12 (152,349) 1,961,905 110,000
-A-8- as restated
EL
2EREE Dividends declared - - - - - - - - —~ (110,000
(f#En) {Note 11)
AERE Proilt for the year - - - - - - - 21974 221,974 -
4eRrAR Waiver of pavables - - - 14b4 - - - {1,464) - -
wERE Proposed dividends - - - — - - — (220,000) {220,000 220,000
(&) (Note 11)
ROBBAES  Profit appropriation . - - — 42803 - - 42,803} - -
(fi28) {0 surplus reserve
{Note 28)
RRRR% Profit appropriation - - - - - 38,988 - (38,988) - -
(Brit28) 10 public welfare
fund {Note 28)
HEEEZ Translation - - - - - - 37 - 37 -
NEER difference
“2ECE At 315t December, 1,000,000 1,893,826 — 11,448 162,654 129,569 339 (233,630) 1,964,206 220,000
TZAZT-B 200
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Statement of Changes in Equity

(BB BCHERBAY) (Prepared in accordance with HK CAAP)
HEZZE=E+-F=+—HBLLFE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003

2003
Bx  RARE WEREZ SARE 2BLOEE A& XPENR BESH BRERE
Share Share Convertible ~ Capital ~ Swplus  Public Unappropriated  Reserves  Proposed
capital  premium bonds  reserve  reserve  welfare profits total  dividends
fund
ARBTR AREFR ARBTRL ARETR ARBTR ARETA ARBTT ARBTR ARETR
RMB'00C  RMB'00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’060 RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000
IER=E-F Asatlstjanuary, 2003, 1,000,000 1,893,826 - 1,144 125,305 97,483 47,717 2165475 120,000
~f
EEERE Dividends declared - - - - - - - —  {220,000)
(#i Note 11)
AEHH Profit for the year - - - - - - 406,748 406,748 -
BEENH Waiver of payables - - - 5 - - %) - -
Batke Proposed dividends - - - - - - (212,000) (212,000) 212,000
(Fin (Note 11)
ROEHRBEL  Profit appropriation o - - - - 24528 - (24,528) - -
(i26) surplus reserve (Note 26)
i HUN-FA Profit appropriation to - - - - - 5% 24,528) - -
(fiz28) public welfare fund
(Note 28)
EhaRk Issuance of convertible - - 1205170 - - - - - -
E%x 2% bonds, net (Note 27)
(&27)
CEHTEE  Conversion of convertible 60000 221432 (281,432) - - - - M43 -
BAH(HE27)  bonds (Note 27)
EXBE Donation received - - - 633 - - - 633 -
IERZE At 31st December, 1,060,000 2115258 923,738 1,782 149,833 122,011 193,404 2,582,288 212,000
tZBZt-E 203
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Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)

(REAGHEREHE) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

ANNUAL REPORT 2003 pF W /

BE_FE=ZF+-A=+—BIEFEE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003
2002
RE  RAEE dRRiEsx  AAEE BELET Q8% ANENE BEBAR  HAKER
Share Share  Convertible Capital Surplus Pubhc Unappropriated  Reserves  Proposed
tapital - premium bonds  reseve  reseve  welfare profits tolal  dividends
fund
ARETR ARBTL AREFRL ARBYLT ARETT AR%71n AREIL ARETTL ARETT
RMB'O00  RMB'OO0  RMBO0D  RMB'0C0  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ZERIE-R 0 Asatistjanuary, 2002 1,000,000 1,893,626 - 544 102,980 75,158 95,660 2,168,168 110,000
-8
E5EBE Dividends declared - - - - - - - ~ {110,000}
(#an) (Note 11)
AEHE Profit for the vear —~ — — - - - n7307 217307 ~
HREER Waiver of payables - - - 600 - - 600) - -
FESE) Proposed dividends - - - - - - {220,000 {220,000) 220,000
(B (Note 11)
BERERLEE  Profit appropriation o - - - - 23 - (22,325 - -
(H528) surplus reserve
{Note 28)
RRass Profit appropriation to - - - - — 235 22,325) - -
(#20) public welfare {und
{Note 28)
“EECE At 31st December, 1,000,000 1,893,826 - L1440 15305 97483 47,717 2,165,475 120,000
TZAZT-8 a0
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

(FREEEHERIFEE) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)
HE_ZE=FTZA=T—ELFE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003

2003 2002
Mt ax ARB TR AREFT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEE Operating activities
REEEZHS Net cash inflow generated from 29a 1,273,544 1,241,310
MATE operations
XS H income tax paid (129,470) (130,578)
BEHME Interest received 10,768 10,661
LETHEE Net cash inflow from operating 1,154,842 1,121,393
mAFHE activities
REZEE Investing activities
BERTEE Purchase of fixed assets, (533,399) (513,615)
EREIRR construction-in-progress and
BEREE intangible assets
REETEEMS Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 55,172 53,429
EEEARBEE Additions to other long-term assets — (2,644)
ERREEEREME Interest received from long-term — 2,799
debt investments
WEHRBAG Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of — (162,713)
meEBAZES cash acquired
EMRERHR LA Acquisition of additional equity (81,763) (7,480
interests in subsidiaries
WEEBE MR REMIRE  Acquisition of equity interests in — (109)
associated companies and
other investments
b (18 h0) B EER AT Decrease (increase) in short-term 9,070 (23,989)
FRREEARTER bank deposits and pledged bank
deposits
BEEEHH 7 EELEY Net cash outflow from investing (550,920) (654,322)
activities
BEFNZERERA Net cash inflow before financing 603,922 467,071
activities
MEDD Financing activities
HEER Drawn down of new bank loans 2,771,878 4,136,926
EERTER Repayment of bank loans borrowed (4,231,355) (4,093,224)
BRR fE Loan from a shareholder 124,047 —
BITNRRES Issue of convertible bonds 29 1,218,438 —
BREARSER Cash capital contributions from 29b 633 —
a shareholder
LERERAER Cash capital contributions from 29b 4,500 9,442
minority shareholders
SERRE:) Interest paid (105,744) {129,800)
RERE Dividends paid 29b (218,900 (110,000)
RELEREZBRE Divideds paid to minority 29b (79,592) (20,676)
shareholders
RMEZDHZFHDRA Net cash outflow from (516,095) (207,332)
financing activities
Bezen Increase in cash 87,827 259,739
NEEEXEHFE Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (228) 317
—A—-BzE% Cash at 1st January 762,166 502,110
TZAZT-BZRE Cash at 31st December 849,765 762,166
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1. RARBREIERK

BEERERNBRLOEGATERIAR
ANR—ANZERATRBEEFEAR
AAB (PR EMRLARGHERL
a ER-ANBEET AT HHAER
BRTENGERDBERLODNEMOEESR
e ARRBITZIHRIE-VA=FCA
THRBMBEEERERINBERLAFALZ
ERET - MIARIBIE-—AAZENAZ
TLERBELEBEHFRGMLT -

AZEZEETRAZ+ B ARQRER
BE—THERIZRER DT (Anheuser-
Busch Companies, Inc.) ([A-BAR]]) % 7]
—E(EBRURERR)  FAFESEHR
A-BRRIETRAIMEROTREES
BEXABH1,416,195,000T FTAWARE
1,505,840,0007%) : 2EMBREBABATE
FHAERDEH27 %O MRE - FDAIRAF
BEURIABLARIREARAI BTN RE
FHIE M B S £41,162,057,0008 7 (37
BEHARET,235,006,0007T) c B —EF
ZEFZA=+—H - EF#280,800,000
I (e 8 AR 297,999,0007) a] #A
BEHCRARF RN 60,000,0008% ¥ EH
R o H82#0254,138,0008 T (AHAR
#270,834,0007T) ERZEEMNE=Z A=
TRKE - ERERHREAER
LELACRBENER FEF2HNE
23Rk27°

ARAIREMEBERE (AR[AEE]) AT
EERREERHBERE -

1. ORGANISATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the “Company”) was established
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") on 16th June, 1993
as a joint stock company with limited liability. It obtained the
business license of a sino-foreign joint stock company on 27th
December, 1995. Its “H” shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 15th July, 1993
and its “A” shares have been listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
since 27th August, 1993.

On 215t October, 2002, the Company signed a “Strategic Investment
Agreement” with Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc. ("A-B Company”)
pursuant to which the Company is obliged to issue several tranches
of mandatory convertible bonds (“CB”) to A-B Company amounting
to approximately HK$1,416,195,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,505,840,000). Upon full conversion of the CB, the equity
holding of A-B Company in the Company will increase to
approximately 27%.
HK$1,162,057,000 {equivalent to approximately RMB1T,235,006,000)
of the CB were issued and the related proceeds were received from
A-B Company, out of which approximately HK$280,800,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB297,999,000) of the CB had been
converted into 60,000,000 new H-shares as at 31st December, 2003.
The remaining balance of the CB of approximately HK$254,138,000

During the vyear, approximately

(equivalent to approximately RMB270,834,000) was received on
31st March, 2004. The financing arrangement can reduce the amount
of the net current liabilities of the Group. More details are set out
in Note 23 and Note 27,

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”} is principally engaged in the production and distribution

of beer products.
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(REBGTEAEH) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

2, TEE

E_l‘.}_'

BE

EHHSEEFMRAZTEOHREIR
M

@ RREE

AEENEREEEERAZENRIR
EEGHMREEM EHERN((EEE
SRR RE  ZEEHEEEAZEEY
FEEERERRAZELEEETEES
BEMAE - AREZPEEERE DR
RTPEER TR U RERRRG
CENEHVBREHFEMNHRE - 1K
BECREREBGHENFLEENRE
EEHNHABRLRERRRAZELTE
EERE L - AREKBEERARLE
R BNETEERRFEELCE

RAFE ZEBEMNEEREGHELAE
Bih 2 @i ERIESK (BSHMEBFE
PRE] REFEYME2RIMEN] (&
) SRR BRE_FLE-RAR-EZE
SE-R-BIVERRcETEEE
e

AEBEAREEREIST (B EE IR
FERZHRE] cBERHAERBIKREL
BREEREE -

ARBEABRRZEZRRBIERT 28
FEMNSRRIYERIRERENE
2(n) e

2. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of

these accounts are set out below:
(a) Basis of preparation

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and comply with
accounting standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of
Accountants (“HK GAAP”). This basis of accounting differs in certain
material respects from that used in the preparation of the Group’s
statutory accounts in the PRC. The PRC statutory accounts of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles
and financial regulations applicable to joint stock limited companies
in the PRC. Appropriate restatements have been made to the PRC
statutory accounts to conform with HK GAAP. Differences arising
from the restatements are not incorporated in the Group’s accounting
records. The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost

convention except that certain fixed assets are stated at valuation.

[n the current year, the Group adopted the Statement of Standard
Accounting Practice ("SSAP”) 35 “Government Grant and Disclosure
of Government Assistance” and SSAP 12 (revised) — “Income Taxes"”
issued by the HKSA which are eifective for accounting periods
commencing on or after Tst July, 2002 and 1st January, 2003,

respectively.
The Group considers that the consequential changes made to SSAP

35 does not have a material impact on the accounts of the Group.

The changes to the Group’s accounting policy and the effect of
adopting the revised SSAP 12 is set out in Note 2(n).
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(REBSHEQBHY) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

(b) REEH

() FEKE

GREFRERRARERENBRARBET
ZHA=+—-B1zKAE -

MWEBLREALAEERRNEENBEH
REE BEEMYRREERE &
NHAESEAZENE  FEEZEE
ELEAZBREEZEE -

EFREARELZMBAR  KRXEH
BEERARTRHAEZHELEMB LA
FEBRRRA -

MAESEALRABZEARSRESRER
FRERBEHH -

LEMBLARZREREBERLNERSEZ
WANBEEREZARAEREZEZRE
BRCHIREGSBEERALHAER
ZEMARBEEHENABEUREFTHEE
ZREIBELES -

VERRESREIARREMBLARZE
ERERBEFEPEE 2 ESR -

EALCBZEERARR HBLAAZR
BURAENRAESEERGAR A2
ARMBLARZRERERREURREA
85 o

REBEOMERRBAFI NI T8

(b) Group accounting

(i) Consolidation

The consolidated accounts include the accounts of the Company

and all its subsidiaries made up to 31st December.

Subsidiaries are those entities in which the Company, directly or
indirectly, controls more than one half of the voting power; has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies; to appoint or
remove the majority of the members of the board of directors; or to

cast majority of votes at the meetings of the board of directors.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated profit and loss account from the
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal,

as appropriate.

All significant intercompany transactions and balances within the

Group are eliminated on consolidation.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary represents the
difference between the proceeds of the sale and the Group’s share
of its net assets together with any unamortised goodwill or negative
goodwill and which was not previously charged or recognised in
the consolidated profit and loss account and related accumulated

foreign currency translation reserve,

Minority interests represent the interests of outside shareholders in

the operating results and net assets of subsidiaries.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less provision for impairment losses. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of

dividends received and receivable.

Particulars of subsidiaries of the Group are disclosed in Note 18.
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(Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

(i) BE R 7]

BELRARMNBARRSERANN &
H%ﬁﬁh%ﬁ%%&é THEEER
BEATENZDA -

AERAREEREEGHELAZARE
ERE MECEEREBERIEGELEH
BEMERAZEEFERUBEL LR
ENERE (MERFEH) -

EMLENRZREREECD 2B - &
TERAEZETE  BRELEEHZE
ERACEEARABRR AL -

AEEEARE 5
REEREZERLE AL
ERFERFEZEERE
WARBREBRHH -

EARBZEERERAN BLLAZR
BEURAERERELEEIIE - XQTH
BERTIZEBRERKEURRIAR -

(i) B E

UHBERAUELRS  BBRRHERZ
ERHE REEBUINEBRZERE
EERERMREFAZERRE - AtE
TCERREETARRR -

(i) Associated companies

An associated company is a company, not being a subsidiary or a
joint venture, in which an equity interest is held for long-term and

significant influence is exercised in its management.

The consolidated profit and loss account includes the Group’s share
of the results of associated companies for the year, and the
consolidated balance sheet includes the Group’s share of the net
assets of the associated companies and goodwill or negative goodwill

{net of accumulated amortisation) on acquisition

Equity accounting is discontinued when the carrying amount of the
investment in an associated company reaches zero, unless the Group
has incurred cobligations or guaranteed obligations in respect of the

associated company.

Unrealsied gains on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests in
the associates; unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transactions provide evidence of an impairment of the assets

transferred.

In the Company’s balance sheet, the investments in associated
companies are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses.
The results of associated companies are accounted for by the

Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
(iii)Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at exchange rates
ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
expressed in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are
translated at rates of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date.
Exchange differences arising in these cases are dealt with in the

profit and foss account.
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MBLARBE R ANBER EER
ERORBEBZEEZRE  MBERRY
REFHERFE -AUELZERBEE
REBEDAR -

(c) BEEEERANRE

(i) BERE

ETAERERAASTREENRERRE
FEREERNELREHE BERALEHE
BERRZBEEAENEZEMRUHMRES
RERGzMREMMENETUEEER -
EEEEARAARRR-ANZERATR
AMARRNHARBRRERERAN
BREE RRAERRFEAEMENEE
FEEEEEERMANTGEEAR &
EEAERAEREAEENXE WEE
RERENBEERR —RREEZEX
HNHEERERTHNSR - WERERE
REASEXHEENER N B RERZER
FTEEMELEMEERZ  ZEXHAE
(EZBBRETEEMEIAA

AEERBETEEHNOERL(GTE
EDE17RE2RBHIE - BERRE)
ZEBEHRE REHEFAERE-—N
NEFENAZTRAMEZFEBEIE
MZEEEEEAARRRELERER
BEBZLAREE-

BENRIEHEN  URAHAEE
ZEGARFHITE -

The balance sheets of subsidiaries and associated companies
expressed in foreign currencies are translated at the rates of exchange
ruling at the balance sheet date whilst the profit and loss account is
translated at an average rate. Exchange differences are dealt with as

a movement in reserves.

(c) Fixed assets and depreciation

(i) Fixed assets

Fixed assets are stated at cost or valuation amount less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. The cost of an
asset comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use. Fixed assets stated at valuation are mainly fixed assets
injected by the founding shareholders as a result of the
reorganization of the Group on 16th June, 1993 and the value was
agreed among the founding shareholders and approved by the State-
Owned Assets Administration Bureau of the PRC. Expenditure
incurred after the fixed assets have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance and overhaul costs, is normally charged to
the profit and loss account in the year in which it is incurred. in
situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the expenditure
has resulted in an increase in the future economic benefits expected
to be obtained from the use of the fixed assets beyond its originally
assessed standard of performance, the expenditure is capitalised as

an additional cost of the fixed assets.

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions set
out in paragraph 72 of SSAP 17, “Property, Plant and Equipment”
issued by the HKSA, with the effect that certain fixed assets which
are stated at revalued amounts, determined prior to 30th September,
1995, have not been updated to reflect their respective fair values

at the balance sheet date.

Improvements are capitalised and depreciated over their expected

useful lives to the Group.
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(RBEEHENRE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

(i T E

BRrmERRraEREN BTEEZR
ENNERERES 2 RESTEENR
2 EERERI%EESENE G AE
FEDELRE BETEEFERHTE
RERHOT :

THERAE EHAFR
EEBREY 20— 50
HERE 5— 144
BH®RE 5— 126
H i & 5 — 105

BEEEZARBFEERFETZDHE
MEZ -

RETHERECHTE - SHRETHE
EEECRERNBREEREAENEER
BZBEAXEBERL  TREHRER
RRERTE -

i) ERHERE

EEFEER EFEEEEAZEERE
BRENTLNRMESNES  FEZ
FEERLORE -WEYRBRAEEE
MR - AEERREEE  RES
BEATHREEEARABEEREZH
JREEELERERRERERAE -

HEBRTEEZREFARIERER
R HEEFEEZRERBRNOLE
FEBRAZHEEERAECZR -

(i) Depreciation

Except for land use rights which have no estimated residual value,
depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the cost
or valuation of the fixed assets less accumulated impairment losses
over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account their
estimated residual value of 3% of cost. The estimated useful lives of
fixed assets are as follows:

Land use rights Terms of the rights

Buildings 20 — 50 years
Plant and machinery 5 — 14 years
Motor vehicles 5 — 12 years
Other equipment 5 — 10 vears

The useful lives of fixed assets and depreciation method are reviewed

periodically.

The plant components are depreciated over the period to overhaul.
Major costs incurred in restoring the plant components to their
normal working conditions to allow continued use of the overall
asset are capitalised and depreciated over the period to the next

overhaul.
(iii)impairment and gain or loss on sale

At each balance sheet date, both internal and external sources of
information are considered to assess whether there is any indication
that fixed assets are impaired. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated and where relevant,
an impairment loss is recognised to reduce the asset to its
recoverable amount. Such impairment loss is recognised in the profit

and loss account.

The gain or loss on disposal of a fixed asset is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant

asset, and is recognised in the profit and loss account.
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{d) Construction-in-progress

d EBIR

FERTEEBRTYHEERREMANLE  Construction-in-progress represents plant and properties under
BARTHBERE  TRERKERRMGE
ERELE RAREIRRENRER
EREMNTHREMERRAE  REE
MRRURNEARBEENELNER

construction and machinery and equipment under installation and
testing, and is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
The cost includes cost of construction, machinery and equipment

and other direct costs plus borrowing costs used to finance these

IRRZFEEEHSE
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(BEEGTERER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

RSBV EERBEA RN EELENX
0 BERLBEZAEHER  BH#EZ
XHEELLREFARRKTIRSHAE
REENS ReesnaRstgkoid
RWEENERYEERA L BIZ X HEE
ERBVEEXKHSG -

AR FERWRBEEAERE KR
EEHERAEREY - FRAGHERER
FRESFAREBEFERERER - B

EENRITEBFRNT
B/
EBEBE 40F
HmE 5— 10%F
EARM 10%
B R EAM 5 — 105
(i) FRREZAF

MERFEZLERERBANL - B84
ERRRTEARMZATEREERK
RER MAAERMERRKAR TE
ERBEENHELARHRZEEMELT
BREEANG  MRHEMANRERZ
REARAANFRIBRARRREE X
RNEGENTSREFHRIEEE  UR
BMEERCERERRALES - THAE

MR HABRAEREEHERERY

Subsequent expenditure on these intangible assets after their
purchase or their completion is recognised as an expense when it is
incurred unless it is probable that this expenditure will enable these
assets to generate future economic benefits in excess of its originally
assessed standard of performance and can be measured and
attributed to these assets reliably in which case it will be added to

their cost.

Trademarks, technology know-how and software are amortised on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method are reviewed annually at each

financial year end. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Trademarks:
Tsingtao Beer 40 years
Other trademarks 5 — 10 years
Technology know-how 10 years
Software and others 5 — 10 years

(ii) Research and development costs

Research costs are expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on
development projects relating to the design and testing of new or
improved products are recognised as an intangible asset where the
technical feasibility and intention of completing the product under
development has been demonstrated and the resources are available
to do so, costs are identifiable and there is an ability to sell or use
the asset that will generate probable future economic benefits. Such
development costs are recognised as an asset and amortised on a

straight-line basis over a period of not more than 5 years to reflect
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RELZEREBERE AEERARAHE
FEZIMESGEER  UFHRAHEZD
REERTAEEEREESE - HEL
LHBERR  BIRESEA TAR @
BRABDERREFEZE - M3/ HRE
EFRENEALBEFELAERETS
RAURZARBETE  BEREERFRE
HEEFNEREERR -

EREESHEREER  EREESY
EREEMBFAFELEHAEER
(i) R R &

BREZINBESFRRABFUIINES
NHBREMRE  TURABEREE
RERLERR - HERERFERED
AEEBRERA -

REMEELERERE EENRER
AAEFRES

h BXEE

() B BERMREH

BiE BEBMREAGRARERRERRK
FAARRERHENEENSRIELRAL
ERZAENRTEATRELAERT T
NWER - DHINEVEERREFAREZ
AEENAEERTE-

The carrying amounts of investment securities are reviewed at each
balance sheet date to assess whether the fair values have declined
below the carrying amounts. When a decline other than temporary
has occurred, the carrying amounts of such securities are reduced
to their fair values. The impairment losses are recognised as expenses
in the profit and loss account. These impairment losses are written
back to the profit and loss account when the circumstances and
events that led to the write-downs or write-offs cease to exist and
there is persuasive evidence that the new circumstances and events

will persist for the foreseeable future.

Upon disposal or transfer of the investment securities, any gain or

loss thereon is accounted for in the profit and loss account.

(ii) Other investments

Securities other than investment securities or held-to-maturity
securities are classified as other investments and are carried at fair
value in the balance sheet. Any unrealised holding gain or loss on
other investments is recognised in the profit and loss account in the

period when it arises.

Upon disposal or transfer of other investments, any gain or loss

thereon is accounted for in the profit and loss account.

(f) Intangible assets

(i) Trademarks, technology know-how and software

Trademarks, technology know-how and software are measured
initially at cost, and are recognised if it is probable that the future
economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the
Group, and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. After
initial recognition, they are recorded at cost less accumulated

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

) g N R B N (B (S B3R R AT 2

the future losses and expenses are recognised. Any remaining
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(h) #E

FEBARVE  EEm 82K &H
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SHREMGRGEHHEEERAE - RESR
m R BN BEEDDR2-5FRI2FBEF
REEGZBEIIFEFLEESRR -

(i BUERRRELERR

ABEERREEEERRAMERR -
B REREE - BUERREGERT
BURAERERERENZENTR -

H RERRESEED

ReRReEBUENAREEERERA
k- ERERERT  BeRReEE
MEREFRERBITBAFTR -

k) BEHE

CEHERKERERAEC AR OREE
THEELARIREZEE BEFREEHN
BREHELTRRZZRNEBEE R
EHRNEREZERERP H -

(h) Inventories

Inventories mainly include raw materials, work-in-progress,
packaging materials, auxiliary materials, low value consumables
and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost, calculated on the weighted average cost
basis, comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Net realisable value is determined on the basis of
anticipated sales proceeds less estimated selling expenses. Low-
value consumables and certain packaging materials are amortised
over their estimated useful lives of two to five years and one to two

years, using the straight-line method, respectively.

{i) Trade and other receivables

Provision is made against trade and other receivable to the extent
they are considered to be doubtful, Trade and other receivables are

stated at cost net of such provision.

{j) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet at cost.
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash

equivalents comprise cash on hand and deposits held at call with
banks.

(k) Operating leases

Leases where substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of
assets remain with the leasing company are accounted for as
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the leasing company are charged to the

profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the lease period.
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ReHelcaERIAET_EANE
 THREEENERFEINZ 285

e

E_ o

(h Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present legal or
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is p-robable
that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits wil! be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the
amount can be made. Where the Group expects a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain. Provisions are
reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money
is material, the amount of a provision is the present value of the

expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.
{m)Employee benefits
(i} Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they
accrue to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability
for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to

the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not

recognised until the time of leave.
(ii) Bonus plans

The expected cost of bonus payments are recognised as a liability
when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a
result of services rendered by employees and a reliable estimate of

the obligation can be made.

Liabilities for bonus plans are expected to be settled within 12
months and are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when

they are settled.




ANNUAL RePFURIT 2000 7 S U

i B M ax (&)

Notes to the Accounts (Continued)
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(iVEREEF

BER-—ANANF+HA-BRETHES
THBACENFAEEERBETHATE)
AREARTBESRBETHIRAEH
3o SBRRETIRBINARTNEE
TEM285%E33.5% EFAEBEBAE
25.5% BTHBISERE IRB+H
BRNERBMHGELH - BRABRINER
CHZBIREIN  AEAREERE S
B RCBRESECERS -

EERBEEONBLARREERITRE
BRaat BN —EEER
BREIEAES  RESERHE %HE
BEAEHER  HRHASREESED
EeEFRENSEREEBE12,000 (A
R#12,73270) BR - RERZERETBIE
HZEREBLRERERTE -

(ny ELEHE

BERERRAEINEERBLHES
TRENBRACKBEEMEIRESRZ
EzBRE ELFERREESAERR
EREAREERHIBEETE -

BEHBRAEDRE TR A RERTE
FIRASRZEERZEHEMER -

(iii)Pension obligations

Pursuant to “Temporary Regulations on Municipal Enterprise
Employee Pensions and Retirement Protection for Qingdao” which
became effective on 1st October, 1994, the Company has provided
a government-sponsored defined contribution retirement scheme
(“the Scheme”) for its full-time employees. Contributions to the basic
retirement insurance for the Group's local employees are made
monthly to a government agency based on 28.5% to 33.5% of the
standard salary set by the respective provincial governments, of
which 25.5% is borne by the Group and the remainder is borne by
the employees. The government agency is responsible for meeting
the obligations of these pension liabilities up on retirement of the
employees. The Group accounts for the contributions made/to be

made to the plan on an accrual basis.

A subsidiary operating in Hong Kong has established a defined
contribution mandatory provident fund scheme in accordance with
the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation of the government of Hong
Kong. It makes monthly contributions to the scheme based on 5%
of the employees’ basic salaries with the maximum amount of
contribution made by the subsidiary and the employees being limited
to HK$12,000 (equivalent to RMB12,732) per annum per employee.
The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution retirement

scheme are expensed as incurred.

(n) Deferred taxation

Deferred taxation is provided in full, using the liability method, on
temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the accounts. Taxation rates
enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date are

used to determine deferred taxation.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.
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BEFRSHDHWERR BERARE
CERIREHFEMAE  ERETUE
BEZ2HD THUEETRRARA
SEDAIR -

MEIEE  BEREDRAERRVME
ZEMERBEARIBN _ERIKEE
BEEARABROBRINHREME
BREE  BROMREKITE - RWFEL]
ZEHENENFEAEHBREZEDY
EEBER ALRUAFCERUTEE
Bal & 2 R

MEeRBEERMAIE  ZTT_F—A
—BZEPRTEBREENMOARE
646,0007C © AEH LRFET G ENE
NREERECHEEE BHEREESR
FEFE - mEGMEsHEM  BRE
L _TE S -A-BZEEMEEE
REEREBEEESAMNEMOAREE
7,944,0007C & A E#19,114,0007C © Ut

S MEEEHE20EEL BT IFE—
A—BZEFYABEFESNEMHAR

#6,705,0007T °

—EFE

TET-E-A-BrEVERHESBRDE
M AEET,217,000T - ARG EHFE

e RERMENERAERECHIESE
ﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ ° WNER B M 258

il BREBRS_TE=ZF-A—BZ
ELCRBEEERELEHERES MENY
AE%7,528,0007T & AR # 18,098,000
TCe WA WERBMEI6R20fER - =

CE-A-BZEYVBEERERES
BOREMARKES 213,000t R AR
6,423,0007T °

Deferred taxation is provided on temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will

not reverse in the foreseeable future.

In prior years, deferred taxation was accounted for at the current
taxation rate in respect of timing differences between profit as
computed for taxation purposes and profit as stated in the accounts
to the extent that a liability or an asset was expected to be payable
or recoverable in the foreseeable future. The adoption of the revised
SSAP 12 represents a change in accounting policy, which has been
applied retrospectively so that the comparatives presented have been

restated to conform to the changed policy.

As shown in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the
opening accumulated deficits at Tst January, 2002 have been
increased by approximately RMB646,000, representing the
restatements of unprovided net deferred tax liabilities, goodwill and
negative goodwill as a result of the adoption of the provisions of
revised SSAP 12. As mentioned in Note 25, the restatements have
fed to an increase in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
at 1st January, 2002 by approximately RMB7,944,000 and
RMB19,114,000, respectively. In addition, as mentioned in Note
20, negative goodwill balances as at 1st January, 2002 have also

increased by approximately RMB#6,705,000.

The opening accumulated losses at 1st January, 2003 have been
increased by approximately RMB1,217,000, representing the
restatements of unprovided net deferred tax liabilities, goodwill and
negative goodwill as a result of adoption of the provisions of revised
SSAP 12. As mentioned in Note 25, the restatements have led to an
increase in deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities at Tst
January, 2003 by approximately RMB7,528,000 and RMB18,098,000,
respectively. In addition, as mentioned in Notes 16 and 20, goodwill
and negative goodwill balances as at 1st January, 2003 have also
increased by approximately RMB8,213,000 and RMB6,423,000,

respectively.
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o) TRREH

SHETARESNAE R NHEBE
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ARBNFEEE (BRARERBERE
ETHEERERE  RADATHER
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BEHIREFREBRARINERR
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RENREANNEHMEERERABR
Eg BAERZ WEAAGRREMRE
BENREERERTIR -

(p) BABRRERE

ERBXSEENGZBERATEER - T8
BEABAMREETSEHEENHRET -
WARU T EERER

) WETSZMAREER
FALTEFERA -

Emﬂ M/\

(i) RITFERMBRATDREREERE R
FMEREBENE  REHLHIER -

(iR EBARRRE RS Z EFEEE
BHER -

(0) Convertible bonds

The principal amount of the mandatory convertibie bonds (net of
related issuance transaction costs) is recorded as equity in the
balance sheet. The estimated cash flows of the expected annual
interest payments payable by the Company to the bondholder, and
the expected refunds from the bondholder receivable by the
Company upon conversion of the bonds (assuming mandatory
conversion occurs upon the expiry of the contracted conversion
period) are discounted into their respective net present values using
the average borrowing rate of the Company. The difference between
the two net present values {“Discounted Net Present Value”) has
been offset against the principal amount of the bonds issued and is
presented as a deferred liabilities under long-term liabilities in the
balance sheet. The deferred liabilities are amortised on a straight-
line basis and recognised as income of the Company throughout
the expected conversion period. Actual bond interest expenses paid
and payable by the Company before conversion are presented as a
deposits, prepayment, loans to subsidiaries and other receivable in

the balance sheet.

(p) Revenue recognition

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
a transaction will flow to the Group and the Company and the
revenue and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue

is recognised on the following bases:

(i) Sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards

of ownership of the goods have been transferred to customers.

(ii) Interest income from bank deposits and investment is recognised
on a time proportion basis on the principal outstanding and at the

rate applicable.

(ii) Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment

is established.
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(VEBEHEHE W ARG EHER -

(q) BEWA
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(rn ERER
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ERRNEREREAMMBEAENEARE
ERRETOKREE  HEFTRZEEND
BEZE -

(iv) Operating lease rental income is recognised on a straight-line

basis.
(q) Government grants

A government grant is recognised as other revenue, when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching with it and the right to receive is established.

Grants relating to income are deferred and recognised in the profit
and foss account over the period necessary to match them with the

costs they are intended to compensate.
(r) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs include interest charges and other costs incurred
in connection with the borrowing of funds, including amortisation
of discounts or premiums relating to borrowings, amortisation of
ancillary costs incurred in connection with arranging borrowings
and exchange differences arising from foreign currency borrowings
to the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to interest

costs.

Borrowing costs are expensed as incurred, except when they are
directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of the assets that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
prepare for its intended use in which case they are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
commences when expenditures for the asset and borrowing costs
are being incurred and the activities to prepare the asset for its
intended use are in progress. Borrowing costs are capitalised at the
weighted average cost of the related borrowings until the asset is
ready for its intended use. If the resulting carrying amount of the

asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recorded.
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FREETE -

(s) Segments

The Group is principally engaged in the production and distribution
of beer products. Hence, no business segment information is
prepared. In accordance with the Group’s internal financial reporting
structure, the operations of the Group can be classified into five
primary geographical segments. These segments are the basis upon
which the Group reports its primary segment information. Financial

information on geographical segments is presented in Note 3.

Segment revenues, segment expenses and segment results include
transfers between geographical segments. Such transfers are
accounted for in the ordinary course of business and eliminated on

consolidation.

Unallocated assets and liabilities represent corporate assets and

liabilities.

Unallocated costs represent corporate expenses. Segment assets
consist primarily of intangible assets, fixed assets, inventories,
receivables and operating cash, and mainly exclude investments in
securities. Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities and
exclude items such as certain corporate borrowings. Capital
expenditure comprise additions to intangible assets and fixed assets,

including additions arising from acquisitions of subsidiaries.

In respect of geographical segment reporting, sales are based on
the region in which the customer is located. Total assets and capital

expenditures are where the assets are located.
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() HAREH
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TRETEEL DEBLTETZES
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() BEREE
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EEREREEASENSREEER 71
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3. WK

AEBZE-TEXBREERHER
B AR RREREBLHLER 2 -

(t) Contingent liabilities

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past
events and whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events
not wholly within the control of the Group. it can also be a present
obligation arising from past events that is not recognised because it
is not probable that outflow of economic resources will be required

or the amount of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes
to the accounts. When a change in the probability of an outflow
occurs so that the outflow becomes probable, it will then be

recognised as a provision.

(u) Subsequent events

Post-year-end events that provide additional information about a
Group’s position at the balance sheet date or those that indicate the
going concern assumption is not appropriate are reflected in the
accounts. Post-year-end events that are not adjusting events are

disclosed in the notes when material.

3. SEGMENTAL REPORTING

The Group is mainly engaged in the production and distribution of
beer products. Accordingly, no analysis of business segment

information is provided.
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(HERETELUEH)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

AEENEHEPEES  BMESHH  The Group’s activities are conducted in the PRC. An analysis by

ERFWT geographical segment is as follows:
2003
EBHE HEWE ELBE  EHEKE  BME  4HER Eid
B
Other

Qingdao  Shandong ~ HuaBei  HuaNan  Overseas Eliminations Consolidated
Region Region Region Region

ARBTR ARBTR ARETR ARETR ARBTRL AREFT ARETR

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'0G0  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

-§-1 TURNOVER
HIEE External sales 1,795,540 934,537 1,426,702 2,177,342 379,664 — 6,713,785
AHEER Inter-segment sales 208,957 2,330 91,123 219,289 —  (521,699) -
BEE Turnover 2,004,497 936,867 1,517,825 2,396,631 379,664  (521,699) 6,713,785
BERR RESULTS
BEET Segment results 257455 (27,959 35192 156,136 125,116 — 545940
RAEHZEE  Unallocated expenses, net (19,526)
EeRRN Operating profit 526,414
BURA Finance costs {101,799)
BEBERE  Share of profits less losses (7,251) - - - - - (7,251)
GERFAEE of assoclated companies
BENRAH Profit before taxation 417,364
HE Taxation (134,988)
BHERH Profit after taxation 282,376
SERRER  Minority interests (37,331)
BEEEBR  Profit attributable to shareholders 245,045
EE ASSETS
FHEE Segment assets 5,383,778 1,284,197 1,837,337 3,942,517 — (3,981,235 8,466,594
HERBENE  Investments in associated 21,197 - - - - - 21,197
companies
FOREE Unallocated assets 435,778
BE8E Total assets 8,923,569
a8 LIABILITIES
SBEE Segment liabilities 904,606 1,030,757 1,206,927 2,442,646 — (2,092,823) 3,492,113
*HEEE Unallocated liahilities 437,165
BEfE Total liabilities 3,929,278
HAitEH OTHER INFORMATION
ERfiny Capital expenditure 105,398 114,383 96,344 234,748 - — 530873
& Depreciation 130,466 66,801 109,307 214,276 — — 520,850
B Amortisation 11,499 84 773 2,502 - - 14,858

BERBEE  Impairment charges recognised 8,839 12,141 18,793 6,529 - - 46,302
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]
As restated
2002
EBHE  HHWE  ERME  ERHE  SMME  AHEE A
E
Qingdao Other Hua Bei ~ HuaNan  Overseas Eliminations Consolidated
Region  Shandong Region Region
Region
ARETT AREFT ARBFI AREFT ARETT ARETn ARETR
RMB'O00  RMBG00  RMB'OG0  RMB'000  RMB'OOO  RMB'00C  RMB000
L] TURNOVER
HoMEE External sales 1719776 836,217 1,191,609 2,115,311 332,284 — 6,195,197
AEBEER Inter-segment sales 70,757 626 65,921 163,030 — {300,339 -
¥ Turnover 1790533 836,843 1,257,530 2278341 332,284 (300,334 6,195,197
EXEA RESULTS
nHEE Segment results 262,192 (280870 37317 143223 107,934 — 522,579
AAEFZTER  Unallocated expenses, nat {2,251)
BERA Operating profit 520,328
B Finance costs {146,661)
BEGBE AT Share of profits less losses (5,059) — - - — — (5,059)
BERFABE  of associated companies
BEART Profit before taxation 368,608
wAE Taxation (109,317)
BHAERR Profit after taxation 259,291
DPEREEE  Minority interests (37,317)
KRREEGEF  Profit attributable to shareholders 221,974
EE ASSETS
NAEE Segment assets 2,329,902 1,282,252 1,831,125 3,967,573 — (3,110,7100 6,300,142
WERBEDE  investments in associated 28,448 - — — — — 28,448
companies
RAREE Unallocated assets 2,563,865
HEE Total assets 8,892,456
8E LIABILITIES
THEE Segment liabilities 827,773 979,483 1,090,479 2,367,327 — (1,071,419 4,193,643
FAERARE Unallocated liabilities 844,823
BaE Total liabilities 5,038,466
At EH OTHER INFORMATION
EEN S Capital expenditure 68,635 95,014 103,872 276,724 - — 544,265
& Depreciation 114,179 67,758 101,935 183,532 — — 467,404
£ Amortisation 15,432 9,673 21,053 34,655 — - 80,613
ZERME®A  Impairment charges recognised 6,654 7,088 18,126 8,474 - - 40,342
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(REZEGEABRE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

4. EEERHMUEEH 4. TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUES, NET
AERZWHEEENT Net revenues recognised during the year are as follows:
wET
As restated
2003 2002
ARETR ARBTT
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
EEE Turnover from sales of goods 6,713,785 6,195,197
Hapdh a5 Other revenues, net;
— RAERE ) — Government grants (i) 62,885 96,812
— BERHEENE — Profits from sales of scrap materials 10,836 11,613
— B i — Other expenses (51,032) (11,660)
22,689 96,765
D Total 6,736,474 6,291,962

() RBEEERTNWRES  KEEEI (i) As part of the acquisition of certain subsidiaries of the Group in
NEBWFBTERHE - RiIEWHZE - £ prior years, the Group had entered into various agreements with
HHMBARIEZATREAMFIMEE the relevant municipal governments. Under the terms of the
B ZEZRENNBLESMHZERSE  agreements, these subsidiaries can enjoy certain financial incentives
SEROMBEBUA - granted by the relevant municipal governments, mainly including

financial subsidies determined based on the amount of tax paid by

those subsidiaries.




~ W Q ANNUAL REPORT 2003

i B M= (&)

Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(REBCEROER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

5. BEEF

KEBFEHR GIA) THSE:

5. OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging (crediting) the following:

a5
As restated
2003 2002
ARETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEZHFERE Cost of inventories 4,326,079 4,031,922
(BEMEREH (including depreciation and amortisation)
BrEEFE Depreciation of owned fixed assets 520,850 467,404
ETEERBES Impairment losses of fixed assets 46,302 40,342
B EEHRH Amortisation of intangible assets
— FE(BERTEEX) — Trademark (included in administrative expenses) 2,584 2,584
— BEREM — Technology know-how 1,863 3,270
(BERTEHE) {included in administrative expenses)
— B4 REK — Software and others 1,497 1,457
(BERTEAX (included in administrative expenses)
—BE — Goodwill 17,494 12,952
(BEREREBEEER) {included in other revenues, net)
EHEHSHE Amortisation of negative goodwill (10,244) (10,245)
(BEREAMARFHE) (included in other revenues, net)
REETEEREL Loss on disposal of fixed assets, net 12,645 14,631
RHAME Auditors’ remuneration 5,861 4,974
THWREEREYL Operating lease rentals on land and buildings
BEMEZTH 8,747 9,261
BRI Provision for doubtful debts 16,168 48,384
GFEAZRSELER Write-down of inventories to net realisable value 2,550 3,979
EREEEE Net exchange loss 7,081 7,061
FRRBERR Research and development costs 3,357 3,083
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(REBGHEANRE) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

6. BEIRF (BEESHE) 6. STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2003 2002
ARETIT ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HBIE Wages and salaries 474,766 443,159
HERERK Social security costs 47,325 46,657
BARKA—REHEIEE  Pension costs — defined contribution plans 62,577 52,165
ETEEREMN Staff employment medical benefits 2,179 2,699
GEl Total 586,847 544,680

7. B  EEEeHERAMNEHERSE 7. EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

ATZEHER MEMBERS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS
EEgE Directors’ emoluments
2003 2002
ARETR AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERNTES Non-executive directors
—EEZENS — Directors’ fees — —
— Hfi — Other emoluments 200 —
BITES Executive directors
—EEBHRe — Directors’ fees — —
—Ee - 2R — Salaries, allowances and 613 353
B HE benefits-in-kind
— BRREHR — Retirement fund contributions 26 25

55 Total 839 378
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GEEREHENRE

(Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

BEEARHR

INXFEEAL (EPLE(CFE
B)RALREZTRESERE) 2#MED

Five highest paid individuals

Details of emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals

{None of them (2002: none) are directors or supervisory committee

WaT members of the Company ) are as follows:

2003 2002
ARETR AR®T
RMB’000 RMB’000
#e  REREHESFZE  Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind 1,024 698
RBREHER Retirement fund contributions 26 30
GEl Total 1,050 728

EZEmEH2 Supervisory committee members’ emoluments

NEBERAFEEENE2H ZREN

The emoluments of the five existing and former committee

T : members are as follows:
2003 2002
AR¥ETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
He ZREKFEEFEFE  Salaries, allowances and benefits-in-kind 526 178
RA&HR Retirement fund contributions 35 24
= Total 561 202

BE-_TT=f+-A=+—BLEE "
REERTEZERFHMNAT(BEEE
EEREE)BANBMESHIRARE
1,060,0007C (#7 4 # % 1,000,0007) (= F
TZFHE) MU EESHENERE
MEAMFZ(ZET_F &) - BEE
B rEEBUTEHTEENTUEER
THEEANMAAEBR 2 RESRB A
E(ZETZF &) - EHTEZTRRA
R#200,000n 52 (Z8F2F &) -

For the year ended 31st December, 2003, emoluments of each of
the directors and the five highest paid individuals (including
directors, supervisory committee members and employees) were less
than RMB1,060,000 (equivalent to HK$1,000,000) (2002: same) and
no (2002: no) director has waived or agreed to waive any
emoluments. During the year, no {2002: no) emoluments were paid
to the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join the
Company or as compensation for loss of office. Emoluments of

RMB200,000 (2002: no) were paid to non-executive directors.
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(REBEHENBHE) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

8. BHALK 8. FINANCE COSTS
2003 2002
ARETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MITERRELHFIEZH interests on bank loans and overdrafts 103,614 147,479
(BEREFEAN2BER) (wholly repayable within five years)
BoORERIRER{LZ  Less: amounts capitalised in (1,815) (818)
FBXE construction-in-progress
& &t Total 101,799 146,661
9. B 9. TAXATION
@ FIEH (a) Profits tax
‘&7
As restated
2003 2002
AR TR AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EHRA Current taxation
— BEENEHG) — Hong Kong profits tax (i) 1,514 916
— PEEEMER) — PRC Enterprise Income Tax (ii) 128,971 105,706
IR ERBEEHR Write-off of deferred tax assets 5,101 2,975
EEZEE previously recognised
BB BEERY Less: Deferred taxation relating to (598) (280)
ZEMNEE reversal of temporary differences
GEl Total 134,988 109,317
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(REASTERE) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

FEEMERBERERBTRBES X Reconciliation of statutory tax rate to effective tax rate:
2003 2002
AR¥ETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EEBE Statutory tax rate 33% 33%
WERRAZER Loss sustained by subsidiaries 19% 18%
SERNEMRARRE Effect of different taxation rates (18%) (22%)

ZEE in different regions

H At Others (2%) 1%
ERBHEX Effective tax rate 32% 30%

(i) EBFBH

éi%ﬂ’a%"WEFZEE}%E%W%E%&%JE
175%(ZFTZF 1 16%) CTHEEHE
B M-ZEE=FHFER2003/2004F
ERHEHRER16%EMNE17.5%

(i) FELEFFEH

FRECEABHRNIBREIFRENMETEER
?E%%EEE’J@ZWW*BP‘TEL Fi B A A
RIMEHEBECSEEEM -

REBEREBERE-NANAFEATA
BELZ-D#HX SARBRIEER
EFOEEMEREZERARBIA &
D EI SRR A B R 5%H0 B R U AR

G BEEZRTARA - ARFAR-ANL
FZAZTZEEESEMURBNE
X OEEREERBEEEERTEN -

(i) Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5%
(2002: 16%) on the estimated assessable profit for the year. In 2003,
the government enacted a change in the profits tax rate from 16%
to 17.5% for the fiscal year 2003/2004.

(ii) PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”)

EIT is provided on the estimated assessable income of the year
calculated in accordance with the relevant regulations of the PRC
after considering all available tax benefits from refunds and

allowances.

In accordance with an approval document dated 18th April, 1994
issued by the State Administration of Taxation (“SAT”) of the PRC,
net profit earned by the Company is subject to EiT at 15%, effective
from the date of establishment of the Company. This rate will remain
effective until and unless the enterprise income tax law and
regulations change otherwise. The Company received a confirmation
from the Ministry of Finance of Qingdao on 23rd March, 1997,
stating that this preferential tax treatment would not be terminated

until further notice.
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BBRE(Z/)ERRE ([=K2F])
%%Uﬁfﬁ(WJ‘l‘l)“ﬁﬁE A (MM AFD R
FYEESREFEERLF(TRAR])
@ ROBREACRYAFXEEBER
HER HEARNSEEETMEDRS
BRHMBH - AFRATREZEERNE
BERZKRAFZHEEMNER - M AE
BIRAEENERBEMRE Al X
HIEERREHES

RINTEBEAHEEBRAR(TREE])

FREREANHEL HEARENEE
ESEFRARMERLHIANER - &

FERARHEEZ-_EEMNFE -

%%US‘E}@(H&f@)ﬁ[‘ﬁ’“ﬂ&%%ﬂi‘?‘?i@(f‘
FIARARAD IR KEREMEERE
ﬁﬁzu&ff&a : ?Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂﬂ?l BA15%5Et E
RERMBW -

AEBREGRTERIREENHEL
R ERBA T BIREER K% HE
REER -

Tsingtao Brewery (Sanshui) Company Limited {“Sanshui Company”),
Tsingtao Brewery (Chenzhou) Company Limited (“Chenzhou
Company”) and Shenzhen Tsingtac Beer Asahi Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Company”) were approved as enterprises with foreign
investment and therefore, they are exempt from EIT for two years
starting from the first profit making year after offsetting prior year
tax losses, followed by a 50% reduction for the next three
consecutive years thereafter. The current year was the third profitable
year of Shenzhen Company and the fourth profitable year for Sanshui
Company. Chenzhou Company was still in a loss position in current

year and its tax holiday had not started.

Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company Limited (“Shenzhen Sales
Company”) is exempt from EIT for the first year starting from the
first year of profitable operations after offsetting prior vear tax losses,
followed by a 50% reduction for the next two years. The current

year was the third profitable year for Shenzhen Sales Company.

Tsingtao Brewery (Zhuhai) Company Limited and Tsingtao Brewery
(Xiamen) Company Limited were established in the Zhuhai and
Xiamen Special Economic Zones, respectively, where they conduct
their operations. Accordingly, they are subject to EIT at a reduced
rate of 15%.

Other subsidiaries of the Group which are established and operating
in the PRC are subject to EiT at a standard rate of 33% based on

their respective assessable income for the year.
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(b) B EH

BRE(PEARANBCEZEHETE
fi)  AREREREREERAN7%E

REGHREBREER  BERVMHRED
M ESEMENaEBEERTEREN

BERYBOHEBELEN - B X%E
RIREBIEER BN 7%M3% « 2 RIETEI

TEERRBEMAEEN M -

(0 HEB

BRETEEEE BERUKERERT (F
REREEEQHEVREN BN (IR
(20011845%) Y REBMEELRER (28
RYREBEES)E3,000TA L - B
BEVRAGH20T - EnBE2EE -
DREW2R0TENEER -

10.RREERA

AAARBRREZRREERMOAAR

#406,748, 000 (Z2EF —F - HARE
217,307,0007) ©

(b) Value-added tax (“VAT”)

According to "The People’s Republic of China Value-added Tax
Temporary Regulations”, the Group is subject to output VAT which
is calculated at 17% of the sales amount of tangible goods. The
Group also pays input VAT on its purchases of raw materials and
auxiliary materials which is deducted against output VAT in arriving
at the net VAT amount payable to the PRC Government. In addition,
the Croup accrues and pays city construction tax and educational
surcharge based on 7% and 3% of net VAT amount payable,

respectively.

(c) Consumption tax

The Ministry of Finance of the PRC and the SAT issued the “Notice
for changes in consumption tax for alcoholic products” (Caishui
[2002] No. 84), which states that for beer products with an ex-
factory price (including packaging materials and related deposits)
of RMB3,000 or above per ton, the consumption tax is RMB250 per
ton. For all other beer products sold below that price, the

consumption tax is levied at RMB220 per ton.

10. PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS

The profit attributable to shareholders includes profit of
approximately RMB406,748,000 {2002: RMB217,307,000) which has

been dealt with in the accounts of the Company.




ANNUAL REFURIT 2UUS P o &

BB ME (&)
Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(REBGHENEL (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

1M1.RE 11. DIVIDENDS
2003 2002
ARBETFTT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BIRERE Dividends paid:
FRAEE Z+ RMB0.22 per share 218,900 110,000
(222 -%F: B8R (2002: RMBO.11 per share)
ARE+—1)
BEEZIRE Dividends proposed:
—EE=-FHERE Final dividend for 2003 of RMBO.2 per share 212,000 220,000
BRAR® -+ (2002 final dividend: RMB0.22 per share)
(ZZZ “ﬁﬁﬁﬂx B
BRARE Z+ 4

R_ZZMFONA-HZEZE B¢
EERE _ZZ-_FRERESHK -+
fili e BRBRELAREE PEABRMR
BOEBR_FETRFT_A=T-AL
FEINERBEBIK -

122.8REH

ERERABEFEEREERMNERERSE
EEBRFOARKE245 045000 (=BT
ZE M ARY221,974,0000T) ;T E o

BREFTBAZRERZETERRZM
1 9801,030,000,0008 (Z 2T = F
1,000,000,0008%) &t & - SREER AR
¥%1,140,018,0000 ( Z T T = &
1,000,000,0008%) E@REE - HEBARDE
TEBRZMETSE  MEBRBAER
TERAREZARETARESE R &R
X% 2 nNE F1520110,018,0008 (= F
TIE B)SBRHE -

At a board meeting held on 1st April, 2004, the directors proposed
a final dividend of RMB0.2 per share for 2003. This proposed
dividend has not been reflected as dividend payable in these
accounts, but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained

earnings for the year ending 31st December, 2004,

12, EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings
per share are based on the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders
of approximately RMB245,045,000 (2002: RMB221,974,000).

The basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average
number of 1,030,000,000 (2002: 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares)
ordinary shares in issue during the year. The diluted earnings per
share is based on 1,140,018,000 {2002: 1,000,000,000) ordinary
shares which is the weighted average number of ordinary shares in
issue during the year plus the weighted average number of
110,018,000 (2002: Nil) ordinary shares deemed to be issued if all

outstanding convertible bonds had been converted into shares.
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BREBBEENRS

13.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

ECEREENMEENE R —0ENE  Parties are considered to be related if one company has the ability,
NEEARFELZERAEAFE - ZEL directly or indirectly, to control the other company or exercise
EREAREBLE  c EMALCEREE  significant influence over the other party in making financial and
RE-EARANZHNEAYER 2 operating decisions. Parties are also considered to be related if they
ErETRBEABELE - are subject to common control or common significant influence.
@ BEZTT=ZF+Z_HA=T—EILF (a) For the year ended 31st December, 2003, the Group had the
B FAEEEBBCENTENTHD  following material transactions with related parties:
T
2003 2002
ARETFT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
A BR B o 2 Purchases from related companies 102,700 28,199
(LEBRRZLER (minority shareholders or companies with
ABRRE)HEE the same ultimate shareholder)
mEBCE GEEARR)  Advertising services provided by a related company — 36,078
REEERE (company with the same ultimate shareholder)
ARTZESTERRBUBBEEZTHEIE  The directors of the Company considered that all transactions with
ERETNRTET - related parties were transacted based on terms agreed by both

parties.
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;‘E:&KAEJAEE%%IE%E’\]&KE%E%%

(b) As at 31st December, 2003, the Group and the Company had

the following significant current account balances with related

BT parties:
£E NG|
Group Company
gX FX
End of year End of year
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR®TF R AREFT ARE T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BER Included in:
FEU B A &) Amount due from subsidiaries — — 219,591 494,185
R EFREA4 Trade receivable and
RHEER other long-term assets
(Kt ite) accounts (Note e)
— Wi B2 A — Subsidiaries of the Group — — 109,469 96,231
— HEMBB AT — Other related parties 100,903 105,206 100,903 105,206
RES  BREFK ' Deposits, prepayment,
MBARERE loan to subsidiaries and
EfEWRA other receivables
— HEBAE — Subsidiaries of the Group — — 1,760,826 268,390
— He B A A — Other related parties 105,253 117,906 87,291 112,851
BER Included in:
FERERRA Trade payable
— B2 — Subsidiaries of the Group — — 11,436 6,108
— HibFiBE 2 R — Other related parties 17,404 1,236 2,613 632
H At FE AT R Other payables and
REEMNERE long-term loan due to
BERA a shareholder
—WBLRF — Subsidiaries of the Group —_ — 11,781 21,726
— A-BR A (Ffsth) — A-B Company (Note h) 124,047 — —_ —
— EmEg QT — Other related parties 76,701 31,056 160 2,589
HEZER Sales deposits
— HBAF — Subsidiaries of the Group — — 1,319 2,460
— E@B LT — Other related parties 3,073 — 3,073 —
BHFORNA@N  ZEBRADEE  Except for those mentioned in (f) and (h), the Group’s and the

EMmERBECENERESBEOERER
R FAFAE -

EEETE

Company's balances with related parties are all unsecured, non-

interest bearing and they have no fixed repayment terms.
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O RZIEET=ZFF+-/A=1+—-H8 ££EH
RARARDFNNEAEE4617,0000 60
F(ZEEZF+ZR=+—8: AEE—
#) NR#875,006,0007T 5 AAF—HIAR
%355 516,000L) RHEEEEREFR
A([EREEAA) BRECHER

@%@gﬂl%%hé%ﬁﬁ@ﬂﬁﬁ&
HAAAKRE  #EERAEMLE -

) RZEZE=F+=-A=+—-8"
#AR#125,000,000L BRI R
ALEBEREHRER - RZBE=
Az+—HB TETAERE
REER-

@ RZET—5F  ZEERFALFHE—
EEPR—EEBAT (BBIRFAD®E
s AR 105,000,000t B EREF (TR
FERETHZ - BEEERBEHER

BABR-_ZEZ-_F-F—BRERAED
HREEBAR RNEEE RFADK
EHREERAOLLREREE_FARY

10,000,000CHI R « HEp - ARE
4,900,000 RBEEEK  HHARE
5,100,0007T B LA B8 38 AR = (7 i AR B A R 42
MMBEERTAREEEEBE BEZT
Z=F+ZFR=+—ALt BEREF—E
fEB AR 4,300,000 EE AR E
EEFENANY  HREMBRIFN
B ARBS5,700,000T c RZEEZF+
A=Z+—B EBARXRKIBUODAER
14,300,0007T J2 A R# 53,808,000 T A2
FARAEENEERBERTHNEREREIR
EMEHEEARRE -EREELAHAK
PIREER

{c) As at 31st December, 2003, loans of the Group and of the
Company amounting to approximately RMB4,617,000 (31st
December, 2002: Group — RMB875,006,000; Company —
RMB355,516,000), respectively, are guaranteed by Tsingtao Brewery
Group Company Limited (“TB Group Company”). TB Group
Company is a related party of the Company to the extent there are

certain common directors and a common shareholder.

{d) As at 31st December, 2002, approximately RMB125,000,000 of
the loans of the Group are guaranteed by the minority shareholder
of a subsidiary. There are no loans guaranteed by minority
shareholders as at 31st December, 2003.

(e) The Group reached a settlement agreement with a customer and
a related company (collectively “the Debtors”) in 2001 in connection
with an aggregate outstanding receivable balance of
RMB105,000,000 (“the Debts”). Pursuant to the agreement, the Debts
are repayable in eight annual instaliments, commencing from 1st
January, 2002. During the year, the Debtors repaid to the Company
the second instaliment of the Debts of RMB10,000,000 as stipulated
in the repayment schedule. Out of such amount, RMB4,900,000
was settled in cash while the remaining RMB5,100,000 was settled
by means of the transfer of ownership of two buildings located in
the PRC. As at 31st December, 2003, the transfer of the title of one
building amounting to RMB4,300,000 was still in progress and
therefore, only RMB5,700,000 was deducted from the outstanding
balance of the Debts. Appropriate adjustments had been made by
management of the Company to write down the Debts to their net
present value. As at 31st December, 2003, the outstanding balances
of the Debts of RMB14,300,000 and RMB53,808,000 were recorded
as accounts receivable and long-term assets, according to the
expected repayment schedule, in both the balance sheets of the
Company and the Group. TB Group Company, a related company,
has undertaken to guarantee the repayment of the outstanding

balance.
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) BEZZZ=F+ZA=+—-F A2
Taﬁzﬁx@f&ﬁ&qﬂllﬁﬁﬁu gE
AR D RIRELHARE,767,826,0007T
(ZEEZF+ZR=1+—-B: AR%
268,390,0007T) & #3 A R % 60,146,0007T
(ZZF-_F+-_F=+T—H: AR®
70,186,0007C) EXTHE AT R —HB2E A
e FPMERERIA-—SERIHRTE
IR BRERXEFOARS,115,660,000
T(ZEZZF+ZA=Z+—0: AE®
308,576,0007T) AR B - BRABEER
E2%E478%ENE (ZETZF+2RA
=+—B :15%) ¢

it

(@ MBI BBBE (BE)ERA
AR EEAT) MBREEETEN

ToEt-ACt-EHABEMLA
EARREGBELT - NTTTZF

AEEREEATHIERSMT -

"MEI
vm

(fy As at 31st December, 2003, the Company had provided
approximately RMB1,767,826,000 (31st December, 2002:
RMB268,390,000) and RMB60,146,000 {31st December, 2002:
RMB70,186,000) entrusted loans to subsidiaries and an associated
company, respectively, through the Bank of Communications and
the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China. All these entrusted
loans are unsecured and will mature within one year. Except for the
entrusted loans of approximately RMB1,115,660,000 (31st
December, 2002: RMB308,576,000) which are interest-free, all other
entrusted loans bear interest at 2% to 4.78% (31st December, 2002:

5% per annumj.

(g) As further explained in Note 19, the equity transfer legal
procedures of Tsingtao Brewery (Nanning) Company Limited
{“Nanning Company”) had not been completed as at 31st December,
2003 and it was not accounted for as an associated Company of the
Group. During 2003,
transactions with Nanning Company:

the Group had the following material

2003 2002

ARETR AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000

HETHELT Sales to Nanning Company 8,074 9,150
FEEAREE Purchases from Nanning Company 257,249 231,185
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RZTE=F+-_A=Z+—8 FEEE  Asat 31st December, 2003, the current balances maintained between
MERANEREFRGBELT the Group and Nanning Company were as follows:
2003 2002
AREFT ARETFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERERETA Included in trade receivables 3,845 2,148
BIERESL - BHEZK - Included in deposits, prepayment, 54,987 66,201
MEBLEERR loans to subsidiaries
E R ERA and other receivables
BERENEFA Included in trade payables — 4,612

(h RZZEZT=5+H S58E(EE)L (h) In October 2003, Tsingtao Brewery (Hong Kong) Company
A (IBEBRF]) BABREAIEE—HERH  (“Hong Kong Company”) entered into a loan agreement with A-B
%o BIEZWBE  A-BRAIAEERFIEM  Company, pursuant to which, Hong Kong Company borrowed a
15,000,000% 7T (?ﬁ 58 AR % loan of US$15,000,000 (equivalent to approximately

124,047,0007C) 0B X » LIMEHNFF]  RMB124,047,000) (the “Loan”) from A-B Company. The Loan is
ER1% ﬁ?ﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ@ o &) interest bearing at 1% per annum, unsecured and repayable within
B ERRMEER - five years. The Company has undertaken to guarantee the repayment

of the Loan.
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14BEEE 14.FIXED ASSETS
BrEEBEINEHOT The movements in fixed assets are as follows:
) £E (a) Group
2003
THERE BEEREY BBERE  EBRE  HURK )
Land use  Buildings  Plant and Maotor Other Total
rights machinery vehicles  equipment
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETT ARETRT ARETZ
RMB'OO0  RMB'000  RMB'00O  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
RERGEE Cost or valuation
-A-H At Tst January 647,986 2,297,242 4,370,634 415707 206397 7,937,966
EEIBEBA Transfer-in from - 87,764 265435 793 3,906 357,898
construction-in-progress
#E Additions 7,260 21,841 89,688 20,718 33,140 172,647
HESRE Disposals 8,057)  (15259)  (122,958)  (24,048)  (12,957)  (183,279)
TZRZT-F At 315t December 647,189 2,391,588 4,602,799 413,170 230,486 8,285,232
Rty BHER Accumulated depreciation,
EENE amortisation and impairment loss
-f-H At 15t January 84,995 466,567 1,573,390 144,400 96,642 2,365,994
AERENERES Charge for the year 26,201 67,575 353,559 38,818 34,697 520,850
LERREMEL Written hack on disposal (284) {4,686) (64,845}  (13,512)  (12,264)  (95,591)
BERERE Impairment loss provision - {7,093) 33,212 413 - 26,432
T-B=+-H At 315t December 110,912 522,263 1,895316 170,119 119,075 2,617,685
FERE Net book value
TZR=+-8 At 315t December 536,277 1,869,325 2,707,483 243,051 111,411 5,467,547
-F-8 At Tst January 562,991 1,830,675 2,797,244 271307 109,755 5,571,972
PLEEIEZRE=F28 The analysis of the cost or valuation
“+-BHETEE at 31st December, 2003 of
BAGEEAFMT © the above assets is as follows:
BRAGE At cost 523,677 2,102,508 4,175,461 403,355 230486 7,437,487
RibEHE At valuation 123,512 289,080 427,338 7,815 — 847,745
647,180 2,391,588 4,602,799 413,170 230,486 8,285,232

LI
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(b) 2 7 (b) Company
2003
1HERE REREN HERXRE EHRE  HARE 4t
Land use  Buildings  Plant and Motor Other Total
rights machinery vehicles  equipment
ARETT AREFT AREFT ARETT ARETT ARETR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB000
REARGEE Cost or valuation
—A- At 1st January 87,975 530,492 1,241,112 151,616 87,193 2,098,388
FEIREA Transfer-in from — {1,269} 56,258 — 1,504 56,493
construction-in-progress
AE Additions — 1,014 12,589 1,392 18,832 33,827
HEREE Disposals (564) (18610 (52,099}  (13,338) (8,460)  (76,322)
+ZRz+-18 At 315t December 87,411 528,376 1,257,860 139,670 99,069 2,112,386
REHAE Accumulated depreciation,
BHLEERE amortisation and impairment loss
—-RF—-H At 1st January 16,603 123,367 693,043 80,430 44,441 957,884
AEEREREH Charge for the vear 1,661 14,057 84,070 14,957 12,201 127,036
AHESBEREL Written back on disposal - (401) (19,635 (7,752} (8,081) (35,869
EENERE Impairment loss provision - — {1,115) 6 - {1,109)
TZA=+-H At 315t December 18,264 137,023 756,363 87,641 48,651 1,047,942
BEFE Net book value
+ZA=+-H At 31st December 69,147 391,353 501,497 52,029 50,418 1,064,444
—F-H At 1st January 71,372 407,125 548,009 71,186 42,752 1,140,504
EBIEZTETETZA The analysis of the cost or valuation
ST-BHETEERA  at 3ist December, 2003 of
HEELHDT the above assets is as follows:
B AEE At cost 5,01 308,500 887,976 134,828 99,069 1,435,384
%GB E At valuation 82,400 219,876 369,884 4,842 - 677,002
87,411 528,376 1,257,860 139,670 99,069 2,112,386
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AEERARTZIHMEEERENHL
RPE - LHERENFERRBS0E -

AEBERAFEEITFHAR,106,0007T
(ZEBZE+-FB=+—H5 : 68,799,000
TNEREUAEBNTEEERNARE
28,000,000C{ERER(ZEE_F+2A
ST—B UBTInERE BEERZE
W BBRE EHREREMSEES
R EEBEERBEENAARE
194,329,0007T) °

BE_ZT=ZF+-R=+—-EB - - F£8
BFEHARKE35499,000L 8 L1 EH
RO(EE L HERE) SEHE - st
R-CZEE=F+-R-T-HBXEBEFE
BAR®356,360,000EBEEDD
(FEMERBE)HGHE - B2 ZE2E
MER®R ALAEBERAFRARAE
SEREZS(ARIHERBE M(EER
BRBIUIFEEEUENEERE Bt
HEASBRAANEREELTENE
REE NTREFRETEERELEE -

Wi BEZFE-F+-_A=1+—-8"
FEEBERNCEREMENLTHAET
MARFEETHLEEANEE L - &
ZEIHMINEEEEMIEZOARS
136,317,000 (ZZ 25+ A=+—
B :121,952,0007C) - REBRERER
SRt T RAES RN RN T

i
E

JFH

FTTRIRN

All the land and buildings of the Group and of the Company are
located in the PRC. The useful lives of the {and use rights of the
Group and of the Company are 50 years.

Approximately RMB1,106,000 (31st 2002:
RMB68,799,000) of the Group’s loans are secured by fixed deposits
of approximately RMB28,000,000 (31st December, 2002: secured

by land use rights, building, plant and machinery, motor vehicles

December,

and other equipment with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately RMB194,329,000).

As at 31st December, 2003, land use right certificates (“Land
Certificates”) of certain parcels of land of the Group with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB35,499,000 and
awnership certificates of certain buildings (“Building Ownership
Certificates”) of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately RMB356,360,000 had not yet been obtained by the
Group. After consultation made with the Company’s legal adviser,
the Company’s board of directors consider that there is no legal
restriction for the Group and the Company to apply for and obtain
the Land Certificates and Building Ownership Certificates and it
should not lead to any significant adverse impact on the operations
of the Group and the Company. Accordingly, no provision for fixed

assets impairment was considered necessary.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2003, the operating facilities of
certain subsidiaries of the Group were located on parcels of allocated
land (“Allocated Lands”) owned by certain local municipal
governments. The carrying values of the associated buildings and
facilities constructed thereon were approximately RMB136,317,000
{31st December, 2002: RMB121,952,000}). The Group is in the
process of applying for the transfer of the legal title of these Allocated

Lands to the Group.
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BEAEERAQAMGEENETEEN
BERAERBZFAFEINER  AAXAKER
ALRZEETEAENRRERS AN A
A R ® 355,000,000 & A R %
233,000,000 (ZE B _F+ A=+
B @ AR® 389,000,000k ARE
260,000,0007T) °

1568818

EETIRBENEINT

The carrying amount of revalued assets of the Group and of the
Company would have been approximately RMB355,000,000 and
RMB233,000,000, respectively, (31st December, 2002:
RMB389,000,000 and RMB260,000,000) had they been stated at

cost less accumulated depreciation.

15. CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS

The movements in construction-in-progress are as follows:

|

Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARETFT ARE T ARBFR ARBTFIT
RMB’000 RMB 000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—H—H At Tst January 208,575 206,976 70,009 90,797
ME Additions 378,226 363,408 62,197 78,621
EREHFEZE  interest expenses capitalized 1,815 818 — —
BEAEBTEE Transfer to fixed assets (357,898) (333,305) (56,493) (84,470)
HEipd Other transfers (20,574) (29,322) (7,366) (14,939)
+-RA=Z+—H At 31st December 210,144 208,575 68,347 70,009

AEFBIRAERENEE4.78% (=

TZF 1 3.95%E5.72%) c REBRAK
EETUERLELOMBREDARE
1,815,000/ (ZBEZF + AR%818,000
T WERERIER -

The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing
costs eligibte for capitalisation as part of the costs of the related
assets is 4.78% (2002: between 3.95% and 5.72%) per annum for
the year. During the year, the Group capitalised approximately
RMB1,815,000 (2002: RMB818,000) of its borrowing costs in

construction-in-progress.
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(BEEEgTEINES) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

16.E2FEE 16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
@@ &E {a) Group
2003
BE B EERH BHERAL &t
Goodwill  Trademarks  Technology Software Total
know-how  and others
ARETT ARBTT ARETT AREFTRT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000
BE Cost
—-f-8 ik At 1st January, as 155,048 103,346 18,629 19,966 296,989
previously reported
RAFERE Prior year adjustment 10,266 —_ — — 10,266
-A-8 BEj At 1st January, as restated 165,314 103,346 18,629 19,966 307,255
=) Additions 29,206 — — 3,901 33,107
HEREE Disposals — — — (178) (178)
+ZR=+-H At 31st December 194,520 103,346 18,629 23,689 340,184
Bt E# Accumulated amortisation
-F—8 WmH& At Tst January, as
previously reported 23,667 24,036 6,520 3,607 57,830
MREERE Prior year adjustment 2,053 — — — 2,053
-R-B &7 At Tst January, as restated 25,720 24,036 6,520 3,607 59,883
FEEEH Charge for the year 17,494 2,584 1,863 1,497 23,438
RHERHEMED Written back on disposals — — — (178) (178)
+ZA=+-8 At 31st December 43,214 26,620 8,383 4,926 83,143
EEFE Net book value
+ZA=z+- At 31st December 151,306 76,726 10,246 18,763 257,041
-A-B BEH At Tst January, as restated 139,594 79,310 12,109 16,359 247,372
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(EZEREHENRH

(b) 22 &) (b) Company
2003
HE REREM @t
Trademark Software Total
and others
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
S Cost
—-A-A At 1st January 100,000 5,468 105,468
=Ry Additions — 3,632 3,632
HERBE Disposals — (178) (178)
+-A=+-8 At 31st December 100,000 8,922 108,922
BB Accumulated amortisation
—R—H At Tst January 23,750 922 24,672
FEREH Charge for the year 2,500 560 3,060
BHERREREL Written back on disposals — (178) (178)
+-A=t+-H At 31st December 26,250 1,304 27,554
BHEE Net book value
+ZA=Z+-F At 31st December 73,750 7,618 81,368
sl = At 1st January 76,250 4,546 80,796
(i) HE (i) Trademarks

AETERRARER-ANZFXAT
NEBER  BRERRERERKRAD
[EEREIEE  ZAGRUTEERE
BEEEHRAENFEENE -

ARFIESERRENLEABEHARE
EFFER UHERALIKRERELF
FREENEEMNE - At - EREE40
FHEBHEBENDRN(ETERD F29KER
FR0FEHEER -

Trademarks mainly include the “TSINGTAO BEER” trademark which
was injected by the founding shareholders into the Company on
16th June, 1993 as their capital contributions. The recorded value
of the trademark was assessed based on the results of a valuation
approved by the State-Owned Assets Administration Bureau of the
PRC.

In the opinion of the Company's board of directors, the above
trademark is essential to the operations of the Company and it is
expected to bring enduring economic benefits to the Group and the
Company continuously. Therefore, it is amortised over a period of
40 years, which is longer than the presumed period of 20 years
prescribed by SSAP 29.
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(RBASTEUERE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

HeBBERRREHNBLARABRE IR
ﬁ@ﬁl%ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁfﬁ)\g I%ﬁ LfEEt2

FEHERBSEI10FEASEE -

(i) BEHRM

EERMERHBARELER d—L#
ERRAGHMBLAFRERRE - k&
FRMEZHBLRASRAZEZLEA
DRAEAR URBEEGEENZE &
AARIERNGEHEERERABUNERE
TR 2 B -

o)

\

ARBESERRENEEZLOREET
ER-_ZFZZF+-_A=T—-HZE2TK
AEBEZREFE-

Other trademarks were acquired as a result of acquisitions of certain
subsidiaries. They are amortised over their estimated useful lives
ranging from 5 to 10 years. The cost of these intangible assets were
determined based on their fair value at the respective dates of

acquisition.

(i) Technology know-how

Technology know-how was injected by a minority shareholder of a
subsidiary into that subsidiary during its reorganisation. It was
recorded at a value agreed among all the shareholders of the
subsidiary and is amortised over an expected period of inflow of

economic benefits of 10 years.

{n the opinion of the Company’s directors, the underlying value of
these assets was not less than their carrying values in the books of

the Company and of the Group as at 31st December, 2003.

17.RBRE 17. LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS
58 N
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARETR AREFT AREFR AEEFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
BEEHHY Held-to-maturity — 34,366 — 34,363
LHEH securities, listed
SEEmEERNG [nvestment securities, 17,930 20,797 16,853 19,846
®E&a) unlisted (a)
& &t Total 17,930 55,163 16,853 54,209
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(REBHETEYHER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

(@ FLTERERORE (a) Unlisted investment securities
AT
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR¥FT ARETT AREFT ARE TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBROMAEE  Unlisted shares, at cost 17,930 20,797 16,853 19,846
RZBT=ZF+ZF=+—8 ARQFE Inthe opinion of the Company's directors, the underlying values of
EERABLORBIRENDAEBETER  longterm investments as at 31st December, 2003 were not less
AR RAEEMEKREFE - than the carrying amounts of such investments in the books of the
Company and of the Group as at that date.
18 RERKBAT 18. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
AH
Company
2003 2002
ARBTFIT AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FELMBIRERA Unlisted shares, at cost 1,633,555 1,611,622
iy RZEZE=F+-A=+—8 " EKH () Amounts due from subsidiaries as at 31st December, 2003 are
BLRAIREYEER T5FE  7MEE  unsecured, non-interest bearing and have no fixed repayment terms.
EERE -
(iVEBEZZZT=F+_HA=+—HBLHE (i) The Company had arranged advances and loans to subsidiaries
T ARBEBEARTUAETERFAREMSE  through entrustment loan arrangement made with banks in the PRC
ERXTHELF - during the year ended 31st December, 2003.

(RZZE=ZF+-A=Z+T—BHAFE (il)None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital outstanding at
REAER SWEBLARYBERAKEE  31st December, 2003 or at any time during the year.
ZIEEER

=+—B AR2QF (iv)in the opinion of the Company's board of directors, the
RERKBLABAABETE underlying values of each of the investment in subsidiaries as at

Exe25
REZEBRSEE- 31st December, 2003 were not less than the carrying value of such

investments in the books of the Company as at that date.
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(HEESHERMBH)  (Prepared in accordance with HK CAAP)

@ () R=Z2E=F+-A=+-8 &
RAMNTENBLARERNT ¢

(a) (i) As at 31st December, 2003, particulars of the principal

subsidiaries of the Company are as foliows:

WRAFEE RIRTEGEHE  ZEif iREs LN IEXE
BENLA
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment  Legal status Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activifies
and principal operation by the Company (%)
HEHE HESE
Directly Indirectly
held held
AlnEs2RZREE  PERY BRLA AR 200,000,000 95% - fERAF
ERLF (2852
Tsingtao Brewery Huanan Shenzhen, the PRC limited liability company RMB200,000,000 95% —  Invesiment holding
Holding Company Limited
{*Huanan Holding Company”}
EBEA(RR)ERAT  ©HAE ERLE AR 60,000000 - n83%  EREELERHE
Tsingtao Brewery (Zhuhai) ~ Zhuhai, the PRC limited liability company RMB60,000,000 - 7283%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
FERE(CKBRLE  PEZK MELE ARH41,335,505 - 1.25%  BREELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery {Sanshui)  Sanshui, the PRC foreign invested enterprise RMB41,335,505 - 71.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EBRE(IMERAE  EEAN nELE ABH70,000,000 - 8436% EMEELEREE
Tsingtac Brewery {Chenzhou)  Chenzhou, the PRC foreign invested enterprise RMB70,000,000 - 84.36%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EERE(2A)ERLE  FBER ER2E ARH5,000,000 - 0% EREELERES
Tsingtao Brewery (Huangshil  Huangshi, the PRC {imited liability company RiMB5,000,000 - 90.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EEEE(ER)ARLT  ~EEA ERLF AR H5,000,000 - 9025% ER2ELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery [Yingcheng)  Yingcheng, the PRC fimited liability company RM85,000,000 -~ 90.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
RUBERARAERLE  PERY etz £ 730,000,000 51% - EEREEEE
Shenzhen Tsingtao Beer Asahi ~ Shenzhen, the PRC foreign invested enterprise U5§30,000,000 51% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited irading of heer
RATESRAHERRAT RERY ERLA AE#%120,000,000 95% - EREERS
Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery  Shenzhen, the PRC limited liability company RMB20,000,000 95% —  Domestic trading of beer
Sales Company Limited
EEREFRERERLS  FELE BRLT AE 100,000,000 95% - {RAA
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong ~ Shanghai, the PRC limited liability company RMB100,000,000 95% —  Investment holding

Holding Company Limited
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(REEEHENERE

(Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

it PEEL RIRTESEHE  iREab ahEx ERERE TERE
BROLAC

Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment  Legal status Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities

and principal operation by the Company (%)
ERER BESR
Directly (ndirectly
held held

FEERER-AHE cELE FEAT AE 3,000,000 - uisubi  BARERR
BRLE (R EEL

Tsingtao Brewery Huadong ~ Shanghai, the PRC limited liability company RiB3,000,000 —  94.05%MMi  Domestic trading of beer
Shanghai Sales Company
Limited [*Huadong Shanghai"}

EEREZERRHE REER BROE ARH1,000,000 - 0% EAEEES
ERDE

Tsingtao Brewery Huadong ~ Nanjing, the PRC fimited liability company RMB1,000,000 - 93.88%  Domestic trading of beer
Nanjing Sales
Company Limited

EERELEERLA RELE ERLY AE#50,000,000 - 90.05% BAREEERES
(TEER8)

Tsingtao Brewery (Shanghai)  Shanghai, the PRC limited liability company RMB30,000,000 - 90.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
{"Shanghai Company”)

EERBERIBRAT  FEEY BRAR AR%20,000,000 - 85.50% AARELERES

([ Rd)

Tsingtao Brewery (Wuhu} Wuhu, the PRC limited liability company RMB20,000,000 - 85.50%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
{"Wutu Company”}

EBEE(RRLIARLR  TEREY ERLT AEH5,000,000 - 91.25% BAAREEEREE

Tsingtao Brewery Maanshan, the PRC limited liability company RMB5,000,000 - 91.25%  Manufacturing and
{Maanshan) domestic trading of beer
Company Limited

ERRELANIERDY FELE BRAOS 57136,640,000 73% - BERZELEREE

Tsingtao Brewery Shanghai  Shanghai, the PRC limited liability company US$36,640,000 75% —  Manufacturing and
Songjiang Company Limited domestic trading of beer

EERE@L)ERAT  FEER BRLT NEH 60,606,060 99% - EREEZEREE

Tsingtao Brewery (Shouguang)  Shouguang, the PRC limited liability company RMB60,606,060 99% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer

EERE(ENARLE  PHES BR2E AR 3,000,000 70% - ERBELEREE

Tsingtao Brewery {Weifang) ~ Weifang, the PRC fimited liability company RMB3,000,000 70% —  Manufacturing and

Company Limited

domestic trading of beer




ANNUAL REFORT 2008 7 1 I <&

B B M & (&)

Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(RBEAGTEBEE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

HELFEE RIRIEEEHY AR BT LR IREH
BEALH)
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment  Legal status Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities
and principal operation by the Company (%)
RS BRSE
Directly Indirectly
held held
EREE(RE)ARRT  FBRE ERDE AR %5,000,000 93% - EREELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Angiu) Angiu, the PRC limited fiability company RMBS,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EEREZZERAT ETR ERLA AEH10,000,000 95% - EREBTERZE
Tsingtao Brewery No. 3 Pingdu, the PRC (imited liability company RB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EREA(RMERLE  ERE BRAE AR%39336,899 66% - EREEIERHE
Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) ~ Peixian, the PRC limited liability company RMB39,336,899 66% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
FEREGNTH)SRAT TEEH BROS ARH5,000,000 90% -  EREELERHE
Tsingtao Brewery Pengcheng, the PRC limited liability company RiB3,000,000 90% —  Manufacturing and
{Xuzhou Pengcheng) domestic trading of beer
Company Limited
EEEERERLT  vEER BR2H AR 45,000,000 85% - EnBELERAE
Tsmg a0 Brewery {Xuecheng)  Xuecheng, the PRC limited liability company RMB45,000,000 85% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of heer
ERREBMARRT  SEEA ARAT AR 15,000,000 95% - EREPBEEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Tengzhou] Tengzhou, the PRC limited liahility company RMB15,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
FERE(aRH) RS RELRH ARLT ARH3,000,000 - 86.20% EREFHERES
BRAT
Tsingtao Brewery {Taierzhuang) Taierzhuang, the PRC fimited liability company RMB5,000,000 - 86.20%  Manufacturing and
Malt Company Limited domestic trading of malt
FPR-REAEEERLT  FELAR BR2E % 728,900,000 54% - EnEEIERAE
(ER=%27])
Beijing Three Ring Asia Pacific  Beijing, the PRC limited liabifity company 15$28,900,000 54% —  Manuiacturing and
Beer Company Limited domestic trading of beer
(*Beijing Three Ring")
LRESERREERAT  REMR BRLE NE#862,000000  37.64% 1%  ERRETEREE
Beijing Five Star Tsingtao Beijing, the PRC limited liability company RMBB62,000,000  37.64% 5%  Manufacturing and

Brewery Company Limited

domestic trading of beer
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il PR RIRTELERE  EEsM ifgx EREHE IREE
EBEHLHI)
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment ~ Legal status Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities
and principal operation by the Company (%)
EERE BEEE
Directly Indirectly
held held
EERE(EMIERRT  +EENM BRLR £726,828100  75% i) B%biin  BABRELEREE
(TEH2 )
Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhow)  Fuzhou, the PRC limited liability company US$26,828,100  75%(hifi) 25%b)(ii)  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer

{*Fuzhou Company”

ERE(BERAT  PEAN ERDE AR 10,000,000 95% — EREELEREE
('T'ﬁiﬁA al) Langfang, the PRC limited liability company RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Tsingtao Brewery {Langfang) domestic trading of beer

Company Limited
("Langfang Company”)

—%%lﬁi@ﬁ%ﬁié&ﬁ REER BRLE ASE222200000  76.10% - AARELEREE
([ExRE
Tsingtao Brewery Xian Xian, the PRC fimited liability company RMB222,200,000  76.10% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
("Xian Company”)
EEEEERRRAGLT TEER BRLT AR 50,000,000 28% dr9n  ERRIZEREE
Tsingtao Brewery Weinan Weinan, the PRC fimited liability company RMB50,000,000 28% 5479%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited damestic trading of beer
FERE(BU)ERAE  FEZRY BRLH AR 50,000,000 60% - EAREIERHE
Tsingtao Brewery {Anshan)  Anshan, the PRC limited liability company RMB50,000,000 60% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
ERER(EHR)ARLT  GHES ERAA AR 20,000,000 95% - IARELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Xingkaihu)  Jixi, the PRC limited liability company RMB20,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EREE(TWERRE  FREL ERAT A 520,000,000 93% - AREETEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Mishan)  Mishan, the PRC limited liability company RMB20,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EERE(RBRIERLT cERBE RELH AE#122,000,000 95% - AAEEIEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Haerbin)  Haerbin, the PRC limited fiability company RMB22,000,000 95% ~  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EREEERERR:)  FEER FRAF AR#37,500,000 80% - AABEIEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Penglai) Penglai, the PRC fimited liability company RMB37,500,000 80% —  Manufacturing and

Company Limited domestic trading of beer
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Company Limited

(REBEEGHEAER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)
il R RURzREERE  EERR EhEx ARRFE IRER
5Ll
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment ~ Legal status Registered capital Equily interest held Principal activilies
and principal operation by the Company (%)
BB BEES
Directly Indirectly
held held
FREE(RMERLT  EEN ERAT AR 20,000,000 70% - BEREEIEDRSE
Tsingiao Brewery {Rongcheng)  Rongcheng, the PRC limited liability company RMB20,000,000 70% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EEREREELANERLT THEE ARAR AREN000000  9773% - EHORERZ
([&&gR0) {bii)
Tsingtao Brewery Impor/ Qingdao, the PRC limited liability company RMB11,000,000  97.73% —  Import/Export trading
Export Company Limited (byiin of beer
("Croup Import/
Export Company”}
EREEREEERR0T  wEES ERLF ARH5,000,000 93% - EMEEES
Tsingtao Brewery Group Qingdao, the PRC fimited liability company RMB3,000,000 95% —  Domestic trading of beer
Sales Company Limited
EERE(RR)ERCE  FEES BRAT ARBI4610000  93.79% - BRREZEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (No. 5) Qingdao, the PRC limited tiability company RMB34,610,000  93.79% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EERERTERLE wEEE ERAF ARE1320000  100% - ER%ELS
Tsingtao Brewery Kai Fa Qingdao, the PRC limited fiability company RMB1,320,000 100% —  Domestic trading of beer
Company Limited.
BESRE(TRIBRAE  THYE ARLA AR %5,000,000 90% ~ EREELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Pingyuan)  Pingyuan, the PRC limited liability company RMB5,000,000 90% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
FERE(RM)ERAT  DEAR AR AR 10,000,000 93% - ERRELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery [Rizhao) ~ Rizhao, the PRC limited liabitity company RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EERE(NEIERLA  PENE ARLT AR%10,000,000 90% - EAERLTER#E
Tsingtao Brewery {Heze) Heze, the PRC fimited liability company RMB10,000,000 90% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EeeR (2B ERRAT  TEER ERLE AR %7,000,000 95% - BMEELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Chongging)  Chongging, the PRC limited fiability company RMB7,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EERE(EMAERLE  THAM ERLT A %10,000,000 95% - ERBELIERY¥E
Tsingtao Brewesy {Taizhou)  Taizhou, the PRC limited liability company RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and

domestic trading of beer
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(REAGTEAHEY) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

bl PR RUIRTEGERYE  HEhi EREZR 2R ARG IEXB
BRHLACH
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment  Legal status Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities
and principal operation by the Company (%)
ERsR HEss
Directly Indirectly
held held
ERRE(ER)RBERDA &R RRAT BH00000  100% - ERBEES
(iFgaaml)
Tsingtao Brewery (Hong Kong) Hong Kong limited liability company HK$500,000 100% —  Trading of Tsingtao beer
Trading Company Limited in Hang Kong
("Hong Keng Company”)
EEEE(RT)AROT  FEES ARLT ARH29,410,000 - 023%  BREEEEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Hanzhong)  Hanzhong, the PRC limited liability company RMB29,410,000 - 5023%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EEREUMEZERLA FERS ARLE AR 10,000,000 - 85.62% ENEGRERER
Tsingtao Brewery (Doumen)  Zhuhai, the PRC limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 85.82%  Manufacturing and
Malt Company Limited domestic trading of malt
FeRB(EMIgREE  TEEN RRAH AR 111,110,000 55% - EREELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Luzhou) ~ Luzhou, the PRC fimited liability company RMB111,110,000 55% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EEEEmR)ARLT  PEER ERAE 715,000,000 73% - BnRELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Nanjing) ~ Nanjing, the PRC limited liability company US$5,000,000 75% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EERE(RR)RRLA  THER BRLE AE%10,000,000 95¢% - HBErBETEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Sugian) ~ Sugian, the PRC limited liability company RM810,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
(REBRENTRELT  FEYR FRAT AE#29,980,000 80% 1425%  ERBEES
Tsingtao Brewery Beifang Beifing, the PRC limited liability company RMB29,980,000 80% 14.25%  Domestic trading of beer
Sales Company Limited
RERRLERRAEE  CERAR BR2E ARE10,000,000 85% 1425%  ERREES
BRAE
Tsingtao Brewery Haerbin Haerbin, the PRC fimited liahility company RMB10,000,000 85% 14.25%  Domestic trading of beer
Northeast Sales
Company Limited
EERE(BLRRLT  THES ERLF AEH 16,635,592 50% 690 BAEELERHE
Tsingtao Brewery {taoshan)  Qingdao, the PRC limited liabitity company RMB16,635,592 30% 46.90%  Manufacturing and

Company Limited

domestic trading of beer
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HWEAT4H BIRZESESE  iEsf ihaz LNk IERE
BERLE%)
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment  Legal status Registered capifal Equity interest held Principal activiies
and principal operation by the Company (%)
EREE BEsA
Directly Indirectly
held held
FEREBN EREE  TEEAM BRAH AE#500000 - W% EnEEERS
ER2T
Tsingtao Brewery {Tengzhou)  Tengzhou, the PRC limited liability company RMB500,000 - 90%  Domestic trading of beer
Huaihai Sales
Company Limited
EREE(ENSR2E  EXR BRLE AEH5,000,000 10% 85.50% ERBELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery {Suzhou)  Taicang, the PRC timited iability company RiB5,000,000 10% 85.50%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
EERBERANEERR  REAN ARAE ARE1,000,000 - sA0ubi  EABEZS
RE(TFERAD
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong ~ Hangzhou, the PRC fimited liability company RMB1,000,000 —  94.05%(0))  Domestic trading of beer
Hangzhou Sales
Company Limited
{"Huadong Hangzhou')
EBERERENSE REEH FRLF ARE3,000,000 - 610% EREEES
ERAH
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong  Suzhou, the PRC limited liability company RMB3,000,000 - 76.10%  Domestic trading of beer
Suzhou Sales
Company Limited
EEEARAEERRLAS  REND BRLE A&#2,000,000 60% % BREEES
Tsingtzo Brewery Xinan Chengdu, the PRC limited liabitity company RMB2,000,000 H0% 30%  Domestic trading of beer
Sales Company Limited
FReR(ENBRAS  TERAM ARLH AR 24,000,000 - B50% EREEIEREE
Tsingtao Brewery (Suizhou)  Suizhou, the PRC limited liability company RMB24,000,000 - 85.50%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
BERE(RMARRE  FEXA ERLT AE# 18,000,000 - 85.50% EARELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery {Tianmen} ~ Tianmen, the PRC limited fiability company RMB18,000,000 - 83.50%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading of beer
FRCE(aM)HEERDT PEAN EELE AR %6,800,000 - w45%  EAREELS
(laMB&g)) (Fa)
Tsingtac Brewery Taizhou Taizhou, the PRC fimited liabifity company RMB6,800,000 - 48.45%  Domestic trading of beer

Sales Company Limited
("Taizhou Sales”) (note a)

s
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((ZRBEEGHEER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

RELEER RUIRTEHERY  FEQ ihex ARREE TBEE
3347 140
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment  Legal status Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities
and principal operation by the Company {%)
ERsA BREE
Directly Indirectly
held held
ERETERARLA TRES ARLA ARH1,000,000 93% - fEfR
Tsingtag Changhong Shangwy  Qingdao, the PRC limited liability company RMB1,000,000 95% —~  Carrental services
Company Limited
ELUERENRARLE TEEE BR2E AB 2,000,000 51% - DikBEEE
Tsingtao Brewery Zhaoshang  Qingdao, the PRC limited Tiability company RMB2,000,000 51% —  Logistic services and
Logistic Company Limited management
WARBEREEERRLT FEFN BRLE ARHE1,000,000 - 9469% ERETEES
Tsingtao Brewery Chenzhou  Chenzhou, the PRC limited liability company RMB1,000,000 - 94.69%  Domestic trading of beer
Sales Company Limited
EEEY LGk LR ARLE AE%2,000,000 - 9030% EAEEES
ERAA
Tsingtao Brewery Luzhong ~ Wifang, the PRC lirmited lizbility company RMB2,000,000 - 90.30%  Domestic trading of beer
{Weifang) Sales
Company Limited
EERE(RFERRE  FEER BR2E AR 10,000,000 80% - BReErER#E
(TER2E)
Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen)  Xiamen, the PRC limited liability company RMB10,000,000 80% —  Manufacturing and

Company Limited
{"Xiamen Company”}

Domestic trading of beer

FERE(EM EEERDS FHEF ERLY ARH1,000000 — w0 BREEES
([EF%ED ()
Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen) ~ Xiamen, the PRC limited liability company RMB1,000,000 - 40%  Domestic trading of beer

Sales Company Limited
{"Xiamen Sales"} (note a)

tHac:

Note a:

FRERARRECMBERENEENYBRE
EBE AUBaHRERFRST-

Taizhou Sales and Xiamen Sales are consolidated as subsidiaries of the Group
as the Group has control over the financial and operating policies of Taizhou
Sales and Xiamen Sales.
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(RBRETEIBR) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

(HBEZTFE=ZF+_R=F+—HILEF (i) For the year ended 31st December, 2003, the details of newly
B AEEHARY/WENHBLARNE  acquired/established subsidiaries are as follows:

(ER U
FHELGZE RIAH RIA EEEH ARNERER AREEE TERE
ESY Rt A
Name of new Date of Place of Legal status Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities
subsidiaries establishment  establishment by the Company (%)
EEAR BERE
Directly Indirectly
held held
FRERSLAR CTIZE-f FEES ARLE 210,000,000 - 3% BE-BI-EE
ERRF January 2003 Qingdao, The PRC  limited liability company ~ RMB10,000,000 Warehousing, packaging
Tsingtan Beer Company Limited and
Haifeng logistics
Warehouse
EEEEEEER -T5-%-§ TEEE FR2A AE%1,000,000 30% 3% ERERLEREE
EERAG)  Jenvary 2003 Baoji, The PRC limited liability company ~ RMB1,000,000 Manufacturing and
Tsingtao Brewery domestic trading of beer

Baoji Company
Limited (ii§
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Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(IREEETELHBZ)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

lmmiggiﬁ AZ+AH KARHER
ZREGERUEBREELEFARELIL
AITEERF)  BELIMEMELRS
AER#1,000,0007C » ERARFNESE
EAR®300,000T - EEELTGHER
B30% BELEAURASLEARY
700,0007C M EH AR MERNT70% °

AEUNE R
FTEEDR TM@%@@ E%%‘ﬁ%%
EETTEELR - BELRRREEH
ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁalﬁﬁﬁ
EEMK -

b) AL A TH B AR ERR A
mﬁf%@mvz

() RZBFE=F—F—B A28 ZHE
NGNS Kiﬁti&%ﬁmm

F10%2 RESRIAR S AKR%300,0007T
RAR®100,000EES —HEBLEEYN
DE e RAREHEBESALAEER LS
RERTMZBERZHBRM3%ELE
94.05% o

(i RZET=ZE—-A+=ZB FRHEHEE
EEIRFENE)LATRAR ([BEE
BERI)ENBZ  UEREHOARE
40,000,000 EANEEENAAERY
24%BRHE c KRR Bt ADEEEMA
AEMERA1%ENMET5% o

(iii) On 20th January, 2003, the Company and Xian Company, a
subsidiary, jointly invested in a newly incorporated company, namely
Tsingtac Brewery Baoji Company Limited (“Baoji Company”), with
an authorised capital amounting to RMB1,000,000. The Company
injected cash capital of RMB300,000, which accounted for 30% of
the total authorised capital while Xian Company injected cash capital
of RMB700,000, which accounted for the remaining 70% of the

total authorised capital.,

Xian Company and a third party company, Baoji Brewery Company
Limited (“Baoji Brewery Company”), entered into a lease agreement
in January 2003, pursuant to which Baoji Brewery Company leases
all its operating fixed assets and seconds its employees to Baoji
Company for the beer production business without any lease rental
consideration. During the lease term, Baoji Company bears all the

operating costs relating to the leased assets and employees.

{b) In current year, there were changes in the equity interests of the

following subsidiaries held by the Company:

(i) On 1st January, 2003, Shanghai Company, a subsidiary of the
Company, transferred 10% of each of its shareholdings in Huadong
Shanghai and Huadong Hangzhou to Wuhu Company, a subsidiary
of the Company, at cash considerations of RMB300,000 and
RMB100,000, respectively. Such transactions have decreased the
indirect shareholdings of the Company in Huadong Shanghai and
Huadong Hangzhou from 94.53% to 94.05% each.

(ii) On 13th January, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement
with Fujian Brewery (Singapore) Pte Limited (“Fujian Brewery”) to
acquire an additional 24% equity interest in Tsingtao Brewery
{Fuzhou) Company Limited (“Fuzhou Company”) at a cash
consideration of approximately RMB40,000,000. After the
transaction, the effective ownership percentage held by the Company

in Fuzhou Company increased from 51% to 75%.
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(REAGTEYBE) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

Fh RZBE=F+ZA+NB K2
AlZMBRAREEAAEERBARER
& UEHEEHAEE1,667,000TE A
EEM“ﬂ%TWM%%%oﬁ&x%
& BNRAKAERARZZENBL
B ARRERMARZERZLID BB
T5%EEERR25%EERS °

WZBERZE+HZ+—H  A2FM
ENBARIEEELOLREEARE
6,000,0007T * ERAZBELEBEL D AT
ZHMEREE ARK11,000,0007T ¢ @
BRSALEMEER L ORI EMELE
95%3EMNE97.73% °

(iii

(VVRZBEZ=F+ZANE - ARAZH
EBRBEBMRE ERARURERTD R
EEBERMNBERR A ([EMNE
E) ARFRGERELTRBMNEE D
P 595.22%%95%.2 HE

19.RERBE QT

In addition, on 18th December, 2003, Hong Kong Company, a
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with Fujian
Brewery to acquire the remaining 25% equity interest in Fuzhou
Company at a cash consideration of approximately RMB41,667,000.
After the transaction, Fuzhou Company became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, with a direct equity interest of 75% and

indirect equity interest of 25%, respectively.

(i) On 21st July, 2003,
RMB6,000,000 into Group Import/Export Company and its registered
capital was also increased to RMB11,000,000. The shareholding of

the Company injected capital of

the Company in Group Import/Export Company increased from 95%

to 97.73% accordingly.

(iv)On 9th December, 2003, the Company dissolved Tsingtao
Brewery Wuhan Company Limited (“Wuhan Company”) and Tsingtao
Brewery Fuzhou Sales Company Limited (“Fuzhou Sales Company”).
Wuhan Company and Fuzhou Sales Company were originally

95.22% and 95%, respectively, held by the Company.

19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

(@) £E N
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARE TR ARBTFT AREFT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ErMRHIRE Unlisted investments,
A {E at cost 34,266 34,266 6,265 6,265
GREL NG Equity share of results
BEER of associated companies (13,069) (5,818) — —
21,197 28,448 6,265 6,265

RARRERER W-TE=F+T-R=
T-HEABERARRENDABEDTE
RARARAEBEHR EFE -

In the opinion of the Company’s directors, as at 31st December,
2003, the underlying values of the associated companies were not
less than the carrying amounts of these investments in the hooks of

the Company and of the Group.
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(BB S ERER)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

RZEE=F+-A=+—B  FAEEM Asat 31st December, 2003, particulars of the principal associated
TERLARNEHMNAT companies of the Group are as follows:
BEQNFEB RIRTEEEHY dZMEE RRARFRG ITEXH
(%)
Name of associated Place of Registered Equity
companies establishment Capital Interest held
and principal By the Group (%) Principal activities
operation
ERRE HERS
directly indirectly
held held
EEEE (B M) FEHM AR #5,000,000 20% — BREEREERE
ER QR Yangzhou, the PRC RMBS5,000,000 Manufacturing and
Tsingtao Brewery domestic trading of beer
(Yangzhou)
Company Limited
ERREHAERR TEES AR 70,000,000 —  37.52% BEARAEERBERAH
BRAE Qingdao, the PRC RMB70,000,000 Manufacturing and
Tsingtao Beer and domestic trading of tea
Asahi Beverages beverages
Company Limited
?E%%%%EE TEEEL AR #2,000,000 30% — BRREZES
EHEARL Shenyang, the PRC RMB2,000,000 Domestic trading of beer
Liaoling Shenqing
Tsingtao

Brewery Sales
Company Limited

BEARMEEEREREARENNS
BREDIFEZERE -

b) RZTZE-5+—F ARAlENEX
EVGREERAE (A THBEIEVCRE])
B TREEZERRR ([EEHE]D VG
LAFBEEELRRABENLER=ZELA
5%NRE - -HEZ_SE=F T A=+
—H FHEFHARE - XEBEHRE
FMUAEREDELRZBAA4%ER
ARAGRERE -

The operating results of associated companies have been included

in the consolidated accounts using the equity method of accounting.

(b) In November 2001, the Company entered into an equity transfer
agreement (the “Transfer Agreement”) with Canada EVG Enterprises
Inc (“EVG"), pursuant to which EVG will acquire 25% equity interest
in Beijing Three Ring Company owned by the Company. As at 31st
December, 2003, the consideration had not yet been settled and
the Company continued to account for the results of Beijing Three
Ring Company in its consolidated accounts based on its 54% equity

interest held in the Company.




ANNUAL RePORT 2003 @ U £ 2

Bk B M &t (&)

Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(GREAEHAES)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

RZZEZEWMEZR - ARFREVCRAE
A5 mEFERRROREBERERE - B©
RH AAABREERAETGBE B
REEEARVCRENIERZ B R F25%0
FRIELABS0,000E T HEL BB LR - BIX
REWGEPRERARARMEHE - BRE
B2k AQEGELERZBRARREEESR
g E T -

N

<

O RZFT-—F+-F EFREAERH
Ea( HEEE)ERAREREEES

CBARELE AKE96,000,000T
aﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ@%%ﬁ@@ﬁﬁﬁu
0% UHEASERE(BE)A
Rosl((HELR]) - HENRELET
BR-_TEME-ARR - -BE_TET=
FTZAZT-BiL BaRAEEHEE
LR BENEEARHNREERTZE A
WIRRREREUBE AR TUAR

In February 2004, the Company entered into another agreement
with EVG to cancel the Transfer Agreement. The Company and Hong
Kong Company instead reached an equity transfer agreement in
which the Company will transfer its 25% equity interest in Beijing
Three Ring to Hong Kong Company at a consideration of
US$850,000. This transaction is subject to the approval of the
relevant PRC government authorities. After this transaction, the
effective interest of the Company in Beijing Three Ring will remain
unchanged.

(c) In November 2001, Huanan Holding Company and Tailian
Brewery (Cayman Islands) Company Limited (“Tailian Brewery”)
signed an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the Company
would acquire 30% equity interest in Cuangxi Nanning Wan Tai
Brewery Company Limited (“Nanning Brewery”) from Tailian Brewery
at a consideration of RMB96,000,000. The name of Nanning Brewery
will also be changed to Tsingtao Beer (Nanning) Company Limited
(“Nanning Company”) afterwards. The legal procedures in relation
to this acquisition were completed subsequently in january 2004.
As at 31st December 2003, the Group exercised no significant
influence in the financial and operating policies on Nanning
Company and did not account for this investment as an associated

company accordingly.
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208H8 20. NEGATIVE GOODWILL
Group
2003 2002
AR®TFT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR A Cost
—A—HB LH% At Tst January, as previously reported (124,001) (124,001)
MBI EERE Prior year adjustments (7,389) (7,389)
—A—-8  8&5H At st January, as restated (131,390) (131,390)
b=l Additions — —
+=-A=+-—8 At 31st December (131,390) (131,390)
Biri Accumulated amortisation
—H—B " W% At 1st January, as previously reported 21,989 12,026
N FE B Prior year adjustments 966 684
—FB—EB  g&E7| At Tst January, as restated 22,955 12,710
R EFEHIEE Amortisation for the year 10,244 10,245
+-A=+-8 At 31st December 33,199 22,955
RHEEE Net book value
+-ZR=+—H At 31st December (98,191) (108,435)
—H—B  &&% At 1st January, as restated (108,435) (118,680)

EREREUBENBARATHEARERE
WEEEES FZ BT FREHETRE

WA -

depreciable fixed assets of the subsidiaries acquired.

The negative goodwill is recognised as other revenue over the

remaining weighted average useful life of the respective identifiable
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(REESTEAER)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

21. B R R

BUBETNERSTNT

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

@ £H (a) Group
2003 2002

28 SREE 3 ¥ SREE 35
Amount Provision for Balance after Amount Provision for Balance after
bad debts  provision bad debts  provision
ARMFRT AREFR ARETR ARETT ARETRT AREFR
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
—E R Less than one year 128,796 (2,599) 126,197 125,196 (4,912) 120,284
—ESRCE One to less than two years 42,273 (12,592) 29,681 56,665 (12,061) 44,604
ZEPRZE Two to less than three years 28,272 (19,312) 8,960 19,220 {17.325) 1,895
ZENE Over three years 89,311 (88,945) 366 104,717 (103,778) 939
At Total 288,652 (123,448) 165,204 305,798 (138,076) 167,722

(b) & 7 (b) Company

2003 2002

8 SEREG 2] $E HEER B8
Amount Provision for Balance after Amount Provision for Balance after
bad debts  provision bad debts  provision
ARETT AR®Tr ARETrn ARETT ARETR AEETZ
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000 RMB'000
—~EHR Less than one vear 144,131 (1,400) 142,731 131,063 {2,595) 128,468
-EORZE One to less than two years 29,827 (6,379) 23,448 47,579 (7,539) 40,040
ZELRZE Two to less than three years 18,646 {11,011} 7,635 6,903 (6,562) 341
_¢ A E Over three vears 41,179 {41,084) 95 60,709 (53,861) 6,848
At Total 233,783 (59,874) 173,909 246,254 (70,557) 175,697

EEEEMRTHERERRBENEFE
RET - MERAZTEE—F -

Credit is granted to customers based on specific assessment made
by management on the circumstances of each customer. Credit

period granted will not be longer than one year.
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(EEBGHERER)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

AEBRARTEENEA T ELHER
B EMR T IRERER - S BRER
EENAERRENEEERER  — &
HERBAMFALNRALRAREE

BRTEOUNREERTREEERE
B HENEPRFEFASNEKRN S
B ORBES RGNS RER -

WHIEE13(e) BTl - FEBRALBIH®H—F
EFR—BHM LR MEEOERERIER
DHERE -

The Group and the Company make specific bad debt provision
against certain doubtfu! trade receivable balances. In addition, based
on the experience of the Group and conditions of individual
customers, full provision for doubtful debts is generally made for
balances with outstanding balances aged over two vears, and with
clear evidence indicating that they are uncollectible. For balances
expecting partial settlement to be recovered, provision is made for

the estimated uncollectible portion.

As described in Note 13(e), the trade receivables of the Group and
Company included a balance due from a customer and a related

company, which was agreed to be settled by installments.

22.7 € 22.  INVENTORIES
59 NG|
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AEBFR AR®ETFT AR®FR ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000
BHME - BEHKR  Raw materials, packaging 1,036,906 966,956 184,119 173,949
WY M E TR and auxiliary
materials
EHe Work-in-progress 128,850 127,163 28,995 34,839
B @ Finished goods 164,877 154,335 65,661 61,669
1,330,633 1,248,454 278,775 270,457
BEELE Less: Write-down of
BEEE inventories to net
realisable value (25,130) (24,647) (1,022) (1,022}
FEEHE Inventories, net 1,305,503 1,223,807 277,753 269,435
MEREBZEKRGF - HH AR Approximately RMB25,130,000 (31st December, 2002:

25,130,000 (ZEF &+ A=+~
B :24,647,0000) NEEC 2B ERE
WIEEE -

RMB24,647,000) of the gross value of inventories of the Group and

of the Company were covered by full provision.
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(REAEGHEAUBHE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

23. B 1TE 23.BANK LOANS
@) KE (a) Group
2003 2002
BB BE A @
Short-term Long-term Total Total
AR¥ETT ARBTFR AR¥ETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
EEM Repayable:
—FR within one year 1,302,613 61,386 1,363,999 2,779,535
ZEnE in the second to fifth — 34,810 34,810 72,190
year inclusive
BALE over five years — 18,974 18,974 18,454
&3 Total 1,302,613 115,170 1,417,783 2,870,179
B — EWEEERS Less: Portion due within (1,302,613) {61,386) {1,363,999) {2,779,535)
one year
=3y Long-term portion — 53,784 53,784 90,644
by 2 F (b) Company
2003 2002
5B R ®E @
Short-term Long-term Total Total
AR®FT ARETFR AREFT AREFT
RMB’600 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEH: Repayable:
—FR within one year 579,369 25,147 604,516 981,516
—ERE in the second to fifth - 23,564 23,564 48,219
year inclusive
= Tota! 579,369 48,711 628,080 1,029,735
G EREEEN Less: Portion due within (579,369) (25,147) (604,516) (981,516)

one year

EHEMH Long-term portion — 23,564 23,564 48,219
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(RBEGELER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

AEERFRFZBERTAMNBEOARE
49,394,000 ( Z 2 T2 F : ARH
89,368,0007C) & A R ¥ 44,094,0007T (=
ZF AR¥71,368,0007T) MERE
ARMBLAEMELBRERRRHEES
SEEE - FRERZEMER163I%E
6.90%(ZFFZF : 0.65%E7.25%) °

30_77_$+ A=+—8"F%£EEK
ARRID A BEHAREL617,000L (ZF
§_¢+_ﬂ:+~a CREE-HIAR
%8750060007‘c:$’“a~i@/\ﬁﬁ%
355,516,000 MEHNRBREREELD
REGHER-

ARIMHELAINERRELARE
374,683,000 E_F+-_fA=+-
H @ AR#804,990,0007T) A 51321
R o

T

FEEREEATEHARE,106,0007T
(ZEZEZF+ZA=Z+—H : ARHE
68,799,0007) BIE AR A A EENEEHT
FHAR28,000,000L{EEER - (=

“EF+ZA=Z+-B:UEBEHY
194,329,000tV E T HHFERE  BER
£y EBERE EHREREMEREE
BEH) -

BRAEEABNEETZEREERITE
RHMAEEBR-STZE+FE=+—
BEREFRBBENARE740,287,0007T
(ZEZZH#+-HA=Z+—-8: AR¥E
2,122,388,0007C) - ARREZSERLE
B ABOEHETERNIEEED
BERRUFORERRERREBNEHE

Pursuant to debt restructuring agreements or acquisition agreements
of certain subsidiaries, interest charges to be levied on approximately
RMB49,394,000 (2002: RMB89,368,000) and RMB44,094,000
(2002: RMB71,368,000) of the loan balance of the Group and of
the Company, respectively, were waived by the lenders at no
consideration. The remaining outstanding loan balances are interest-
bearing at rates ranging from 1.63% to 6.90% per annum (2002:
0.65% to 7.25% per annum).

As at 31st December, 2003, loans of the Group and of the Company,
each amounting to approximately RMB4,617,000 (31st December,
2002: Group — RMB875,006,000; Company — RMB355,516,000),
are guaranteed by TB Group Company.

Approximately RMB374,683,000 (2002: RMB804,990,000) of the

loans of the subsidiaries are guaranteed by the Company.

Approximately RMB1,106,000 (31st 2002:
RMB68,799,000) of the loans of the Group are secured by fixed
deposits of approximately RMB28,000,000 (31st December, 2002:

secured by land use rights, building, plant and machinery, motor

December,

vehicles and other equipment with an aggregate carry value of
approximately RMB194,329,000).

Most of the bank financing of the Group is in the form of short-term
bank loans. As a result, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB740,287,000 as at 31st December, 2003 (31st
December, 2002: RMB2,122,388,000). The board of directors of
the Company is confident that the Group will be able to renew its
short-term bank loan facilities upon maturity or to identify new

sources of financing to replace the current ones. In addition, as
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(REZBGHEBMER) (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

oo Mo mE27AE  ARTERZ
TEMEZ A=+ —HRIABLARER
AEBTUARESNEBRRIEETAET
254,138,000(¥ & #) A R# 270,834,000
) WBHERERAERERBEENS
gj‘g a

KR-FFZE+-A=+—8 AZEH
RERZRASAEEERARY
1,000,000,0007T °

BENRRREGRE

) BNBERORESNAT

mentioned in Note 27, the Company received the remaining
proceeds of approximately HK$254,138,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB270,834,000) associated with the issuance of
convertible bonds to A-B Company on 31st March, 2004. The

proceeds can further reduce the net current liabilities of the Group.

As of 31st December, 2003, the Group had unutilised balance of
approximately RMB1,000,000,000 out of the available banking
facilities granted from certain banks.

24. TRADE PAYABLES AND BILLS PAYABLES

(a) The aging analysis of trade payables is as follows:

KB |

Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARETFT ARETFT ARBTFR ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
—ER Less than 1 year 603,964 580,101 103,812 95,278
—FE-F One to less than two years 27,342 26,803 707 1,071
HEE=F Two to less than three years 6,159 14,997 421 46
—FRE Over three years 9,448 29,612 536 780
&t Total 646,913 651,513 105,476 97,175

b) ARBRAATMENEENERAA
NEAUA - REBAEBESRHNARE
55,135,000 (ZEE_E+ZR=+—
B AR¥63,205,00070) SAREFRE
ERAEERNEBZER -

S5AEERE
EREHEEREXRARERIEZS R

5%E33%MEELRE(CTE_F 8
@) e

(b) All bills payable balances of the Croup and of the Company
were within the six month aging period. Approximately
RMBS55,135,000 (31st December, 2002: RMB63,205,000) of deposits
of the Group denominated in Renminbi were mostly pledged for
these bills.

25. DEFERRED TAXATION
Deferred taxation is calculated in full on temporary differences under

the liability method using the applicable principal taxation rates of
entities within the Group from 15% to 33% (2002: same).
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(FEEBEREFEAEE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

BEZ-_ZTT=ZF+-RAZ+—-8 F&£E
EE-—LRKESGHBEANBEATEER
EHTERAERAEMELNT R EZH
RARELREBEEE - ZEERARAEL
B ERRELANEREFTENERT
BR o REEBSNERZZEDN
FE_ZT \ERNEENTENEREF
HRENMEEEEHBEENARS
637,958,000 (ZEF_F+ A=+~
BH: AR#591,160,0007T)  RETEE
MELAABREMELENELERIEEEDN
AR¥96,283,000L (ZEFF+2F=
+—H8: AR#102,520,0007) % AR K
Y FERETEEMNEEMEESNE
EMIBEEE  HHAEM77,999,000T (ZF
E-f+ZH=+—8: ARHK
71,822,0007T) - AT R RARERM
AT ARER -

EEHEREMABOEHROT

As at 31st December, 2003, deferred tax assets were recognized for
temporary differences arising from fair value adjustment on
depreciation of fixed assets acquired in business combination to
the extent that realization of such tax benefit through the future
taxable profits is probable. [n addition, the Group also had
unrecognized deferred tax assets associated with tax losses available
to be carried forward of approximately RMB637,958,000 (31st
December, 2002: RMB591,160,000), which will expire in the period
of 2004-2008, and fair value adjustment on depreciation of fixed
assets of approximately RMB96,283,000(31st December, 2002:
RMB102,520,000), provision for realization and impairment losses
of receivable balances, inventories and fixed assets of approximately
RMB77,999,000 (31st December, 2002: RMB71,822,000) as there

is no certainty of realization through future taxable profits.

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabifities is as follows:

() EXHEEE (i) Deferred tax assets
56 FENAAERE i ait
Provisions Fair value adjustment Others Total
on depreciation

HE5] ZE|
As restated As restated
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002
ARETR ARETT ARBTL ARETT ARETL ARETI ARETR ARETZ
RMB'B00  RMBO00  RMB'G00  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'G00
-A-B - nji% AUTst January, as previously reported - 295 - - 510 5421 5,101 8,39
HAFERE (W) Prior year adjustments (Note 2) - R 57 AT - — 758 T34
~F-8 28] At st January, as restated - 295 7AM 79 5101 5421 12,629 16340
FARER Debited to profit and loss account - 97 {417 16y (5,101) (3200 (5,518)  (3,711)
+zA=+-8 At 31st December - ~ A 15 — 5000 7 12629
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(REEGTEAEL)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

(i BEBHBEEE (i) Deferred tax liabilities
RAENRAARERE
Fair value adjustment
on depreciation

BEG
2003 2002
ARB TR AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—B—B  mi® At Tst January, as previously reported — —
ARIEERAE (Fi2) Prior year adjustments (Note 2) 18,098 19,114
—RA—H &E| At 1st January, as restated 18,098 19,114
FAFEE Credited to profit and loss account (1,015) (1,016)
+-A=+-8 At 31st December 17,083 18,098

RBEREEEERTH The amounts shown in the balance sheet
BERBEBENT : include the following:

BEHRBEEENT S  Deferred tax assets to be recovered more than 12 months

BER 6,694 12,213
BEEHBEER+T @A Deferred tax liabilities to be settled after more than

BER 12 months 16,068 17,082
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26. R =&

BE-ZTE-ZE-A-+=H BBZRES
RS  AREABEERABARSE
1,000,000,0007C3E N E A K% 1,308,219,178
7T o EINER £308,219,1 78 BREEL

26.SHARE CAPITAL

By a special resolution passed on 23rd January, 2003, the authorised
ordinary share capital was increased from RMB1,000,000,000 to
RMB1,308,219,178 by the creation of an additional 308,219,178
new H Shares of RMBT each, ranking pari passu with the existing H

ZHER o shares.
EHITRAEZNT - A summary of the issued share capital is set out below:
2003 2002
ARBFT EE B (%) AREFT £ (%)
RMB’000  Percentage (%) RMB’000  Percentage (%)
R State shares 399,820 37.72% 399,820 39.98%
RN PRC legal person shares 53,330 5.03% 53,330 5.33%
HNARB(TARR]) PRC public shares (“A Shares”) 200,000 18.87% 200,000 20.00%
B2 B (THER]) Overseas public shares
(“H Shares”) 406,850 38.38% 346,850 34.69%
&t Total 1,060,000 100.00% 1,000,000 100.00%

RAEEZEHAREG,000,000T8EER
FEMERR—HREBTHTEKES
WeEAHR (F2HEE27) -

The increase in issued share capital of RMB60,000,000 during the
year was due to conversion of certain issued convertible bonds into

H-shares (See Note 27 for details).
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27, BRES

R-BE-E+A-+-B ApFEE
B8R -HHFBEEERER 2 A
(Anheuser-Busch Companies, Inc.) (TA-B
REDNFEIT—(EBRERERE)  BE
REBR_TT-FHE  T28E2 =%
HEABARI LR SREETEHMERRAR
% - EE£41,416,195,0008 T (FAH
AR#1,505,840,0007T) + W AR T 56
MR EIAMK308,219,178f HAR -

E-HnUaRES

E-H{HEHNRELSER280,800,000
BT (e HAKE297,999,0007T) - ER
ZEERZENRAEIT ABLRRER_EER
ZETAZBUER48ET (HEHAR
#4.967r) BB R B 60,000,000% FTH
BBRG - F-HNEHFRENEES -

F-HOTRKRES

E_HhEF-NRBERSEDNR
627,120,000 T (T & W AR %
665,562,0007T) - EERE—HHESFHR=
TE-FOARKET - ZEFIRCE
AUAER4EET (HENARE4.967T)
BRI A 2 5] 134,000,0008% 37 HAL i
o MEABRAEMBARETER - B
BERENSEEHETER - EXNES
MEFNER2% BABRAAIEARERES
BEBRALAIXMNMEURIERNE
o

ABERETE - ABRRRATES
FF -

by

=4
AR

el
R

27.CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 271st October, 2002, the Company and Anheuser-Busch
Companies, Inc. (“A-B Company), a shareholder of H-Shares, entered
into a strategic investment agreement, pursuant to which A-B
Company is obliged to subscribe for 3 tranches of mandatorily
convertible bonds {(“CB”) to be issued by the Company with an
aggregate principal amount of approximately HK$1,416,195,000
(RMB1,505,840,000), commencing from 2003. The CB are
convertible into 308,219,178 new H Shares issuable by the Company

as follows:

Tranche | of the CB (“Trache 1)

The total subscription amount of Tranche | was HK$280,800,000
{equivalent to approximately RMB297,999,000) which was issued
to A-B Company in April 2003. Tranche | was converted into
60,000,000 new H shares issued by the Company at HK$4.68
{equivalent to approximately RMB4.96) per share on 2nd July, 2003.

Tranche | was interest-free.

Tranche Il of the CB (“Tranche 11”)

The total subscription amount of Tranche !l was HK$627,120,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB665,562,000) which was issued
to A-B Company in April 2003 concurrently with the issuance of
Tranche 1. Tranche Il can be converted into 134,000,000 new H
shares at HK$4.68 (equivalent to approximately RMB4.96) per share
within seven years after issuance. The CB will be automatically
converted at the end of the seven-year conversion period ("Expiry
Date”) if A-B Company does not trigger the conversion. Tranche ||
is interest-bearing at 2% per annum. A-B Company will refund all
the interest received as well as all related deductions or withholdings
associated with the interest payments made by the Company upon

conversion.

As at the date of approval of the accounts, A-B Company had not

exercised its conversion right.



2™ § ANNUAL REPORT 2003

BREKE(A)

Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(REEEHERFE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

F-HnTrRRES

FE-IREHFATEREEAR508,275,000
BT TEHAREES42,279,0000T) - R
EER-FE+AL-_SENE-ZF/HH

T ABREAIRNZNEBRBEER/F
A A BR44BT (TEOARKAT2
TO) BREBEKARNE114,219,1780 FTHE
BRin o MEABLREEBRARBEITER -
EERERENSEEHER - E=HNE
FHEMER2%  BABA

A EERE
BEREAADAXFMAEURERNER
B oo

EE-ZTZ-F+-"FA=Z+—-H XQF
= ITﬂA-B?} R EEITEMD #9254,137,00058 7T

raf AR%271,445,0007T) F=2 A&
% BABRARFRETEERMNER - B8
E-HnEFEN _EENRE=/R=1+—

BETTABLRA -

RE—ZH HHRE=ZHHTRR
%%m@%é a%mﬂﬁéémﬁ%
((BEBDRERAGHFRLIE #H
A ARLI40.0% TR EL37.7%  33.5%K%

30.6% MA-BARIRNARBEIMFERLLAE
SEA B AN45%EFEI%  20.0%
$27.0% Rl RE=ZHaBRESL

BiRE  ABREIBAEBELRZHESR
?kﬁmmﬁ* %?ﬂ#%@ﬁﬁ%ﬂ
mRE MABRRRAEZERZERNERE
M B o Iﬁ%%TﬁL%khﬁﬁ
PRE-Bil - BERTEBIBEARK
DEIMA-BRER R R K€ S H-BEE BIACR
RELTERSROBHORERE -

Tranche 111 of the CB (“Tranche 111”)

The total subscription amount of Tranche HI is HK$508,275,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB542,279,000) issuable to A-B
Company by several instalments in October 2003 and in March
2004. Tranche 111 will be converted into 114,219,178 new H shares
at HK$4.45 (equivalent to approximately RMB4.72) per share within
seven years after the payment of the subscriptions. The CB will be
automatically converted at the end of the Expiry Date if A-B
Company does not trigger the conversion before the Expiry Date.
Tranche [Il is interest-bearing at 2% per annum. A-B Company will
refund all the interest received as well as all related deductions or
withholdings associated with the interest payments made by the

Company upon conversion.

As at 31st December, 2003, approximately HK$254,137,000
{equivalent to approximately RMB271,445,000) of CB of Tranche 1l
had been issued to A-B Company but A-B Company had not
exercised any of its conversion rights. The remaining portion of
Tranche (Il of CB was issued to A-B Company on 31st March, 2004.

Upon the conversion of each of Tranche |, Tranche Il and Tranche
I of the CB, the percentage shareholding of Qingdao State-Owned
Assets Administration Bureau ("Qingdao Bureau”), the existing
substantial shareholder of the Company, has decreased/will decrease
from approximately 40.0% to approximately 37.7%, 33.5% and
30.6%, respectively, whereas the holding of A-B Company in the
Company has increased/will increase from approximately 4.5% to
9.9%, 20.0% and 27.0%, respectively. The additional 7% of the
shareholding held by A-B Company after conversion of Tranche 111
will be subject to a voting trust arrangement in favour of Qingdao
Bureau whereby A-B Company will enjoy the economic benefits
associated with the shares but Qingdao Bureau can exercise the
respective voting rights at its sole discretion. Accordingly, Qingdao
Bureau, through its trustee, will be entitled to exercise the voting
rights attached to such shareholding at general meetings of holders
of state shares and PRC legal person shares, PRC public shares or H

shares class meetings of the Company.
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ANRNNUAL REFVAT 2VVe 0 = b

RIBE=ZF+ A=+ -BEERBAR

Details of the CB not yet converted as at 31 December, 2003 are as

B 2REFIRET follows:
BTEM BEUEREH HERE E 0 FRHE
Date of issue Mandatory Face value Discounted Ending balance
conversion date net present
value (i)
ARETT ARETTT ARETT
RMB000 RMB’000 RMB’000
200344 K18 2010638318 665,562 (9,873) 655,689
Tst April, 2003 31st March, 2010
2003F10A218 20105108208 271,444 (3,395) 268,049

21st October, 2003

20th October, 2010

() [FrElRAR

REET B ERAM TES

(i) “Discounted net present value” represents the difference between

REANBEAFESBERZREARER

BEOAATNANESE (BRRBRERS

BEREETNEEESRENMEAES

%’E °

HE2_SZZF+-RA=+-—HLEE"
AARBNHEERRLH AR6674,000
ﬁ:o

28. 7%

(@) FEMRE

ﬁﬁ$“ﬂ2“ﬂ$%ﬁﬁ‘%%$%ﬁ
RIZAMAET G BT
& (BRIEEE
EEEARREMELRZ50%)  REES
EATREDLOBARES - REERR
RUZBR HEETEREEMRR

EMER - AR
Z%ﬂ%Zm%%A%%AE

TABREAERENE -

the net present values of estimated cash flows of expected annual
interest payments payable by the Company to the bondholder, and
the expected refunds from the bondholder to be receivable by the
Company upon conversion of the bonds (assuming mandatory
conversion occurs upon the expiry of the contracted conversion

periods).

During the year ended 31st December, 2003, interest of
approximately RMB6,674,000 was paid by the Company associated
with the CB.

28.RESERVES
(a) Statutory reserves

According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Company has to set aside 10% of its net profit after taxation under
PRC accounting standards for the statutory surplus reserve (except
where the reserve balance has reached 50% of the Company’s paid-
up share capital), and it is also obliged to appropriate funds to the
public welfare fund at a percentage of the net profit after taxation
as determined by the directors. These reserves cannot be applied
for purposes other than those for which they are created and are

not distributable as cash dividends.
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b AP RRIEEE

RELCIERRERYBAGTEF
1995B1HMXEHTE  AREERERA
B PEESRIERBLELFUTH
SHERRHOEE BER - XEFEAL
AERAXHBREREERES® R AR
2 -BERAFNER AEBRZERIDE
FEEHFERRERNEELRGTER
HEUHEAREMBCIREEAINER -

RZIZEFZFE+ZR=+—8 A28R
BBRAEZZRBORESE  EU2EA
BEGFAARKE193,404,000L (ZFE =
F+-ZA=Z+—8: AR¥ 47,717,000
L) e

(c) BREE

REERBRARBIRENBREL AR
HIE-FEZF+_A=-t—-RHLAESR
EERRERRAE ESFTA-STOF
HERE P -

The board of directors has resolved that the public welfare fund is
to be utilised to build or acquire capital items, such as dormitories
and other facilities for the Company's employees. However, the
fund cannot be used to pay for staff welfare expenses. Legal title to

the capital items acquired using the fund remains with the Company.

(b) Basis of profit distribution and appropriation

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association and
Document Cai Kuai Zi 1995 [31] issued by the State Ministry of
Finance, appropriations to surplus reserves, public welfare fund
and discretionary surplus reserves should be made based on the
amount of profits as determined in accordance with PRC accounting
standards and regulations. In accordance with the Company’s Articles
of Association, the Company declares dividends based on the lower
of distributable profits as determined in accordance with PRC
accounting standards and regulations and those determined in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Hong
Kong. The unappropriated profits of the Company available for
distribution to shareholders (after the proposed dividends for the
year) as at 31st December, 2003 amounted to approximately
RMB193,404,000 (2002: RMB47,717,000).

(c) Proposed dividends
The dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been

recognised as a liability in the balance sheet as at 31st December,
2003, but will be reflected in the accounts of 2004,
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29, HBEBSHRBRHF 29. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

() CEBMNRERBFEFBZRRERA

(a) Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash inflow from

EEOE S operating activities
BE7|
As restated
2003 2002
AR TR ARBFIC
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERBT Operating profit 526,414 520,328
SABEERNTRNYA Income from wavier of payables (1,237) (1,465)
ek Interest income (13,567) (13,460)
BEHEEBEE Amortisation of premium on bonds 1,664 832
ELBEEE Net exchange loss 7,081 7,061
BFrEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 520,850 467,404
REETEEFBX Loss on disposal of fixed assets, net 12,645 14,631
BTEEBEER Impairment loss on fixed assets 46,302 40,342
EEEEH Amortisation of negative goodwill (10,244) (10,245)
BEABEH Amortisation of deferred liabilities (1,155) —
REBEREKEER Impairment of long-term investments 2,993 155
BVEAESRE Amortisation of intangible assets 23,438 20,263
(MBI EBDEE {Increase) decrease in current assets:
FE Inventories (81,696) (165,662)
FENBR K Trade receivables 7,418 (6,074)
BRER Bills receivable 15,016 (40,046)
REZ  BANERIER Deposits, prepayments and 5,509 42,052
H i B I X other receivables
(R EnraaE: (Decrease) increase in current liabilities:
ERERR Trade payable {4,600) 67,834
Hi B Other payables 75,071 (63,325)
ENER Bills payable 89,822 268,350
HERS Sales deposits (18,915) 56,779
BRER Accruals 31,618 16,533
AR Taxes payable 39,117 19,023
BEBEMEBZFREMA Net cash inflow from operating activities 1,273,544 1,241,310
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b EBFARERB R (b Analysis of changes in financing during the year
Ll BE (EERFEEREZGE) T8ERS YERRER
Dividend payable Share capital (including share Convertible bonds Minorily interests
premium and capital reserve)
2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002 2003 2002

ARBFR  ARETL  ARBTR  ARETT AREBTZ ARETR ARMTR ARETE
RMB'OOO  RMBIOOD  RMB'OOD  RMBYO00  RMBOOD  RMBYOCO  RMBORD  RMB'OOD

-A-8 At Tst January - - 2,905,274 2,905,274 - - 669,784 649,485
PERREN Minority interests - - - - - - 37,331 37,317
B share of profits
LERERS Minority interests’ - - - - - - (52,558) (5,784)
ENRE share of acquisition
of additional interest
BRRAZEESR  Cash capital - - 633 - - - 4,500 9,442
contributions
BaAERES  Isuance of convertible - - - — 1218438 - ~ -

(ABZZEE)  bonds fnet of
transaction costs)

ERNTBRES  Conversion of - - 281,432 - (281,432) - - -
convertible bonds
HEER Waiver of loan - - 840 - - - -~ —
TRREEN Deferred liabilities - - - - (13,268) - - -
fiteE from convertible bonds

BE Proposed dividends 220,000 110,000 - - - -

CERE Dividends paid (218,900) (116,000 - - - - {79,592) 20,676)
+ZAZF-B  At31st December 1,100 — 3188179 2,905,274 923,738 - 579,465 669,784
) FHERBEZEXRL S (c) Major non-cash transactions:

() ZEBRERERNEEAZTEEAHAR () The Group was exempt from the settlement of liabilities
#1,237,000c (ZE 2 2% : AR®%  amounting to RMB1,237,000 (2002: RMB1,465,000).
1,465,00070) 1B EAE -

(i) RREEEHNELUSEETEEE (i) The Company agreed to allow certain customers to settle the
EaANARESL00,000L (ZBEF ©  trade receivable balances due from them amounting to RMB800,000
ANER#877,0007T) #] FEHTER X (2002: RMB877,000) by the transfer of fixed assets of equivalent

net book values to the Company.

(if)an M s 27ET 3 - B #9 A R # (i) The conversion of a portion of the issued convertible bonds into
281,432,000 VA EE D EHB AH  H-shares at RMB281,432,000 as mentioned in Note 27.
g& [}
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30.BREHR

BE-NWAEETA-BREEATN(EE™
WHECENEAEEZRBRETEE) &
LARCHBESRHEETHREAKRSH
Bo-RZEFE=F+_A=+—8BLE
B ASEERENAEARB62,577,000

T(ZBT-F: ARE¥52,165,0007T) °

EERAMRURLENNBREEED
AEREEBHITRERFANEMNELAES
EHRT —FTREHREF M RES - R
EEZFET-AZ+-BLLEE WEBLQ
AEENHABOEAR 151,000 (A
MARM®161,0000T) (ZEEZF B
237,0007t) (Fra#) ARB251,00070) © %
EeEENTSBEMESEB Y THE
VEXESTEMER

1.EAREE

(a) BEEBEEEETHEAR - ANANF
BHBEBREFHENENRE DHETER
ERMNMEMOERE UEEAEGE
LR ABECERNBINERE
e RZBEZF+_R=+—-H *&
BRAREDRTEKZSHENHET W
REBARARFNRABTIEREAAEE
BErOEERLCEYNGE - SHAEZNE
Rig EZEQRRLKERAQFEAR
“EE-FT-A-t-BRREEED
ESBCHEAXNEAERABTRER
BUELERE -

30. PENSIONS AND RETIREMENT FUNDS CONTRIBUTION

Pursuant to “Temporary Regulations on Municipal Enterprise
Employee Pensions and Retirement Protection for Qingdao” which
became effective on 1st October, 1994, the Company has provided
a government-sponsored defined contribution retirement scheme
(“the Scheme”) for its full-time employees. During the year ended
31st December, 2003, the Group’s contributions totalled
approximately RMB62,577,000 (2002: RMB52,165,000).

Hong Kong Company, a subsidiary operating in Hong Kong, has
established a defined contribution mandatory provident fund scheme
in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation of the
government totalled Hong Kong. During the year ended 31st
December, 2003, the subsidiary made contributions totaling
approximately HK$151,000 (equivalent to RMB161,000) (2002:
HK$237,000) (equivalent to RMB251,000) to the Scheme. The assets
of the fund are held separately from those of the subsidiary and are

managed by independent professional fund managers.

31. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

{a) Pursuant to certain policies for housing reform issued by the
State Council and Qingdao Municipal Government in 1998, the
policy of allocating staff quarters as welfare benefits of the employees
was terminated. in replacement, qualified employees are to be
compensated in the form of monetary housing subsidies (“Housing
Reform”). As at 31st December, 2003, no formal plan had yet been
developed by the Group and the Company and no plans had been
announced by the Group and the Company to their employees in
respect of the arrangements. After seeking legal advice, the
Company’s board of directors is of the opinion that the Group and
the Company had no obligation to make any payment or provision
for such monetary housing subsidies as at 31st December, 2003

and there is no reasonable basis to accrue for any potential liabilities.
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by RZZEF—F+—F ELQa—-2HH
BUREADEURSRAREREHFE
DA UARBERCHEAARABREA
[£#134,870,0007T - ARRIEERFTER
BCEENTR URETREKF - LEH
BEBARERRERERBREYH T Z2H
MEHER  YERIATINHRETE

FREER EFERES HEAQRFTEE
SHRMETHEBEBBIL  ERENEEH

BEFMAEELEIABR - ARRIES
CR2ETRAARTLNEZERMNESR
BRARZARTERREENEE BRI
AMEANBEYE -

2ARFEER

BREEMWECORZEE HE-_TTZ=
TZBE=Z+—BUHAEERARFTENAT
B ER

a) ERMRE

BHE-_ZFTZE+-_A=Z+—81t ~&
BREQRRTIECREEBAEZEANR
FARBEEANBLEEZERAE

(b) In November 2001, a distributor of the products of the Company
{ “the Claimant”) filed a lawsuit with the Shandong Municipal Higher
People’s Court {“the Court”) against the Company. The Claimant
sued the Company for breach of a sales and distribution contract
{(“the Contract”) and claimed for damages of approximately
RMB134,870,000. The Company denied the claim and it also filed
a counter claim against the Claimant for delayed settlement of the
outstanding receivable balance arising from sale of goods to the
Claimant. In addition, the Company also demanded for a termination
of the Contract, repayment of the outstanding receivable balance,
as well as the return of certain motor vehicles and beer-selling
machinery previously provided to the Claimant by the Company. As
of the date of approval of these accounts by the board of directors,
no verdict had yet been made by the Court. After consultation with
the Company’s legal advisor, the directors are of the opinion that
the proceeding is not expected to lead to any material negative

financial impact on the operating results of the Group.
32. COMMITMENTS
Saved as disclosed in other notes to the accounts, as at 31st

December, 2003, the Group and the Company had the following

commitments:
(a) Capital commitments
The Group and the Company had no capital commitments which

were authorised but not contracted and provided for as of 31st
December, 2003.




ANNUAL REPORT 2003 pF L& |

Bk B M (8]|)

Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(RBEGTEYHRR)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

AEBRALDAREFEREESHNER  The Group’s and the Company’s capital commitments which were

REENBLHERBZARARENT - contracted but not provided for are as follows:
E5E NG|
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARETR AREFT ARETR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BETR Construction projects 33,301 94,561 13,189 28,739
BE investments 9,950 98,000 — 98,000
S Total 43,251 192,561 13,189 126,739
() REHERFE (b) Operating lease commitments

RIBFEZFTZAZ+—H  XREEH  As at 31st December, 2003, the Croup had future aggregate
TARE MERLHEENEEAZED  minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases

T for land and buildings as follows:

2003 2002
AREFR AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
—FHUA Within one year 573 151
RZZBZ=ZF+ZR=+T—H  ARFEL As at 31st December, 2003, the Company had no operating lease

BETAHE s MELERENERE « (T commitments under non-cancelable operating leases (2002: nil).

g N

(c) WM EE18(a) Pl - AEBZHB2A (o) As disclosed in Note 18(a)(iii), a subsidiary of the Group, Baoji
Al — BERRAERBEBEBEERQE  Company, has undertaken to bear all the operating costs of Baoji
HESAREHNRALEEIREEMEAE  Brewery Company relating to emplovees the leased assets to Baoji
H)EEMRA Company.
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Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(EEBEHEBIRE) (Prepared in accordance with HK CAAP)

BEFRREESH

@R_ZFEMEZA=+—B  KR2FM
A-BREIBTE=NH NS TRRES -
REBSERLL54,138,00008 T (ITEHA
£ #%270,835,0007) °

b) RZBEZE+-f  ARTESEE
BRRE:hE  ARRARABHARRS
12E AR9,500,0000T EEEEAFM
BRI E 500,000 A% B
DRIFEMERE B AR% 10,000,000
JIE20,000,0007C - EEEEFEE RN
TEMEZARER »

HE9h - DRI AR B A R195%H) IR
BrHERLARLA - RERETKE -
RELENEREARAFTENREEBRS
RE95%H %I R « BIEHESHK - -
MREERFEETHES -

(0 RZEZTZF+-8 KRAFEFTED
ALBEREEBERLR ([BRERFD
REMREEEGE)  HFELT9RH
& A £ #2,000,0007T & 500,0007T £8 B B
ERBIRBREFENEFRF20%H5%
YRR AE -

RIFEMEZR  FLRANMEERGTS
AmEEMLEEEARY 600000007
20,000,0007C < &% - EFiRRFME
K@ AR ®10,000000wENE
90,000,0007T *© EH A QA H A 75%K
B BREBLGHFEE%EE Lk
REEREEFECOAGSTPEEHBNY
Figviik  BFARIGCENEEZE AR
BERME IHEERRFTEIERE
oo

33.SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

(a) On 31st March, 2004, the Company issued the remaining portion
of Tranche [l of CB to A-B Company at a consideration of
approximately HK$254,138,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB270,835,000).

(b) In December 2003, the Company entered into an agreement
with TB Group Company, pursuant to which, the Company will
inject cash of RMB9,500,000 into Langfang Company, while TB
Group Company will invest RMB500,000 by converting debts into
equity interests. After this additional capital injection, the registered
capital of Langfang Company wiil be increased from RMB10,000,000
to RMB20,000,000. The additional capital contribution procedures
were completed in March 2004,

In addition, the Company will transfer all 95% of its shareholdings
in Langfang Company to Xian Company. After the transaction, Xian
Company and TB Group Company hold 95% and 5% of the
shareholdings of Langfang Company, respectively. The legal
procedures of such equity interest transfer were still in progress as

at year end.

(c) In December 2003, the Company and Hong Kong Company
entered into an equity transfer agreement with Ou Mei Investment
Croup Company Limited (“Ou Mei Company”), pursuant to which,
Hong Kong Company acquired 20% and 5% interests of Xiamen
Company held by the Company and Ou Mei Company at
considerations of RMB2,000,000 and RMB500,000, respectively.

In February 2004, the Company and Hong Kong Company injected
additional capital of RMB60,000,000 and RMB20,000,000 into
Xiamen Company. After this additional capital injection, the
registered capital of Xiamen Company was increased from
RMB10,000,000 to RMB90,000,000. The Company and Hong Kong
Company then hold 75% and 25% equity interests of Xiamen
Company, respectively. The above equity transfer and additional
capital injection were approved by relevant PRC government
authorities and Xiamen Company was changed to a sino-foreign
joint venture enterprise. The change of business registration is still

in progress.
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Notes to the Accounts (Continued)

(REEGEZAHBE)  (Prepared in accordance with HK GAAP)

d) RZFTZE=F+ABBENEFTRE - & (d) According to the resolution of a Board meeting in October 2003,

LARHEFRERTRTENEEAEMK  the Company, together with Huanan Holding Company, agreed to
V-ERNEELCE - [EEBRE(RY) et up a foreign invested enterprise, Tsingdao Brewery (Changsha)
BREAR] - ZMERASARE10,000,000 Company Limited, in Wunan province of the PRC with a registered
TRZEZME-A+HEA ARER  capital of RMB10,000,000. The Company and Huanan Holding
EHREDFEEARKE7,000,000t A Company invested RMB7,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 on 14th
K #3,000,0007T ° January, 2004, respectively.

34.0RE 2B 34, APPROVAL OF ACCOUNTS

ARBER-_ZTNFNA—HEESEH  The accounts were approved and authorised for issue by the board
EREREET - of directors on st April, 2004,
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Supplementary Information

GEEREMERR)

(Prepared in accordance with HK CAAP)

RETEETHEARERETRRNL

L

ERFEEHRANETESHERAT
F SRASEEGZMNEAE GEREH
BEMERN - EERNEIREZFBER

MEWT

HRGEABEBRZFE

HK GAAP

RECONCILIATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PRC GAAP AND

Differences between PRC GAAP and HK GAAP give rise to
differences in the reported balances of assets, liabilities and net

profit of the Group. The financial effects of the material differences

between PRC GAAP and HK GAAP are summarised and explained

in the following table:

Impact on the consolidated balance sheet:

BED
As restated
2003 2002
AR¥ETT AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERRETRAHEY Net assets as per accounts prepared 3,513,903 3,197,354
FEEE: under PRC GAAP
REBGITER HK GAAP adjustments:
FriEz HE
HEPEGHENREAE  Adjustments arising from different exchange rates 141,253 141,253
BHERRATE used under HK GAAP and PRC GAAP
EZMELHE
EEZRWHABEAEEZR  Additional depreciation charges for assets acquired (117,927) (106,447)
FROETEENE before unification of the two-tier exchange rate
system in the PRC
RAOBEETERIREZE  Difference between the amortisation of (58,106) (46,153)
BEREEREH investment differences under PRC GAAP and
ERFEZRERAE amortisation of goodwill and negative goodwill
BganEe under HK GAAP
ARATHELBG R Adjustments arising from adoption of HKSSAP 12 (2,001) (1,216)
FNFEMEEZFHE
HABRRESFEERFME  Difference in accounting for the principal balance 938,231 —
ERTAETRE of convertible bonds and the corresponding interest
=it Others (527) (585)
EEBCHERGE Net assets as per accounts prepared under HK GAAP 4,414,826 3,184,206

ZEEE
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Supplementary Information (Continued)

(REBEENER) (Prepared in accordance with HK CAAP)

HRERBRERZTE Impact on the consolidated profit and loss account:
gE7
As restated
2003 2002
AR TR ARETFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
RTEEHEMNTEL Net profit under PRC GAAP 253,872 230,657
FNE
BREAGIES HK GAAP adjustments:
P RE
EERTHHEALE Additional depreciation charges for assets (11,480) {11,480)
EZRNETEERE acquired before unification of the two-tier
exchange rate system in the PRC
RPBESFEIKREEZE  Difference between the amortisation of (11,953) (12,443)
BEEREEBELARE: investment differences under PRC GAAP
RAFEZBHER and amortisation of goodwill and negative goodwill
AEEBHNHE under HK GAAP
MEBLAREHEEERT  Forfeited payable balances of subsidiaries 840 1,464
ERMREAELREEL  Adjustments arising from adoption of HK SSAP 12 (785) (571)
FLRMEEZHE
HIBRBRESMERR Difference in accounting for interest of 14,493 —
TREHER convertible bonds
Hi Others 58 14,347
BEBRETEIHE Profit attributable to shareholders under 245,045 221,974

ZHRREEET HK GAAP
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Auditors’ Report

PRICEWATERHOUSE(QOPERS

L #EkiE P RgHmES A

E#XEPRXET(2004) F14755
EERERGERLAAZERE

ARG TRENEEEWERNARAH
ATHBIERR]D REAHFRAMT

BEEEE]) —FT=F+-A=T—H
MWeERREBRREERER %=

I

ENaHREBLEFNBRAIBOERNE
HEBLRARERER - BUBHEERY
BHE BEQREREERMESL MY
EEREEREH IENER LS
SAERRERER -

—

BNRBRPETMeTM B LS ERH
ENMEHBH IR UAEEEZEHER
TENGEERER - Bt LERELEH
ENER TREXFEHERCHENEER
HEE FEEREREREGEEY
RANSHBENELNEXGHE
DRFEeHREANEBRE - R
F BANBHIEARZREREHRTS
BATER -

mk

EEXETREHMERHERLE

FEARENE
8200021

B 3335
BEES122

BiE 0 +86(21) 6386 3388
EE : +86(21) 6386 3300

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Shen Zi (2004) No. 1475
To the Shareholders of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited,

We have audited the enclosed balance sheet of Tsingtao Brewery
Company Limited (the Company) and the consolidated balance sheet
of the Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) as at 31st December,
2003, the Statement of Income and Profit Appropriation of the
Company and the consolidated Statement of Income and Profit
Appropriation of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2003, the cash flow statement of the Company and the consolidated
cash flow statement of the Group for the year ended 31st December,
2003. Our responsibility is to express our opinion on the financial
statements based on the audit findings. It is the responsibility of the
management to prepare the financial statements in accordance to

the applicable accounting standards.

Our audit is conducted in accordance with “The Independent
Auditing Guidelines for Certified Public Accountants” of the People’s
Republic of China {the “PRC") to provide assurance that the financial
statements do not contain material misstatement. Our audit included
such tests on the accounting records for the information disclosed,
50 as to assess the accounting policy and the accounting assumptions
adopted by the management during the preparation of the financial
statements. We believe our audit work has provided us with a

reasonable basis to express our opinion.
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Auditors’ Report (Continued)

BMRA Ll BEEEMEAQALIT®  In our opinion, the above mentioned financial statements of the
EHAPEARANMBEREMOLEE  Company and the Group have been prepared in accordance with
SERACCESFEEINRE  EFMA  the "Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises” and the
EXFEAARBRT EZ£BEFA EDQF  “Accounting Regulations for Business Enterprise” of the PRC, and
ZEZZF+AZH-BOHBARLL  present fairly, in all material aspects, the financial position of the
RIEEZEENELRENELRE o Group and the Company as at 31st December, 2003 and the results

of its operations and cash flows for the year ended 31st December,

2003.
BEXEBYRETHERRERLT PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Co., Ltd.
FER Lizhou Xu
FHeE Certified Public Accountant
e Yu Kong
FHMEesE Certified Public Accountant

“EENFNA—H Tst April, 2004
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
(EFEEERHEE) (Prepared in accordance with PRC CAAP)
RZFETE=ZF+=ZA=+—H Asat31st December, 2003

2003 2002
fiige3 ARH ARE
Note RMB RMB
(H75£40)
(Note 40)
RYEE Current assets:
E¥Eg Cash and bank deposits 5 932,900,408 854,370,803
MR E Short term investments 34 66,450,000 76,640,000
el iR Bills receivable 6 50,883,184 65,899,125
ERER Accounts receivable 7, 34 165,204,439 167,721,734
H 3R Other receivables 8, 34 307,667,155 241,222,559
ENER Prepayments and deposits 9, 34 134,349,330 170,229,496
& Inventories 10 1,305,503,104 1,223,807,108
EEEBH Deferred expenses 11 14,123,395 13,749,025
MEIEER Total current assets 2,977,081,015 2,813,639,850
RERE Long-term investments:
REBRERE Long-term equity investments 4,12 (59,435,258) {120,157,680)
H: AHEE Including: Consolidation difference (99,419,846) (170,260,358)
RHEREE Long-term debt investments — 34,366,631
RHIREAE Total long-term investments (59,435,258) (85,791,049)
BIEEE Fixed assets:
EIEEERE Fixed assets at cost 13 8,639,564,734 8,291,501,409
g RFIE Less: Accumulated depreciation 13 (3,390,796,250) (2,988,783,365)
BrEEFE Fixed assets, at net book value 13 5,248,768,484 5,302,718,044
B ETAE Less: Provision for impairment 13 (124,758,450) (98,326,802)
T of fixed assets
BETEEFE Fixed assets, net 13 5,124,010,034 5,204,391,242
ERIE Construction-in-progress 14 214,991,772 213,423,273
EEEERERE Fixed assets in suspense 527,005 601,595
BEEBEEST Total fixed assets 5,339,528,811 5,418,416,110
BEVEERAMEE Intangible and other assets:
EWAE Intangible assets 15 685,135,590 716,614,284
REFEER Long-term deferred expenses 16 6,084,362 6,826,905
RARUWER Long-term accounts receivable 7,34 53,808,142 63,808,142
BREEREMEEAS  Total intangible and other assets 745,028,094 787,249,331
EERIA Deferred taxation:
B RIEE Deferred tax assets — 5,101,358
BEME Total assets 9,002,202,662 8,938,615,600

B EHBRRMEATEHRRNARE

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

e statements.

LEREEA FESHIENEEA EHEBEREA -
Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
FTHE %I F rreg

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming
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Consolidated Balance Sheet (Continued)
(R B g 2ERHES) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)
R_FEBZE+-AZ+—H Asat31st December, 2003

2003 2002
i &t ARY ARE
Note RMB RMB
(B3t 40)
(Note 40)
mBEME: Current liabilities:
REER Short-term bank loans 17 1,302,612,990 2,669,481,347
ERZEE Bills payable 18 525,449,509 435,628,227
BNES Accounts payable 19, 34 646,912,821 651,512,581
BHRER Advance from customers 19, 34 129,067,846 147,982,572
ERHIA Salary payables 13,855,730 12,502,898
R ERZ Staff welfare payables 27,733,911 19,559,986
A B 7 Dividends payable 1,100,000 —
EXHE Taxes payable 20 180,729,827 119,487,658
LRy ANEA Other payables 19, 34 759,215,114 711,642,115
Hi RN Other liabilities 4,083,608 2,774,498
ERER Accruals 21 62,851,607 46,193,262
—ERIENES Current portion of long-term loans 17 61,385,555 110,054,376
—ERIHHTE Current portion of convertible bonds 22 4,513,880 —
&%

REeEaest Total current liabilities 3,719,512,398 4,926,819,520

RBEE: Long-term liabilities:
EHER Long-term bank loans 17 53,783,722 90,643,520
AERNFES Convertible bonds 22 939,156,300 —
EHENR Long-term payable 34 124,047,480 —
RERESG Total long-term liabilities 1,116,987,502 90,643,520
BEAE Total liabilities 4,836,499,900 5,017,463,040
SERERER Minority interests 651,800,241 723,798,958

RERER Shareholders’ equity:
i Share capital 22,23 1,060,000,000 1,000,000,000
RN Capital reserve 24 1,798,876,982 1,575,971,750
BHNE Surplus reserve 25 395,164,057 292,224,158
Ed ZELRHEE Including: public welfare fund 25 176,978,672 129,569,582
AOEMB Unappropriated profits 26 259,760,239 328,828,477
hERRTEER Cumulative translation adjustment 101,243 329,217
BmEREHA Total shareholders’ equity 3,513,902,521 3,197,353,602
BEERRESE Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 9,002,202,662 8,938,615,600

~

{7 e statements.

LEREA TEBHIENERA BIEEREA
Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
ZH¥ BE T e

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming

A G BARNERAGHHROART

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
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Balance Sheet

(R E e EAHEE) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

RITEEZE+-A=+—H Asat31st December, 2003
2003 2002
g AR% ARE
Note RMB RMB
(Bt 40)
(Note 40)
REBEE Current assets:
gy %n Cash and bank deposits 5 257,825,760 279,656,206
RERE Short ternt investments 34 1,693,587,616 307,325,817
EWEE Bills receivable 6 5,454,500 71,100,000
& L% A% 1) Dividends receivable — 10,675,440
JE U BR 3% Accounts receivable 7, 34 173,908,573 175,696,705
H 0 PR Other receivables 8, 34 250,308,891 543,500,751
FERER Prepayments and deposits 9, 34 16,793,506 25,684,354
FE Inventories 10 277,753,489 269,435,098
SHEH Deferred expenses 11 5,662,480 3,630,557
MEEES Total current assets 2,681,294,815 1,686,704,928
RHRE - Long-term investments:
FORERE Long-term equity investments 4,12 1,629,446,381 1,627,507,671
REFERIZE Long-term debt investments — 34,363,631
RHEESE Total long-term investments 1,629,446,381 1,661,871,302
EEEE: Fixed assets:
BTEERE Fixed assets at cost 73 1,991,468,752 1,976,907,517
A BEHE Less: Accumulated depreciation 73 (1,026,501,139) (948,475,228)
EEEEFE Fixed assets, at net book value 13 964,967,613 1,028,432,289
BCETEE Less: Provision for impairment 13 (6,890,750) (8,000,000
BEEE of fixed assets
BTEEFH Fixed assets, net 13 958,076,863 1,020,432,289
EEIR Construction-in-progress 14 68,347,365 70,009,020
BlEEEA Total fixed assets 1,026,424,228 1,090,441,309
BREAERAGEE Intangible and other assets:
BREE Intangible assets 15 150,514,709 152,167,569
RHGEER Long-term deferred expenses 16 2,579,200 2,980,400
R HfE R Long-term accounts receivable 7, 34 53,808,142 63,808,142
BENEEREMEESE Total intangible and other assets 206,902,051 218,956,111
ELEFIE Deferred taxation:
BB FEE Deferred tax assets - 5,101,358
HEREH Total assets 5,544,067,475 4,663,075,008

BH G BRERNER TG BMROEK

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

e statements.

EXEEBEA TESHIFNREA ETHEREA
Legal representative! Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
THE BRI T

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming
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Balance Sheet (Continued)

(ETEE2ANRE

(Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

RZFEEZFFT-A=+—H Asat31st December, 2003

ANNUAL SEFURT2LUS 7 1 o L

2003 2002
#aF ABR¥ ARE
Note RMB RMB
(BiaE40)
(Note 40)
mEAaE: Current liabilities:
BHER Short-term bank toans 17 579,369,000 946,000,000
BNEE Bills payable 18 99,384,500 124,375,903
EA&RER Accounts payable 19, 34 105,475,575 97,174,668
BUER Advances from customers 19, 34 52,082,206 42,701,886
EREFNE Staff welfare payables (7,687,456) (11,579,431)
JE A9 R Dividends payable 1,100,000 —
ERH Taxes payable 20 45,168,436 (3,180,514)
B BT Other payables 19, 34 115,926,175 139,991,434
E bR R Other liabilities 949,758 97,016
HRER Accruals 21 18,356,098 10,383,517
—FRE BN REER Current portion of long-term loans 17 25,147,237 35,515,661
—FRIGNHTBELE
&% Current portion of convertible bonds 22 4,513,880 —
mBRESF Total current liabilities 1,039,785,409 1,381,480,140
KHBEE Long-term liabilities:
RAER Long-term bank loans 17 23,564,000 48,218,934
BEE-VACEE Convertible bonds 22 939,156,300 —
RHEEAsH Total long-term liabilities 962,720,300 48,218,934
BEAG Total liabilities 2,002,505,709 1,429,699,074
BRER Shareholders’ equity:
L Share capital 22,23 1,060,000,000 1,000,000,000
BARR Capital reserve 24 1,848,616,082 1,625,710,850
BHBRE Surplus reserve 25 273,292,581 224,236,461
Hp  ZFnEs Including: public welfare fund 25 122,011,680 97,483,620
AP Unappropriated profits 26 359,653,103 383,428,623
ERERES Total shareholders’ equity 3,541,561,766 3,233,375,934

4,663,075,008

BHEHBERMTIAREHBENEMNSE  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
e statements.

PEREA: FTEEHIEHNREA EHBBREA -

Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:

THEHHE BRER F e

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming
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Consolidated Statement of Income and Profit Appropriation

(EREEERHER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

HEZTZEZ=F+_BZ=Z+T—BLEFEE For the year ended 31st December, 2003
2003 2002
Jiog3 ARY ARH¥
Note RMB RMB
(K7 :%40)
(Note 40)
FTREBUWA Turnover 27,34 7,507,959,058 6,936,734,126
A EEEBRR Less: Cost of sales 27,34 (4,326,079,119) (4,057,998,053)
TEEEREREM Sales tax and surcharges 28 (794,174,167) (715,461,433)
TEERBE Gross profit 2,387,705,772 2,163,274,640
o R EBRE Add: Profit from other operations 29 17,408,305 15,252,281
HERER Less: Selling expenses (1,265,814,141) (1,129,830,493)
EIEER General and administrative (623,973,170) (585,462,839)
expenses
NEERESE Finance expenses, net 30 (105,804,028) (138,061,671)
LEME Operating profit 409,522,738 325,171,918
AW Add: Investment income 31 13,902,096 21,788,339
=L N Subsidy income 32 62,885,064 96,812,054
ERIMEA Non-operating income 33 15,590,708 7,061,072
B BENT T Less: Non-operating expenses 33 (75,688,418) (73,384,088)
MEeE Profit before tax 426,212,188 377,449,295
e Less: Income tax {135,587,139) (109,916,312)
PEREER Minority interests (36,753,388) (36,875,598)
FRE Net profit 253,871,661 230,657,385
e ENRSE Add: Unappropriated profits 328,828,477 289,964,360
K8 brought forward
A DEME Unappropriated profits 582,700,138 520,621,745
B REUETERBAES  Less: Transfer to surplus reserve 25 (55,530,809) (42,804,520)
REZELEE Transfer to public welfare fund 25 (47,409,090) (38,988,748)
AHERS EE%‘J ped Profits distributable to shareholders 479,760,239 438,828,477
BoRFD Less: Dividends (220,000,000) (110,000,000)
ADBEFE Unappropriated profits carried forward 259,760,239 328,828,477
EREAHREMTARSHBRNAERI  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
e statements.
rEEEA FEEIFHMBEA : SIEBEREA
Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
ZTEE BRER T
Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming
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Statement of Income and Profit Appropriation
(R BeTEAHR) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)
HEZER=-F+_-RB=1+—BL%FE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003

ANNUVAL REFURT aUWo B ot

2003 2002

s AR AR#E

Note RMB RMB

(Btata0)

(Note 40)

FEEBRA Turnover 34 2,501,961,708 2,239,563,616

B EEEBHAR Less: Cost of sales 34 (1,479,021,551) (1,300,509,858)

TEEBHERNM Sales tax and surcharges 28 (130,468,140) (129,609,561)

TEEBNE Gross profit 892,472,017 809,444,197

I B EBMNE Add: Profit from other operations 29 6,273,839 1,707,787

BoERER Less: Selling expenses (401,214,941) (290,180,956)

BEER General and administrative (171,977,938) (185,898,311)

expenses

BBERAER Finance expenses, net 30 (43,595,347) (59,064,501)

AETE Operating profit 281,957,630 276,008,216

R ERE Add: Investment income 31 24,768,945 8,193,109

B EIMEA Non-operating income 33 1,134,132 347,683

A EEINXH Less: Non-operating expenses 33 (12,008,808) (13,986,000

THeE Profit before tax 295,851,899 270,563,008

BRGE Less: Income tax (50,571,299 (47,308,906)

ERB Net profit 245,280,600 223,254,102

e ENRLSE Add: Unappropriated profits 383,428,623 314,825,341
Il brought forward

B o BRI Unappropriated profits 628,709,223 538,079,443

B ORBETEBRES  Less: Transfer to surplus reserve 25 (24,528,060) (22,325,410)

ROZERAES Transfer to public welfare fund 25 (24,528,060) (22,325,410)

AERESERE Profits distributable to shareholders 579,653,103 493,428,623

b NN Less: Dividends (220,000,000) (110,000,000)

AN BB Unappropriated profits carried forward 359,653,103 383,428,623

BHEHTHRMNERA G RRNARS

e statements.

PERRA TEEHIENREA

Legal representative: Chief financial officer:

FHE BRE T 15 8
Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo

BHEERAA -

Accounting supervisor:

Yu Zhu Ming

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
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Consolldated Cash Flow Statement
#BI42)  (Prepared in accordance with PRC CAAP)
:ETL BE=+—HBIEE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003

2003
Hrat AR#
Note RMB
BEZYEENREERE Cash Flow from Operating Activities:
HETm - EHREE Cash received from sales of goods 8,692,193,560
KRR T and rendering of services
WE R B RGE Refund of taxes 73,973,859
BB EEEEHEBORL  Cash received relating to other operating activities 545,544,687
BemADhe Sub-total of cash inflows 9,311,712,106
EEEM EXEBXAMAMERE  Cash paid for purchases of goods and services (4,816,384,696)
iﬁ%ﬁ%IM&%E&Iiﬁﬁ’jﬁﬁ Cash paid for salaries and on behalf of employees (586,847,730)
TAMEERE Cash paid for various taxes (1,536,007,556)
IHRMEMBLEEEHFHEAERE  Cash paid relating to other operating activities 35 (1,234,511,064)
HgRd /et Sub-total of cash outflows (8,173,751,046)
GETHELRBERESE Net cash flow from operating activities (a) 1,137,961,060
REZRELERERE Cash Flow from Investing Activities:
Hﬁl@&éﬁﬁ‘& IR Proceeds from realisation of investments 150,000
SREMNZFREIHRS Returns on investment 150,493
JEE ETEEMREMALER  Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 47,403,119
WEMEM SR BEZHEHEMESE  Cash received relating to other investing activities 4,020,296
BERANE Sub-total of cash inflows 51,723,908
HREATEE - TEIR- Cash paid to acquire fixed assets, (467,672,727)
EVEAENMAMRSBEE construction-in-progress, intangible assets
X EOEE and other long-term assets
BEFZRNORE Cash paid for investment (86,101,319)
XMMEBEREESHER Cash paid relating to other investing activities (25,433,169)
MR &
BEmd /e Sub-total of cash outflows (579,207,215)

‘ﬁH

REZPELANFEREFE Net cash used in investing activities (527,483,307)
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EOHBEETRER (K)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
(T EETERHER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)
BEZZZ=-F1+ZA=Z1+—BLFE Forthe vear ended 31st December, 2003

2003
fif &t AR¥
Note RMB
BERDELNETRE Cash Flow from Financing Activities:
BRWEEMUBINRSE Cash received from capital contribution 300,011,438
BTESFARINE2 Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 937,020,942
EEE & kA Cash received from borrowings 2,771,878,147
HERRERMKINRE Loan from a shareholder 124,047,480
KIWEESEEETHEBNIRE  Cash received relating to other financing activities 17,872,787
BE&mANE Sub-total of cash inflows 4,150,830,794
BEEKAZINRSE Repayment of borrowings (4,231,355,630)
FERA - FEMESR R Cash payment for interest expenses and (376,843,171)
FEAfRe distribution of dividends or profits
I NMEMEEEESHEE Cash paid relating to other financing activities (77,471,646)
NHe
BgmH N Sub-total of cash outflows (4,685,670,447)
BETDELENBEERERE Net cash used in financing activities (534,839,653)
ExgHEBEeNyE Effect of changes in exchange rate on cash (54,537)
ReFEINE Net increase in Cash () 75,583,563

BHEHREMTARSHHRENMEREE  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

e statements.

LEREA: FEBTIIEMRREA ¢ CHEBERA
Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
FTHR BRE F 119

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming
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EHEERER (F)

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

(B & ELEE

(Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

(ZERE=ZF T A=+ —HIEFE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003
2003
AE¥
RMB
(a) I FFRARHALEETEHR Reconciliation of Net Profit to Cash Flow
REeng: from Operating Activities:
FHE Net profit 253,871,661
DERRIEBE Profit of minority shareholders 36,753,388
TREEREERE Provision for impairment of assets 68,013,221
BrEEifE Depreciation of fixed assets 497,315,868
ENEESE Amortisation of intangible assets 34,866,211
REGEEREH Amortisation of long-term deferred expenses 2,091,763
HERERLEN Increase in accruals 16,658,345
FEEBEBLEM Increase in deferred expenses (374,370)
REBTEENESX Loss on disposal of fixed assets 12,645,279
HBER Finance expenses 122,332,599
HEWE Investment income (13,902,096)
FEEMN Increase in inventories (84,246,124)
BEREFRERRD Decrease in deferred tax assets 5,101,358
L R IE B A2 Increase in operating receivable items (16,932,420)
REERSIER 6 m Increase in operating payable items 203,766,377
KRLEEHEEMBELMEFE  Net cash flows from operating activities 1,137,961,060
b) THFRREUZNREMN Non-cash Investing and Financing Activities:
EEEg - :
EB#HE Exemption from settlement of liabilities 1,237,116
BEREPFPETEEMER Fixed assets received from customers to 800,000
B (5 B W BR 3R settle accounts receivable

(© REFEMNE

Net increase in Cash:

R RBATENFEREE Cash and bank balances, end of year 837,749,627

B RERBAFER Less: Cash and bank balances, (762,166,064)
H F H) ERER beginning of year

BeZFEME Net increase in Cash 75,583,563

EMEFTREMIANETHERNMEMXE  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

e statements.

TREEA FEETIENEEA EHBEREA
Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
ZRE RE Fres

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming
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2003
i AR%
Note RMB
REFHEENBEERE Cash Flow from Operating Activities:
HEHG  RBHEB Cash received from sales 3,064,060,503
e EoR R and rendering of services

WEMHERE Refund of taxes 15,378,237

WHMEMRLEEHEENRE  Cash received relating to other operating activities 169,729,028

RERANET Sub-total of cash inflows 3,249,167,768

BEEG BEXABIAAHESE  Cash paid for purchases of goods and services (1,928,743,426)

XNEBIURABI X Cash paid for salaries and on behalf of employees (158,154,006)

5%
THHEERE Cash paid for various taxes (307,304,569)
XRMEMBERLIHEHN Cash paid relating to other operating activities 35 (257,408,812)
B&

Bemd et Sub-total of cash outflows (2,651,610,813)
BETHELNRSREFH Net cash flow from operating activities (a) 597,556,955
REZDELNRSRE Cash Flow from Investing Activities:

BEsEmkBnRE Proceeds from realisation of investments 6,809,990

BHERENEMEINRS Returns on investment 191,511,746

EEETEAEMUKEAIREFE  Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 30,497,805

WERNEMEIREESHEEMNESE  Cash received relating to other investing activities 55,412,289

BERANE Sub-total of cash inflows 284,231,830

HERTEE Cash paid to acquire fixed assets, (83,667,344)

HEIE BREEM construction-in-progress intangible assets
HoREEEMIANRS and other long-term assets
HERTNOBE Cash paid for investments (50,344,001)
IR EREEDEEN Cash paid relating to other investing activities (1,336,760,000)
Be
Bt hat Sub-total of cash outflows (1,470,771,345)
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BehEax (&)

Cash Flow Statement (Continued).

(GEPEEsEAE S (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

ZE-ZFTET=FTZB=Z+T—HIFE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003
2003
B AR
Note RMB
EELHELNRENE Cash Flow from Financing Activities:
RERAFUINES Cash received from capital contribution 295,599,438
BHBEHFHRENES Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds 937,020,942
ERREINE S Cash received from borrowings 869,384,000
WEMEBEEE TS FE Cash received relating to other financing activities ' 633,206
B e
RERAPE Sub-total of cash inflows 2,102,637,586
BEERMIANRS Repayment of borrowings (1,265,729,735)
AR - FEMESNE Cash payment for interest expenses (248,585,304)
FRieRe and distribution of dividends or profits
XNOHpBEBEETEE R Cash paid relating to other financing activities (19,969,733)
BRkE
Béml et Sub-total of cash outflows (1,534,284,772)
BEEERHEENHERES Net cash flow from financing activities 568,352,814
EXgHHEsNTE Fffect of changes in exchange rate on cash (200,700)
BeFRLE Net decrease in Cash {c) (20,830,446)

BHEAREWNT ARG HRNMEMAE  The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial

e statements.

TEREA TEEHIFHEEAN BIHEREA
Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
FHE BE Fres

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming
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HeERhEXR(EF)
Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

(T HAEHEAEE) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)
BE_E¥=-F+A=1+—81FE Forthe year ended 31st December, 2003

2003
AR¥
RMB
(a) BEFMBERADRELED Reconciliation of Net Profit to Cash Flow

MEERE from Operating Activities:
B Net profit 245,280,600
AREEREEE Provision for impairment of assets 14,658,532
BrEEWE Depreciation of fixed assets 113,893,921
BEREEEH Amortisation of intangible assets 4,786,057
RHGEEREH Amortisation of long-term deferred expenses 401,200
TBRE BN Increase in accruals 7,972,581
FEEREN fncrease in deferred expenses (2,031,923)
RERETEEMNBX Loss on disposal of fixed assets 4,339,107
HHEER Finance expenses 40,966,068
HEWE Investment income (24,768,945)
FEEEN increase in inventories (8,318,391)
BEERTEERRDY Decrease in deferred tax assets 5,101,358
REERBOER R D Decrease in operating receivable items 173,730,512
KEMENIEE LM Increase in operating payable items 21,546,278

BERPELNREREFR

Net cash flow from operating activities

597,556,955

by THEREEUINEE

Non-cash Investing and Financing activities:

MEEES
BBz Exemption from settlement of Yiabilities 1,237,116
BEWRFETEENERE Fixed assets received from customers to 800,000
i EWER settle accounts receivable
) BEFRLE - Net decrease in Cash:
ReRBOFRANFERARE Cash and bank balance, end of year 229,825,760
B R RBRITERA Less: Cash and bank balance, beginning of year (250,656,206)
FHE
BeERLE Net decrease in Cash (20,8390,446)

BHEHHRME ARG BRNANX S
G

{7 e statements,

BEBEA: FTEEHIENREA EHBBRAA
Legal representative: Chief financial officer: Accounting supervisor:
THE BIHE TMH

Li Gui Rong Sun Yu Guo Yu Zhu Ming

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial
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BRI KM

Notes to the Financial Statements

(RREETEH#HER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

1. REBN

EERERHKERLAG (UTHBIAL
ADR-AAZFRATABEREAR
HMBOATERIFE) KL ER—N
NEF+ZAZ+LEBRERPIEER
BERARZIMNEERR - RAFET
MHERE-AN=FLATEIRRRES
BRAXSMAERAT LT - i ARAS
“ANZENAZTEERBELEE
RHH LT o

WZEE-E+A=-+-8 ZRFHEZE
BE — mHBEEBERER 2 (Anheuser
— Busch Companies Inc.) ([A-BA &) &
B (ERURERE) AR ESH
FA-BARIETEMERNAIERAEE
% {EERLEH1,416,195,0007T (FTEH
AE®1,507,990,0005T) « 2EILAREA-B
NEVBEERREE27%HEE - X125
RAFEWEABARIREANR B BITHTE
BERLARBEHFNTEHTES AL
1,162,057,0008 T (FEH AR ®
1,237,155,0007%) + il & #H 280,800,000
BT (& B AR 297,999,0007T) 7] 8544
REERBE R A F AE A 60,000,0008%
FTIEHAR - E840254,138,0008 7 (&4
AR¥270,835,0000) ERZEEWE=
R=rT—BIE - FEE2HMFN2E
23 o

ARAREWBAB(ARIAEE ) HNE
EEBRLERHEERE -

ARFNERTFARREERAEHIR
ABEH 4 -

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND AND OPERATIONS

Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (referred as the “Company”
below) was established in the People’s Republic of China (referred
as the “PRC” below) on 16th June, 1993 and it obtained the business
license of a Sino-foreign Joint Stock Company on 27th December,
1995. The H shares of the Company were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 15th july, 1993 and its A shares
were listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange on 27th August, 1993.

On 21st October, 2002, the Company signed a strategic investment
agreement (the “Strategic Investment Agreement”) with Anheuser-
Busch Companies, Inc. (“A-B Company”), pursuant to which the
Company is obliged to issue several tranches of mandatory
convertible bonds (“CB”) to A-B Company, amounting to
approximately HK$1,416,195,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB1,507,990,000}. Upon full conversion of the CB, the equity
holding of A-B Company in the Company will increase to
approximately 27%. approximately
HK$1,162,057,000 {equivalent to approximately RMB1,237,155,000)
of the CB were issued and the related proceeds were received from
A-B Company, out of which approximately HK$280,800,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB297,999,000) of the CB had been
converted into 60,000,000 new H-shares as at 31st December, 2003.
The remaining balance of the CB of approximately HK$254,138,000

During the vear,

{equivalent to approximately RMB270,835,000) was received on
31st March, 2004. More details are set out in Note 22 and Note 23.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) is principally engaged in the production and distribution

of beer products.

Details of subsidiaries of the Company are detailed in Note 4.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(R EEHERBE)  (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

2. EXENRREE

AREE-_ZT=FLA-ARREBT

W(EXE 2R — BERGBREKS
B) o RRAZEITHEINUA - ReRFR
ESEHIMESESENABHBUR
RESBLYRIAEE —TZ=F+¢
A—HLAE - i%ﬁﬁx%‘%ﬁx%ji@%t&ﬂ

ASELTENEERIREE - BT

2. CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

The Group has adopted the revised “Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises-Event Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date”
from Tst July, 2003 onwards. Prior to the adoption of the revised
standard, proposed dividend was recognised as a liability in the
balance sheet even it was declared after the balance sheet date.
After Tst July, 2003, dividend payable to shareholders is recognised
in the period when the distribution plan is approved by the

(CEEHERDY TR -_EQ:r WAL sharcholders’ meeting. The effect of the revised Accounting Standards
FEMT for Business Enterprises on the accounts of 2002 are as follows:

DH

Company

FHNRAEFELM increase in the unappropriated 110,000,000 110,000,000
profit brought forward

FRADEFELM Increase in the unappropriated 220,000,000 220,000,000
profit carried forward

FE W BB MR Decrease in dividends receivable — 180,040,000

FE 51 BR AR Decrease in dividends payable 299,592,776 220,000,000

HRfR iR E Increase in long term equity investments — 180,040,000

3. BEHE  EEEASHEE 3. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES, ACCOUNTING

RNBEHTE

@ ENBRNGRER
REHBREBRTEARENBERER

MERETEIMCREEHHE) REE
BREHEE - (ABIPEgER])

(b) A

AEEEFFERARE—A—HEE+C
A=+—Blit -

ESTIMATES AND BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(a) Basis of preparation of financial statements

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and “the Accounting Regulations
for Business Enterprises” and related regulations (collectively referred
as “PRC GAAP”), promulgated by the Central Government of the
PRC.

(b) Financial year

The financial year runs from Tst January to 31st December of each

calendar year.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(REEgtEER)

(Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

RRERMTERR

(c

~—

DRERLWRERER - BELRHEL
HERNERLARBETHENENEE
REREEEERMIRRENTEEAR
o BEREBERAANE - MRUREAE

EEME B RMBENAELS
() TRAUW  AEERBEEFEZNNE

B RRNFTESE

ARBRARBERLRALE - TG
FORREBEELUAARET -

DNEXBREBBREZEEREARRTR
HNEREBRNARARBAR -REE
BEXRAUNERENMNEREEENE
BRTEARBRTLMOZBELEGR
ERARE MELANNEZERTAE
TEEBREREREMIIEEASEEEH
WEABIEEAMCORAERI)  BE
LAEHES -

WEEAERBERTHNMERE BREHEE
HRAEARABSBTEARRITAM
MELEEFERARY REEZES
BRADEMEESNISREBELEL S
BARBRTLOMHEEEERE  RoOE
MEHREAFERMNESREXTZERN
BN NBARRFETHEBNE -
HUTREENZRIATEREAERE
FNNBRRFEEHREERN -BHERE
ATMEBEENREERBERANERE
BRERARE -

(c) Basis of recording and measurement bases

The books and records are maintained on an accrual bhasis. Apart
from those assets which were recorded at the revalued amount
approved by the State-owned Assets Administration Bureau upon
the reorganization of the Company into a Joint Stock Company, all
assets are stated at costs. If assets impairment is identified, provision

for impairment is recognised in the income statement.

(d) Reporting currency and foreign currency translation

The Company maintains its books and records in Renminbi (RMB).

The amounts of the financial statements are expressed in RMB.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates stipulated by the People’s Bank of China prevailing
at the transaction date. As of balance sheet date, monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into
RMB at the exchange rate stipulated by the People’s Bank of China
prevailing at the balance sheet date. Except for the capitalised
exchange gains or losses arising from specific loan for the purchases
of assets, all exchange gains or losses are dealt with in the profit

and loss account.

All assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies on the
balance sheets are translated at the exchange rates stipulated by
the People’s Bank of China prevailing at the balance sheet date;
shareholders’ equity (except unappropriated profits) are transfated
at exchange rates stipulated by the People’s Bank of China prevailing
at the transaction date; unappropriated profits are recorded based
on the amount stated on the profit and loss account after translation
adjustments; profit and loss account items are translated at the
average applicable rates during the year. Exchange differences arising
from such translations are dealt with in the cumulative translation
adjustment account on the translated balance sheet. All jtems in
cash flow statements are translated at the exchange rates prevailing

at the balance sheet date.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(RREGTEBE) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

e RERREZED

NRBERERTNREBREFREN
JUBERERZANRITER

REZENIERENERTEB=E
A RBER PRERAENLBRE
EEBERRANHEE -

ZEANEMERERERIRANRET
R AERARERERTNRESEY
PR e

H EHRE

RRREIBERZREN - ZREREE
RACRBERNAMLREHNOTE M
BRRERON NS BRHTE

MASENERET KB - FILEES
R LREERERNER

@ BRRERRRER

FURBEERERRREMENN - T &
BETMERLNERERRRAREELS
B -RUFENERBLEAZERER
BEFREIR - BRESBEERER
PR N EARERERE T3 AR o

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash, which is shown in the cash flow statements, represents cash
on hand and deposits with banks and other financial institutions

which are repayable on demand.

Cash equivalents represent short-term, highly liquid investments
which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash with
original maturities of three months or less that are subject to an

insignificant risk of change in value.

Fixed deposits with maturity over three months and the restricted
bank deposits are not regarded as cash and cash equivalents in the

cash flow statements.

(f) Short-term investments

Short-term investments mainly represent entrusted loans. Entrusted
loans are loans entrusted to financial institutions for lending to
other parties, the terms of all entrusted loans are current. When the
accrued interest income are due but not being received, further
accruals will cease to be made and interest income previously

accrued is reversed.

{g) Receivables and provision for bad debts

Receivables represent accounts receivable and other receivables.
The Group adopts the “allowance method” in accounting for
potential bad debts. The net receivables are presented in the financial
statements based on the actual receivable balance net of the
provision balance. The accounts receivable balances include

balances due from both related parties and non-related parties.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

{(Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

AEEHTERENBERBRNEFRER
FEHRBE(BEERBRE SR 2BK
HEHRBREE - EEEHEBER N
FRBUENESR BEEUNVERE
BECERAB BT RE A RERE
- ENMBREEERAERDREENEYR
MR HESRBERFRERER —FE=
FRIEUEADFIE150%K%100%8) —
RIEBBRERE -

AR AREEBRARRFEREEZN
G MERENDHE RE BTE
BEAREREBETRT - BRRAER
WFHEERRAERERERE -

(h) £¥

FREERME  EER ENA - EH
FRANDENE  BRARTERHE
REF R -

FERDEEREBRREAR - RHHM
EXmORARNETEENE  BED
RaRBnaxnmisFERFERAR
REEHINGEEFLEEER HEERRE
BRERASERME ERIBRRER
FEENTEER L DBOMERERE
EREA -ERFERLRLEELLERE
FUNFROEFEBREER LGB
EREORE  RHAHEERREENS
BNSEET -

The Group determines the amount of bad debt losses on ending
receivable balances as at year end (including balances due from
related parties). Management determines the needs of such provision
based on aging analysis, past experience and financial and operating
situations of the customers. Excluding the receivable balances which
management considers with no collectibility problem, general bad
debt provision of 50% and 100% are made for receivable balances

aged within 1 to 2 years and over 2 years, respectively.

When there is any evidence indicating that the accounts receivable
balances become uncollectible, for instance, when the debtors suffer
from liquidation, bankruptcy, having net liabilities or inadequate
cash flow, bad debts are recognised and the balances are written
off in that period against the corresponding provision for bad debts

that has previously been made for these balances.

(h) Inventories

Inventories, mainly including raw materials, work-in-progress,
packaging materials, auxiliary materials, low value consumables
and finished goods, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value.

The inventory acquired is recorded at actual cost. The costs of raw
materials and finished goods are calculated on weighted average
basis, while the low-value consumables and certain packaging
materials are amortised into expenses over their estimated useful
lives of 1-5 years using straight-line method. The cost of work-in-
process and finished goods include the costs of raw materials, direct
labour and indirect production costs allocated based on appropriate
percentages of total indirect production costs under normal
production capacity. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion, the estimated expenses and related taxes necessary to

make the sales.
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(RPEEHELBHE)  (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

FE-KHE EREEEEEREAMN
BRAENIREZRKAE - FERER
EXAFERANSEERBERBEAELEN
ENEIARA BUEFENFERE
BEEMEN MESUNCEZNTER
BEE YTRECDEHERBRANR D -

BERNEHAMKEST -

(i) REBKREAE

RARE

RERAEBRAQAHTRF  A%RR
MEEPENRBEREREMEESRER
B-FORERE  TRATEERES
BREFMAMYRERNERRE -

() FTRARIEEARAERSEERELE
50%A L (T E50%) 81 RABEAN - &
RAERATEVENCEBRENREER
7 GEPEREBARREEMARE
KEZHNERESEN  FR—FH8F
ERENEHE  BELE-RAESD
BMEREERABERETEN20% L (T
B20%) E50%MA T (T 550%) » ¥ HB
BRNEERFBEEATEMNEREEM -

(i) REBERANRAZRESER M
MEFRRRNFREEENERREMEM
FTHEBREAR - AREHTLE  2E
CENBLOENRERERE RAE
mARE  HEMEGHEBE-FHOK
BRERAMANELZE -

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as a cost in the period in which the related revenue is
recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period in which the write-down or loss occurs. The
amount of any reversal of any write-down of inventories, arising
from an increase in net realisable value, is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the period

in which the reversal occurs.

The Group and the Company adopts the perpetual inventory system.

(i} Long-term investments

Long-term investments

Long-term investments include investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associated companies and other investments which
are expected to be held for a period over one year and bonds or

other debt investments which are not readily realised.

(i) Subsidiary refers to company which the Company holds, directly
or indirectly, more than 50% of its voting share capital or has
control over its financial and operating policies. Joint Venture refers
to company which is jointly controlled by the Company and other
investors, with neither of them having a dominant control. Associated
company refers to company which the Company holds, directly or
indirectly, between 20% to 50% exclusive, of its voting share capital

or has substantial influence over its financial and operating policies.

(i) The carrying amount of long term equity investment is the actual
cost of the investment or the book value of the non-monetary assets
given up together with the related tax expenses. The Company has
adopted the equity method to account for its long term equity
investment in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associated companies.
For other investments which the Company intends to hold for more

than one year, they are accounted for using the cost method.
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(EPEEHERNER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

(i —ETE=F=ZATtBREENRAR
BEERFEDSEZZER  TiREENT
BESAERRASMNMEERENELH
NEE RAERZRI0FEHE - =

SEZRATHHARENRBRERER
ARAEZEREE  VREENAPREE
FRREEUMEERENENESR  F

RERDE  NEEERTAREZERR
REBUMAEEGNENEZE  KRE

BERI0EH -

(v RRBZAGER RABRSEEESH
AEDENREECREFERNENE
REENEEBRNOBEAL  ERRER
XESHRRASEERREHRER
B RANNEZER  REUFTERR
BREESDRRAEER -

REREREER

RERARNTESETRAREELE
RERABLEREGHATYUREHE
REFEEE LEAMRBRENEEETE
RAMARBEATTRERE - AEERT
boesBERNRERERABEENEE
AREHREREER -

() BEERERFE

ErAERRREERARLEEENS

ENTHERE-FULENEERE - BED
(BELTHERE  #E BHITARE
REE -

(iti)For the long term equity investment accounted for using equity
method before 17th March, 2003, the difference between the initial
investment cost and the share of equity in the investee is amortised
over 10 years using the straight line method. For investments made
after 17th March, 2003, the initial investment cost which is less
than the share of equity in the investee is recognised as share
premium. If the initial investment cost is greater than the share of
equity in the investee company, the difference is amortised over 10

years using the straight line method.

{iviWhen the investment is accounted for using the equity method,
investment income (loss) recognised by the Group is the share of
the current year’s profit (loss) in the investee. Dividends declared
by the investee company are offset against the long term equity
investment costs. When the investment is accounted for using the
cost method, investment income is recognised by the Group upon

the declaration of dividends by the investee company.

Provision for impairment of long-term investments

Provision for impairment of fong-term investments is made when
the recoverable amount of the investments is lower than their
carrying amounts due to continuous decrease in their market price
or deterioration of the operating results of these companies and
these conditions are not expected to recover in the foreseeable
future. Provision for diminution in value of long-term investments
is made based on the differences between the recoverable amounts

and the carrying amounts of the long-term investments.

(j) Fixed assets and depreciation

Fixed assets includes buildings (including land use rights), plant
and machinery, motor vehicles and other equipment, utensils and
tools related to production and management with useful lives over

1 year.
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Fixed assets purchased or constructed are recorded at cost. The
revalued amount is determined based on the asset valuation
undertaken by the Company upon its reorganisation into a joint
stock company subject to the approval by the shareholders of the
company and confirmation from the state-owned Assets
Administration Bureau of the PRC. Normal maintenance costs, repairs
and overhaul expenditures incurred after the fixed assets have been
put into operation are charged to the profit and loss account in the
period in which they are incurred. Costs incurred for significant
improvement and renewals, which have resulted in an increase in
future economic benefits, are capitalised as additional costs of the

fixed asset.

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis to write off the
cost of the assets over their estimated useful lives, after taking into
account their estimated residual value. For those assets which have
been provided for impairment, depreciation rate and the depreciation
amount are re-determined based on the restated net book values.
The estimated useful lives, residual value rate and annual

depreciation rate of fixed assets are as follows:

R ERER BRI BEREX FHRESR
Estimated Estimated Annual
Useful Lives residual value depreciation rate

EEREEY Land and buildings
— KR — at cost 20-40 years 3% 2.4% — 4.9%
— TR — Land use rights 50 years 0% 2%
HEER Plant and machinery 5-14 vears 3% 6.9% — 19.4%
EHRB Motor vehicles 5-12 years 3% 8.1% — 19.4%
Eie & Other equipment 5-10 years 3% 9.7% — 19.4%
AEBEREEGEBERRA  HETEEMRTT At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews each of the fixed

TERE WRANTERETY IR
MRE B2 ROBEERESHET
KEEBEREERBENETEE @ &
REUKOcEENARORENZET
REERERR: EEEAEAEEE LC
BIAEBEREBENER  BEARNTHUE
B RREER - BEREEAESAE
FERZ -BTRERNERRREELE
itiE e

asset items. Provision for impairment losses are made for the excess
of the carrying amount of an asset over its recoverable amount,
which is caused by continuous decline in market value, out-dated
technology, damage, or idle usage, etc. When economic benefits
can no longer be derived from the fixed assets, these assets are
fully provided for impairment loss individually and the corresponding

charges are recognised in the profit and loss account of the year.
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(k) Construction-in-progress

Construction-in-progress represents buildings under construction and
machinery and equipment under installation and testing and is stated
at cost incurred. The costs include cost of construction, other direct
costs, machinery and equipments cost and its installment expenses,
and the eligible capitalised borrowing costs incurred from specific
loans during the period of construction, installation and testing.
Construction-in-progress is transferred to fixed asset when it is ready
for its intended use. No depreciation is provided for construction-

in-progress.

At each balance sheet date, the Group conducts a full-scale review
of its construction-in-progress. Provision for impairment losses is
made and charged to the profit and loss account when the
recoverable amount is fower than its carrying amount, when
constructions is suspended and expected not to resume in coming
3 years, the specification and technology are obsolete and the
economic benefits of which are uncertain, or when other evidences

for impairment losses.

() Borrowing costs

Borrowing is recognised based on the actual amount received. Any
related charges and expenses are recognized in the year when they

incur.

The interest expenses, auxiliary expenses and exchange differences
arising from translation of specific loans specially for the construction
of fixed assets are capitalised when expenditures for the specified
construction are incurred; the borrowing costs have incurred; and
activities which are necessary to bring the asset to be ready for its
intended use are undertaken. Capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases
upon the completion of activities that are necessary for the asset to
be ready for its intended use. The subsequent expenses are

recognised as current year profit and loss.
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The interest expenses arising from specific loans are capitalised
based on the weighted average of capital expenditures and the
weighted average rate of these specific loans, subject to a cap of

the actual interest expenses incurred.

Other borrowing costs arising from loans are charged as finance

costs of the year.

(m)Intangible assets and amortisation

intangible assets represent land use rights, trademark, computer
software and technology know-how. The net carrying amount is

stated at cost less accumulated amortisation.

The costs of fand use rights purchased or obtained by way of
payments of land use right fees are stated at the respective costs of
purchase and recognised as intangible assets until the
commencement of construction of the related projects. The costs of
land use rights are amortised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. From 1st January, 2001 onwards, the carrying
values of land use rights are transferred to construction-in-progress

when the land involved is developed for self-use projects.

All research and development expenses for internally generated
intangible assets are charged to the profit and loss account as
expenses when incurred. The Group’s technology know-how was
injected by a minority shareholder of a subsidiary during the
reorganisation of that subsidiary. It was recorded at a value agreed
among all the shareholders of that subsidiary and is amortised on a
straight-line basis over an expected period of inflow of economic

benefits of 10 years.
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Trademarks mainly represent the “TSINGTAO BEER” trademark
injected by the founding shareholder into the Company on 16th
June, 1993 as capital injection. The recorded value of the trademark
was determined based on a valuation amount approved by the State-
Owned Assets Administration Bureau of the PRC. Amortisation of
the trademark is provided for on a straight-line basis to write off the
revalued amount of the trademark over its estimated usefut lives of

40 years.

Other trademarks were acquired during acquisitions of certain
subsidiaries and are amortised over their estimated useful lives

ranging from 5-10 vyears.

The Group regularly reviews the estimated future economic benefits
of each intangible asset item. When there is evidence indicating
that the value of the intangible asset has been impaired, provision
for impairment losses are made for the excess of carrying amount

over its recoverable amount.
(n) Long-term deferred expenses

Long-term deferred expenses represent advertising expenses, building
usage right, greenery expenses and expenditures on improvement
projects incurred but with an amortisation period of over one year
(not within one year). They are amortised evenly over the expected
beneficial period using the straight line method and they are

presented at costs incurred less accumulated amortisation.

Expenses incurred during the period of plant construction and
planning are first aggregated and charged as expenses in the month

of commencement of production.
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(o) Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds are recognised as liabilities at issue price upon
its issuance and before their conversion into shares. The difference
between the issue price and the face value is recognised as premium
or discount, which is to be amortised on a straight line method
over the term of the bond. The amortisation is charged together
with the bond interest based on the principle of accounting for
borrowing costs. When the bonds are converted into shares, they
are converted at their carrying amounts. The difference between the
carrying amount of the convertible bonds and the face value of the
shares so converted, net of any related expenses paid, is recognised

as share premium.

(p) Contingent liabilities

An obligation arising from a past event is recognised as a liability
when it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the

amount of obligation can be measured reliably.

{q) Revenue recognition

(i} Sales of good

Provided it is probable that the economic benefits associated with
a transaction will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, sale of goods is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of goods have
been transferred to the customer and when the Group does not

have the rights to manage and control the goods.

Sales discounts are net off against revenue in the current period.
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(ii) Interest income

Interest income from bank deposits and entrusted loans is recognised
on a time proportion basis on the amounts of deposit or loans and

the prevailing interest rates.

(r) Taxation

The Group provides for enterprise income tax on the basis of its
profit before tax for financial reporting purposes, adjusted for income
and expenses items which are not assessable or deductible as well

as all the available tax benefits, using the applicable tax rates.

The accounting treatment adopted by the Group for its enterprise
income tax is based on the tax effects on accounting, using the
liability method. Deferred taxation is provided for using the liability
method. Timing differences are differences in the timing of
recognition of income, expenses and profit and loss as a result of
the tax regulations and accounting system. The effects of timing
differences on the cumulative amount of income tax as at year end

are adjusted based on the current tax rate.

Deferred tax asset is not recognised unless the related benefits are

expected to crystallise in the foreseeable future.

(s) Basis of preparation of consolidated accounts

The consolidated accounts include the Company and subsidiaries,
and are prepared based on the requirements of Caikuai {1995] No.
11 “the Articles on issuance of consolidated accounts” and related

regulations promulgated by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC.
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The turnover, cost of sales and profit and loss account of the
subsidiaries during the year are included in the consolidated profit
and loss account from the effective date of acquisition and up to
the effective date of disposal when the control over the subsidiaries
is ceased. Significant inter-group balances, transactions and
unrealised profits are eliminated on consolidation. Minority interests
represent the interests shared by third party shareholders over the

operating results and net assets of subsidiaries.

Significant differences arising from various accounting policies
adopted by the Company and the subsidiaries that have material
impact to the Group’s accounts are adjusted in accordance to

Company’s accounting policies.

(t) Taxation

The major types of taxation borne by the Company and the Group

are:
BE BHE HER
Tax Tax rate  Basis of calculation
TEEEMER 15-33% EWABAEE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax 15-33%  Assessable income
IBEM 17% BERHBERNI7%MEERAFEMNERRENRE
Value-added tax (“VAT") 17%  Net amount of 17% of sales amount, deducted against input VAT
BEH — fE% BUHER
AR B3,0007T /B A b AR #2507,/ 18
AR 3,000/ R T ARE2207T,/ 18

Consumption tax —

Price Unit consumption tax
Above RMB3,000 per ton RMB250 per ton
Below RMB3,000 per ton RMB220 per ton
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AEEHRBERASNET

An analysis of the taxation charges of the year is as follows:

55 N
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR¥ AR¥ A% AR#®
RMB RMB RMB RMB
FEERMEH PRC Enterprise
(i) Income Tax (i) 128,971,452 105,705,784 45,469,941 44,014,249
ERNER (i) Hong Kong profits tax (i) 1,514,329 915,871 — —
ERFREE Write-off of deferred tax 5,101,358 3,294,657 5,101,358 3,294,657
I (iv) assets (iv)
B Total 135,587,139 109,916,312 50,571,299 47,308,906

() FEILEFFEH

TRCEABRIRBEAFENEELE
RAENBRBRBOFE  FBEINER
ANeHBEECEREA -

REBRUBLERE-NLALEFEATA
AL —NHX  BARAKRLERLR
EFNEEAERARRAB LA - A2
BB AT IS G IR 5% N R BB
SR HEEZTREA - ARIAR-ANL
FZAZHZREEBEBETHHEMNE
RERLREERGESREESTTA
o

EEREEA)ERA2F(TZKAF])
FEREMMN BRAR(THMMAE]) R
ANEEREFAERLE(DRABD #
BRAIERECEL ] ZSHEEMEUA
TEERE HEEBNEEETMA=
B BRERREH - RFEARHEAE
CEEFNFERZKARNENEARAE
B-BE-TLEZE+_A=+—-B  #
MDA M ARER] -

(i) PRC Enterprise Income Tax

PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) is provided on the estimated
assessable income for the period calculated in accordance with the
relevant regulations of the PRC after considering all available tax

benefits and allowances.

In accordance with an approval document dated 18th April, 1994
issued by the State Administration of Taxation, net profit earned by
the Company is subject to profits tax at 15% effective from the date
of establishment of the Company. This rate will remain effective
until and unless the enterprise income tax law and regulations
change otherwise. The Company received a confirmation from the
Qingdao Ministry of Finance on 23rd March, 1997 stating that this
preferential tax treatment would not be terminated until further

notice.

Tsingtao Brewery (Sanshui) Company Limited (“Sanshui Company”),
Tsingtao Brewery (Chenzhou) Company Limited (“Chenzhou
Company”) and Shenzhen Tsingtao Beer Asahi Company Limited
(“Shenzhen Company”) are approved as enterprises with foreign
investment and therefore, they are exempt from EIT for two years
starting from the first year of profitable operations after offsetting
prior vear tax losses, followed by a 50% reduction for the next
three years. It has been the third and forth year of profitable
operations for Shenzhen Company and Sanshui Company
respectively, for the year ended 31st December, 2003. No profit for

Chenzhou Company was noted as of year ended.
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K #%637,958,000 (ZEZ 5+ =R =
+—8: AKR®¥591,160,0007T) BHAR
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Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company Limited (“Shenzhen Sales
Company") is exempted from EIT for the first year starting from the
first year of profitable operations after offsetting prior year tax losses,
followed by a 50% reduction for the next two years. Current year
was the third year of profitable operations after offsetting all the

prior year tax losses of Shenzhen Sales Company.

Tsingtao Brewery (Zhuhai) Company Limited and Tsingtao Brewery
(Xiamen) Company Limited are established and operating in the
Zhuhai and Xiamen Special Economic Zones, respectively,

accordingly, they are subject to EIT at a rate of 15%.

Other subsidiaries of the Group which are established and operated
in the PRC are subject to EIT at a rate of 33% based on their

respective assessable income for the period.

(ii) Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5%
(2002: 16%) on the estimated assessable profit for the period.

(iinpDeferred taxation

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets associated with
tax losses available to be carried forward, which will expire in the
period of 2004-2008, in the amount of approximately
RMB637,958,000 (2002: RMB591,160,000), as well as deferred tax
assets arising from provision for realization and impairment losses
of receivable balances, inventories and fixed assets amounting to
approximately RMB77,999,000 (2002: RMB71,822,000), due to the
fact that there is no certainty of realization through future taxable

profits.
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(iv) Write-off of deferred tax assets

According to existing EIT regulations, advertising expenses are
deductible for EIT assessment purpose at a maximum amount of 2%
of the turnover of a company in one fiscal year. Any undeductible
portion can be carried forward indefinitely for deduction claims in
future years. Accordingly, the Group recognised deferred tax assets
arising from the portion of the expenses not yet allowed for
deductions in prior years. In 2003, management considered that
the related deferred tax assets would not be likely to realise in the
foreseeable future and it was reversed based on the accounting

principle of prudence.
(v) Value-added tax (“VAT”)

According to “The people’s Republic of China Value-added Tax
Temporary Regulations”, the Group is subject to output VAT which
is calculated at 17% of the sales amount of tangible goods. The
Group also pays input VAT on its purchases of raw materials and
auxiliary materials, which is deducted against the output VAT in
arriving at the net VAT amount payable to the PRC Government. in
addition, the Group accrues and pays for city construction tax and
educational surcharge based on 7% and 3% of net VAT amount

payable, respectively.
(vi)Consumption tax

For beer products with an ex-factory price (including packaging
materials and related deposits) over RMB3,000 per ton, the
consumption tax is RMB250 per ton. For all the other beer products,

the consumption tax is levied at RMB220 per ton.




ANNUAL REFURT U007

TR RME (&)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(RHRE®TEYER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

4. BRFATRBERTER 4. INFORMATION

COMPANIES

ON SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATED

() RZFEZE+-A=+—8  AAF
WEERRFAARBNT

(a) As at 31st December, 2003, particulars of the principal

subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

BRFORER RIRTEZREHR gfEx NG
BELHI(%)
Equity interest held

by the Company (%)

IEEE

Place of establishment
and principal operation

Name of subsidiaries Registered capital Principal activities

HERE BESRF
Directly Indirectly
held held

RITESRBEFRABRAA FEFY A K #200,000,000 95% —  BRRE
(I#@RE))

Tsingtao Brewery Huanan Shenzhen, the PRC RMB200,000,000 95% — Investment holding
Holding Company Limited
{"Huanan Holding Company”)

EBME(RE)ERAR PERE AR 60,000,000 — 72.83% BERBELERHE
(IxERA])

Tsingtao Brewery (Zhuhai) Zhuhai, the PRC RMB60,000,000 — 72.83%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
(“Zhuhai Company”) of beer

=kng HE=K AE#41,335,505 — 7125% BERRBELERHE

Sanshui Company Sanshui, the PRC RMB41,335,505 — 71.25%  Manufacturing and

domestic trading
of beer

2 ) M AR%70,000,000 — 8436% BREELERHE

Chenzhou Company Chenzhou, the PRC RMB70,000,000 — 84.36%  Manufacturing and

domestic trading
of beer

BEEEE(ER)BRAE TEEL AR 5,000,000 —  9025% BRBRELERHE
(IBARa)

Tsingtao Brewery (Huangshi) Huangshi, the PRC RMB5,000,000 — 90.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
(“Huangshi Company”) of beer

EERE(ER)BERAE TEEN AR 5,000,000 — 90.25% EREELEREE

Tsingtao Brewery (Yingcheng) Yingcheng, the PRC RMB5,000,000 — 90.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EEilE BRI %7130,000,000 51% — WBELERHE

Shenzhen Company Shenzhen, the PRC US$$30,000,000 51% —  Manufacturing and

trading of beer

L

¢

¥
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BER¥LEEE RIRTEEERE d2REX NG TEEH
fE 38 H Bl (%)
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities
and principal operation by the Company (%)
ERE HEESR
Directly  Indirectly
held held
FITEEREHEBRAA  PERY AE#20,000,000 95% — EBRREZS
Shenzhen Sales Company Shenzhen, the PRC RMB20,000,000 95% —  Domestic trading
of beer
EEREZFRERBRAH TEEE A& 100,000,000 95% —  ZER2AF
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Shanghai, the PRC RMB100,000,000 95% — Investment holding
Holding Company Limited
EEREERLSHEARLT THLSE A B 3,000,000 —  9405% HBEREEES
(2R L&) (bi(ii)
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Shanghai, the PRC RMB3,000,000 — 94.05%  Domestic trading
Shanghai Sales Company {biii) of beer
Limited (“Huadong Shanghai”)
EENELRAAREEARLA FEAER AR#1,000,000 —  9388% BEAEBEES
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Nanjing, the PRC RMB1,000,000 — 93.88%  Domestic trading
Nanjing Sales Company of beer
Limited
EERELEERAT RELE AR 50,000,000 —  9025% ERRELERHE
(ILgadl)
Tsingtao Brewery (Shanghai) Shanghai, the PRC RMB50,000,000 — 90.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
of beer
EERE (B FRAA TEEE A B #20,000,000 —  8550% EREBEELERKE
(TEHLED
Tsingtao Brewery {(Wuhu) Wuhu, the PRC RMB20,000,000 — 85.50%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
of beer
EERE(FEWERDE FESEL AE 5,000,000 - 9125% EBERBEIERHE
Tsingtao Brewery (Maanshan) Maanshan, the PRC RMBS5,000,000 — 91.25%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
of beer
BERELENIERAE PELE % 7036,640,000 75% — BEARELERHKE
Tsingtao Brewery Shanghai Shanghai, the PRC US$36,640,000 75% —  Manufacturing and

Songjiang Company Limited

domestic trading
of beer
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(P EEHELBER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

BRYLAEE

Name of subsidiaries

RIRTESEHEY

Place of establishment
and principal operation

EREF

Registered capital

LN
BB (%)
Equity interest held
by the Company (%)

TEXE

Principal activities

E%RE HERs
Directly  Indirectly
held held

EEREE) ERAF REEN AR 60,606,060 99% ~ BREEIERHE
(T&xtasl)

Tsingtao Brewery (Shouguang)  Shouguang, the PRC RMB60,606,060 99% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
(“Shouguang Company”) of beer

EERAEED) BERDF PEEYS AR 5,000,000 70% — BRBBLERHEE
(TEyRal)

Tsingtao Brewery (Weifang) Weifang, the PRC RMBS5,000,000 70% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
(“Weifang Company”) of beer

ERRE(XD)FRAA PERE AR 5,000,000 95% — BEREBEEREES

Tsingtao Brewery (Anqiu) Angiu, the PRC RMB5,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EBEREZZFRAH TEYE AR #10,000,000 95% — ERREZERBE

Tsingtao Brewery No. 3 Pingdu, the PRC RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

E8RE(GM ERRF PETH AE%39,336,899 66% — EBEREELIERHE

Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) Peixian, the PRC RMB39,336,899 66% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
{“Xuzhou Company”) of beer

FEREBRMNER)ERAE  FEPH AE 5,000,000 90% — BER%ELERHE
(rgnam))

Tsingtao Brewery Pengcheng, the PRC RMB5,000,000 90% —  Manufacturing and
(Xuzhou Pengcheng) domestic trading
Company Limited of beer

BEEE (RN BRAF FEEY A% 45,000,000 85% — BERNRBRLEREE

Tsingtao Brewery (Xuecheng) Xuecheng, the PRC RMB45,000,000 85% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EEREBMERAST P AL AR 15,000,000 95% — BERSBLERHEE
(TEMDED)

Tsingtao Brewery (Tengzhou) Tengzhou, the PRC RMB15,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and

Company Limited
{"Tengzhou Company”)

domestic trading
of beer
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(RPEETEAER)  (Prepared in accordance with PRC CAAP)

BRFLAEHR RIRZREE ERER ERRMRAE TEXH
R 28 b Bl (%)
Name of subsidiaries Place of establishment Registered capital Equity interest held Principal activities
and principal operation by the Company (%)

HERE BESER
Directly Indirectly

held held

EERE(aRE)RFERAA FEERE A E#5,000,000 —  8620% BEREFRERES

Tsingtao Brewery (Taierzhuang)  Taierzhuang, the PRC RMB5,000,000 — 86.20%  Manufacturing and
Malt Company Limited domestic trading

of malt

AR=ZBREAEBERAT FELR £7028,900,000  54%(d) — EREELERES
(Tt R=F2F])

Beijing Three Ring Asia Pacific ~ Befjing, the PRC US$28,900,000 54%(d) —  Manufacturing and
Beer Company Limited domestic trading
("Beijing Three of beer
Ring Company”)

ARBEEEEREBRLT PEILR AEH862,000,000  37.64% 5% BREBEERHEE
(MERAERFE])

Beijing Five Star Tsingtao Beijing, the PRC RMB862,000,000  37.64% 25%  Manufacturing and
Brewery Company domestic trading
Limited (“Beijing Five of beer
Star Company”)

ESREENERAF FEEN #TL26,828,100 75%b)H  25%b)i) ERBREEERES
(TEM 28

Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou) Fuzhou, the PRC US$26,828,100  75% (h)(i) 25%(b)i)  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
("Fuzhou Company”) of beer

ESRE (B FRAE FEEY AE#10,000,000 95% — ERBELERHE
(TEH2=])

Tsingtao Brewery (Langfang) Langfang, the PRC RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
(“Langfang Company”) of beer

ESRERLXEREMLAR FEAZ AE®222,200,000  76.10% — BERRBLERHE
(MEZ A7)

Tsingtao Brewery Xian Company  Xian, the PRC RMB222,200,000  76.10% —  Manufacturing and
Limited {“Xian Company”) domestic trading

of beer

BEEREEEARATAT FEEE AR # 50,000,000 28%  5479% BEARELEREE

Tsingtao Brewery Weinan Weinan, the PRC RMB50,000,000 28% 54.79%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer
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(BPBEEHERER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

BRYLAEH

Name of subsidiaries

RIRTEEEHE

Place of establishment

and principal operation

gEmES

Registered capital

FREFE
BBl (%)
Equity interest held
by the Company (%)

TERH

Principal activities

EENE HEsE
Directly  Indirectly
held held

ESRE &L ERAF FEE A E#50,000,000 60% — HERBRELERHE

Tsingtao Brewery (Anshan) Anshan, the PRC RMB50,000,000 60% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of heer

EERE(BIM) ERDF FEER AR %20,000,000 95% — EHABBLERHE
(TEIH2F]

Tsingtao Brewery (Xingkaihu) Jixi, the PRC RMB20,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
{"Xingkaihu Company”) of beer

BEERE(EL)ERAF REF L AR #20,000,000 95% — HEARELERHE

Tsingtao Brewery (Mishan) Mishan, the PRC RMB20,000,000 95% ~—  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

ESRE(BAR ARAT TEBRA AE#22,000,000 95% — BEABBLIERHE

Tsingtao Brewery (Haerbin) Haerbin, the PRC RMB22,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EBERE(BR)ERAF THER AR 37,500,000 80% —~ EBEReELsERHEE
(TBR2A))

Tsingtao Brewery (Penglai) Penglai, the PRC RMB37,500,000 80% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
{“Penglai Company”) of beer

BERE(RK)FRAE TERR A #20,000,000 70% — BERRELERHE
(TRR2F))

Tsingtao Brewery (Rongcheng)  Rongcheng, the PRC RMB20,000,000 70% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
("Rongcheng Company”) of beer

BEREREELOBERAE  THESR ARH11,000000  97.73% — BHABEZZ
([REEROLF]) (b))

Tsingtao Brewery Import/Export  Qingdao, the PRC RMB11,000,000  97.73% —  Import/Export
Company Limited {b)(iii) trading of beer
(“Group Import/Export
Company”)

ESREREHERRAA TEES AR¥5,000,000 95% — HEARBES

Tsingtao Brewery Sales Qingdao, the PRC RMBS5,000,000 95% —  Domestic trading

Company Limited

of beer
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(P EET2BESR)  (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

ERFLAEH

Name of subsidiaries

RIRZREE Y

Place of establishment

and principal operation

2REX

Registered capital

ARG
B Ll (%)
Equity interest held
by the Company (%)

TEEH

Principal activities

EERE HERA
Directly  Indirectly
held held

EEEE(FR)ARAT TEES AEH34,610,000  93.79% — EREELERHE
(I$nng))

Tsingtao Brewery No. 5 Qingdao, the PRC RMB34,610,000 93.79% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
{("No. 5 Company") of beer

ERRENTERAA PEEE AEH1,320,000 100% — HRAREES

Tsingtao Brewery Kai Fa Qingdao, the PRC RMB1,320,000 100% —  Domestic trading
Company Limited of beer

EERE(FRIERRA FETR AR %5,000,000 90% — BERBBESELRHE

Tsingtao Brewery (Pingyuan) Pingyuan, the PRC RMB5,000,000 90% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EERE(RR) ER DA TEER AR #10,000,000 95% — HERNRELERHE

Tsingtao Brewery (Rizhao) Rizhao, the PRC RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EERE(CIE) ERAF TEEE AE 10,000,000 90% — HARBLIERKEE

Tsingtao Brewery (Heze) Heze, the PRC RMB10,000,000 90% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of heer

EERE(ER)ERAF THEER A& 7,000,000 95% — BRRELELRHE

Tsingtao Brewery (Chongging) ~ Chongqing, the PRC RMB7,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EBRE (M ERDA TEsM AF 10,000,000 95% — ErREELEREE

Tsingtao Brewery (Taizhou) Taizhou, the PRC RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

ERRE(EE)EZERRAR  EE 7% 500,000 100% — ERBBES
(IBERF])

Tsingtao Brewery (Hong Kong) Hong Kong HK$500,000 100% —  Trading of Tsingtao

Trading Company Limited
(“Hong Kong Company”)

beer in Hong Kong
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Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(REEEHERER

(Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

Mk 4

ERTAAER

Name of subsidiaries

BRIRETELEHE

Place of establishment
and principal operation

EMmEX

Registered capital

FREME

R (%)
Equity interest held
by the Company (%)

TRER

Principal activities

ERBE HESA
Directly  Indirectly
held held

BESRE(ET)ERAF FEET AR 29,410,000 —  5023% BEREELERES

Tsingtao Brewery (Hanzhong) Hanzhong, the PRC RMB29,410,000 — 50.23%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EERE(IMEFERAE  PEKE AR #10,000,000 —  85.82% BARFRERES

Tsingtao Brewery (Doumen) Zhuhai, the PRC RMB10,000,000 — 85.82%  Manufacturing and
Malt Company Limited domestic trading

of malt

EERE(EN) ERDE FEEN AR#111,110,000 55% — BREBLERHE
(TEMZ2E])

Tsingtao Brewery (Luzhou) Luzhou, the PRC RMB111,110,000 55% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
(“"Luzhou Company”) of beer

EERE(ER)ERAF FEER % 715,000,000 75% — ERPELERES

Tsingtao Brewery (Nanjing) Nanjing, the PRC US$$5,000,000 75% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

BEERE(FB)ERAF FEEE AE#10,000,000 95% — HBErRELERES

Tsingtao Brewery (Sugian) Sugian, the PRC RMB10,000,000 95% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

ERERRELTHERT PELR AR %29,980,000 80%  1425% BERNBREES

Tsingtao Brewery Beifang Sales  Beijing, the PRC RMB29,980,000 80% 14.25%  Domestic trading
Company Limited of beer

REERLEERBHEERR0G RHEKEE AR 10,000,000 85% 1425% EARGEES

Tsingtao Brewery Haerbin Haerbin, the PRC RMB10,000,000 85% 14.25%  Domestic trading
Northeast Sales of beer
Company Limited

BESRE (@) BRAF TEES AR%16,635,592 50%  46.90% BERBELERRS

Tsingtao Brewery (Laoshan) Qingdao, the PRC RMB16,635,592 50% 46.90%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading

of beer

EERE (BN ESHEERLE TEEM AR #500,000 — 90% EREBRES

Tsingtao Brewery (Tengzhou) Tengzhou, the PRC RMB500,000 — 90%  Domestic trading
Huaihai Sales Company of beer

Limited
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\$1°3

TEeTERR)

(Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

BRYRTER

Name of subsidiaries

RIRFTREEHE

Place of establishment

and principal operation

SEmEX

Registered capital

NG
R B(%)
Equity interest held
by the Company (%)

ERREE HREE
Directly  Indirectly
held held

IBXRH

Principal activities

EEWEHM BRRE
Tsingtao Brewery (Suzhou)
Company Limited

EEREZRMMNHERRAT

(TERAMBEE])
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong
Hangzhou Sales
Company Limited
{“Huadong Hangzhou")

EERBERHFMHEEARAA

Tsingtao Brewery Huadong
Suzhou Sales Company
Limited

EREEEREHEAR DT
Tsingtao Brewery Xinan Sales
Company Limited

EEBREBEMERLE
Tsingtao Brewery (Suizhou)
Company Limited

BBEE (KM ERAT
Tsingtao Brewery (Tianmen)
Company Limited

EERE(BM EERRDT

(TEMEED )
Tsingtao Brewery {Taizhou)
Sales Company Limited

("Taizhou Sales”)(i)

EERZESKERAR

Tsingtao Changhong Shangwu

Company Limited

BEEEAANRERDA
Tsingtao Brewery Zhaoshang
Logistic Company Limited

RELR
Taicang, the PRC

BN

Hangzhou, the PRC

5 BB
Suzhou, the PRC

= Bl A
Chengdu, the PRC

[ g
Suizhou, the PRC

B A
Tianmen, the PRC

Taizhou the PRC

REEE
Qingdao, the PRC

THES
Qingdao, the PRC

AR B5,000,000
RMB5,000,000

= %1,000,000

RMB1,000,000

A E#3,000,000
RMB3,000,000

AR 2,000,000
RMB2,000,000

ANE#24,000,000
RMB24,000,000

AE¥18,000,000
RMB18,000,000

AR ¥#6,800,000

RMB6,800,000

A& 1,000,000
RMB1,000,000

AR#2.000,000
RMB2,000,000

10% 85.50%
10% 85.50%

— 94.05%
(biii)
— 94.05%
(bii)

— 76.10%
— 76.10%

60% 30%
60% 30%

— 85.50%
— 85.50%

— 85.50%
- 85.50%

— 48.45%

— 48.45%

95% —
95% —

51% —
51% —

AEEEERES

Manufacturing and
domestic trading
of beer

BENREES

Domestic trading
of beer

NEBES
Domestic trading
of beer

REEE5
Domestic trading
of beer

ENEBEERBEE

Manufacturing and
domestic trading
of beer

ENEBLEREE

Manufacturing and
domestic trading
of beer

ERREZS

Domestic trading
of beer

REEE

Car rental services

mERBHRER
Logistic services and
management
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(EPBEEERR)
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BRFLAER

Name of subsidiaries

RIRTEREHE dmES

Place of establishment
and principal operation

Registered capital

FRAME
BELA(%)
Equity interest held
by the Company (%)

TERE

Principal activities

ERRE HEBE
Directly  Indirectly
held held
WHTESCEHEARDE  FEAM AR#1,000,000 —  9469% ERAREES
Tsingtao Brewery Chenzhou Chenzhou, the PRC RMBT,000,000 — 94.69%  Domestic trading
Sales Company Limited of beer
ESREET (H5)#ERRAG FHEY A B B2,000,000 - 9030% EREERS
Tsingtao Brewery Luzhong Weifang, the PRC RMB2,000,000 — 90.30%  Domestic trading
(Weifang) Sales Company of beer
Limited
BEERE(EF) BERAR FHES AE#10,000,000 80% — EBERBELEREE
(TEFMRED
Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen) Xiamen, the PRC RMB10,000,000 80% —  Manufacturing and
Company Limited domestic trading
(“Xiamen Company”) of beer
EERE(EM)HEARAR  FEHEM AE#1,000,000 - 40% ERNEEES
(TEFHEED 0
Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen) Xiamen, the PRC RMB1,000,000 — 40%  Domestic trading
Sales Company Limited of beer
{"Xiamen Sales")(i)
EERESLRRERAA “ERZE-J AR% 10,000,000 — 53.75%  BF - MI-EE
Tsingtao Brewery Haifeng January 2003 RMB10,000,000 - 53.75%  Warehousing,
Warehouse Company THES packaging and
Limited Qingdao, the logistics
PRC
SEREREERAA) “EEZE-R AR 1,000,000 30% 5327% BERRELEREE
Tsingtao Brewery Baoji January 2003 RMB1,000,000 30% 53.27%  Manufacturing and
Company Limited (ii) THER domestic trading

() "EBEERRREGMNHEEREMHE
MPBBEMEEHE BUBaFRERT

£

Baoji, the PRC

of beer

{i) Taizhou Sales and Xiamen Sales are consolidated as subsidiaries

of the Group as the Group has control over the financial and

operating policies of Taizhou Sales and Xiamen Sales.
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VAR ZEE=F—FE_-+8  KAoF&EH

ZRAIGERUEBREERERELL
B(IBERT)  BELANIMELAR

AE%1,000,0007T * EFAQFAREH
ZARM®300,0007T - EEERAEMESR
B30% BARAANREEEARE
700,0007C * G EH QR FMERH70% °

A RAE-E=-ArE-—BEEERH
ERARI([BERDE)R_FZEZF—R
Ei—HELR AEBRABERRY
BELINE2AEEATHEREFRHEE
TEEQRAINREREEEEK  WHME
EETIFEELR - BERAERTEES
MAaEmMEREREERBREIEED
SEMR -

b) ARFMAFBUTERFATMNEERE
EWFE BT
(i) R2FE=F—-F—-8 KRFZER

FRAILBREEERER LERERN
M & 10%2 B HE D BIIAA R B 300,000 &
ARR100,000TBETS R FLRE
HRE c RARBEZESAQAHER L
BRERAM 2 BEERTE94.53%H D
£94.05% °

(i) RZEE=F—F+=Z8B  XRREE
EBORFNELABRAA ((ERE
B ERBE - A AR 40,000,000
TBARERBMAREEN24%5E « K
RR 5% AREERBMNDBIFHERE
S51%EMET5% °

(ii) On 20th January, 2003, the Company and Xian Company, a
subsidiary, jointly invested in a newly incorporated company, namely
Tsingtac Brewery Baoji Company Limited {“Baoji Company”), with
an authorised capital amounting to RMB1,000,000. The Company
injected cash capital of RMB300,000, which accounted for 30% of
the total authorised capital while Xian Company injected cash capital
of RMB700,000, which accounted for the remaining 70% of the

total authorised capital.

Xian Company and a third party company, Baoji Brewery Company
Limited (“Baoji Brewery Company”), entered into a lease agreement
in January 2003, pursuant to which Baoji Brewery Company leases
all its operating fixed assets and seconds its employees to Baoji
Company for the beer production business without any lease rental
consideration. During the lease term, Baoji Company bears all the

operating costs relating to the leased assets and employees.

{b) In current year, there were changes in the equity interests of the

following subsidiaries held by the Company:

(i) On 1st January, 2003, Shanghai Company, a subsidiary of the
Company, transferred 10% of each of its shareholdings in Huadong
Shanghai and Huadong Hangzhou to Wuhu Company, a subsidiary
of the Company, at cash considerations of RMB300,000 and
RMB100,000, respectively. Such transactions have decreased the
indirect shareholdings of the Company in Huadong Shanghai and
Huadong Hangzhou from 94.53% to 94.05% each.

(ii) On 13th January, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement
with Fujian Brewery (Singapore) Pte Limited (“Fujian Brewery”) to
acquire an additional 24% equity interest in Tsingtao Brewery
(Fuzhou) Company Limited (“Fuzhou Company”) at a cash
After the

transaction, the effective ownership percentage held by the Company

consideration of approximately RMB40,000,000.

in Fuzhou Company increased from 51% to 75%.
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(Prepared in accordance with PRC CAAP)

F0 RIBE=ZF+/TNAB ED
BB FARERRABRBERE
KWEE o AR 41,667,000 BAE
EMQE%T%H%%%oK&x%@'
BNABRIKAARRRAIZ2EER TR
ARRMERBMAR Z RS ﬂ%m%
EREERSLEEES -

mIEMEENREEEFRMT12:

(VR _EE=ZFLAZ+—-B  £28R
EERTLAFAEEELORFIEEARE
6,000,0007T « B IESEBEL QLT
ZHMEAREZEE AK® 11,000,000 ° A
B ARAMEEEELORAREMRELET
A 95%IE MNZE97.73% °

(VVRZZE=ZF+ZANE R8T H
EEEE(RE)BRAFTRERFDE

EERBRMEESERDE ([HIMH
E]) ARERERERAREMBEES
A 595.22% % 95% 2 A o

In addition, on 18th December, 2003, Hong Kong Company, a
subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with Fujian
Brewery to acquire the remaining 25% equity interest in Fuzhou
Company at a cash consideration of approximately RMB41,667,000.
After the transaction, Fuzhou Company became a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, with a direct equity interest of 75% and

indirect equity interest of 25%, respectively.

Investment difference arising from these acquisitions is detailed in
Note 12,

{iii) On 21st July, 2003,
RMB6,000,000 into Group Import/Export Company and its registered

the Company injected capital of

capital was also increased to RMB11,000,000. The shareholding of
the Company in Group Import/Export Company increased from 95%
to 97.73% accordingly.

(iv)On 9th December, 2003, the Company dissolved Tsingtao
Brewery Wuhan Company Limited (“Wuhan Company”) and Tsingtao
Brewery Fuzhou Sales Company Limited (“Fuzhou Sales Company”).
Wuhan Company and Fuzhou Sales Company were originally
95.22% and 95%, respectively, held by the Company.
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(P EgEBIRE) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

) RZEZT=F+-A=+—H  T*&£E
MEIBBRLLAEHRDOT

(c) As at 31st December, 2003, particulars of the principal associated

companies of the Group are as follows:

BEQTER dMREE ImEx FEERE IERE FERREBE
BEnk B F (%)
Name of associated Place of Registered Equity Principal Ending net
companies establishment capital Interest held activities investment cost
and principal By the Group (%)
operation
ERSE EEEsR
directly indirectly
held held
SERERMERLE  FEHNM AR 5,000,000 20% — BEREEREERE -
Tsingtao Brewery Yangzhou, RMBS5,000,000 20% — Manufacturing and —
{Yangzhou) the PRC domestic trading
Company Limited of beer
EBERBEHNAYM TEES A K 70,000,000 — 37.52%  EREER ARH15,750,359
ARDE HERRA
Tsingtao Beer and Qingdao, RMB70,000,000 — 37.52% Manufacturing and RMB15,750,359
Asahi Berverage the PRC domestic trading

Company Limited

EEREEEERL

ERLE]

Liaoling Shenging
Tsingtao Brewery
Sales Company
Limited

BELENEEE

AR RRBRBOEER

() RZZT-F+—F - AQFENER
EVCR¥BER LT (ATERIEVGRE])
B TRESEZRE([EERE]) VG
LEAEBARRRBENLAZRAF
5% BRE  BE_ET=F+FR=T
—H BBREFEARWE - FEESHRE
KMUARQREHILRZ R DA 54%E

RRRGBE -

# REREB

AR #2,000,000

Shenyang, RMB2,000,000
the PRC
RERUAERRAR

EELE

30%

30%

of beverages
BRREES

Domestic trading
of beer

AEE712,156

RMB712,156

The operating results of the above associated companies have been

included in the accounts of the Group and the Company using the

equity method.

interest held in the Company.

(d) In November 2001, the Company entered into an equity transfer
agreement (“Transfer Agreement”) with Canada EVG Enterprises Inc
(“EVG"), pursuant to which EVG will acquire 25% equity interest in
Beijing Three Ring Company owned by the Company. As at 31st
December, 2003, the consideration had not yet settled and the
Company continued to account for the results of Beijing Three Ring

Company in its consolidated accounts based on its 54% equity
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RZZETWNE A - ARARHEEVCR A #
BREERE AN AQRAEFERAAE
ET%%E% CBEREZETEVCRAANILAS=

N E25%M) AR LA 850,000 TEEHLE
% fle BRAR G FRESHEMAH
BE - BRIEEEE FAEEGLERZER
BE R AL =N

) RZZEE-F+—F EZEEREERY
BiE(HEHB)ARAAETRERES
B BALREHEARE96,000,0007T 8
EERENEREEERBRERR DA
0% THEAEERE(BE)S
RAGI(THEERR) EEOREHEF
ER_BEENEF—ARK -HE-FET
F+ZR=+—-HL ARFEEHTE
RAPBNBLEREHNRBEEAZE A
WIRARZRETUALR -

) RZET_F  AXENEHEHER
BELIESFERELSHEHARRBARIHS
SEELHEAROE - LAMEERTFL
FRIER-_ET_FEREH EREAA
“EEZFAHERRN -

e
|
Hi

“EE-F AEEHRUMBHER
TRE DASEEREERARBAD
RIREREBRSEERARLF LB
RAFEFETHE -

o

n

[n February 2004, the Company entered into another agreement
with EVG to cancel Transfer Agreement. Besides, the Company and
Hong Kong Company reached an equity transfer agreement in which
the Company will transfer a 25% equity interest in Beijing Three
Ring to Hong Kong Company at a consideration of US$850,000.
This transaction is still awaiting for the approval of relevant PRC
government authorities. After this transaction, the effective interest

remains unchanged.

(e} In November 2001, Huanan Holding Company and Tailian
Brewery (Cayman Islands) Company Limited (“Tailian Brewery”)
signed an equity transfer agreement, pursuant to which the Company
would acquire 30% equity interest in Guangxi Nanning Wan Tai
Brewery Company Limited (Nanning Brewery) from Tailian Brewery
at a consideration of RMB96,000,000. The name of Nanning Brewery
will also be changed to Tsingtao Beer (Nanning) Company Limited
(“Nanning Company”) afterwards. The legal procedures in relation
to this acquisition were completed subsequently in January 2004,
As at 31st December, 2003, the Group exercised no significant
influence in the financial and operating policies on Nanning

Company and did not account for this investment accordingly.

(f) In 2002, the consolidated accounts of the Group included
Shanghai Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company Limited and Jiangsu
Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company Limited. These two subsidiaries

were dissolved during 2002 and are not consolidated in 2003.

[n 2003, the Group established two new subsidiaries, Tsingtao
Brewery Baoji Company Limited and Tsingtao Brewery Haifeng
Warehouse Company Limited and are consolidated in the accounts

in current year.



I v N ANNUAL REPORT 2003

AR E ()

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(ErEETEIEH)

[Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

5. BB ES 5. CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS
@@ & (a) Group
“88=%t-h=1-8 “EE-E+Zf=+-8
31st December, 2003 31st December, 2002
FHESE FEER FOARE RYESE WEER FAARE
Foreign  Exchange RMB Foreign  Exchange RMB
currency Rate equivalents  currency rate  equivalents
balance balance
AE¥R2 Cash — RMB 1,953,642 2,472,224
ANEBBEHER Bank deposits — RMB 889,531,221 825,140,895
g Subtotal 891,484,863 827,613,119
HERR Foreign currency Deposits
— %% — Us$ 4,965,005 8.277 41,094,545 3,206,774 8.277 26,544,044
— & — HK$ 301,212 1.066 321,000 201,338 1061 213,640
FEREA Total cash and bank deposits 932,900,408 854,370,803
(b) 2 7] (b) Company
“EEZE+Z/Z1-H ZEE-F+ZAZ+-H
31st December, 2003 31st December, 2002
FEESE FEEZ FEAR%E FYESE HFEEZX FAEARK
Foreign  Exchange RMB Foreign  Exchange RMB
currency Rate equivalents  currency rate  equivalents
halance batance
AEEHE Cash — RMB 815,229 994,212
ARERNER Bank deposits — RMB 217,644,766 254,467,422
1N Subtotal 218,459,995 255,461,634
WEER Foreign currency deposits
— %3 — Us§ 4,751,007 8.277 39,323,257 2,923,001 8.277 24,194,572
— AT — HK$ 39,888 1.066 42,508 —
EEEeEH Total cash and bank deposits 257,825,760 279,656,206
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OTRREERERNREBE (c) Cash and cash equivalents shown in the cashflow statements
include:
Group Company
—BTZF ZEFCF —2%=% —ERIF

+=A=t-B +t-A=+-3 +=A=t-8 +-A=t-8

31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,

2003 2002 2003 2002
ARH AEE ARH ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
S%ES Cash and bank deposits 932,900,408 854,370,803 257,825,760 279,656,206
W =AM E®  Less: Fixed deposits with  (12,015,816) (29,000,000) — (29,000,000

THEX terms over

three months
ZEIR & 1 Restricted bank (83,134,965) (63,204,739) (28,000,000) —
FOER deposits

837,749,627 762,166,064 229,825,760 250,656,206

(d) ZERENBEATREERAEB AR (d) Restricted bank deposits are pledged deposits required to obtain
BT

BRTEZERTHEABRITAZIE- trade finance facilities from the banks.
6. BURE 6. BILLS RECEIVABLE
%M AF
Group Company
—BE=E ZEFC —EE=HF —_EZ i

lll

+=B=+-8 +ZE=t-B +ZAS+-8 +ZA=+

31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,

2003 2002 2003 2002
ARHE AR ARY ARE

RMB RMB RMB RMB

BEERLEE Commercial bilis - 165,000 - 9,000,000
RITEHEESE Bank drafts 50,883,184 65,734,125 5,454,500 62,100,000
50,883,184 65,899,125 5,454,500 71,100,000

MWERREZHERESH - The bills receivable are all unsecured and they are not pledged for

any banking facilities.
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7. EMERERIBERER 7. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND LONG TERM ACCOUNTS
RECEIVABLE
£H NG
Group Company
—EBZE —EEC_F —BECZF —EE

+=ZA=z+-8 +ZA=Z=+-8 +=ZA=+-B +Z-A=Z+—8

31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,

2003 2002 2003 2002

AR# AR ARH ARH

RMB RMB RMB RMB

ERERR Accounts receivable 363,651,899 390,797,788 308,783,195 331,253,400
RERUWERR and long-term

accounts receivable

HBERER Less: Provision for (144,639,318) (159,267,912 (81,066,480) (91,748,553)

bad debts

219,012,581 231,529,876 227,716,715 239,504,847

FURERRRABRKERDERE SN The aging analysis of accounts receivable and long term accounts

T receivable is as follows:

(a) Group
Z88Z81CAZ1-E “ERCEF-R=+-H
31st December, 2003 31st December, 2002

£ 4 Bt EEEE DHEHRA 2F Bifk  RERE DHRLA
Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision
bad debts  percentage bad debts  percentage

AE® ARE ARE AEF
RMB (%) RMB (%) RMB (%] RMB (%)
—E 57 Within one year 128,795,973 35.42%  (2,599,211) 2.02% 125,195,693 32.04% 14,912,193 3.92%
—ESRCE Within one to two vears 42,273,098 11.62% (12,591,434) 29.79% 56,665,486 14.50% (12,060 933) 21.28%
TESRZE Within two to three years 28,272,347 7.77% (19,311,432) 68.31% 19,219,656 4.92% (17,325,301) 90.14%
=ZENE Over three years 164,310,481 45.19% (110,137,241} 67.03% 189,716,953 48.54% (124,969,485) 65.87%

Chi Total 363,651,899 100.00% (144,639,318) 39.77% 390,797,788 100.00% (159,267,912) 40.75%
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RZBE=F+-A=+—0 FEEEK
BRARHERERILIASESHDAA
E%u3m3omm&_77_¢+ A=+
—H : AR®126,545,0007T)  {EEUERR
REHEWERCITN4% (2T F+
ZAZ+—832%) °

AREREFERBEETRRBEYE
REEEFTIHEBEE TR RO BERER
EHEHARE27,131,000n (ZEF &
AR #63,691,0007T) ©

As at 31st December, 2003, the aggregate amount of the Group’s
five largest accounts receivable and long-term accounts receivable
balances was approximately RMB123,213,000 (31st December,
2002: RMB126,545,000), being 34% (31st December, 2002: 32%)
of the total accounts receivable and long-term accounts receivable

balances.

During the year, the Group wrote off uncollectible accounts
receivable and long-term accounts receivable from the provision
for bad debts amounting to approximately RMB27,131,000 (2002:
RMB63,691,000).

(b) 28 (b) Company
CER=E+CAZ1-H IBRIEYIAZY-R
31st December, 2003 315t December, 2002

&5 Bttt REBEER CHRRLH EE Bl REREE BEAR
Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision
bad debts  percentage bad debis  percentage

AR# ARE ARE ARE
RMB (%) RMB (%) RMB (%) RMB (%)
—E0R Within one year 144,130,872 46.68%  (1,400,839) 0.97% 131,063,361 39.57%  (2,595,385) 1.98%
~ESRIE  Within one to two years 29,827,429 9.66%  (6,378,960)  21.39% 47,579,032 1436%  (7538,671)  15.84%
ZERSR=F Within two to three years 18,646,014 6.04% (11,010,959) 59.05% 6,902,579 2.08%  {6,561,987) 95.07%
ZENE Over three years 116,178,880 37.62% (62,275,722) 53.60% 145,708,228 43.99% (75,052,510) 51.51%
Eh Total 308,783,195 100.06% (81,066,480) 26.25% 331,253,400 100.00% (91,748,553} 27.70%

RZBE=F+-A=+—0 KRAE
WERRRABRKERAAZ2EATH
BAR®185,203,000 (ZEF_F+=
AzZ+-—8: AR%121,285000L) 14
BERERRRBEBERETH60%(ZF
TZF+ZAZ+—H :37%) o

EREIRAFHRBREFRROBEUER

REBTHEETTEDUNBRERS
,\,ME%mz%oooE(_??_i A
R #33,588,0007C) °

As at 31st December, 2003, the Company's five largest accounts
receivable and long-term accounts receivable balances amounted
to approximately RMB185,203,000 {31st December, 2002:
RMB121,285,000), being 60% (31st December, 2002: 37%) of the
total accounts receivable and long-term accounts receivable

balances.

During the period, the Company wrote off uncollectible accounts
receivable and long-term accounts receivable from the provision
for bad debts amounting to approximately RMB18,246,000 (2002:
RMB33,588,000).
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RNZBFZF+_R=+—H L5ER
ARBINERERRRBEEESRS 5
BERFARES%(E5%) M ERAERD K
RRHEK -

0 RZTZE—5F FAEERALFH—
E2EFR—BBEL(GBIRFAD #E
A AKR®105,000,000 8 ERER([X
FOENERGE BEEERERET
FER_TE-_F—F—BEENENH
GEEERY - RAEE  ARADKE
FEEBERAFQRFEREF-_HARSE
10,000,000y R« B - ARE
4,900,000 RBREOHX  EHARE
5,100,000 IABERMELATRERNE
ENEBETAARERBER -BE-%
Z=F+ZA=+—-8lL BHREF—&F
BEARY4,300,000TNELEYNEGE
BEEAREL REARES5700,0007TTE
EMBRRDHGR R _BT=F+-fA=
T—B BERAEBHREINEHRER -
BRENHARBE 1430000 RARE
53,808,000 A RIEARAIREAKREHNE
ERERTPREUERREMREERER
ARE - EEREEEERRFHRNAR
HER (M E34) -

As at 31st December, 2003, the Group and the Company had no
accounts receivable and long-term accounts receivable balances
owed from parties who own 5% or above shareholdings in the

Company.

(c) The Company reached a settlement agreement with a customer
and a related company (collectively “the Debtors”) in 2001 in
connection with an aggregate outstanding receivable balance of
RMB105,000,000 ("the Debts”). Pursuant to the agreement, the Debts
are repayable in eight annual installments, commencing from Tst
January, 2002. During the year, the Debtors repaid to the Company
the second installment of the Debts of RMB10,000,000 as stipulated
in the repayment schedule. Out of such amount, RMB4,900,000
was settled in cash while the remaining RMB5,100,000 was settled
by means of the transfer of ownership of two buildings located in
the PRC. As at 31st December, 2003, the transfer of the title of one
building amounting to RMB4,300,000 was still in progress and
therefore, only RMB5,700,000 was deducted from outstanding
balance of the Debts. As at 31st December, 2003, provision for
doubtful debts had been provided for part of the balance. The
remaining outstanding balances of the Debts of RMB14,300,000
and RMB53,808,000 were recorded as accounts receivable and long-
term receivable balance, according to the expected repayment
schedule, in both the balance sheets of the Company and the Group.
Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited, a related company, has
undertaken to guarantee the repayment of the outstanding balance

(note 34(a)).
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AN e T

Akt

8. B W

8. OTHER RECEIVABLES

+=A=t~8 +2F=t-8

L
Company
= g2z  -FT-%

+tZA=+t-8 +ZA=+—*H

31st December,

31st December,

31st December,

31st December,

2003 2002 2003 2002
ARK ARE AR#¥ AR
RMB RMB RMB RMB
EWERFAORZK  Due from subsidiaries — — 219,590,544 494,184,883
El g L NETEN Due from associated
companies —_ 6,544 —_ 6,544
P AT A B R 3R Due from related 45,107,633 47,713,789 27,145,973 42,658,622
companies
B b st Others 316,879,075 146,286,942 35,986,461 40,347,782
&5t Total 361,986,708 294,007,275 282,722,978 577,197,831
B REBEE Provision for bad debts (54,319,553) (52,784,716) (32,414,087) (33,697,080)
307,667,155 241,222,559 250,308,891 543,500,751
Rt BUReRESITAT The aging analysis of other receivables is as follows:
@ &R (a) Group
ZZZZfTZA=+-1 Z¥EZETZAZ+-8
31st December, 2003 31st December, 2002
28 Bk EEEE CHRELE e Bfpit BEREEE BHELH
Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision
bad debts  percentage bad debts  percentage
ARH ARE ARE AR#
RMB (%) RMB (%) RmB {%) RMB (%)
—FHUR Within one vear 228,986,949 63.25%  (2,247,352) 0.98% 84,015,583 28.58%  (1,965,365) 2.34%
—ELRCE Within one to two years 55,260,608 15.27%  (3,268,823) 5.92% 134,380,896 45.70%  (8,049,948) 5.99%
IELREE Within two to three years 38,041,855 10.51% (11,479,889) 30.18% 37,797,353 12.86% (22,963,812) 60.76%
ZEYLE Over three years 39,697,296 10.97% (37,323,489) 94.02% 37,813,443 12.86% (19,805,591) 52.38%
=H) Total 361,986,708 100.00% (54,319,553) 15.01% 294,007,275 100.00% (52,784,716) 17.95%

14
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MRZTE=FE+ZA=+—8  HMEWR Asat31st December, 2003, the Group's five largest other receivables
PR EEeEAHORBARK143,265291  balances amounted to approximately RMB143,265,291 (31st
T(ZTEZF+ZR=+—B: AR®% December, 2002: RMB106,763,000), being 40% (31st December,
106,763,0007T) * 5 AL EUEHI40% (= 2002: 36%) of the total balance.
TE-ZFFA=F—F 36%) °
(b) &5 (b) Company
ZBBZEtZfA=t-8 “E3IE+-EZ+-8
31st December, 2003 31st December, 2002
+E Bttt BEREE CHELS 8 Bk EEER 2HELH
Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision Amount  Percentage Provision for  Provision
bad debts  percentage bad debts  percentage
ARE ARE ARE AR
RMB (%) RMB (%) RMB (%) RMB (%)
—5UA Within one year 60,351,112 21.35% (31,092) 0.05% 292,210,659 50.63% — -
—EHRCE Within one to two years 173,499,340 61.36% (53,713) 0.03% 152,142,136 26.36%  (5,643,697) 3.70%
TESRZE Within two to three years 25,276,388 8.94%  (8,907,428)  33.24% 71,557,707 12.40% (17,609,375)  24.60%
“ERE Over three years 23,596,138 8.35% (23,421,854)  99.26% 61,267,329 1061% (10,444,008)  17.04%
ait Total 282,722,978 100.00% (32,414,087)  11.46% 577,197,831 100.00% (33,697,080) 5.84%
RZZEE=F+_A=+—H HM@ER As at 31st December, 2003, the Company’s five largest other
HAAEEBWATHAARMK245884,000 receivables balances amounted to approximately RMB245,884,000
T(ZEZ2ZF+ZA=+—H: AR® (31st December, 2002: RMB358,784,000), being 87% (31st
358,784,0007T) E,HWEH&TAE%M( December, 2002: 62%) of the total other receivables balance.
TE-FEFA=+—8:62%) °
ZREEBE—EZEMNEMBKFEPEESE  Included in the Company’s other receivables balance which, aged

AEKERFLARANEEESER - K
RIEZREERFARNEEERE -
RERYEHSBITRENERES -

from one to three years, were mainly loans made to subsidiaries for
financing their working capital. The Company considered that no
provision for doubtful debts was necessary after taking into account

the operating results of the subsidiaries.

R-FF=F+-A=+-8 FKER
KRR ERERHRS - HEHFRD 5%
(85%) U EERBROORERY -

The Group and the Company had no other receivable balances due

from parties who own 5% or above shareholdings in the Company.
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9. AR 9. PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS

BHRROERAIFOT

The aging analysis of prepayments and deposits is as follows:

() &H (a) Group
—BE¥=5t+zZA=t-H —EE-F+-A=+-—8
31st December, 2003 31st December, 2002
T8 B K (%) T8 B (%)
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
AR®E ARE
RMB RMB
—FELR Less than one year 133,152,529 99.11% 168,269,160 98.85%
—ELR=-E Within one to two vears 1,002,165 0.75% 1,323,869 0.78%
TELRZF Within two to three years 104,559 0.08% 395,491 0.23%
ZERE Over three years 90,077 0.06% 240,876 0.14%
&t Total 134,349,330 100.00% 170,229,496 100.00%
(b) 27 (b) Company
—BE=f¥+t-A=+-H “EE-F#+-A=+-8
31st December, 2003 31st December, 2002
A BT L (%) ik B 17 L (%)
Amount Percentage Amount Percentage
AR% ARE
RMB RMB
—E AR Less than one year 16,793,506 100% 25,486,723 99.23%
—ELR-F Within one to two years — — 4,846 0.02%
—ELREZF Within two to three years — - - —
=E0E Over three years — — 192,785 0.75%
GE Total 16,793,506 100% 25,684,354 100.00%

R-ETZF+ZA=+—-8 REEEK
ARBMBENREAT  BERARF %

be]

(&5

&
<

VA ERRERMDOBRRRL

FEERRBE-FNRNFEIZAER

XHES -

The Group and the Company have no prepayments and deposits

balances which was made to parties who own 5% or above

shareholdings in the Company.

Prepayment and deposits balance of the Group aged over one year

was mainly deposits paid for materials purchases.
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10.5& 10. INVENTORIES
58 N
Group ’ Company
—EE=H —EECF —EZ=H —EE-F
+=-B=+-B +ZA=+—-8B +=ZA=+—-H +ZHA=Z+—H
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR¥ AR AR¥% ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
R Raw materials 425,140,694 365,491,380 134,133,346 121,295,647
R2E3) Packaging materials 353,727,924 327,321,179 12,077,263 16,487,293
KESER Low-value consumables 251,178,676 264,275,257 34,124,005 35,280,800
L@ B and auxiliary materials
EENIME Materials on consignment 6,859,009 9,868,109 3,785,599 885,844
EER Work-in-progress 128,849,769 127,162,892 28,994,890 34,838,876
ER G Finished goods 164,877,217 154,335,103 65,660,624 61,668,876
B Total 1,330,633,289  1,248,453,920 278,775,727 270,457,336
GFELBEE Less: Provision for (25,130,185) (24,646,812) (1,022,238) {1,022,238)
realization loss

1,305,503,104  1,223,807,108 277,753,489 269,435,098

FERKEEENHSFNOT

Provision for realization loss of inventories is analysed as follows:

ENEH KELM KE DG EXE
Beginning Additions Write off End of year
AR¥ AR# AR AR®
RMB RMB RMB RMB
£ Group

R E Raw materials 1,562,106 1,643,043 (399,971) 2,805,178
ERX S Finished goods 9,437,342 196,825 (584,587) 9,049,580
H 4 Others 13,647,364 710,260 (1,082,197) 13,275,427
& &t Total 24,646,812 2,550,128 (2,066,755) 25,130,185

YNl Company
E R Raw materials 1,022,238 — — 1,022,238
&t Total 1,022,238 — — 1,022,238
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BREEERER  2HAMHEEBE  Provision for realisation loss is made based on the excess of original
FEEBBRERKAZERE  EFERAE  costs of inventories over their net realisable value when inventories

SRAEEFEYN  BUERZEENT  are damaged, becoming wholly or partially obsolete, or when their
ERABNIEREFEREES - selling prices are lower than their costs.
1M.58ER 11. DEFERRED EXPENSES
IR RELM REHH EXY ERZERE
Beginning Additions  Amortisation End of year Reasons for the
of year for the year balance retained
at year end
AR ARE AR AR%
RMB RMB RMB RMB
E! Group
R E Insurance 5,749,297 15,144,147 (13,066,810 7,826,634 HAEBIETE
Not yet fully amortised
EEE Advertising 3,542,306 9,188,538 (9,304,371) 3,426,473 HMABETE
Not yet fully amortised
FEMEE Rentl 520,252 3,885,637 (3,420,082) 985,807 MARBETE
Not vet fully amortised
=i} Others 3,937,170 36,714,427  (38,767,116) 1,884,487 WAREHTE
Not yet fully amortised
&t Total 13,749,025 64,932,749 (64,558,379) 14,123,395
oA Company
RBE Insurance 3,479,458 7,111,186 (5,613,172) 4,977,472 WABETE
Not yet fully amortised
EEE Advertising —_ 6,847,847 (6,847,847) —
FEEEE Rental 151,099 1,117,303 (820,852) 447,550 MABHETE
Not yet fully amortised
Hitb Others — 7,776,436 (7,538,978) 237,458 MABETE

Not vet fully amortised

&E Total 3,630,557 22,852,772 (20,820,849) 5,662,480
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NR.EYRERE 12. LONG-TERM EQUITY INVESTMENTS

£5

Group
—BE=H§ —EEF
+=-B=+-H +-A=+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002
ABR¥ ARE
RMB RMB
BEREESRE (3)  Investments in associated companies (ii) 21,202,259 28,452,992
B E (i) Other equity investments (iii) 25,837,109 25,711,604
REREREEE Provision for impairment loss (7,054,780) (4,061,918)
NEF Sub-total 39,984,588 50,102,678
SeHEE (Waiv) Consolidation differences (iv) (99,419,846) (170,260,358)
BT Total (59,435,258) (120,157,680)

Company
—EE=H§ —EEZE
+-E=+-8H +ZA=1+—H
31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002
ARB% ARE
RMB RMB
(K1 8%40)
(Note 40)
WERERF AR (A5 Investments in subsidiaries (i) 1,687,466,851 1,722,465,835
WEREE R E (B5E0)  Investments in associated companies (i) 5,449,854 5,319,518
H iR E®RE (M i) Other equity investments (iii) 17,969,562 17,969,562
EHREAEER Provision for impairment loss (2,992,862) —
IEF Sub-total 1,707,893,405 1,745,754,915
BEREET (FFiv) Investment differences (iv) (78,447,024) (118,247,244)

at

Total

1,629,446,381

1,627,507,671
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(BPEEHEBHEE) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

() RAFEBESRERENRERZAME O The details of equity investments accounted for by the equity method are as
T follows:

BEFL3 BLER HukE BRRE  -B3I% NHEFESE  -98:% 33 P:3:3 EH - L
ARBAE FERRAE ARER BREH BEEE  RERRE
(BEE)
Name of investees Year of Initial ~ Additional 2002 total  Prioryear 2002 total  Changes in Dividends ~ Cumulative 2003 fotal
commencement  investment  investment investment  adjustments investment equily received  changesin  investment
and cessation (restated) interests during equity
during the years interests
the year
ARE ARE AEE Y14 ARE AEE ARE AEE NEE
M8 RMB RMB M8 RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
(fiEam
[Note 40)
FRUEE Tsingtao Brewery 2000 287233333 — 189,776,100 — 289,776,100 3,848,466 - 6,391,231 293,624,566
{EERT) Shanghai Songjiang

ERLE Company Limited

FEEE(ER) Tsingiao Brewery Yian 1996 109618397 63287554 216006331 76,100,000 292,106,331 49374290 (761000000 92474670 263,380,621

BRAE Company Limited

55838 Shenzhen Tsingtao Brevery 2001 190,000,000 — IAATLITS 44630000 29221175 30221739 (446500000 14792914 204792914

E3(28H) Huanan Holding

ARLE Company Limited

RiEB%EER Shenzhen Tsingiao Bees 1997 126,746,680 —  1487L76¢ 40290000 175,162,764 30689633  (40290,000) 38815717 165,361,397

ERLE Asahi Company Limited

ANEEREEE Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery 1999 19,000,000 — 76315438 19,000,000 95,315,438 55,535,809 (19,000,000 112,831,247 131,851,247

BRLE Sales Company Limited

EEE Tsingtao Brewery No. 5 2000 37,623,391 - 37,0094 — 200964 12,569,006 — 3164579 69,789,970

5R Company Limited

EBRE Tsingtao Brewery 001 60851224 15,606,992 37,688,184 — 3768184 14,799,473 — (4970559 52,487,657

ERA (Fuzhou) Company Limited

EBR Tsingtao Brewery (Haerbin) 2000 24770378 58,000000 60,092,391 — 50092391 (9,962,281) — (32640268 30,130,110
Company Limited

ESEE(EN Tsingtao Brewery (tuzhou) 2000 61,110,000 — 48634976 — 48,634,976 353,112 — (1919912 49,190,088

ARLT Company Limited

LEZREAZE Beijing Three Rings Asia 001 37,561,361 - 1A — 18427012 (3178310) — 223128660 15,248,693

BR2E Pacific Beer Company Limited

4 Others 1993 361323728 420087418 428,820,500 — OBBI0500 (39,411,914 — (392,202,360} 389,408,386

At Total 1,315,840.694 558,181,964 1,542,425,835 180,040,000 1722,465,835 145,041,016 (180,040,000 (186,535,807) 1,687,466,831

MBI FERBAE(LE ST EINEESBE  The prior year adjustment was the adjustment made on dividends
FHBEZBEQMEF)YHEEHEEESD  proposed and distributed after accounting year end as a result of
BRAMELOAE - it REBRZEALD  the adoption of the Accounting Standards for business Enterprises
AMREEREAFEERNRS — Cai hui [2003] Number 12 “Events After the Balance Sheet Date

(2003) revised”. In addition, there are no material restrictions on

realisation of investments held by the Group and the Company.
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(EREEHEARSE)  (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

(i) AEERALDBIN T BB L QA RE

(i) The Group’s and the Campany’s main investments in associates

REWT are as follows:
BEQH FN8 FEREEN G EXRE
Name of investees Balance as at Increase/ Balance as at
beginning of year (decrease) in year end
equity during
the year
AR ARE ARH
RMB RMB RMB
MEREERF Canada Qinghua Company 2,077,625 — 2,077,625
it Others 3,241,893 130,336 3,372,229
NI ¥ Company total 5,319,518 130,336 5,449,854
%ﬂﬁlmﬂ B & Tsingtao Beer and Asahi 23,131,428 (7,381,069) 15,750,359
AR Beverage Company Limited
it Others 2,046 — 2,046
EEAG Group total 28,452,992 (7,250,733) 21,202,259
(i) Ef iR ERE (ili) Other equity investments
“EE=f+ZA=Z+—-H
31st December, 2003
RRERNAER REGH ERREAR
EMEFLA
Name of investees Investment Proportion of
amount interests held
by the Company
to the registered
capital of the
investees
ARH
RMB (%)
TEERAEERERE Shanghai International Ming Jiu Development Corporation 7,000,000 17.5%
f(‘*ﬂ?ﬁ%@ 7 (a) Tianjin Lianying Corporation (a) 4,884,300 60%
EERBEEZY Tsingtao Yingxiao Club 3,985,261 25%
E# Others 2,100,001
NAAE Company total 17,969,562 17%
EELEELE Guangxi Bei Hai Real Estate 3,610,000
Hil Others 4,257,547
EEAH Group total 25,837,109

(a) "ERERBREXAEATZERZRED
A RS R

(a) The Group does not exercise substantial influence over the

financial and operating policies of Tianjin Lianying Corporation.
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(RPBEETEABHE)  (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

(VAEEERADBNTIESHEBE/ME  (iv) The details of the consolidated differences/investment differences

REZBOT : are as follows:
BRYAH FEERE NKeE FUEE XEEM EEBHE EXEH
Name of Investees Reason of Initial Beginning  Additions in  Amortization Unamortized
formation  investment Balance  current year of current year Balance
EERELENIT  Tsingtao Brewery W (133,483,335) (105,581,641} — 13,348,333 (92,233,308)
AR AT Shanghai Songjiang ~ Acquisitions
Company Limited
EZEEER2E  Beijing Five Star KB (54,539,713)  (45,449,761) — 5,453,971  (39,995,790)
Company Limited Acquisitions
IER=ZRARNF  Beijing Three Rings Y 49,085,564 41,071,303 —  (4,928,556) 36,142,747
Company Limited Acquisitions
BNAT Fuzhou Company WEE 64192777 35321666 23,437,009  (6,028,651) 52,730,014
Acquisitions
B Others H#  (84,810,564) (43,608,811 — 8,518,124  (35,090,687)
Acquisitions
REEGT Company total (159,355,271) (118,247,244) 23,437,009 16,363,211  (78,447,024)
EENEE Indirectly-held (44,600,685) (52,013,114} 24,269,122 6,771,170  (20,972,822)
ERFLA subsidiaries of the Graup

E8L Group Total {203,955,956) (170,260,358} 47,706,131 23,134,381  (99,419,846)

ARERADEHNSHESE REREE  The consolidation differences/investment differences of the Group
BARTEUNEREEH - and the Company are amortised over 10 vears based on the straight

line method.
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(BEFEEHERNELR

(Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

1BEEEE 13. FIXED ASSETS
BETEEBENEHRT The movements of fixed assets are as follows:
(a) EE (a) Group
ZET-EF
—BBZf+ZA=T-H +-ZR=t-H
31st December, 2003 31st December,
2002
TERE - BEDHE ERSHE HiRE #5t i
EEREEY
Land use Plant and Motor Equipment Total Total
right and machinery vehicles
Building
EE Original cost
E9E Beginning of year 2,650,470,907  5,028,556,782 405,582,268 206,891,452  8,291,501,409 7,784,843,365
AV R L Effect on establishment/
FREZEE acquisition of subsidiaries — - - — — 163,850,701
FEIBREA Transfer-in from construction- 87,764,183 265,435,058 793,144 3,905,540 357,897,925 333,304,512
in-progress
FEH 2N Additions 21,840,762 89,687,240 20,719,636 33,140,071 165,387,709 147,911,724
EER D Disposals (15,258,937)  (122,958,056)  (24,047,912)  (12,957,404) (175,222,309) (138,408,893}
FXE fnd of year 2,744 816,915 5,260,721,024 403,047,136 230,979,659 8,639,564,734  8,291,501,409
REFE Accumulated depreciation
ENg Beginning of year 636,042,220 2,115,890,084 140,395,905 96,455,156 2,988,783,365  2,568,252,253
R IR R Effect on establishment/ - — - - — 58,702,154
FRAZFE acquisition of subsidiaries
REFR Charge for the year 70,753,779 352,784,216 38,928,470 34,849,403 497,315,868 457,345,228
KEFD Written back on disposal (4,682,742)  (64,844,829)  (13,511,587)  (12,263,825)  (95,302,983) (95,606,270}
EXH End of year 702,113,257 2,403,829,471 165,812,788 119,040,734  3,390,796,250  2,988,783,365
FE Net book value
F U Beginning of year 2,014,428,687 2,912,666,698 265,186,363 110,436,296 5,302,718,044 5216,591,112
FRE End of year 2,042,703,658  2,856,891,553 237,234,348 111,938,925 5,248,768,484 5,302,718,044
HERE Impairment loss
FNE Beginning of year 39,937,103 55,699,149 2,690,550 — 98,326,802 57,984,575
EERE Charge for the year 505,129 45,210,288 587,159 — 46,302,576 40,342,227
EFER DS Deduction (7,698,698)  (11,998,595) (173,635) —  (19,870,928) —
ERY End of year 32,743,534 88,910,842 3,104,074 — 124,758,450 98,326,802
FH Net book value
EE Beginning of year 1,974,491,584  2,856,967,549 262,495,813 110,436,296  5,204,391,242  5,158,606,537
FERE End of year 2,009,960,124  2,767,980,711 234,130,274 111,938,925 5,124,010,034  5,204,391,242
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AEBRRAFSHEHARYT,106,0007T
(ZEZEZE+=A=1+—H 168,799,000
T NERRURRENTHEROARS
28,000,000LERER (ZET_F+ R
Zt—B UETIwERAE BRERE
WoBERE ERRERAMREES
ER EFBEERBEFENAARY
194,329,0007T) °

RZEE=F+-A=+—0 x&58%
EHAR®E356,360,000L (ZET_E+
ZR=+—H: AR%419,506,0007T) 1)
EEEZEMNEEREREZ) AEHE -
BeELEERNERE ARRAESER
AREBRFARRNEZS(EEMA#
BRI EEEEUHAEZER  BRYER

SENIREETTEXREATE NE
RERBETEEREER -t T£H

HOEEREDNLER LT RFEEL
it FEHEEHME5-

Approximately RMBT,106,000 (31st December, 2002:
RMB68,799,000) of the Group’s loans are secured by fixed deposits
of approximately RMB28,000,000 (31st December, 2002: secured
by land use rights, building, plant and machinery, motor vehicles
and other equipment with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately RMB194,329,000).

As at 31st December, 2003, the building ownership certificates
(“Building Ownership Certificates”) for certain buildings of the Group
with carrying value of approximately RMB356,360,000 (31st
December, 2002: RMB419,506,000) had not yet been obtained.
After consultation made with the Company’s legal adviser, the
Company’s directors consider that there is no legal restriction for
the Group and the Company to apply for and obtain the Buildings
Ownership Certificates and it should not lead to any significant
adverse impact on the operations of the Group and the Company.
Accordingly, no provision for fixed assets impairment was considered
necessary. For certain buildings of the Group located on parcels of
allocated fands granted by local governments, please refer to Note

15 for details.
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(b) & 7 (b) Company
ko S -
+-A=+-8
“E2-F+ZR=t-H 315t December,
31st December, 2003 2002
EEREEY BERSE EQRE Hihg b &t
Building Plant and Motor Equipment Total Total
machinery vehicles
RE Original cost
FNE Beginning of year 554,865,184  1,178,082,975 156,765,322 87,194,036  1,976,907,517  1,948,510,031
TRIEEA Transfer from CIP (1,268,985) 56,257,733 — 1,503,339 56,492,087 84,469,494
REHLEN Additions 1,014,000 12,586,680 1,394,329 18,831,868 33,826,877 26,809,549
REFD Disposals (1,860,821)  (52,098,501)  (13,338,304) (8,460,103)  (75,757,729) (82,881,557}
EXH End of year 552,749,378 1,194,828,887 144,821,347 99,069,140  1,991,468,752  1,976,907,517
RiHE Accumulated depreciation
EE Beginning of year 147,827,085 693,524,567 62,683,143 44,440,433 948,475,228 885,989,082
BERE Charge for the year 14,055,787 72,590,191 14,956,677 12,291,266 113,893,921 112,285,137
rERD Written back on disposal {400,708)  (19,634,878) (7,751,796) (8,080,628)  (35,868,010) (49,798,991}
FRE End of year 161,482,164 746,479,880 69,888,024 48,651,071  1,026,501,139 948,475,228
BE Net book value
FENE Beginning of year 407,038,099 484,558,408 94,082,179 42,753,603  1,028,432,289  1,062,520,949
FRE End of vear 391,267,214 448,349,007 74,933,323 50,418,069 964,967,613  1,028,432,289
BERE Impairment loss
FHE Beginning of year — 8,000,000 — — 8,000,000 —
TEHE Charge for the yvear — 3,937,607 5,950 — 3,943,557 8,000,000
RERSD Deduction — {5,052,807) — — (5,052,807) —
ERE End of year — 6,884,800 5,950 - 6,890,750 8,000,000
28 Net book value
EE Beginning of year 407,038,099 476,558,408 94,082,179 42,753,603 1,020,432,289 1,062,520,949
EXRE End of year 391,267,214 441,464,207 74,927,373 50,418,069 958,076,863  1,020,432,289




ANNUAL REFUR T cUVS 5 s W 7

FEBERME (&)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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14, ERIE 14. CONSTRUCTION-IN-PROGRESS
IB%E EEE FO8  AEER SE8) Z2FEH FX¥ HERER IBZAR
EERE BHHLA
Construction project Budgeted  Beginning  Additions  Transfer to  Transfer out  End of year Sources of financing  Proportion
amount of year fixed assets of amount
invested
) ) ) ) . ) to budget
ARE ARE ARE ARE ARE AEE
RMB RmB RMB RMB RMB RMB
~BEERHE  Plant 1 production line 73,445,000 29,379,746 30,453,927 (35780,339) (1,104,774 22,948,560 EEES 81%
‘ improvement Internally generated fund
ZEREERSE  Plant2 production fine 29,159,000 5,183,971 18,811,235 (12,904,463) — 11,090743 SXES 82%
improvement Internally generated fund
BEZESHE  Plant ¢ production line 97,971,000 593,393 8,230,297 (6,717,373) (1467317} 639000 2EEE 9%
_ improvement Internally generated fund
FERER New factory plant 32,117,000 29,055,353 3,061,650 — (4794597) 27300606 EEER 100%
_ Internally generated fund
FEESERYE  Maltproduction line 60,400,000 5,764,777 1,256,011 {1,089,912) — 3930876 EBAE 12%
improvement Internally generated fund
ifg Others 416,000 31,580 384,000 - — 415580 E£FES 100%
Internally generated fund
LEEH Company total 293,508,000 70,009,020 61,197,120 (56,492,087) (7,366,688) 68,347,363
BE7AE Production line
BEER improvements in
R subsidiaries:
BRRDE Xian Company production 115,961,000 6,416,751 36,854,683 (30,984,318  (977,010) 11,310,105 E£54E%2 37%
ESmE fine improvement Iniernally generated fund
B3 Xingkaihu Company production 2,333,000 83,153 664,269 (326000 (27,0000 394421 EFAE 32%
LESHE line improvement Internally generated fund
ZHAGAZESR  Rongcheng Company production 38,976,000 681536 2,037,697  (2,676,357) 87 42,789 53R 7%
RE line improvement Internally generated fund
ERQEEESR  Huangshi Company production 92,478,000 10,484238 68,182,888 (502,857 — 78164269 EFTEHEERES 85%
nE line improvement Bank loans and internally
generated fund
SHDIEES  Sanshui Company production 38,503,000 10,167,228 19,801,017 (29,503,177) — 465008 BEES 51%
e {ine improvement internally generated fund
BMRazER Tengzhou Company production 9,410,000 1235955 4,713,496 (4,363,118  (260,100) 1,326,233 EBEEE 63%
R line improvement Internally generated fund
REATEESR  Zhuhai Company production 44,000,000 4,170,446 24,165,847 - — 2833629 BEEE 64%
HiE line improvement Internally generated fund
ER0F4ES  No. 5 Company production 40,019,000 8,495,080 15,336,136 (16,780,482 (1,727,963 3,322,771 BEEE 60%
it line improvement Internally generated fund
BRELFAEER  Penglai Company production 38,224,000 29449135 8775173 (37,822,921) (401,387 - BEES 100%
i line improvement Internally generated fund
BMDFEESR  Chenzhou Company production 12,088,000 1,397,405 10,690,269 (12,041,435 {46,239) - ERE: 100%
HiE line improvement internally generated fund
EORFALES  Weileng Company production 3,934,000 19,090 2,094,458 (2,024,649) — 98,899 ERES 54%
Wi fine improvement Internally generated fund
YHLREER  Xuzhou Pencheng Company 8,220,000 — 5,129,806  (5,129,806) - - BEE% 62%
B¥] production line improvement Internally generated fund
BEDALES  Shougung Compeny Production 6,861,000 38,024 3359668  (2,377,784) — 101998 5544 54%
& line improvement Internally generated fund
HZZRLE Beijing Three Rings Company 6,283,000 782,446 2,886,225  (1,190,887) — 2477784 BEEE%L 53%
SERME proguction line improvement Internally generated fund
GFEZ2E Beijing Five Stars Company 4,524,000 401,968 2,519,637 (1,263,949) — 1657656 EFA% 65%
TERUE proguction line improvement Internally generated fund
L3 EERE Shenzhen Asahi Company 16,010,000 2,332,445 4,463,017 (6,740,422) - 55,040 BEES 42%
TEqE production line improvement Internally generated fund
BHAALER  Langfang Company production 123,682,000 31,176,103 14,516,583 (45,514,199) — 118487 5EE% 37%
g line improvement Internally generated fund
BMLFAEES  Luzhou Company production 13,074,000 4,253,917 5,736,349 (8,343,930) — 1446336 ESFE%R 76%
_HE line improvement Internally generated fund
EMRE4ESE  Fuzhou Company production 23,591,000 8,388,271 6,998,140  (4,912,484) — 10473927 EBES 65%
g line improvement Internally generated fund
EMZETAA Other subsidiaries Production 183,635,000 23,501,062 78,917,645 (88,707,062) (9,767224) 3944421 EFEE 56%
EERKH line improvement Internally generated fund
£B5H Group total 1,135,334,000 213,423,273 380,040,123 (357,897,923) (20,573,699) 214,991,772
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ARERETEERTEEIZEREBEA  To the extent that the funds are specifically borrowed and used to
EEERRATUERLE - REBAFHE  finance the acquisition and construction of fixed assets and
HEARERERER478%(ZFFTZF ©  construction-in-progress, the capitalisation rate used to determine
3.95%Z25.72%) c AEBRAEFLLEZR  the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation as part of
LA E£HARK,8150007L (ZFZF  the costs of the related assets is 4.78% per annum (2002: 3.95% to
—%: AR#%818,0007T) ° 5.72% per annum) for the year. During the year, the Group

capitalised approximately RMB1,815,000 (2002: RMB818,000) of

its borrowing costs in the construction-in-progress.

5 ELEE 15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
@) R E (a) Group
- FreE ZiBgs ENE  AFER  4EEE  ATEE E33 B8 BgA
BUER
Nature Original Accumulated  Beginning  Additions Transfer out Amortisation End of year ~ Remaining Source of financing
cost amortisation of year years of
amortisation
(year)
ARE AER ARE ARE ARE ARE ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
g Trademarks 129,488,196 30,347,332 104,338,751 - — (5,197,887} 99,140,864 3305 REZARZ
330 UHEEBTRA
Injection from
shareholders and
acquisition of
subsidiaries
IhERE Land use rights 668,037,349 111,051,715 583,807,874 7,259,681 (7,772,864 (26,309,057) 356,985,634  40-50% BARRYER
4050 FAF
Purchase and
acquisition of
subsidiaries
EERM Technology 18,629,100 8,383,004 12,108,916 - —  {1,862,910) 10,246,006 55F SERERA
know-how 5.5 Injection from minority
shareholders
£t Others 23,689,011 4925925 16,358,743 3,900,700 —  {1,49,357) 18,763,086 0-95 BARRUE

09 RFAF
Purchase and
acquisition of
subsidiaries

ait Total 839,843,656 154,708,066 716,614,284 11,160,381  (7,772,804) (34,866,211) 685,133,590
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(b) 2 7] (b) Company
5B B8 ZAGBEE 9% FERM FEHY  AERE £X8 HE nHE5A
BEER
Items Original Accumulated  Beginning  Additions Transfer out Amortisation  End of vear ~ Remaining Source of financing
cost amortisation of year years of
amortisation
(year}
ARE ARE AER ARE ARE ARE AEE
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
BE Trademarks 100,000,000 26,243,967 76,250,033 - — {2,500,0000 73,750,033 30 BREA
Injection from
shareholders
tRERE Land use rights 87,411,367 18,264,333 71,371,312 —  (363,667) (1,660,611} 69,147,034 10 BA
Acquisition
A Others 8,921,913 1304271 4546224 3,696,864 — B25446) 7,617,642 09 BA
Acquisition
A Total 196,333,280 45,818,571 152,167,569 3,696,864 (563,067}  (4,766,037) 150,514,709
HEZZZE=-F+-A=+—H ZA&H As at 31st December, 2003, land use right certificates (“Land

BEEEBEHARKESS499,000L (22 F
TZAZT—H : AK%¥42,484,0007C) &
THEBERE I MEREE)NERE  £2
EZrEBRERE XAFESERARD
SERERS(BEINERB)ETRFE
ﬁgﬁmﬁéh%rﬁﬁﬁmﬁswﬁ%
LEITBREAFE
EEMELEE -

g RZFEEZFTZAZF—B K
EEESMEEREMENTAE T
FHFEBTHEERFOEB L - K5
NEBNFEMACREREZS TR
FE-TZETHINEEREDFESR
BMAE®E136,317,000L (ZEE=F+=
AZ+—8: AR#%121,952,0007T) ° &
NREEZEERR LTMZTHEREENIE
BHEELTENEATE - REEHEH
ERZSER L HEREESEET N
FE-o

Certificates”) of certain parcels of land of the Group with an
aggregate carrying value of approximately RMB35,499,000 (31st
December, 2002: RMB42,484,000) had not yet been obtained. After
consultation made with the Company’s legal adviser, the Company’s
board of directors consider that there is no legal restriction for the
Group to apply for and obtain the Land Certificates, it should not
lead to any significant adverse impact on the operations of the
Croup and the Company. Accordingly, no provision for fixed assets

impairment was considered necessary.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2003, certain operating facilities
of the Group were located on parcels of allocated land (“Allocated
Lands”) granted by certain local municipal governments to the
previous operating parties of the facilities. Majority of the local
municipal governments have agreed to process the legal title transfer.
As at 31st December, 2003, the carrying values of the associated
buildings and facilities constructed thereon were approximately
RMB136,317,000 (31st December, 2002: REMB121,952,000). In the
view of the Company’s Board of Directors, there would not be any
significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group. The Group
is in the process of applying for the transfer of the legal title of
these Allocated Lands to the Group.

v
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{Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

ADEIEZEREN_ZZ=ZF T A= Inthe opinion of the Coampany’s Directors, the underlying value of
+T—BLAEMEENLAEBEYTER  these assets was not less than their carrying value in the books of
REFE MUEFRAEER - the Company and of the Group as at 31st December, 2003.
1. RESHER 16.LONG-TERM DEFERRED ASSETS
(a) £ 8 (a) Group
EE Flae®  EXRH FN8  KEEN  XEEH EXE i
B EEBR
Items Original Accumulated  Beginning  Additions Amortisation  End of year ~ Remaining
cost  amortisation of year years of
amortisation
ARE AEE ARH ARE ARE ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
DEAHEEES  Advertising expenses 3,000,000 775000 2,525,000 —  (300,000) 2,225,000 7%
7 years
ZERAKXEFEE  Angiu Company-building 1,570,681 837,088 916,230 —  (182,637) 733593 38
usage rights 3 years
BRAALWER  Xian Company-Greenery 2225117 1,127,193 1,097,026 253,989 (253,001} 1,007,924 34E
expenditures 3-4 years
FEROFMERS  Vingcheng Company- 2,000,000 1,366,694 1,033,314 — 400,008 633,306 25
improvement expenses 2 years
Kt Others 2,893,369 1498830 1255335 1,095231  (956,027) 1,394,539
A3t Total 11,689,167 5,604,805 6,826,905 1,349,220  (2,091,763) 6,084,362
(by 27 (b) Company
RE FEre®E  FREG EN8  ZEfN  AEEH LFS b)
g BEAR
ltems Original Accumulated ~ Beginning  Additions Amortisation  End of year ~ Remaining
cost amortisation of year years of
amortisation
AEE AR ARE AEH ARH ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
LAXHEEER  Advertising expenses 3,000,000 775,000 2,525,000 — (300,000 2,225,000 7E
7 years
Bt Others 506,000 151,800 455,400 - {101,200) 354,200 35%
3.5 years
At Total 3,506,000 926,800 2,980,400 — 4012000 2,579,200
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17 8

AEERARRERIEZHEFEARR

THEBRAEHE -

@ EHERR-FRIBHRBEX

17.LOANS

Borrowing rates of the Group and the Company are determined

based on the announced rates of the People’s Bank of China.

(a) Short-term loans and current portion of long-term loans

W

=8 A H
Group Company
EESF —gEBZE T -F “E2=F ZERE-F
+=ZB=+-8 +ZA=+—-H +ZB=+-H +=ZA=+-H
Types 31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARE ARE AR ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
EHER Secured loans 1,105,557 81,996,961 — —
ERER Guaranteed loans
— BEBEEER — by related parties 4,617,237 875,005,661 4,617,237 355,515,661
— ARAER — by the Company 374,682,525 804,990,000 — —
— BRFLE — by minority — 125,000,000 — —
LHBE shareholders of
Z{x subsidiaries
ERER Loans on open credit 983,593,226 892,543,101 599,899,000 626,000,000
a5t Total 1,363,998,545  2,779,535,723 604,516,237 981,515,661
EHER Short-term loans 1,302,612,990  2,669,481,347 579,369,000 946,000,000
—ER I8 Current portion of 61,385,555 110,054,376 25,147,237 35,515,661
REEX long-term bank loans

Bt Total 1,363,998,545  2,779,535,723 604,516,237 981,515,661
RZTZ=ZF+-A=+—H  KEET As at 31st December, 2003, the Group had no overdue short-term

RECIBEREENEHARITRN - loans that had not yet been repaid.
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(b) RAER

(b) Long-term bank loans

£5 YNES
Group Company
—2B=F ZEEF ZEEZF ZEECE
HE +ZB=+-HB +ZA=+—-H +tZA=+—-R +ZRA=+—FH
Types 31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR® ARH AR AR
RMB RMB RMB RMB
EHER Secured loans — 1,101,225 — —
ERER Guaranteed loans 23,564,000 48,218,934 23,564,000 48,218,934
ERER Loans on open credit 30,219,722 41,323,361 - —
53,783,722 90,643,520 23,564,000 48,218,934
BEREIHF Analysis on repayment terms
£E A
Group Company
BTER ETER
Bank loans Bank loans
fie né
ERER MEBRE HEEER ARERE SHEBE  FEEZ AREHE
Loan terms Foreign currency  Exchange RMB Foreign  Exchange RMB
balances rate equivalents  currency rate  equivalents
balances
—ERFARIH Maturity within one to two years
— RERH — Danish Krone 400,000 13793 551,720 - - -
— B — Furo 158,618 10.15 1,609,205 — — —
— AE¥% — RMB - — 21,820,000 - — 19,220,000
TEZERIE Maturity within two to three years
— BERH — Danish Krone 400,000 13793 551,720 — - -
— B — Furo 158,618 1015 1,609,205 - - —
— AR® — RMB — — 4,344,000 - — 4,344,000
ZEREMIE Maturity within three to five years
— HERH — Danish Krone 800,000 13793 1,103,440 - - -
— g — Euro 317,236 10.15 3,220,022 — — —
— AR#% — RMB - - - - - -
LEMHHE Maturity over five years
— BERH — Danish Krone 5,000,000 13793 6,897,008 - - -
— B — furo 1,169,735 1015 11,877,402 - - -
— AR¥ —RwmB — — 200,000 — - —
A Total 53,783,722 23,564,000
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o ARBRALQFZEFTANFOAR
#49394,000L (ZEZE_F : AR®
89,368,0007T) & A K # 44,094,0007T (=
TEF : AR¥71,368,0007T) BB Z
RERFRAMELEBEBEEAFIEEE
ZEBE - FRENBTEZFMNER1.63%
Z6.90%(ZFFZF : 0.65%%27.25%) °

AEBRADBRNETREENNEAR
Bd4,617237T(ZEFZFE+ A=+~
B REE — AR®875,006,0007T * A&
DA — ARM355516,0007T) HEEH %
BEEHER I ZEERAFTE
FER(ZETZET=R=+—80: AR¥%
125,000,0007T) B RBEERF LA P8R
REBHER -

AEEBRAFESTHEHARET,106,0007T
(ZEEZE+ZR=+—-—H: AR%
68,799,0007C) B R E N AR B EBE
HE AR 28,000,000t ERERE - (=

TEF+ZRZ+ -8 UEEYH
194,329,000 E T FERE FER

Sy HERE ERRBREMREE
BER) -

ERAEEABHEETZERRBARTE
RRAEBR_ER=F+_RAzZT—
BHBZIRDBENHNARE742,431,0007T
“EEZE+ZRZT-8B: AEE
2,113,180,00070) - AR EEHELAR
B REHEHRRTERNE B ED
EHIANTRERROREEANESE
Roo b4 - M 228l - KQBRERZ
TEOE=R=+—HYUIA-BRARER
RABETIBRARTBESMNGBTIESHD
254,138,000 T (T & W AR &
270,835,0007T) °

(c) Pursuant to debt restructuring agreements or acquisition
agreements of certain subsidiaries, interest charges to be levied on
approximately RMB49,394,000 (2002: RMB89,368,000) and
RMB44,094,000 (2002: RMB71,368,000) of the loan balance of the
Group and of the Company, respectively, were waived by the lenders
at no consideration. The remaining outstanding loan balances are
interest-bearing at rates ranging from 1.63% to 6.90% per annum
(2002: 0.65% to 7.25%).

Loans of the Group and of the Company amounting to approximately
RMB4,617,237 (31st December, 2002: Group — RMB875,006,000,
Company — RMB355,516,000), respectively, are guaranteed by
related companies of the Group in 2003. None {31st December,
2002: RMB125,000,000) of the loans of the Group was guaranteed
by the minority shareholders of the subsidiaries in 2003.

Approximately RMB1,106,000 (31st December, 2002:
RMB68,799,000) of the loans of the Group are secured by fixed
deposits of approximately RMB28,000,000 (31st December, 2002:
secured by land use rights, building, plant and machinery, motor
vehicles and other equipment with an aggregate carrying value of
approximately RMB194,329,000).

Most of the bank financing of the Group is in the form of short-term
bank lcans. As a result, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately RMB742,431,000 as at 31st December, 2003 (31st
December, 2002: RMB2,113,180,000). The board of directors of
the Company is confident that the Group will be able to renew its
short-term bank loan facilities upon maturity or to identify new
sources of financing to replace the current ones. In addition, as
mentioned in Note 22, the Company received the remaining
proceeds of approximately HK$254,138,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB270,835,000) associated with the issuance of
convertible bonds to A-B Company on 31st March, 2004.
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1.ENER 18.BILLS PAYABLE
%E A8
Group Company
—EE=F —EE_-F —EZZH —RTF

+-B=z+-B +ZA=+—-B +z-A=+-8B +zZRB=+-H

31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,

2003 2002 2003 2002

AR AR AR¥ AE#

RMB RMB RMB RMB

HEERLES Commercial bills 117,585,257 145,316,251 99,384,500 124,375,903
RITEHER Bank drafts 407,864,252 290,311,976 — —
&5t Total 525,449,509 435,628,227 99,384,500 124,375,903

>i

FEBRARERAERNNBFITHAHLEZSE  The bank drafts of the Group and the Company will reach maturity
2HERREAREE - within 6 months after the balance sheet date.

o]

Dkl

19.B 4R AURBRRAREAMENFE  19.ACCOUNTS PAYABLE, ADVANCE FROM CUSTOMERS, AND
OTHER PAYABLES

AEBERARFMEMNKIE  HRERKL  The Group and the Company did not have any payable balances
EEARP  HERFARFS%(EE  which were due to parties having 5% or above shareholdings in the
5%) A E BRI EOBR R BRI BRI - BRESE  Company. The accounts payable and other payables aged over 3
EIFEMARENRARAMENFEDAY  years were mainly due to balances acquired from subsidiaries upon
BERRTFARRAENEE - BREBHB—  acquisitions. Advance from customers aged over 1 year were mainly
FNHRUEREIEREPLPBENENET  deposits for purchases.

£ o
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20 EXB & 20. TAXES PAYABLE
EE A
Group Company
—BE=ZF —EFE-E ZEB=H —ERCF
+=ZB=+-B +zZA=+—-B +tzZA=+-8 +ZHA=+-—A8
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR#¥ ARE AR® ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
fERIBERFEE Value added tax payable, 10,757,817 2,126,503 4,509,948 (3,066,889)
net
EXHERESE Consumption tax payable 111,646,338 111,163,002 9,676,964 7,078,821
RGNS Enterprise income 47,519,934 2,884,790 23,972,519 (4,450,287)
’ tax payable
Hit Others 10,805,738 3,313,363 7,009,005 (2,742,165)
B Total 180,729,827 119,487,658 45,168,436 (3,180,514)
21.8RER 21.ACCRUALS
£ H NG
Group Company
—EEBZE ZEEE ~EE=F —EE-F
+=ZA=+-H +ZH=+—-B tZA=+-8 +=-A=+—8
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARH ARE AR¥ ARKE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
HEREHER Selling & transportation 18,423,591 16,079,754 2,555,370 3,313,892
expenses
MEBH Interest expenses 11,241,335 1,367,031 8,595,201 —
EHE Audit fee 3,693,035 4,960,170 3,693,035 4,960,170
K-BEHR Utilities 3,908,260 3,275,586 — —
ORI Import duties on materials — 916,278 — 916,278
Efh Others 25,585,386 19,594,443 3,512,492 1,193,177

&t Total 62,851,607 46,193,262 18,356,098 10,383,517
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22, WHEHRBRQNFESF

WZEE-_E+A-+—8 AXQoF#HE—
EHERE =&l - n5BEERER
22 8 (Anheuser — Busch Companies Inc.)
(TA-BRRI #aT— (BB EREHE)
RERTH_ZTZFHE  F2AHS
ZHOPMABRARINREREBHETARGILY
BRQRES  EEH£H1,416,195,000%
(T & B AR 1,507,990,0007T) + WA
RRTIHRMERERARDA L
308,219,178% H% :

E-BOTBRQFRES

E—HNEHFRELSEH280,800,000%
7T (FEHARB297,999,000) * B
TE=FMART  ABRFAIERZZT
“F+AZBUER468ETHTEHAR
#%4.9670) VB R EE KA 2 F60,000,000
REFEHR - E—HHEFAEFIRES -

E_HOUBRATES

Fo_HNEFNRELLER627,120,000
B (T EHAR668,322,0000T) - ER
“ER-ENAET  ABLEARINEER
RESBREN/EAR  AJUBR468ET
(MaARE496m) BEHRERRALRT
134,000,0004% 27 & HER - BRZ7E HRA
MAREBRINREBRERENSEDER -
E_BOAERNFEFOFANELR2%
BA-BRAIBEERKBEEHALT LN
FISAREERAEMR -

HERREHETEH  AB ARDRTE
B -

22.CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 21st October, 2002, the Company and Anheuser-Busch
Companies, Inc (“A-B Company”), a shareholder of H Shares, entered
into a strategic investment agreement, pursuant to which A-B
Company is obliged to subscribe for 3 tranches of mandatory
convertible bonds (“CB”) to be issued by the Company with an
aggregate principal amount of approximately HK$1,416,195,000
{RMB1,507,990,000), commencing from 2003. The CB are
convertible into 308,219,178 new H Shares issuable by the Company

as follows:

Tranche | of the CB (“Tranche 17)

The total subscription amount of Tranche | was HK$280,800,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB297,999,000) which was issued
to A-B Company in April 2003. Tranche | was converted into
60,000,000 new H shares issued by the Company at HK$4.68
{equivalent to approximately RMB4.96) per share on 2nd July, 2003,

Tranche | was interest-free.

Tranche 11 of the CB (“Tranche 11")

The total subscription amount of Tranche Il was HK$627,120,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB668,322,000) which was issued
to A-B Company in April 2003 concurrently with the issuance of
Tranche 1. Tranche Il can be converted into 134,000,000 new H
shares at HK$4.68 (equivalent to approximately RMB4.96) per share
within seven vyears after issuance. The CB will be automatically
converted at the end of the seven-year conversion period (“Expiry
Date”) if A-B Company does not trigger the conversion. Tranche ||
is interest-bearing at 2% per annum. A-B Company will refund all
the interest received as well as all related deductions or withholdings
associated with the interest payments made by the Company upon

conversion.

As at the date of approval of the accounts, A-B Company had not

exercised its conversion right.
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FIHOUBRATRS

FE=BOEFNREL ST AH508,275,000
/%ﬁ(ﬁAW%kE%SMG%&MME>'E%
FE-FTARZZEENE=RoH%
REARRTEBRECRENTE
uMﬁ%4%%nﬂ%%mAﬁm4n
)F%@%&K“ﬂrmzm1m%%ﬁH
BERZ7EHRANDRERNRERE
MENEEBDER - E-HMHAHARA
HEHEFEL2%  EABLEBESER
EEE$ AT AR BIARIEENTE

| I

Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ%‘ﬁl&:}?

—)‘H
o

BE-ZT=F+ZA=+-8 £2
ERA-BL & % nDM‘%2M137w&%E
(& ARS270,835,000) BE=HHE
—HES  BABRARKRBITFEEERE -
HHBE-HNELFERETMF=/=
T—HETTABRA -

RE—HBlh EZHOREZFHHATER
RRIESFNERE EETMEEAEER
BURERRADANERLAD S
B AREI40.0% TFEEL37.7%  33.5%K%
30.6%  MA-BREIRARAISNFRLAE
BB RE4.5%EFE9%  20.0%K
27.0% ° %M REZHFHAIBRREESR
BERE  ABRAIMBAEGEALAZHE
BORDN7RER  EXARARRERN
MERE -ABLAIRFZAZLRHFER
MEEANR - BERBARRERGBITE
ErRAB At BESTYBEBTEAR
ALEMARERBREAGHEH-BRERR
BAGLUBZERNEMORERE -

Tranche 1l of the CB (“Tranche 1117)

The total subscription amount of Tranche Il is HK$508,275,000
(equivalent to approximately RMB541,669,000) issuable to A-B
Company by several instalments in October 2003 and in March
2004. Tranche Il will be converted into 114,219,178 new H shares
at HK$4.45 (equivalent to approximately RMBA4.72) per share within
seven years after the payment of the subscriptions. The CB will be
automatically converted at the end of the Expiry Date if A-B
Company does not trigger the conversion hefore the Expiry Date.
Tranche Ml is interest-bearing at 2% per annum. A-B Company will
refund all the interest received as well as all related deductions or
withholdings associated with the interest payments made by the

Company upon conversion.

As at 37st December, 2003, approximately HK$254,737,000
{equivalent to approximately RMB270,835,000) of Portion 1 of
Tranche lil had been issued to A-B Company but A-B Company had
not exercised its conversion rights. The remaining portion of Tranche

[l of CB was issued to A-B Company on 31st March, 2004.

Upon the conversion of each of Tranche 1, Tranche Hl and Tranche
Il of the CB, the percentage shareholding of Qingdao State-Owned
Assets Administration Bureau (“Qingdao Bureau”), the existing
substantial shareholder of the Company, has decreased/will decrease
from approximately 40.0% to approximately 37.7%, 33.5% and
30.6%, respectively, whereas the holding of A-B Company in the
Company has increased/will increase from approximately 4.5% to
9.9%, 20.0% and 27.0%, respectively. The additional 7% of the
shareholding held by A-B Company after the conversion of Tranche
I will be subject to a voting trust arrangement in favour of Qingdao
Bureau whereby A-B Company will enjoy the economic benefits
associated with the shares but Qingdao Bureau can exercise the
respective voting rights at its sole discretion. Accordingly, Qingdao
Bureau, through its trustee, will be entitled to exercise the voting
rights attached to such shareholding at general meetings of holders
of state shares and PRC legal person shares and PRC public shares

{H shares) class meetings of the Company.
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A =T AT —HEARBEBRR  Details of the CB not yet converted as at 31st December, 2003 are

ENABARAEFBERFINT as follows:
HERE (AR%®) BTAE BEEEBREE
Face value (RMB) Date of issuance Mandatory conversion date

F-80 668,321,784 “RE=-£NA-A —E-TE=/=+—H
Tranche Il Tst April, 2003 31st March, 2010
F=HHnE-H 270,834,516 “ER=F+A+-8B ZT-TE+HAZTH
Tranche Il Part 1 21st October, 2003 20th Octeber, 2010

=
Total 939,156,300
EAFME (AXHE) Interest expenses accruals (RMB)

LI TEREFNE  TFEEHAFE FERE
Beginning of year Interests accrued Payment End of year
— 11,187,740 (6,673,860) 4,513,880
23R 23.SHARE CAPITAL

BE_TTZFE-A-+=HBHBZBRE By a special resolution passed of the EGM on 23rd January, 2003,
FRPRE  AARBEEMRAAARE  the authorised registered ordinary share capital was increased from
1,000,000,0007T # M Z A B % RMB1,000,000,000 to RMB1,308,219,178 by the creation of
1,308,219,1787L + 1 % 10 & £ & 308,219,178 new H shares of RMB1 each.
308,219,178 G MEEAREITZHE

QHW g22fit  RZFEFT=F+LHIZH "  As mentioned in note 22, A-B Company converted Tranche | of the
REIANEBR468ET(MEHARE  CB into 60,000,000 new H shares issued by the Company at

4.967E) MEBEREE SO ERAE HK$4.68 (equivalent to approximately RMB4.96) on 2nd July, 2003.

EHFERRALRE60,000,0008FEITHE  This conversion increased the overseas public H Shares from

Rin o RABR  SAREHRBEFHAR  RMB346,850,000 to RMB406,850,000 and the total issued share

#346,850,0007C & = A K% 406,850,000  capital from RMB1,000,000,000 to RMB1,060,000,000.

T RAEAATBRBREIAARE

1,000,000,0007C & MM 2 A K ¥

1,060,000,0007T




ANNUALREPORT2003 & & I &4

AW RME (&)

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)

(RPEEHENER) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)

ARARAARHERANT -

A summary of the share capital is set out below:

“EE=H+=-A=+—-H
31st December, 2003

ZEFZF+ZR=ZT—8
31st December, 2002

AR¥ Bt AR ERGNid
RMB Percentage RMB Percentage
¥ ETIRBRE: Unlisted:
ZES State shares 399,820,000 37.72% 399,820,000 39.98%
PE AR PRC legal person shares 53,330,000 5.03% 53,330,000 5.33%
THmRBR: Listed:
BAQXRR PRC public shares 200,000,000 18.87% 200,000,000 20.00%
(ARR) (“A Shares”)
RN 58 Overseas public shares 406,850,000 38.38% 346,850,000 34.69%
(HE%) (“H Shares”)
= Total 1,060,000,000 100.00%  1,000,000,000 100.00%
0 EBR LR 24.CAPITAL RESERVE
(@ &E (a) Group
FNE I KERD ERE
Beginning Increase Decrease  Ending balance
balance
ARKE AR ARE ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
B AN 1B () Share premium (i) 1,549,707,662 221,432,244 —  1,771,139,906
BESE Surplus on revaluation 6,304,398 _ — 6,304,398
BEEE of fixed assets
BEZIEEEEEE  Donations received 4,238,603 633,205 — 4,871,808
BERFAFEHR Forfeited payable balances 10,903,866 839,783 — 11,743,649
BIERZRE of subsidiaries
Hip Others 4,817,221 — — 4,817,221
=5 Total 1,575,971,750 222,905,232 —  1,798,876,982
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(b) 27 (b) Company
FOE FELM FERD EXRE
Beginning Increase Decrease  Ending balance
balance
RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR¥E ARK ARE AR
BRAEEE () Share premium (i) 1,549,707,662 221,432,244 —  1,771,139,906
BEFGRE Surplus on revaluation 56,043,498 — — 56,043,498
B of fixed assets
EXREBEEERE Donations received 4,238,603 633,205 — 4,871,808
ZHRFLEEEE  Forfeited pavable balances 10,903,866 839,783 — 11,743,649
TR ZRR of subsidiaries
Hith Others 4,817,221 — — 4,817,221
&5t Total 1,625,710,850 222,905,232 —  1,848,616,082

() REEMEEARABRERAEFEARTT
BE-HIBARFEFNREE -

() The increase in current year was mainly due to the exercise of

conversion rights of Tranche | Convertible Bonds by A-B Company

during the year.

2B.BHB0E 25. RESERVES
@ £E (a) Group

ENH AERM REFD FRE
Beginning Current year Current year Ending
balance appropriation reduction balance
RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR ARK ARK AEE
EEBBLES Surplus reserve 162,654,576 55,530,809 — 218,185,385
EERES Public welfare fund 129,569,582 47,409,090 — 176,978,672
=51 Total 292,224,158 102,939,899 — 395,164,057
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(b) 2 7 (b) Company
E08 18 RERFD EXRY
Beginning Current year Current year Ending
balance appropriation reduction balance
RMB RMB RMB RMB
AR ARE AR# AR#
EERBDLES Surplus reserve 126,752,841 24,528,060 — 151,280,901
EERRSE Public welfare fund 97,483,620 24,528,060 — 122,011,680
aEr Total 224,236,461 49,056,120 — 273,292,581

BRE(PEARANBERRE)  A2FE
BREZEHRE KRARRFEINE
MI0%RIEERBRAES  EEERS
REERFEERNRANS0%ALE - 7]
TERE - AT BB OESEERBIH
BETARBEER HEENRE - K
THERBEEEN ZEBEHRBESNE
MEARE  ESRBIEIRBRAN25%
APRZZETZFREFNBARE
245,280,600 L IREVAE BB AE S ARY
24,528,0607C (ZE T ZF : 22,325,410
)

EHNREEREMNENIRRERATE AR
& BREINEBBNMTARERRS
i ERERE WETLARZEBACLE
BRHBEAE EXLEENFERBERED
AMEENBRGE - AQRZET=F
WFRBARKE245,280,600REVAE R
HEEARK24,528060L (ZFEF_F ¢

22,325,4107T) °

In accordance with the provisions of the Company Laws in the
PRC, the articles of association of the Company and board resolution
passed by the Company, the Company appropriates 10% of its annual
profits to a statutory surplus reserve, until the reserve reaches 50%
of the issued capital of the Company. With the approval obtained
from the relevant government authorities, the surplus reserve can
be utilized to offset any deficit or to increase the share capital of
the Company, provided that the remaining balance of the reserve,
after such utilizations, does not fall below 25% of the issued capital
balance. During 2003, the Company appropriated RMB24,528,060
(2002: RMB22,325,410) to the statutory surplus reserve balance out
of its net profits of RMB245,280,600.

In addition, the Company also appropriates its profits of 10%, after
offsetting any accumulated deficits, to a public welfare fund. The
fund is designated for the use of staff welfare and it is not
distributable as dividends. Upon consumption of the fund, an
equivalent amount has to be transferred from the fund to a
discretionary surplus reserve. The utilisation is either recorded as
assets or expenses of the Company. During the vear, the Company
appropriated RMB24,528,060 {2002: RMB22,325,410) out of its net
profits of RMB245,280,600.
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26.% 7 B A B 26. UNAPPROPRIATED PROFITS
&9 D)
Group Company
31st December, 31st December, 31st Decemher, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR#® ARE ARHE ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
(H#:£40) (K 5£40)
(Note 40) (Note 40)
FNRDERNB Unappropriated profits, 108,828,477 179,964,360 163,428,623 204,825,341
as previously reported
EHREE — Net income impact of 220,000,000 110,000,000 220,000,000 110,000,000
EEGGERBEE prior year adjustments
BEREHEDE  (Note 2)
opke s il
(Ftiz2)
BAREE Unappropriated profits 328,828,477 289,964,360 383,428,623 314,825,341
FURDEMNE brought farward, after
retrospective prior
year adjustments
o REFF A Add: Net profit for 253,871,661 230,657,385 245,280,600 223,254,102
the year
A REUERE®EE  Less: Profit appropriation  (55,530,809) (42,804,520) (24,528,060) (22,325,410)
NEE to surplus reserve
(BF5£25) (Note 25)
B REURE Less: profit appropriation  (47,409,090) (38,988,748) (24,528,060) (22,325,410)
NEE to public welfare
(Kt 25) fund (Note 25)
B BT EBARARF Less: Dividends (220,000,000)  (110,000,000)  (220,000,000)  (110,000,000)
FERRDEFE Unappropriated profits 259,760,239 328,828,477 359,653,103 383,428,623

carried forward

mHE2 M AEBE TR =E+A—
BREBBITN(rEgHER — EER
BEXEBESZE) BREBARBRERSIE
MESEAROBHEERRERE LT HE
ARRBE - -ARARLEIMEEN SR
EEFETURBEREIHRIHET-F
ZoRZZEE-F+A=Z+-BEED
BFIE A K% 220,000,000 & AR
110,000,0007T °

As detailed in Note 2, according to the Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises “Event After the Balance Sheet Date (2003
revised)” — Cailuai [2003]. No.12 issued by the Ministry of Finance
of the PRC, dividends which are proposed or declared should be
recognised as a liability of an enterprise in the period in which the
declaration is made. As a result, unappropriated profits as at 31st
December, 2002 and 2001 were adjusted retrospectively and they
were increased by RMB220,000,000 and RMB1170,000,000

respectively.
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R RE-_ZTRFNA-BE£ELH
BHORE  —FE-FERCETRSH
1,060,000,0008%:t & - BUAZRETRAEA2
BREREZER2RA 2 - £ 5
212,000,000 + LMl BEEFREASH
o REHNRERBERB L ENE
Fle —RBRREAEBEZAE  RASE
HRUME_STNEFENEHEEF -

EERBBRARKE

@) BER S BIIR

ARAERENARBIZIEEBREER
HERE MAMEBRABRELEE
ZHEAEBUANBO Z TR E Bt K
FETRERHEREEERZ2DEAN -

In addition, according to a resolution of the board passed on 1st
April, 2004, the directors recommend the payment of a final dividend
for 2003 of RMB2 per ten shares, totaling RMB212,000,000, based
on 1,060,000,000 issued shares of the Company as at the approval
date of financial statements. Proposed final dividend is awaiting for
the approval of the shareholders at forthcoming annual general
meeting and have not been reflected in the financial statements of
2003. Upon these proposed dividends are approved at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the dividends distribution will

be reflected in the financial statements of 2004.

27.TURNOVER AND COST OF SALES

(a) Business segment

The sole principal activity of the Group and the Company is the
production and distribution of beer products and the profit generated
from other operations attribute to less than 10% of the consolidated
net profit of the Group. Accordingly, no analysis of business segment

information is provided.
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(b) R E S H 5T

(b) Geographical segment

2003 2002
AR¥ AR
RMB RMB
TEERUEA Turnover
EEHME Qingdao region 2,161,925,614 1,946,814,810
Hi LR Other Shandong region 1,105,257,726 986,660,305
Eiik Hua Bei China region 1,726,558,958 1,459,874,656
EmiR Hua Nan China region 2,656,251,259 2,511,429,345
HOEE Overseas 379,664,451 332,299,105
NEF Sub-total 8,029,658,008 7,237,078,221
EMESBEATES Intra-segment elimination (521,698,950 (300,344,095)
Total 7,507,959,058 6,936,734,126
TEERRK Cost of sales
EEMmE Qingdaao region 1,183,539,133 1,061,090,151
HelRHE Other Shandong region 756,629,283 668,377,784
Ei iR Hua Bei China region 1,125,265,879 933,119,317
EENE Hua Nan China region 1,545,166,980 1,495,854,483
HOEE Overseas 237,176,794 199,900,413
AET Sub-total 4,847,778,069 4,358,342,148
EuEOBEELEEA Inter-segment elimination (521,698,950) (300,344,095)
&5t Total 4,326,079,119 4,057,998,053

ARALBZEEXBUAREEREBR
AOTBEEEHERLE  HTERBE

AEFIR

BE_ZTE-F+_A=+—H £&KE
RAREMALEE P #
AR % 588,207,000 R A B ¥
DREHEREE R AN F

EHEEWANTB8%R211%(ZEE =
£ 0 AR™ 583,446,000 X A R
AEE R E B R QA
24.7%) °

528,880,000 * &

552,120,0007C * &

FEHHERANS4%R

EBEDHNEG

to markets within the Tsingtao region.

No geographical analysis of the Company is provided as most of

the sales and cost of sales incurred by the Company were attributable

For the year ended 31st December, 2003, sales made to the five
largest customers of the Group and the Company amounted to
approximately RMB588,207,000 and RMB528,880,000, respectively,
being 7.8% and 21.1% of the turnover of the Group and the
Company (2002: RMB583,446,000 and RMB552,120,000, being
8.4% and 24.7%, respectively).
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2. XEEKBERMM 28.SALES TAXES AND SURCHARGES
B FreEE £8 S|
Types Basis of Group Company
accrual 2003 2002 2003 2002
AEH AR#E ARE ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
HEW Consumption tax R A7 &3 694,287,000 622,101,766 104,060,230 102,513,327
Refer to Note 3
W ERLH  City construction & A3 68,526,032 65,351,767 18,538,106 18,703,975
tax Refer to Note 3
Hth Others 31,361,135 28,007,900 7,869,804 8,392,259
A& Total 794,174,167 715,461,433 130,468,140 129,609,561
29. B ERRE 29, PROFIT FROM OTHER OPERATIONS
£8 A
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR¥ AR% AR% ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
HEfEBEA Income from other operations
MEHE Sales of materials 6,575,109 3,799,941 256,899,919 71,669,620
BHEE Sales of scraps 15,708,096 14,942,696 1,328,124 1,388,865
Hi Others 34,551,098 32,923,108 10,958,702 7,062,886
P Sub-total 56,834,303 51,665,745 269,186,745 80,121,371
EREBRA Cost of other operations
FREE Sales of materials 12,638,591 8,455,781 260,373,118 74,654,160
BHEE Sales of scraps 4,871,690 3,329,892 1,317,144 1,405,832
Hit Others 21,915,717 24,627,791 1,222,644 2,353,592
NG Sub-total 39,425,998 36,413,464 262,912,906 78,413,584
EEHHE Profit from other operations 17,408,305 15,252,281 6,273,839 1,707,787
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0.BERAER 30. FINANCE EXPENSES, NET
£ DA
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR ARK ARK ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
P8 X H Interest expense (112,987,408)  (146,661,261) (35,300,664) (59,585,247)
B A Interest income — — — 2,384,058
— ERTaE — subsidiaries
B A Interest income 13,567,047 10,661,089 — 951,201
— Hft — others
EHBERFHE Exchange differences, net  (9,230,286) (7,060,976) (5,059,801) (1,939,082)
Hith Others 2,846,619 4,999,477 (3,234,882) (875,431)
AEr Total (105,804,028)  (138,061,671) (43,595,347) (59,064,501)

AEBRAFETUERLOMEZ LS  The capitalised borrowing costs for the Group amounted to
BAR®1,815000T (ZFZE=F : AR  approximately RMB1,815,000 in the current year (2002 : RMB818,000)

#818,0007T) (Hi5t14) ° (Note 14).
31. BREYH 31.INVESTMENT INCOME
£H AR
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR AR AR% AR#
RMB RMB RMB RMB
BERANE Income from debt 1,135,489 1,967,305 1,135,489 1,967,305
investments
FEHERT Equity share in (losses) (7,250,733) (5,059,438) 130,336 (188,789)
AE(BE) BH profits of associated
companies
SRR F AR Equity share in profits — — 4,229,661 (12,551,070)
RERF(EE) of subsidiaries
BRIREZEBE  Amortisation of 23,134,381 25,203,313 16,363,211 18,345,285
investment differences
Efn Others (3,117,041) (322,841) 2,910,248 620,378
&t Total 13,902,096 21,788,339 24,768,945 8,193,109
ARBRERETFLEIMIRERZEBE  There are no significant restrictions on the repatriation of investment
THEEERRH - income of the Company and its subsidiaries.
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EXEVRMUMESR -

32.SUBSIDY INCOME

During the acquisitions of certain subsidiaries of the Group in prior
years, the Group entered into various agreements with the relevant
municipal governments. Under the terms of these agreements, these
subsidiaries can enjoy certain financial incentives granted by the
relevant municipal governments, including financia! subsidies
determined based on the amounts of various taxes paid by the

subsidiaries.

The Company’s board of directors are not aware of any reasons that
the said financial subsidies will not be available to the subsidiaries

in the future.

BEXENMAETH 33.NON-OPERATING INCOME AND EXPENSES
&8 47
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR¥ ARE AR ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
EEIMEA Non-operating income
REETEE Gain on disposal of 6,006,098 2,303,325 572,765 135,727
g fixed assets
Hi Others 9,584,610 4,757,747 561,367 211,956
A&t Total 15,590,708 7,061,072 1,134,132 347,683
RN Non-operating expenses
REEE Loss on disposal of 18,651,377 16,934,548 4,911,872 4,673,829
EEREL fixed assets
AREEAE Provision for impairment 46,302,576 40,342,227 3,943,557 8,000,000
BEEE of fixed assets
Hit Others 10,734,465 16,107,313 3,153,379 1,312,171
=1 Total 75,688,418 73,384,088 12,008,808 13,986,000
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BEBLERS 34.RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
GFEZHBEEOBEATEEZAERTFLR  Related parties with control relationship mainly represent subsidiaries
AREELR MEBZSEAANEME  and associated companies. Particulars of those entities are detailed

HNNMABER 4 - in Note 4.

THEEEGNEEREXSERMBE RS The name and relationship with the Group of the related parties

MEBEREEEARENBEROT

LEEH

Name of company

with no control relationship but with transactions or balances

outstanding are as follows:

BXEENREE
Relationship with the Group

EEEEEEERLA
Tsingtao Brewery Group Co., Lid.

EERERXEERDA
Tsingtao Brewery Shi Ye Co., Ltd.

BRERERHEERLDA
Tsingtao Brewery Real Estate Co., Ltd.

BERBEIRERLA
Tsingtao Brewery Engineering Co., Ltd.

EERERESBHEERLA
Tsingtao Brewery Advertising Co., Ltd.

EERANAKERRAR
Tsingtao Brewery Trading Co., Ltd.

EBERENEERAERAT

HHBREERARTIERR

Certain common directors and a common major shareholder

HOHEREZRERIERR

Certain common directors and a common major shareholder

HNHEREZEREREIERR

Certain common directors and a common major shareholder

FRERESESRBRIERER

Certain common directors and a common major shareholder

FORFAEERERTERR

Certain common directors and a common major shareholder

BOREEFIARIERE

Certain common directors and a common major shareholder

BHHEFEERBERIERR

Tsingtao Brewery Property Management Co., Ltd. Certain common directors and a common major shareholder

BEEEECERM)ERAE

BOHREELERTERR

Tsingtao Brewery (Zhangzhou) Company Limited Certain common directors and a common major shareholders
75 %2 2 B 18 B SRR B R ERFRASEER

Xian Hans Beverages Company Limited

BARERBERA ST

Asahi Breweries Limited

BAFEILBERA SR

Itochu Corporation

RrzemERAEH

Sumikin Bussan Corporation

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

ERFREDEER

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

ElRF LR LEER

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

BRT AR BEE

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary
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LEER

Name of company

HEEENER
Relationship with the Group

IHNGEEEELERF
Jiangsu Pexian State Owned Operations Centre

WEREGEFRERRAF

Shandong Weifang Lanzai Brewery Company Limited

mIIIRELLTIRERRE

Sichuan Huo Ju Hua Gong Company Limited

ETREABREZRRNERLF
Beijing Asia Shuang He Sheng Five Star
Three Ring Beer Company Limited

LrEARn2REEE LT
Beijing Asia Shuang He Sheng Five Star
Beer Group Company

HEMAPIERECEEELRT

Zhuhai Doumen Huang Mei Enterprise Group Company

REBER
Fuzhou Brewery

ELIHETHLAERLDA
Carlsberg Asia Private Company Limited

BER MR IBNEEELEERLT
Loaoling Anshan Municipal Light State
Owned Assets Operating Co. Ltd

A-BR 7]
A-B Company

ERRE(BM BEHERLAET

Tsingtao Brewery (Guangzhou) General Agency Co. Ltd.

LREEWEBHERRELIAR
Beijing Tsingtao Brewery General Agency Co. Ltd.

EEREBMN ERAE

Tsingtao Brewery (Yangzhou) Company Limited

EELEEREBELHARAA

Liaoling Shenqing Tsingtao Brewery Sales
Company Limited

FERE(ME)ERAA
Tsingtao Brewery (Nanning) Company Limited

EERERARRERAE

Tsingtao Beer and Asahi Beverage Company Limited

ElRTFRaLEER
Minority shareholder of a subsidiary
BRF LS HBE
Minority shareholder of a subsidiary
ERFAFNIERR
Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

ERTAaLERR

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

ERT LRI BER

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

ERFRALERE
Minority shareholder of a subsidiary
BRFAALURER
Minority shareholder of a subsidiary
FRF LR SERR
Minority shareholder of a subsidiary
BRFRASBRE

Minority shareholder of a subsidiary

EREZE

Major investor

RN

Associated company

N

Associated company

J-NGT

Associated company

AN

Associated company

R WNE]

Associated company

kNG|

Associated company

LA
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BA-BREIS

NEEBEERAFRNEE
BERRBEEBRE

Except for A-B Company, none of the above related companies own

any equity interests in the Company during the vear.

2=E+ A= +—BA%E

(a) For the year ended 31st December, 2003, the Group had the

HEMCENTERZEHENT following material transactions with related and associated
companies:
2003 2002
ARH ARE
RMB RMB
BEEY: Included in turnover:
EEREBN BRRAF Tsingtao Brewery (Yangzhou) Company Limited 47,768 —
REEY - Included in cost of sales:
ERRENEEEERAAF Tsingtao Brewery Trading Co., Ltd. 34,150,167 20,777,289
WREFEFEEERLQR Shandong Weifang Lanzai Brewery 320,082 467,125
Company Limited
EEREERERAA Tsingdao Brewery Shi Ye Co., Ltd. 29,049,278 6,954,577
EERABAIRARLDE Tsingdao Brewery Engineering Co., Ltd 187,292 —
EREECEM) ER QA Tsingdao Brewery (Zhangzhou) Company Limited 38,993,087 —
CEl Total 102,699,906 28,198,991
BHCEAAEEREHR Advertising services provided by a related company:
BERE
SEBBESEERFRAE Tsingtao Brewery Advertising Co., Ltd. — 36,077,725
HBCERAEERAR Equipment installation services provided
TERIERE - by a related company:
EEREIRERAT Tsingtao Brewery Engineering Co., Ltd. 70,000 —
BHMEEAAERER Guarantees provided by related companies
RUEMER: for the Group’s bank loans:
AREHEERA S - Asahi Breweries Limited, ltochu Corporation, —_ 125,000,000
BEFBEBEWHRAEL - Sumikin Bussan Corporation
BAEEYEKRAEH
EERRBEHEERLQA Tsingtao Brewery Group Co., Ltd. 4,617,237 875,005,661
B Total 4,617,237  1,000,005,661

AREHETRRINERRRBEH LR
BZEOUTEERERSTEER -

by the Group are determined based on market price.

The pricing of all the sales or purchases made to/from related parties
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REERBSEERLGAAAF—EE
FRES®E(BM)
EERWEFERG
105,000,000TTR ER - RZEE=F+=

Tsingtao Brewery Group Co., Ltd., has provided a guarantee for an

BEHEBR AT ER  accounts receivable repayment plan of RMB105,000,000 due from
TERETHOARE  acustomer and Tsingtao Brewery (Guangzhou) General Agency Co.

Ltd. As at 31st December, 2003, approximately RMB68,108,000 of

A=+—8 HZEUFREESE0BRE the balance (deducting the related provisions) was still outstanding,
BRER) RHARE68,108,0007T « 15K  please refer to Note 7.

BieE7 o

b) BEE _TE=FE+_f=+—-BX&EH
HEARHCENERRERGBANT ¢

2003
ARHE
RMB

%5
Group

rER

BEHE

Maximum

balance

2002 for the year

AR% AR

RMB RMB

(b) As at 31st December, 2003, the Group had the following

significant current balances with related and associated companies:

AL
Company
2003 2002
ARX AEE
RMB RMB

LB EBEE Included in short-term
(ERERER investment (entrusted
ET (H ) loans) (Note (i))
ESEE (HM) Tsingtao Brewery (Yangzhou) 66,450,000 76,490,000 76,490,000 66,450,000 76,490,000
AERA Company Limited
BREPREUWEDR  Included in accounts receivable
REERERA ©  and long-term accounts
receivable:
BEBEE (EM) Tsingtao Brewery 86,860,810 92,560,810 92,560,810 86,860,810 92,560,810
BERERR D (Guangzhou) General
(B(a) Agency Co., Ltd.
{Note (a))
ILREB@EHE  Beijing Tsingtao Brewery 11,245,784 11,245,784 11,245,784 11,245,784 11,245,784
BAREELAA General Agency Co., Ltd.
ERWETE Tsingtao Brewery 1,553,781 156,652 1,553,781 1,553,781 156,652
AR LA Shi Ye Co., Ltd.
EBEE (M) Tsingtao Brewery 156,000 156,000 156,000 156,000 156,000
BR 2R (Zhangzhou) Co., Ltd.
BBRE M) Tsingtao Brewery 1,086,850 1,086,850 1,086,850 1,086,850 1,086,850
BERAT (Yangzhou} Company
Limited
&t Total 100,903,225 105,206,096 106,603,225 100,903,225 105,206,096
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£EE AF
Group Company
FER
BEHE
Maximum
balance
2003 2002 for the year 2003 2002
AR#% AR# AR® ARH% ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB RMB
BEREAEWRZA  Included in other receivables:
BEREFERLA  Ou Mei lnvestment 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000
Company Limited.
BERUTETIEAE  Liaoling Anshan Municipal 877,186 — 877,186 — —
EEKEBHEAT  Light Assets Operating
State Owned Co., Ltd,
T KE A T & Sichuan Huo Ju Hua Gong 2,204,706 — 2,204,706 - —
AR Company Limited,
BEREEENEEE Tsingtao Brewery Property - 620,736 620,736 — 620,736
BERAH Management Co., Ltd.
EEL Y Tsingtao Brewery 208,373 19,061,291 19,061,291 208,373 19,061,291
ERAA Shi Ye Co., Ld.
ATEHBE Xian Hans Beverages Co., Ltd. 126,479 55,167 126,479 — —
FEEE (BM) Tsingtao Brewery - 6,544 6,544 — 6,544
ERELDF (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd.
E8BRELERE  Tsingtao Brewery 3,037,775 — 3,037,775 10,775 —
BRAQE Advertising Co., Ltd.
EREREEE Tsingtao Brewery Group 2,936,756 — 5,321,661 240,146 —
BB LA Company Limited
ESEBETIR Tsingtao Brewery 248,154 1,538,070 1,859,473 248,154 1,538,070
BRRA Engineering Co., Ltd.
BEWEYMELE  Tsingtao Brewery 2,938,525 2,938,525 2,938,525 2,938,525 2,938,525
ARDF Trading Co., Ltd.
BEEBLEK (ME)  Fuzhou Niang Brewery 5,679 — 5,679 — —
MABRRAE (Singapore) Co., Ltd.
EERECEM) Tsingtao Brewery (Zhangzhou) 15,524,000 11,500,000 15,524,000 11,500,000 11,500,000
BRLFE Company Limited
REWAMEHK Zhuhai Doumen Huang Mei 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000 - —
CEEERE Enterprise Group Company
EEREREDE Tsingtao Brewery Real 10,000,000 5,000,000 10,000,000 10,000,000 5,000,000
BR22H Estate Co., Ltd
At Total 45,107,633 47,720,333 68,584,055 27,145,973 42,665,166
BERTEMEZRA © Included in prepayments:
EEREIR Tsingtao Brewery 1,189,240 — 1,189,240 - —
BERDA Engineering Co., Ltd.
BERER Included in advances from
B customers;
FEELEAESE Liaoling Shenging Tsingtao 3,073,220 — 3,073,220 —
BEE Brewery Sales Company
ARDE Limited
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2E 27
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
ARH AR ARH ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB

BRRNEBENRER

Included in other payables

REEARA and long-term payables
E&BETIR Tsingtao Brewery 52,608 967,023 -~ —
Vo N] Engineering Co., Ltd.
EEREEE Tsingtao Brewery 25,099,396 2,580,320 — 2,580,320
g N Group Co., Ltd.
EBWERME  Tsingtao Brewery - 8,930 - 8,930
BB Real Estate Co., Ltd.
IHDHEEEE  Jiangsu Peixian State 441,187 1,028,000 - —
BERT Owned Operations
Centre
LERESBAE  Beijing Asia Shuang He 50,944,166 26,472,083 - —
=RRG Sheng Five Star Three
R Ring Beer Co., Ltd.
EEBEHE Tsingtao Beer and Asahi 136,618 — 136,618 —
KRBEBRDF Beverage Company
Limited
EREREEXR Tsingtao Brewery 8,000 — 8,000 —
BRDA Shi Ye Co. Ltd
EEBENE Tsingtao Brewery Property 3,700 — 3,700 —
EEBBRAE Management Co., Ltd.
ELETMAEA Carlsherg Asia Private 11,822 — 11,822 —
BRDA Co. Ltd
mJNACBILTH  Sichuan Huo Ju Hua 3,393 - — -
BRAE Gong Co. Ltd.

A-BDE] A-B Company 124,047,480 — -~ —_
& &t Total 200,748,370 31,056,356 160,140 2,589,250
BEREMERA ©  Included in accounts payable:

EEMEMEKE  Tsingtao Brewery Trading 2,136,104 591,650 2,136,104 591,650

BERF Co., Ltd.

BEREERR Tsingtao Brewery Shi Ye 528,410 89,686 450,582 40,686

BRALA Co. Ltd.

o AE L TR Sichuan Huo Ju Hua 370,730 282,904 — —

FRLF Gong Co. Ltd.

EBBETR Tsingtao Brewery 280,892 271,265 — —

ARLDA Engineering Co., Ltd.

EERHRELEE Tsingtao Brewery 26,664 — 26,664 —

BRDE Advertising Co., Ltd

WERBHEFEE  Shangdong Weifang Lanzai 82,788 — — —

ERDE Brewery Company Limited

ERECERE Beijing Asia Shuang He 13,966,225 — - —
WEEE L Sheng Five Star Beer
Group Co.
EEREHA Tsingtao Beer and Asahi 12,672 — — —

RmBER DA Beverage Company Limited

&t Total 17,404,485 1,235,505 2,613,350 632,336
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BR@QEMINER  ARERARREM
BRBCEOEREHERRIABELE
RHE - MAIFE -

) BE-BT=F+-A=+—8 %2
BEBTARBRIUNEFETFEH
HIAR® 66,450,000t (ZEFZF + AR
#76,490,00070) ER T — o kil
EFRERE-FNIE - 28RTEE
R

BEAT

|

iRZET=F+F  FEQFTRABL
ART-DERGE - BEZWE  A-BA
8B R ES£ 15000000 (HARE
124,047,0007C) ([B51) PHEELRE - &
BRHEMNER1% EHF  EXHAR
FoARACRAZENCBEEREEER

—
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D

MW%4lﬁﬁ'@$ﬂﬂ%%%%£

¥%F T Ei—ﬂ%ﬁ’&ﬁé“
ZEFT A+ -HUEEERTRK

ﬁ%WM“T $§lﬁﬁ®”7#$¢

ERNEERZWOT -

Except for the amount mentioned in (a), the Group’s and the
Company's current balances with related companies are unsecured,

non-interest bearing and they have no fixed repayment term.

(i) As at 31st December, 2003, the Company had provided
approximately RMB66,450,000 (2002: RMB76,490,000) entrusted
loans to an associated company, respectively, through the Bank of
Communications. All the entrusted loans are interest free, unsecured

and they will mature within one year.

(ii) In October 2003, Hong Kong Company entered into a loan
agreement with A-B Company, pursuant to which, Hong Kong
Company borrowed a loan of US$15,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB124,047,000) (the “Loan”) from A-B Company.
The Loan is interest bearing at 1% per annum, unsecured and
repayable within five years. The Company has undertaken to

guarantee the repayment of the Loan.

(c) As detailed in Note 4(e), the equity transfer process of Tsingtao
Brewery (Nanning) Company Limited (“Nanning Company”) was
completed in January 2004. As a result, the company had not been
accounted for as an associate for the vear ended 31st December,
2003. The Group had the following material transactions with

Nanning Company in the current year:

2003 2002
AR¥ AE#¥
RMB RMB
BERTLEBURAR Included in Turnover 8,074,221 9,150,067
BEREIEEBNAR Included in Cost of sales 257,249,002 231,185,298
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the Group and Nanning Company were as follows:

As of 31st December, 2003, the current balances maintained between

2003 2002
BERERERRA included in accounts receivables 3,844,839 2,148,310
BRENERA Included in accounts payables — 4,611,675
BEREMELRA Included in other receivables 20,515,200 66,201,494
BEREREIA Included in prepayment 34,471,657 -

BRERERME

BE_ZE-F+_A=+—-HILEE -

35.NOTES TO CASH FLOW STATEMENTS

AEINNEAMEELZDEEAREITE  include:

Cash payments for other operating activities during the year mainly

B
XfHEE Types of payment
AEH YN
Group Company
AR®E ARH
RMB RMB
BEEH Advertising expenses 264,365,518 108,753,544
EHEA Transportation expenses 78,672,637 5,606,062
28 Selling expenses 464,449,357 51,479,449
EHEHR General and administrative expenses 148,795,597 58,201,239
H it Others 278,227,955 33,368,518
B Total 1,234,511,064 257,408,812
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36.7A5TEE

@ REEFREEEMEAR-AANE
BREBLIEHEXENRE IETR
BERAEEYAEEE  WERDEEE
CREFABEREBRNBINERE
M-R-_ZE=FT-A=+—-0H  F§
BRARENATKZSHENRE -
AEERELRTABBRIEMERMFE
EOEERMUNGTE - REHENE
Rt EZE€RRLAKERTLAET
ARZEEEIERBLHEINEAE
BxNAENEEE R ELRE -

b RZBE—5+—-F KRE]—E2#H
BURESADEURERAREREFA
DR UALRREREHEHARAHERA
F#134,870,0007C « AARIELEHTPER
BECEENTAR  UREBTREF UEA
BERRERAREREREREHE T M
MEHEAR TEREAXTEARETR
BRER SAREZ -BEARTES
ERENEHBRBHL ZREEB L
MERAME ARG BB R DRIEL T EE0E -
ARRESERLETEBRERFLANEE
BERMNERARRRBEFILITEALNE
BRReERTREANERATE -

36. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a) Pursuant to certain policies for housing reform issued by the
State Council and Qingdao Municipal Government in 1998, the
policy of allocating staff quarters as welfare benefits of the employees
was terminated. In replacement, qualified employees are to be
compensated in the form of monetary housing subsidies (“Housing
Reform”). As at 31st December, 2003, no formal plan had yet been
developed by the Group and the Company, and no plans had been
announced by the Group and the Company to their employees in
respect of the arrangement. After seeking legal advice, the Company’s
board of directors are of the opinion that the Group and the
Company had no obligation to make any payment or provision for
such monetary housing subsidies as at 31st December, 2003 and

there is no reasonable basis to accrue for any potential liabilities.

{b) In November 2001, a distributor of the products of the Company
( “the Claimant”) filed a lawsuit with the Shandong Municipal Higher
People’s Court (“the Court”) against the Company. The Claimant
sued the Company for breach of a sales and distribution contract
(“the Contract”) and claimed for damages of approximately
RMB134,870,000. The Company denied the claim and it also filed
a counter claim against the Claimant for delayed settlement of the
outstanding receivable balances arising from sale of goods to the
Claimant. In addition, the Company also demanded for a termination
of the Contract, repayment of the outstanding receivable balance,
as well as return of certain motor vehicles and beer-selling machinery
previously provided to the Claimant by the Company. As of the date
of approval of these accounts by the board of directors, no verdict
had yet been made by the Court. After consultation with the
Company’s legal advisor, the directors are of the opinion that the
proceeding is not expected to lead to any material negative impact

on the operating results of the Group and the Company.
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RREFHRABIANEAT LR ELHE

37. COMMITMENTS

As of 37st December, 2003, the Group and the Company had no

capital commitments which were authorised but not contracted and

provided for:

The Group’s and the Company’s capital and operating lease

commitments which were contracted but not provided for are as

EEGENT follows:
4 D H
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AEH ARE ARE AR
RMB RMB RMB RMB
BREGA Capital commitments
— BETRE — Construction projects 33,301,097 94,561,000 13,189,086 28,739,000
—RERWELE  — Investments and 9,950,000 98,000,000 — 98,000,000
acquisitions
NE Sub-total 43,251,097 192,561,000 13,189,086 126,739,000
ESEHAR Expense commitments 572,578 — 447,550 —
(Advertising plans)
REEEAR Operating lease commitments — 151,000 — 151,000
—FEUR payable less than one year
A& Total 43,823,675 192,712,000 13,636,636 126,890,000

MM EA@FRE - AEEZERTF QT
— [BERFIAXREERLAEHENE
B

As detailed in Note 4(a)(ii), Xian Company, a subsidiary of the

Group, committed to take up the responsibility of the related

operating cost of Baoji Company.
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@ RZTEZETABANERTRE
Qﬂﬁi%ﬁﬁ&’éﬁq\ﬁﬂ@éé\ﬁﬁix—%ﬁ‘?
HEECE —BFERE(RYD)EBRAT
HEMEZRAAR10,000,00008 - EF K
PEHERREC BN -_TTRF— A
+mEHEARE7,0000007TRARE
3,000,0007T ©

b) RZZEZNE=ZA=+—H  AQFM
A-BRARIZETE=SMN A RRES -
RELEAH254,138,0008 T (FAHA
K #270,835,0007T) °

(00 RZEE=F+-A KREHEHEFEE
BLaERE ARERBHLFES
#E AR¥9,500,0007T ' EEEBE DT
B R R E500,0007T @ EEE - B
RAGMEAESE ARE10,000,0007T 8
ANZE20,000,0007T - EHELEFEE R
TTHFE=ZRA%RMK -

g5k Zﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ%}ﬁhﬁﬂﬂ%%ﬁﬁ%
BEHEREERAR - REETHE

[T/ Tfu%ﬁ%@ D REE RS
NE9I5%FI5%AIIRE o B FREEER - £
MREEETETERED -

d) RZZZEZF+ZR  ARFEEHFER
ﬂ&@%&ﬁ%lﬁﬁ&’ B SN
EE(REEEGR) AT ERA DN
& AR %2,000,0007T % 500,0007C i E &
ERTRARFBENENRE20%F5%
B iR A2 o

38.EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

(a) According to a board resolution passed in October 2003, the
Company together with Huanan Holding Company, a subsidiary of
the Company, agreed to set up a foreign invested enterprise —
“Tsingdao Brewery (Changsha) Company Limited” in Wunan
Province of the PRC with a registered capital of RMB10,000,000.
Both the Company and Huanan Holding Company invested
RMB7,000,000 and RMB3,000,000 on 14th January, 2004,

respectively.

(b) On 31st March, 2004, the Company issued the remaining portion
of Tranche Il of CB to A-B Company at a consideration of
approximately HK$254,138,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB270,835,000).

{c) In December 2003, the Company entered into an agreement
with TB Group Company, pursuant to which, the Company will
inject cash of RMB9,500,000 into Langfang Company, while TB
Group Company will invest RMB500,000 by converting debts into
equity interests. After their additional capital injection, the registered
capital of Langfang Company will be increased from RMB10,000,000
to RMB20,000,000. The additional capital contribution procedures
were completed in March 2004.

In addition, the Company will transfer all 95% of its shareholdings
in Langfang Company to Xian Company. After the transaction, Xian
Company and TB Group Company hold 95% and 5% of the shareholdings
of Langfang Company respectively. The legal procedures of such equity

interest transfer were still in progress as at year end.

(d) In December 2003, the Company and Hong Kong Company
entered into an equity transfer agreement with Ou Mei Investment
Group Company Limited (“Ou Mei Company”), pursuant to which,
Hong Kong Company acquired 20% and 5% interests of Xiamen
Company held by the Company and Ou Mei Company at
considerations of RMB2,000,000 and RMB500,000, respectively.
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RZZEZWFZR  ARARNEERT S
RimEM A EIEEARK60,000,0007T
20,000,0007T ° &% - BAAAGZEME
@A AR®I10,000000mT 0=
90,000,0007T * EHR KR EH B 75%K
B BERETERTFH%RE LR
BEERELEEECESTEEEHT R

in February 2004, the Company and Hong Kong Company injected
additional capital of RMB60,000,000 and RMB20,000,000 into
Xiamen Company. After this additional capital injection, the
registered capital of Xiamen Company was increased from
RMB10,000,000 to RMB90,000,000. The Company and Hong Kong
Company then hold 75% and 25% equity interests of Xiamen

Company, respectively. The above equity transfer and additional

FIavdtE - BRARIGEMEZEAFTI  capital injection were approved by relevant PRC government
RELE ITHEELZLEFELEEMNE  authorities and Xiamen Company was changed to a sino-foreign
e joint venture enterprise. The change of business registration is still

in progress.

OHBAELENBEENENE 39.NET PROFIT AFTER EXTRAORDINARY GAINS AND LOSSES

-] L HE
Group Company
2003 2002 2003 2002
AR% AR ARE ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
EFE Net profit 253,871,661 230,657,385 245,280,600 223,254,102
OE) FFBEM Add (less): Extraordinary
BRIEH gains and losses
—RERBBE  — losses/(gain) on 12,645,279 14,631,223 4,339,107 4,538,102
RE BE disposal of
BE &R long-term equity
IR EFE investments, fixed
EE - -Hip assets, construction
EHEE in progress and other
E:08 PN long-term assets
— BFEE — Subsidy income (62,885,064) {96,812,054) — —
— HENES — Interest income from — — (5,106,803) —
ERE entrusted loans
— EEMGA — Non-operating income  (3,584,610) (4,757,747) (561,367) {211,956)
(TBE (excluding gain on
REET disposal of fixed
EEUE) assets)
— EEIHR — Non-operating expense 10,734,465 16,107,313 3,153,379 1,312,171
(TER {excluding loss on
BEERT disposal of fixed
EERE) assets)
N Subtotal 204,781,731 159,826,120 247,104,916 228,892,419
FEEMESN Tax effect on extraordinary 16,199,677 23,374,317 (273,647) (845,748)
REREEH gain and losses
HBRFE R Net profit before 220,981,408 183,200,437 246,831,269 228,046,671

BREOFNE

extraordinary gains
and losses
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40. HEBEZF

REBRBTEARANBSHBERT
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AEH - itoh - BB S HHRNT0R
BECRAFERRANKEN LS
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40. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

The Group has prepared the accounts in accordance with the
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises “Events After the
Balance Sheet Date” issued by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC.
The adoption of such changes is regarded as a change in accounting
policies thus resulted in changes in the presentation of certain items
and the comparative financial information has been restated
accordingly. Besides, certain items of the comparative financial
information have also been reclassified and disclosed in accordance

to the disclosure requirements in 2003.
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AUDITORS” REPORT ON SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
PROVIDED BY MANAGEMENT

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian Shen Zi {2004) No. 128
To the shareholders of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited,

We have audited the enclosed financial statements from page 148
to page 240 of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the Company)
as at 31st December, 2003. Unqualified audit opinion on these
financial statements signed under PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian Shen Zi (2004) No. 1475 has also been issued on 1st April,
2004. In accordance with the requirements of “Regulations on
information disclosures of publicly listed companies No. 15 —
general requirements of financial statements section 4 regarding
supplementary information” issued by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission, the Company prepared the enclosed
supplementary information. We have paid attention to information
disclosed in the supplementary information during our audit of
financial statements.

In our opinion, the information disclosed in the supplementary
information, in all material aspects, present information fairly and
consistently with those information disclosed in the financial
statements.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Co., Ltd.

Certified Public Accountant
Yu Kong

Certified Public Accountant
Liuzhou Xu

Tst April, 2004
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MEEEURENSREEER (1) RETURN ON EQUITY AND EARNINGS PER SHARE INDEX
B2 - TFE-F#+_-/A=+—8H For the year ended 31st December, 2003
L1 247
Group Company
RRERZE sRUE FRENHER sRus
Return on Equity Earnings Per Share Return on Equity Earnings Per Share

LEEE NETH 2E8%F hHEYS :EEE NEYS 2EEY NEYY

BET=A For the year ended Fully ~ Weighted Fully  Weighted Fully  Weighted Fully  Weighted
ZT-RLFE 31st December Diluted ~ Average  Diluted  Average  Diluted  Average  Diluted  Average
k- 2 2003

TEEBFR  Gross profit 67.95%  72.07% 22526 23295 25.20%  26.68%  0.8420  0.8707
EENE Operating profit 11.65%  12.36%  0.3863  (.3995 7.96% 8.43% 02660  0.2751
FHE Net profit 7.22% 7.66% 02395 0.2477 6.93% 7.33% 02314 0.2393
HBELEEE  Net profit before 6.29%  6.67% 02085 02156  697%  7.38% 02329 0.2408

BEMENE  extraordinary items

i a2 2002

TEEEFE  Gross profit 67.66%  69.20% 21633 21633 25.03%  25.57% 08094  0.8094

EEHA Operating profit 1017%  1040% 03252 03232 8.54% 8.72% 02760 02760

ENE Net profit 7.21% 7.38% 02307 0.2307 6.90% 7.05% 02233 02233

MBRFERR  Netprofit before 5.73% 586% 01832 0.1832 7.05% 720% 02280 0.2280
BHEEDEFNE  extraordinary items

FEEWRENERUER(LHAEITES  ROE and EPS are calculated based on the method specified in “Listed
RAEBNBEERHRAINE — FEEW  Companies Disclosure Regulation No. 9 — Computation and
RENMGRUENFERKE)FEE © Disclosure of ROE and EPS”.
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RQEEREEERH (2) ANALYSIS OF ASSET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES
(@) &M@ (a) Group
FHHE EEEM EERHE ERBE
Beginning of Write back/
EH Item year Additions offset End of year
ARK ARE AR% AR¥
RMB RMB RMB RMB
fE R BRE3% Accounts receivable 138,076,054 12,502,770 (27,131,364) 123,447,460
H fh FE MR Other recejvables 52,784,716 3,664,885 (2,130,048) 54,319,553
RERWREKRX Long-term accounts
receivable 21,191,858 — — 21,191,858
EEEESE Total provision 212,052,628 16,167,655 (29,261,412) 198,958,871
B for bad debts
BEaE Raw materials 1,562,106 1,643,043 (399,971) 2,805,178
ERR Finished goods 9,437,342 196,825 (584,587) 9,049,580
EmGE Other inventories 13,647,364 710,260 (1,082,197) 13,275,427
FEBRBEFAL  Total provision for 24,646,812 2,550,128 (2,066,755) 25,130,185
realisation loss
of inventories
EHRERE Provision for 4,061,918 2,992,862 — 7,054,708
BEZEE ) diminution of
long-term
investments(i)
EEREY Land and buildings 39,937,103 505,129 (7,698,698) 32,743,534
BELE Plant and machinery 55,699,149 45,210,288 {11,998,595) 88,910,842
BHRE Motor vehicles 2,690,550 587,159 (173,635) 3,104,074
BEEEREBEEHE Total provision for 98,326,802 46,302,576 (19,870,928) 124,758,450

impairment of
fixed assets




G TV N ANNUAL REFORT 2003

mrEER (&)

Supplementary Informations (Continued)
(R EETERBE) (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)
ZEB=FF (REHET) For the year ended 31st December, 2003 (Unaudited)

(b) &2 7] (b) Company
FHUHE AEEM FEHH EX$HH
Beginning of Write back/
EB ltem year Additions set off End of year
AR# ARE AR¥E ARE
RMB RMB RMB RMB
FEU R 3R Accounts receivable 70,556,695 7,563,443 (18,245,516) 59,874,622
H 4 & U 5K Other receivables 33,697,080 158,670 (1,441,663) 32,414,087
REARUEIER Long-term accounts
receivable 21,191,858 — — 21,191,858
EREGEA Total provision 125,445,633 7,722,113 (19,687,179) 113,480,567
for bad debts
R Raw materials 1,022,238 — — 1,022,238
FEKEBEBSE  Total provision for 1,022,238 — — 1,022,238
realisation loss
of inventories
EHRERE Provision for — 2,992,862 — 2,992,862
B L () diminution of
fong-term
investments (i)
R Plant and machinery 8,000,000 3,937,607 (5,052,807) 6,884,800
BERE Motor Vehicles — 5,950 — 5,950
EFTEERBELE Total provision for 8,000,000 3,943,557 (5,052,807) 6,890,750

impairment of
fixed assets

() ARABERENELERE LERARE

ERRERAR (ARARTEENEBR

RRE)BEBEMSRAEER -

{i) Provision for diminution of long term investment in current year

mainly arose from the recurring losses suffered by Shanghai

International Ming Jiu Development Corporation. (Other equity

investment of the Group and of the Company.)
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ERTEESENEER
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MBEEFREZN EMERNZIEZFNBE

EMEMT :
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(3) RECONCILIATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PRC GAAP AND

HK GAAP

Differences between PRC GAAP and HK CAAP give rise to
differences in the reported balances of assets, liabilities and net

profit of the Group. The financial effects of the material differences

between PRC GAAP and HK GAAP are summarised and explained

in the following table:

Impact on the consolidated balance sheet:

2003 2002
ARETFT ARBETT
RMB’000 RMB'000
(Htiz40)
(Note 40)
EYEeERFE, Net assets as per accounts 3,513,903 3,197,354
EEEE prepared under PRC GAAP
REEGER HK GAAP adjustments:
FriEz BE
RigfEe Rk Adjustments arising from different 141,253 141,253
FEEHEL exchange rates used under
RETRERR HK GAAP and PRC GAAP
EE7RE
EEXRGHAEA Additional depreciation charges for (117,927 (106,447)
BERZEN assets acquired before unification of
ETEETE the two-tier exchange rate system in the PRC
Re@esELHRE  Difference between the amortisation of (58,106) (46,153)
EEBHRRER investment differences under PRC GAAP
S ERFEZ and amortisation of goodwill and negative
BEREBEEH goodwill under HK GAAP
HAHEMEELRES  Adjustments arising from adoption of HKSSAP 12 (2,001) (1,216)
ERIE125%M
BEE7RE
HUEBRLARES Difference in accounting for the principal 938,231 —
HERFERR balance of convertible bonds and
TEE AR the corresponding interest
H Others (527) (585)
mEBEER Net assets as per accounts
FHEZFEE prepared under HK GAAP 4,414,826 3,184,206
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Supplementary Informations (Continued)
(R EEE 284S  (Prepared in accordance with PRC GAAP)
ZET=FE GRBEsT) For the year ended 31st December, 2003 (Unaudited)

HReHrERZEE Impact on the consolidated income statement:
2003 2002
AR®FT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
(B3t 40)
(Note 40)
RhEeHERFEY Net profit under PRC GAAP 253,872 230,657
ERE
BREESHER HK GAAP adjustments:
FriEZ SHE
FEETSEAEE Additional depreciation charges for assets (11,480) (11,480)
EHRMETEBITE  acquired before unification of the two-tier
exchange rate in the PRC
EHREEeEL Difference between the amortisation of (11,953) (12,443)
REZRBHER investment differences under PRC GAAP
RERGH and amortisation of goodwill and negative
RRFIELBER goodwill under HK GAAP
BREEENRAE
TRFLFER R Forfeited payable balances of subsidiaries 840 1,464
BEXRR
ARHNBEELR Adjustments arising from adoption of HKSSAP 12 (785) (571)
EREEIEAVE
MEEZAE
REBGHEE Difference in accounting for 14,493 —_
RIZHITAEIEANE interest of convertible bonds
ExER
H Others 58 14,347
BEEEEHER Profit attributable to shareholders under HK GAAP 245,045 221,974

AEZBEREERN
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Company Information

1HYEE  EERBROERAR 1.
HICRZTE ¢ TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED

Chinese Name: 5 5B BERGER 2 7

DEERERAN  FRE

3EFENEEB
ELHEBRR  RiEw

BEi  SETEATHRINBSEEAE

17205 BEEEHEE
BB E S 1 86-532-5713831
£ H : 86-532-5713240

B F{5#8 : secretary@tsingtao.com.cn

4G WREESHEMES6H

SARRELMRSA

AR EBBERSM
BEBE: 5B R : 600600
HER - EEBERSM

BEEE: E89E RE 0168

6ARLTMERELEHRE
FREFECAEERETRALEND

el

TERMBEH

(1) BEBCKESHEEHA

WU BEETRAFAE221E

(D EBEXKEFPREHANESHHERLE
WA PEHIEBPRRIBRFLTES 128

English Name: TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED
2. Legal Representative: Li Gui Rong

3. The Secretary to the Board of the Company: Yuan Lu

The Representative of Securities Affairs: Zhang Rui Xiang
Address: Room 1720, Tsingtao Beer Tower, May Fourth Square,
Central, Hong Kong Road, Qingdao, China

Telephone: 86-532-5713831

Fax: 86-532-5713240

E-Mail: secretary@tsingtac.com.cn

4. Registered Address: No.56,Dengzhou Road, Qingdao,
Shandong Province, P.R.C.

5. Listing of Shares:

A Share: Shanghai Securities and Stock Exchange

Stock Name in Short: Tsingtao Beer; Stock Code: 600600
H Share: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Name in Short: Tsingtao Beer; Stock Code: 0168

6. Custody of Unlisted Shares
China Securities Depository And Clearing Corporation Limited
Shanghai Branch

7. Accountants: .

(1) PricewaterhouseCoopers CPAs Co., Ltd.

Address: 22th Floor, Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong

(2) PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Co., Ltd.
Address: 12th Floor, Shui On Plaza, 333 Huai Hai Road Centre,
Shanghai
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8. Legal Adviser

(1) Johnson Stocks & Master,

Address: 16th-19th Floors, Prince’s Building, 10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

(2) Bejing Haiven & Partners,

Address: Room 1711, Silver Tower, No.2, Dong San Huan North
Read, Beijing, P.R.C.
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I. COMPANY INFORMATION

Registered Address

Office Address

Postcode

Stock Listing of
the Company

H Share

A Share
The Secretary to

the Board of the
Company

The Representative

of Securities
Affairs
Address

Telephone
E-Mail

Company Website

(a Sino-foreign joint stock limited company established

in the People’s Republic of China)

ANNOUNCEMENT

FOR 2003 ANNUAL RESULTS

No.56, Dengzhou Road, Qingdao, N 3
Shandong Province, P.R.C. E5% —
Tsingtao Beer Tower, May Fourth Square, = j
Hong Kong Road, Central, ‘"; =
Qingdao, Shandong Province, P.R.C. \

266071

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited,
Stock code: 0168

Shanghai Securities and Stock Exchange,
Stock code: 600600

Miss Yuan Lu

Mr. Zhang Rui Xiang

Room 1720, Tsingtao Beer Tower,

May Fourth Square, Hong Kong Road, Central,
Qingdao, Shandong Province, China
86-532-5713831; Fax: 86-532-5713240
secretary @tsingtao.com.cn

http://www.tsingtao.com.cn
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II. FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS (Unit: Thousand RMB, Except for number
of shares) '

(Unit: RMB’000)
(Prepared under HK GAAP)

2003 2002
Total Assets ' 8,923,569 © 8,892,456
Shareholders’ equity 4,414,826 3,184,206
Turnover ‘ 6,713,785 6,195,197
Profit attributable to shareholders 245,045 221,974
Fully Diluted earnings per share (RMB) 0.21 0.22

III. DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of RMBO.2 per share for the
year ended 31st December, 2003. The above proposal could only be put into
effect after approval of the Company’s 2003 Annual General Meeting.

IV. BUSINESS REVIEW

The beer market in China maintained a steady year on year growth of 6.4% in
2003 with annual beer output of 254 million hl ranking as the world’s No.1
beer market. The market share of large corporations continuously increased and
intensification was accelerated. Following the conclusion of the Strategic
Alliance between the Company and Anhenser-Busch Companies, Inc. (A-B)
foreign breweries enhanced their investment in China, which further
internationalized the beer market competition.

Under the principle of “Quality, Brand, efficiency & standardization”, the
Company realized further increases in all economic indexes based on the
significant growth in 2002. The annual beer output and sales amount of the
Company was 32.6 million hl with 9.2% year on year growth and the market
share of the Company was increased from 12.5% to 12.8%. Calculated in
accordance with GAAP of Hong Kong, the turnover of the Company was
RMB®6.7- billion with 8% year on year growth; net profit was RMB245 million
with 10% year on year growth; and export amount was 780 thousand hl with
15.7% year on year growth, representing over 50% of the nation’s total beer
export amount.
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In 2003, the “Year of Quality” of the Company, the management level of the
Company was significantly improved. After being awarded the “National Quality
Management Prize” in 2002, the Company passed the authentication of HACCP-
the international food security controlling system, ahead of other competitors
in beer industry in October 2003. Throughout the entire progress from purchase
of raw materials to production and delivery, the Company realized Zero-risk
through strict regulations on key quality controlling points. Till now, the
Company is the only brewery enterprise in beer industry that has passed the
international authentication of so called “Four System” including Quality,
Environment Protection, Security and Hygiene & Food Security.

Consolidation and development of the “Tsingtao Beer” brand was the Company’s
core strategy in 2003, pursuant to which, the Company spelt out the strategy of
brand orientation and brand development by formulating a five-year plan of
brand growing. Sales amount of Tsingtao Beer, the principal brand, has reached
10.6 million hl, and the secondary brands, which include “Laoshan”, “Hansi”
and “Shanshui”, have also been expanded. The sales amount of the top four
brands of the Company, “Tsingao Beer”, “Laoshan”, “Hansi” and “Shanshui”,
represents 53% of the total sales, which led to a more scientific and reasonable
brand orientation and product structure.

Basing on micro-market research, the Company consolidated its distribution
system and established a distribution network with core strength in local markets,
by which, the Company maintained its leading role in the national market with
continuous growth of sales market.

The Company benefits a lot from the conclusion of the strategic alliance with
A-B through adopting its successful operating experience and participation of
A-B’s staffs in the Company’s management structure.

With the establishment of Best Practice Exchange Group, the Company and A-
B further exchanged their experiences in process techniques, system efficiency
and etc. resulting in our management attention to “High Quality, Precision,
Existing Standard and Sophistication”, which has significant effect on promoting
quality assurance and cost control of the Company.

With the Company’s centenary, the Company thoroughly summarized and refined
its culture in the past 100 years together with domestic and overseas experts
and scholars. The exploration of hundred years’ culture of the brand enlightens
the development in new century. Branding as well as corporate culture has
become the significant compositions of the Company’s core competitiveness.

— 3
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The Company’s image has been enhanced by the popularity of corporate culture
films and series of books. Tsingtao Beer History Museum, established during
the Company’s century, is the only beer museum in China and has become the
history testimony for development of Chinese beer industry and coagulation for
characteristic culture of Tsingtao Beer. With the management principle of
“Integration of rigid and scientific management and harmonious interpersonal
relationship”, the development foundation of “Centennial reputation” and the
management theory of “Humanization”, the Company leads the development
trend of modern enterprises arousing public awareness.

After the conclusion of strategic alliance with A-B, respectively in April and
October 2003, pursuant to the Strategic Investment Agreement, the Company
issued to A-B Mandatorily Convertible Bonds in an aggregate of HK$1.162
billion, which contributes to the continuous development of the Company.

The impact of the Company in capital market has been greatly improved with
the widely approve from domestic and overseas investors in the Company’s
development strategies and investment value. Stock price of the Company’s H
shares was the highest among its 10 years’ listing to become the first listed
company who once had higher H share price than A share.

V.  BUSINESS PROSPECTS IN THE COMING YEAR

In 2004, Chinese beer market will face increasingly severe competition from
international large brewery groups, price inflation of energy and raw materials
also added to the burden of breweries on production and operation.

Facing various difficulties and challenges, the Company shall continue to
enhance internal system consolidation, optimize resource distribution with the
target of improving system efficiency by utilization of synergy effect ; Improve
utilization efficiency of inventory capitals by reorganizing the acquired
enterprises; Continue to optimize products and brands structure and enhance
sales amount and market competitiveness of the principal brand and the
secondary brands and promote brand image and vitality by brand consolidation;
Continue to consolidate value chain to search for new improvement measures
in every sector; Promote attentive management; Raise product selling price
timely under market research to offset the negative impact caused by price
inflation of raw materials and strive for a rich return to shareholders.

With the beginning of another 100 years, the Company launched the “Continuous
Development” Symposium and established the Company’s 2004 operation
principal “attentive management, enhanced execution, consolidation of value

Y -
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chain, promotion of exchange, continuous development and rebuilding of a new
base”. The Company dedicated to enhance its core competitiveness and
continuous developing capability and build a solid base for development.

Operating target of the Company in 2004: Beer output of 36 million hl, of
which 12 million hl is the principal brand. The Board considers this goal
pragmatic and steady, and the Company’s Senior Management has great
confidence in attaining such goal.

V. CHANGES OF SHARE CAPITAL & INFORMATION OF
SHAREHOLDERS

1.  Changes of Share Capital

On 2nd July, 2003, the Tranche I Convertible bond that the Company issued to
A-B in aggregate of HK$280,800,000 was converted to 60 million additional H
shares of the Company. Save as disclosed above, there were no other changes
on the share capital in the reporting period. As at 31st December, 2003, the
total share capital of the Company was RMB1.06 billion shares in RMB1.00
per share. The changes of share capital are as follows: |

Unit: 1,000 Shares

Increase/
Beginning  Decrease End of
of Period (+, =) Period
(1) Unlisted Shares
~ State-owned Shares 399,820 399,820
Domestic Legal 53,330 53,330
Sub-total of Unlisted Shares 453,150 453,150
(2) Listed Shares
RMB-Dominated
Ordinary Shares 200,000 200,000
Overseas Listed Foreign Shares 346,850 60,000 406,850
Sub-total of Listed Shares 546,850 60,000 606,850
(3) Total Listed Shares 1,000,000 60,000 1,060,000
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2. Shareholders

(1) At the end of the reporting period, the total number of the shareholders
of the Company was 92,605, out of which there are 610 H shareholders.

(2) The top 10 shareholders of the Company at the end of the reporting

period
At end of Percentage to
period total share
Name Type of Share (shares) capital (%)
Office of Qingdao

State-owned Assets

Administration Bureau A 399,820,000 37.72
HKSCC Nominees Limited H 293,981,380 27.73
Anheuser-Busch Companies

Inc. H 105,000,000 9.91
Bank of China, Shandong ‘

Province Branch A 29,250,000 2.76
Construction Bank of China,

Qingdao Branch A 19,080,000 1.80
E Fund Stable Growth Fund A 6,437,028 0.61
Rongtong New Blue Chip Fund A 5,025,025 0.47
Qingdao Huaging Financial

Service Company Limited A 5,000,000 0.47
Tonggian Fund A 4,976,131 0.47
Han Sheng Fund A 3,708,475 ' 0.35

VII. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

1. On the second EGM of the Company in 13th August, 2003, Mr. Stephen
J. Burrows was elected as the director of the 4th session Board of
Directors, Mr. Chu Zhen Gang was elected as an independent director of
the Company, and Mr. David Andrew Renaud was elected as a supervisor
of the 4th session Board of Supervisors. On the Meeting of Company
Staffs’ representatives held on 17th June, 2003, Mr. Huang Zu Jiang was
elected as the supervisor representing company staffs. On the ninth meeting
of the 4th session Board of the Company held on 28th October, 2003, Mr.
Sun Yu Guo (the director of the Board and Vice President of the Company)
was appointed as the Chief Accountant of the Company, Miss Jiang Hong

—6—
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(the Assistant President of the Company) was appointed as the Vice
President of the Company and Miss Yuan Lu (the Company’s Secretary)
was appointed as the Assistant Director of the Board.

2. Pursuant to the Strategic Investment Agreement entered between the
Company and A-B Company on 21st October, 2002, the Company shall
issue an aggregate of HK$1,416,195,342 Mandatory Convertible Bonds
to A-B in three tranches, and convert all bonds into additional H shares
of the Company within a specified period pursuant to the agreement.
Upon full conversion into the Company’s additional H shares, the
shareholding of A-B in the Company will be increased to 27%.

On 1st April, 2003, the Company issued Tranche I and Tranche II
convertible bonds to A-B pursuant to the Agreement. A-B subscribed the
above Tranches I and II convertible bonds in an aggregate of
HK$907,920,000, which was remitted to the specified account of the
Company on 1st April, 2003. On 21st October, 2003, the Company issued
the first sub-tranche of Tranche III convertible bonds to A-B in an
aggregate of HK$254,137,671, which was remitted to the specified account
of the Company on 21st October, 2003.

On 2nd July, 2003, Tranche I convertible bonds in the aggregate amount
of HK$280,800,000, which the Company issued to A-B, was converted to
60,000,000 new H shares at HK$4.68 per share. The above 60,000,000
new H shares represent 6% of the Company’s total capital share (1 billion
shares) before closing of Tranche I.

3.  No important litigations and arbitrations during the reporting period except
for those mentioned below

(1) In the reporting period, the Intermediate People’s Court of Qingdao made
a ruling in relation to the Company’s litigation with Qingdao Honglong
Trading Company Limited (“Honglong Company”) over the disputed
purchase orders. It was ruled that Honglong Company and its shareholders
should pay the outstanding amount of RMB15,105,047 for the beer
purchased. Honglong Company appealed to the Higher People’s Court of
Shandong (Shandong Higher Court) who ruled that Honglong Company
should pay the outstanding amount of RMB11,385,837 for the beer"
purchased with its capital. The Company appealed to the Higher People’s
Court of Shandong. Till now, there is no new significant progress.
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(2) The case of Guangming General Company suing the Company for the
breach of distribution contract as disclosed in the Company 2001 Annual
Report has no updated progress till now..

4.  Acquisition and disposal of assets of the Company during the reporting
period

(1) On 13th January, 2003, the Company signed “The Supplementary
Agreement of Equity Transfer” with Fujian Brewery (Singapore) Private
Company Limited (“Fuzhou Foreign shareholder”), pursuant to which the
Company was assigned 24% equity of Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou)
Company Limited (Fuzhou Company) held by Fuzhou foreign shareholder
in RMB40 million. The aforesaid “The Supplementary Agreement of
Equity Transfer” has been approved and put into effect by Fuzhou Foreign
Trade Cooperation Bureau and the registration in Industry and Commerce
Bureau has been altered. After the aforesaid equity transfer, the Company
holds 75% equity of Fuzhou Company and Fuzhou foreign shareholder
holds 25% equity of it.

On 18th December, 2003, Tsingtao Brewery (Hong Kong) Company
Limited (“Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong”), one of the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiaries, signed the “Agreement of Equity Transfer” with
Fuzhou foreign shareholder, pursuant to which Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong
was assigned 25% equity of Fuzhou Company held by Fuzhou foreign
shareholder in RMB41.67 million. The aforesaid “Agreement of Equity
Transfer” has been approved and put into effect by Fuzhou Foreign Trade
Cooperation Bureau and the registration in Industry and Commerce Bureau
has been altered. After the aforesaid equity transfer, the Company holds
75% equity of Fuzhou Company and Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong holds
25% equity of it.

(2) On 16th December, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with
Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited (Group), pursuant to which,
the Company will invest additional RMB9.5 million in cash to Tsingtao
Brewery (Langfang) Company Limited (I.angfang Company) and the Group
invested RMB500,000 by converting debt into shares. After the aforesaid
investment, the registered capital of Langfang Company will be increased
from RMB10 million to RMB20 million. The Company will transfer all
95% of its shareholdings in Langfang Company to Tsingtao Brewery
(Xi’an) Company Limited (Xi’an Company), pursuant to which, Xi’an
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Company and the Group respectively hold 95% and 5% of the
shareholdings of Langfang Company. The legal procedures of this equity
interest transfer is still in progress as at year end.

(3) On 22nd December, 2003, Tsingtao Brewery (Changsha) Company Limited
(“Changsha Company”) was established together by the Company with
Tsingtao Brewery Huanan Investment Company Limited (“Huanan
Investment”) with registered capital of RMB10 million, among which the
Company holds 70% of its equity by RMB7 million investment and Huanan
Investment holds 30% of its equity by RMB3 million investment. There
was no actual investment in the reporting period. Changsha Company
will be designed in accordance with production process of Tsingtao beer
with annual output capacity of 2 million hl beer. The first stage of the
Changsha Project will be designed with annual output capacity of 1 million
hl beer and RMB130 million investments.

5. Use of Proceeds

(1) The Company raised proceed in an aggregate of RMB787 million through
additional issue of 100 million A shares in 2001. Till the end of the
reporting period, only the draft beer project in Xi’an has not been started
yet due to the local market prospect, while the other projects have been
completed and begun to bring about profit. The remaining RMB128.2
million is temporally used for the Company’s cash flow.

(2) The capital raised from subscriptions of Convertible Bonds has not been
invested into any capital investment during the reporting period, while is
used temporarily as compensation of the Company’s cash flow.

6. During the reporting period, the Company had no material guarantee,
leases and capital management by entrustment.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company provided guarantee to its
subsidiaries in an aggregate of RMB494.51 million.

7. Leases and Entrustments
(1) On 20th January, 2003, Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Company Limited
(Tsingtao Xi’an Company), a subsidiary of the Company, and Shanxi

Baoji Brewery Co., Ltd (“Baopi Company”) entered into a Tenancy
Agreement, pursuant to which, Tsingtao Brewery Baoji Co., Ltd (Tsingtao

—9__
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Baoji), jointly established by the Company and Tsingtao Xi’an Company,
leased all the assets other than the current assets of Baoji Company for
operation at nil consideration. Tsingtao Baoji Company has an annual
production output of 3 million hl beer. Leasing of Baoji Company for
operation further enhances the market share of the Company in Northwest
China.

Tsingtao Baoji has a registered capital of RMB1 million, of which the
Company contributed RMB300,000 in cash, accounting for 30% of its
registered capital, and Tsingtao Xi’an Company contributed 700,000 in
cash accounting for 70% of its registered capital.

(2)  On 28th January, 2003, the Company and Tsingtao Beer Group Co., Ltd (
Group Co.) entered into the Operation and Management Entrustment
Agreement, whereby, management of the 80% interests in Tsingtao
Brewery (Yangzhou ) Company Limited ( Yangzhou Company) held by
the Group Co. was entrusted to the Company. The Group Co. undertook
that it would transfer the entire 80% interests in Yangzhou Company held
by it to the Company upon its request. Yangzhou Company was established
in November 1998 with registered capital of RMBS5 million, of which the
Company holds 20%.

8. Staff’s Lodgings

The Company and its subsidiaries pay lodging reserve to the staffs in
accordance with the related national regulations.

9. Subsequent Events

(1) On 31st March, 2004, the Company issued the Second Sub-tranche of
Tranche III convertible bonds to- A-B in an aggregate amount of
HK$254,137,671, which was remitted to the Company on the same date.
Up to this point, the Company has issued all the three Tranches
mandatorily convertible bonds to A-B in accordance with the Strategic
Investment Agreement.

(2) On 18th December, 2003, the Company and Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong
Company Limited entered into the Equity Transfer Agreement with QEA
Investment Group, pursuant to which, Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company
Limited acquired 20% and 5% interests of Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen)
Company Limited (Xiamen Company) held respectively by the Company
and QEA Investment Group in amount of RMB2 million and 500 thousand.

— 10 —
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In February 2004, the Company and Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company
Limited increased their investment in Xiamen Company respectively by
additional RMB60 million and RMB20 million. After the aforesaid activity,
the registered capital of Xiamen Company was increased from RMB10
million to RMB90 million, pursuant to which, the Company holds 75%
interests of Xiamen Company and Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company
Limited holds the remaining 25%. Xiamen Foreign Investment Bureau
has approved the above equity transfer and investment increase and Xiamen
Company has been changed to Sino-foreign joint venture enterprise. The
change of business registration is in progress.

(3) On 17th February, 2004, the Company entered into an agreement with
- EVG Enterprise Company Limited of Canada ( EVG), pursuant to which,
EVG will withdraw from Beijing Tsingtao Beer Sanhuan Company Limited
( Sanhuan Company); As a result, the Company has entered into the
Equity Transfer Agreement with Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company
Limited, pursuant to which, Tsingtao Beer Hong Kong Company Limited
will take up 25% equity of Sanhuan Company. New joint operating contract
and articles have been signed among the Company, Tsingtao Beer Hong
Kong Company Limited and Domestic shareholder of Sanhuan Company.
The aforesaid change of foreign shareholder of Sanhuan Company could
only be put into effect after approval of related government bureaus.

VIII. DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD, THE COMPANY HADN’T
PURCHASED, REDEEMED OR SOLD ANY OF ITS LISTED
SECURITIES.

IX. CODE OF BEST PRACTICE

The Company has complied with the Code of Best Practice as set out in Appendix

14 (Principle of Best Practice) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

regulated by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited.

X. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Prepared under HK GAAP)
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

As restated

2003 2002
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Turnover 2 6,713,785 6,195,197
Cost of sales (4,326,079) (4,031,922)
Gross profit 2,387,706 2,163,275
Other revenues, net 2 22,689 96,765
Distribution costs (1,265,814) (1,129,830)
Administrative expenses (618,167) (609,882)
Operating profit 526,414 520,328
Finance costs (101,799) (146,661)
Share of profits less losses
of associated companies (7,251) (5,059)
Profit before taxation 417,364 368,608
Taxation 3 (134,988) (109,317)
Profit after taxation 282,376 259,291
Minority interests (37,331) (37,317)
Profit attributable to shareholders 245,045 221,974
Dividends 4 220,000 110,000
Basic earnings per share b} RMB0.24 RMBO0.22
Diluted earnings per share 5 RMB0.21 RMBO0.22

— 12 —
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1. BASIS OF PREPARATION

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and comply with accounting standards issued by the Hong
Kong Society of Accountants (collectively referred to “HK GAAP”). They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention except that, certain fixed assets are
stated at fair value.

In the current year, the Group adopted the Statement of Standard Accounting Practice
(“SSAP”) 35 “Government Grant and Disclosure of Government Assistance” and SSAP
12 (revised) — “Income Taxes” issued by the HKSA which are effective for accounting

periods commencing on or after 1st July, 2002 and 1st January, 2003, respectively.

The Group considers that the consequential changes made to SSAP 35 does not have
a material impact on the account of the Group.

2. TURNOVER AND OTHER REVENUES, NET
Net revenues recognised during the year are as follows:

As restated

2003 2002

RMB’000 RMB’000

Turnover from sales of goods 6,713,785 6,195,197

Other revenues, net:

— Government grants (i) 62,885 96,812

— Profits from sales of scrap materials 10,836 11,613
— Other expenses (51,032) (11,660) .

22,689 96,765

Total net revenues 6,736,474. 6,291,962

(i) As part of the acquisition of certain subsidiaries of the Group in prior years,
the Group had entered into various agreements with the relevant municipal
governments. Under the terms of the agreements, these subsidiaries can enjoy
certain financial incentives granted by the relevant municipal governments,
mainly including financial subsidies determined based on the amount of tax
paid by those subsidiaries.

— 13 —
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3. TAXATION

(a) Profits tax

As restated

2003 2002
RMB’000 RMB’000
Current taxation
— Hong Kong profits tax (i) 1,514 916
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) (ii) 128,971 105,706
Write-off of deferred tax assets
previously recognised - 5,101 2,975
Less: Deferred taxation relating to
reversal of temporary differences (598) _ (280)
134,988 109,317
Reconciliation of statutory tax rate to effective tax rate:
2003 2002
RMB’000 RMB’000
Statutory tax rate 33% 33%
Loss sustained by subsidiaries 19% 18%
Effect of different taxation rates
in different regions (18%) (22%)
Others 2% ) 1%
Effective tax rate 32% 30%

(i) Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 17.5% (2002: 16%) on the
estimated assessable profit for the year. In 2003, the government enacted a change in
the profits tax rate from 16% to 17.5% for the fiscal year 2003/04.

(ii) EIT

EIT is provided on the estimated assessable income of the year calculated in accordance

with the relevant regulations of the PRC after considering all available tax benefits
from refunds and allowances.

— 14 —
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In accordance with an approval document dated 18th April, 1994 issued by the State
Administration of Taxation (“SAT”) of the PRC, net profit earned by the Company is
subject to EIT at 15%, effective from the date of establishment of the Company. This
rate will remain effective until and unless the enterprise income tax law and regulations
change otherwise. The Company received a confirmation from the Ministry of Finance
of Qingdao on 23rd March, 1997, stating that this preferential tax treatment would
not be terminated until further notice.

Tsingtao Brewery (Sanshui) Company Limited (“Sanshui Company”), Tsingtao Brewery
(Chenzhou) Company Limited (“Chenzhou Company”) and Shenzhen Tsingtao Beer
Asahi Company Limited (“Shenzhen Company”) were approved as enterprises with
foreign investment and therefore, they are exempt from EIT for two years starting
from the first profit making year after offsetting prior year tax losses, followed by a
50% reduction for the next three consecutive years thereafter. The current year was
the third profitable year of Shenzhen Company and the fourth profitable year for
Sanshui Company. Chenzhou Company was still in a loss position as at 31st December,
2003 and its tax holiday had not started.

Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company Limited (“Shenzhen Sales Company”) is
exempt from EIT for the first year starting from the first year of profitable operations
after offsetting prior year tax losses, followed by a 50% reduction for the next two
years. The current year was the third profitable year for Shenzhen Sales Company.

Tsingtao Brewery (Zhuhai) Company Limited and Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen) Co.,
Ltd. were established in the Zhuhai and Xiamen Special Economic Zones, respectively,
where they conduct their operations. Accordingly, they are subject to EIT at a reduced
rate of 15%.

Other subsidiaries of the Group which are established and operating in the PRC are
subject to EIT at a standard rate of 33% based on their respective assessable income
for the year.

(b) Value-added tax (“VAT”)

According to PRC VAT temporary regulations, the Group is subject to output VAT
which is calculated at 17% of the sales amount of tangible goods. The Group also
pays VAT on its purchases of raw materials and auxiliary materials (“input VAT”)
which is deducted against output VAT in arriving at the net VAT amount payable to
the PRC Government. In addition, the Group accrues and pays city construction tax
and educational surcharge based on 7% and 3% of net VAT amount payable,
respectively. '
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TSINGTAO BREWERY COMAPANY LIMITED ‘ FileNo.: 82 -4021

Document A
(¢) Consumption tax

The Ministry of Finance of the PRC and the SAT issued the “Notice for changes in
consumption tax for alcoholic products” (Caishui [2002] No. 84), which states that
for beer products with an ex-factory price (including packaging materials and related
deposits) of RMB3,000 or above per ton, the consumption tax is RMB250 per ton.
For all other beer products sold below that price, the consumption tax is levied at
RMB220 per ton.

4. DIVIDENDS

2003 2002
RMB’000 RMB’000
Dividends paid:
RMBO0.22 per share
(2002: RMBO.11 per share) 218,900 110,000
Dividends proposed:
Final dividend for 2003 of RMBO.2 per share
(2002 final dividend: RMBO0.22 per share) 212,000 220,000

At a board meeting held on 1st April, 2004, the directors proposed a final dividend of
RMBO.2 per share for 2003. This proposed dividend has not been reflected as dividend
payable in these accounts, but will be reflected as an appropriation of retained earnings
for the year ending 31st December, 2004.

S. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per share and diluted earnings per share are based
on the Group’s profit attributable to shareholders of approximately RMB245,045,000
(31st December, 2002: RMB221,974,000).

The basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of 1,030,000,000
(2002: 1,000,000,000 ordinary shares) ordinary shares in issue during the year. The
diluted earnings per share is based on 1,140,018,000 (2002: 1,000,000,000) ordinary
shares which is the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year plus the weighted average number of 110,018,000 (2002: Nil) ordinary shares
deemed to be issued if all outstanding convertible bonds had been converted into
shares.
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(Prepared under PRC GAAP)
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND PROFIT APPROPRIATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

(Unit: RMB)
Group Company
For the For the For the For the
year ended year ended year ended year ended
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
(Note 3) {Note 3)
Turnover 7,507,959,058 6,936,734,126  2,501,961,708 2,239,563,616

Less: Cost of sales

(4,326,079,119) (4,057,998,053)

(1,479,021,551) (1,300,509,858)

Sales tax and surcharges (794,174,167)  (715,461,433)  (130,468,140)  (129,609,561)
Gross profit 2,387,705,772  2,163,274,640 892,472,017 809,444,197
Add: Profit from

other operations 17,408,305 15,252,281 6,273,839 1,707,787
Less: Selling expenses (1,265,814,141) (1,129,830,493)  (401,214,941) (290,180,956)

General and

administrative expenses (623,973,170) (585,462,839) (171,977,938) (185,898,311)

Finance expenses, net (105,804,028) (138,061,671)  (43,595,347)  (59,064,501)
Operating profit 409,522,738 325,171,918 281,957,630 276,008,216
Add: Investment income 13,902,096 21,788,339 24,768,945 8,193,109

Subsidy income 62,885,064 96,812,054 — —

Non-operating income 15,590,708 7,061,072 1,134,132 347,683
Less: Non-operating expenses (75,688,418)  (73,384,088)  (12,008,808)  (13,986,000)
Profit before tax 426,212,188 377,449,295 295,851,899 270,563,008
Less: Income tax (135,587,139) (109,916,312)  (50,571,299)  (47,308,906)

Minority interests (36,753,388)  (36,875,598) — —
Net profit 253,871,661 230,657,385 245,280,600 223,254,102
Add: Unappropriated profits

brought forward 328,828,477 289,964,360 383,428,623 314,825,341
Unappropriated profits 582,700,138 520,621,745 628,709,223 538,079,443
Less: Transfer to surplus reserve (55,530,809)  (42,804,520)  (24,528,060)  (22,325,410)

Transfer to public

welfare fund (47,409,090)  (38,988,748)  (24,528,060)  (22,325,410)
Profit distributable to shareholders 479,760,239 438,828,477 579,653,103 493,428,623
Less: Dividends (220,000,000) (110,000,000) (220,000,000) (110,000,000
Unappropriated profits

carried forward 259,760,239  328,828.477 359,653,103 383,428,623
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(Prepared under PRC GAAP)

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

(Unit: RMB)

Current assets:
Cash and bank deposits
Short term investments
Bills receivable
Dividends receivable
Accounts receivable
Other receivables
Prepayments and deposits
Inventories
Deferred expenses

Total current assets

Long-term investments:
Long-term equity
investments
Including: Consolidation
difference
Long-term debt investments

Total long-term investments

Fixed assets:
Fixed assets at cost
Less: Accumulated
depreciation

Fixed assets, at
net book value
Less: Provision for
impairment of

fixed assets

FileNo.:
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Group Company
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
(Note 3) (Note 3)
932,900,408 854,370,803 257,825,760 279,656,206
66,450,000 76,640,000  1,693,587,616 307,325,817
50,883,184 65,899,125 5,454,500 71,100,000
— — - 10,675,440
165,204,439 167,721,734 173,908,573 175,696,705
307,667,155 241,222,559 250,308,891 543,500,751
134,349,330 170,229,496 16,793,506 25,684,354
1,305,503,104  1,223,807,108 271,753,489 269,435,098 -
14,123,395 13,749,025 5,662,480 3,630,557
LOTIOBLOLS 281360850 26BLO9ABIS 1686704928
(59,435,258)  (120,157,680) 1,629,446,381  1,627,507,671
(99,419,846)  (170,260,358) — —
- 34,366,631 - 34,363,631
(3435259 (85791049) 166381 1661871302
8,639,564,734  8,291,501,409  1,991,468,752  1,976,907,517
(3,390,796,250) (2,988,783,365) (1,026,501,139)  (948,475,228)
5,248,768,484  5302,718,044 964,967,613  1,028,432,289
(124,758,450)  (98,326,802) (6,890,750) (8,000,000)
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Fixed assets, net -
Construction-in-progress
Fixed assets in suspense

Total fixed assets

Intangible and other assets:
Intangible assets
Long-term deferred expenses
Long-term accounts
receivable

Total intangible
and other assets

Deferred taxation:
Deferred tax assets

Total assets

Current liabilities:
Short-term bank loans
Bills payable
Accounts payable
Advance from customers
Salary payables
Staff welfare payables
Dividends payable
Taxes payable
Other payables
Other liabilities
Accruals
Current portion

of long-term loans
Current portion
of convertible bonds

Total current liabilities

FileNo.:
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Group Company
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
{Note 3) {Note 3)
5,124,010,034  5,204,391,242 958,076,863  1,020,432,289
214,991,772 213,423,273 68,347,365 70,009,020
527,005 601,595 - —
S5339,528811 - 5418416110 1,026,424,228  1,090,441,309
685,135,590 716,614,284 150,514,709 152,167,569
6,084,362 6,826,905 2,579,200 2,980,400
53,808,142 63,808,142 53,808,142 63,808,142
745,028,094 787,249,331 206,902,051 218,956,111
- 5,101,358 — 5,101,358
9,002,202,662  8,938,615,600  5,544,067,475  4,663,075,008
1,302,612,990  2,669,481,347 579,369,000 946,000,000
525,449,509 435,628,227 99,384,500 124,375,903
646,912,821 651,512,581 105,475,575 97,174,668
129,067,846 147,982,572 52,082,206 42,701,386
13,855,730 12,502,898 - —
21,733,911 19,559,986 (7,687,456)  (11,579,431)
1,100,000 — 1,100,000 —
180,729,827 119,487,658 45,168,436 (3,180,514)
759,215,114 711,642,115 115,926,175 139,991,434
4,083,608 2,774,498 949,758 97,016
62,851,607 46,193,262 18,356,098 10,383,517
61,385,555 110,054,376 25,147,237 35,515,661
4,513,880 — 4,513,880 —
3719,512,398  4,926,819,520  1,039,785,409  1,381,480,140
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Group Company
31st December, 31st December, 31st December, 31st December,
2003 2002 2003 2002
' {Note 3) (Note 3)
Long-term liabilities:
Long-term bank loans 53,783,722 90,643,520 23,564,000 48,218,934
Convertible bonds 939,156,300 — 939,156,300 —
Long-term payable 124,047,480 — — —
Total long-term liabilities '1,116,987,502 90,643,520 962,720,300 48,218,934
Total liabilities 4,836,499,900  5,017,463,040  2,002,505,709  1,429,699,074
Minority interests 651,800,241 723,798,958 — —
Shareholders’ equity:
Share capital 1,060,000,000  1,000,000,000  1,060,000,000 1,000,000,000
Capital reserve 1,798,876,982  1,575,971,750  1,848,616,082  1,625,710,850
Surplus reserve 395,164,057 292,224,158 273,292,581 224,236,461
Including: public welfare fund 176,978,672 129,569,582 122,011,680 97,483,620
Unappropriated profits 259,760,239  328,828477 359,653,103 383,428,623
Cumulative translation ‘
adjustment 101,243 329,217 — -
Total shareholders’ equity 3513902,521  3,197,353,602  3,541,561,766  3,233,375,934
Total liabilities and o
shareholders’ equity 9,002,202,662  8,938,615,600  5,544,067,475  4,663,075,008

(Prepared under PRC GAAP)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31ST DECEMBER, 2003

(Unit: RMB)
Group Company
For the For the
year ended year ended
31st December, 31st December,
2003 2003
Cash Flow from Operating Activities:
Cash received from sales of goods
and rendering of services 8,692,193,560 3,064,060,503
Refund of taxes 73,973,859 15,378,237
Cash received relating to other
operating activities 545,544,687 169,729,028
Sub-total of cash inflows 9,311,712,106 _3,249,167,768
Cash paid for purchases of
goods and services (4,816,384,696) (1,928,743,426)
Cash paid for salaries and on
behalf of employees (586,847,730) (158,154,006)
Cash paid for various taxes (1,536,007,556) (307,304,569)
Cash paid relating to other
operating activities (1,234,511,064) (257,408,812)
Sub-total of cash outflows (8,173,751,046) (2,651,610,813)
Net cash flow from operating
activities LI37,961,060 597,556,955
Cash Flow from Investing Activities:
Proceeds from realisation of
investments 150,000 6,809,990
Return on investment 150,493 191,511,746
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 47,403,119 30,497,805
Cash received relating to other
investing activities : 4,020,296 55,412,289
Sub-total of cash inflows 51,723,908 284,231,830
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Cash paid to acquire fixed assets,
construction-in—progress,
intangible assets and
other long-term assets

Cash paid for investment
Cash paid relating to other
investing activities

Sub-total of cash outflows

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flow from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from equity investments
Proceeds from issuance of

convertible bonds
Proceeds from borrowings
Loan from a shareholder
Cash received relating to other
financing activities

Sub-total of cash inflows

Repayment of borrowings

Dividends and interest paid

Cash paid relating to other
financing activities

Sub-total of cash outflows

Net cash used in financing activities

Effect of changes in exchange
rate on cash

Net increase (decrease) in Cash
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Group Company

For the For the

year ended year ended

31st December, 31st December,

2003 2003
(467,672,727)  (83,667,344)
(86,101,319)  (50,344,001)

(25,433,169) (1,336,760,000)

(579,207,215) (1,470,771,345)

300,011,438 295,599,438
937,020,942 937,020,942
2,771,878,147 869,384,000
124,047,480 _
17,872,787 633,206
.4,150,830,794 2,102,637,586
(4,231,355,630) (1,265,729,735)
(376,843,171)  (248,585,304)
(77,471,646)  (19,969,733)

__(534,839,653) __ 568,352,814
e 34337 (200,700)
75,583,563 _ (20,830,446)
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1.  Basis of preparation of financial statements

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises and “the Accounting Regulations for
Business Enterprises” and related regulations (collectively referred to
“PRC GAAP”), promulgated by the Ministry of Finance of the PRC.

The Group has adopted the revised “Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises “Event Occurring After the Balance Sheet Date” from 1st
July, 2003 onwards. Prior to the adoption of the revised standard, proposed
dividend was recognised as a liability in the balance sheet even it was
declared after the balance sheet date. After 1st July, 2003, dividend payable
to shareholders is recognised in the period when the distribution plan is
approved by the shareholders’ meeting. The effect of the revised
Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises on the accounts of 2002
are as follows:

Group Company

Increase in the unappropriated profit
brought forward 110,000,000 110,000,000

Increase in the unappropriated profit
carried forward 220,000,000 220,000,000
Decrease in dividend receivable — 180,040,000
Decrease in dividend payable 299,592,776 220,000,000
Increase in long term equity investments — 180,040,000

2. Investment in subsidiaries

(a) For the year ended 31st December, 2003, the details of the newly acquired/
established subsidiaries are as follows:

Place
Date of establishment ~ Registered Equity interest
Name of acquisiio/  and principal  and paid-in ~ held by the Principal
new subsidiaries-  establishment  operation capital Company (%) activities
Directly Indirectly
held held
Tsingtao Brewery January 2003 Qingdao, the  RMBI0,000,000 —  53.75%  Warchousing,
Haifeng Warehouse PRC packaging
Company Limited and logistics

Tsingtao Brewery Janvary 2003 Baojt, the PRC  RMB1,000,000  30% 53.27% Manufacturing

Baoji Company and domestic
Limited (i) trading
of beer
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(i) In 20th January, 2003, the Company and Xian Company, a subsidiary, jointly
invested in a newly incorporated company, namely Tsingtao Brewery Baoji
Company Limited (“Tsingtao Baoji Company”), with an authorised capital
amounting to RMB1,000,000. The Company injected cash capital of
RMB300,000, which accounted for 30% of the total authorized capital while
Xian Company injected cash capital of RMB700,000, which accounted for the
remaining 70% for the total authorized capital.

Xian Company and a third party company, Baoji Brewery Company Limited
(“Baoji Company”) entered into a lease agreement in January 2003, pursuant to
which Baoji Company leases all its operating fixed assets and seconds its
employees to Tsingtao Baoji Company without any lease rentals consideration.
During the lease term, Tsingtao Baoji Company will bear all the operating
costs of Baoji Company relating to the leased assets and employees.

(b) In current year, there were changes in the equity interests of the following
subsidiaries held by the Company:

(1)  In 13th January, 2003, the Company entered into an agreement with Fujian
Brewery (Singapore) Pte Limited to acquire an additional 24% equity interest
in Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou) Company Limited (“Fuzhou Company™) at a
cash consideration of approximately RMB40,000,000. After the transaction, the
effective ownership percentage held by the Company in Fuzhou Company
increased from 51% to 75%.

In addition, in 18th December, 2003, Tsingtao Brewery (Hong Kong) Company,
a subsidiary of the Company, entered into an agreement with Fujian Brewery
(Singapore) Pte Limited to acquire the remaining 25% equity interest in Fuzhou
Company at a cash consideration of approximately RMB41,667,000. After the
transaction, Fuzhou Company became a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, with a direct equity interest of 75% and indirect equity interest of
25%, respectively.

(i1)) In 1st January, 2003, Tsingtao Brewery (Shanghai) Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, transferred 10% of its shareholdings in both Tsingtao
Brewery Huadong Shanghai Sales Company and Tsingtao Brewery Huadong
Hangzhou Sales Company to Tsingtao Brewery (Wuhu) Company Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, at cash considerations of RMB300,000 and
RMB100,000, respectively. Such transactions have changed the indirect
shareholdings of the Company in Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Shanghai Sales
Company and Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Hangzhou Sales Company from
94.53% to 94.05% each.
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@iii) In 21st July, 2003, the Company injected capital of RMB6,000,000 into Group
Import/Export Company and its registered capital was also increased to
RMB11,000,000. The shareholding of the Company in Group Import/Export
Company increased from 95% to 97.73% accordingly.

(iv) In 9th December, 2003, the Company disposed of all its equity interests in
Tsingtao Brewery Wuhan Company Limited (“Wuhan Company”) and Tsingtao
Brewery Fuzhou Sales Company Limited (“Fuzhou Sales Company”). Wuhan
Company and Fuzhou Sales Company were originally 95.22% and 95%, held

by the Company respectively.

3. Comparative figures

The Group has prepared the accounts in accordance with the Accounting Standards
for Business Enterprises “Events After the Balance Sheet Date” issued by the
Ministry of Finance of the PRC. The adoption of such changes is regarded as a
change in accounting policies thus resulted in changes in the presentation of certain
items and the comparative financial information has been restated accordingly.
Besides, certain items of the comparative financial information have also been
reclassified and disclosed in accordance to the disclosure requirements in 2003.

RECONCILIATION OF DIFFERENCES BETWEEN PRC GAAP AND HK

GAAP

Impact on the consolidated balance sheet:

Net assets as per accounts prepared under PRC GAAP

HK GAAP adjustments:

Adjustments arising from different exchange
rates used under HK GAAP and PRC GAAP

Additional depreciation charges for assets
acquired before unification of the two-tier
exchange rate system in the PRC

Difference between the amortisation
investment differences under PRC GAAP and
amortisation of goodwill under HK GAAP

Adjustments arising from adoption of
HKSSAP 12

Difference in accounting for the principal
balance of convertible bonds and

the corresponding interest
Others

Net assets as per accounts prepared
under HK GAAP
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As restated

2003 2002
RMB’000 RMB’000
3,513,903 3,197,354

141,253 141,253
(117,927) (106,447)
(58,106) (46,153)
(2,001). (1,216)

938,231 —

(527) (585)
4,414,826 3,184,206
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Impact on the consolidated profit and loss account:

Net profit under PRC GAAP

HK GAAP adjustments:

Additional depreciation charges for assets
acquired before unification of the two-tier
exchange rate system in the PRC

Difference between the amortisation of
investment differences under PRC GAAP
and amortisation of goodwill under HK GAAP

Forfeited payable balances of subsidiaries

Adjustments arising from adoption
of HKSSAP 12

Difference in accounting for interest of
convertible bonds

Others

Profit attributable to shareholders under HK GAAP

Qingdao, People’s Republic of China
Ist April, 2004
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As restated

2003 2002
RMB’000 RMB’000
253,872 230,657
(11,480) (11,480)
(11,953) (12,443)
840 1,464
(785) (571)
14,493 —
58 14,347
245,045 221,974
Li Gui Rong
Chairman

The Company’s 2003 Annual Report carrying the documents regulated by
Paragraph 45(1) and paragraph 45(3) in Appendix 16 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities will be published, in appropriate time, on http://
www.hkex.com.hk- the net site of Hong Kong Stock Exchange Limited.

Please also refer to the published version of this announcement in The Standard.
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TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED

(a Sino-foreign joint stock limited company established in the People’s Republic of China)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Board of Directors of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the
“Company”) has resolved that the Annual General Meeting of the Company be held at the Conference
Room, Tsingtao Brewery, 56 Dengzhou Road, Qingdao, Shangdong Province, the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) on 8 June 2004 (Tuesday), at 9:00 a.m. for the conduct of the following business:

1.
2.

[SS]

To consider and approve the work report of the Board of Directors of the Company for the year 2003.

To consider and approve the work report of the Supervisory Committee of the Company for the year
2003.

. To consider and approve the audited financial statements of the Company for the year 2003.
. To consider and approve the proposal for the profit distribution (including cash dividends) for the year

2003.

. To consider and approve the appointment of PriceWaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian as the Company’s

domestic auditors for the year 2004 and PriceWaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong as the Company’s
international auditors for the year 2004, and to authorize the directors to fix their remuneration.

. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as a special resolution to authorize the Board

of Directors of the Company to issue additional H Shares, the overseas listed foreign shares of the

Company listed on The stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, up to a maximum of 20 % of the

aggregate nominal value of the H Shares in issue:

“THAT:

(a) subject to paragraphs (c) and (d) below, the exercise by the Board of Directors of the Company during
the Relevant Period (as defined in paragraph (e) below) of all the powers of the Company separately or
concurrently to allot, issue and deal with overseas listed foreign shares be and is hereby approved;

(b) the approval in paragraph (a) above shall authorize the Board of Directors of the Company to make an
offer or agreement or grant an option during the Relevant Period which would or might require
overseas listed foreign shares to be allotted and issued either during or after the end of the Relevant
Period;

(c) the aggregate nominal value of overseas listed foreign shares allotted or agreed to be allotted (whether
pursuant to an option or otherwise) by the Board of Directors of the Company pursuant to the approval
in paragraphs (a) and (b) above, otherwise than pursuant to (i) a rights issue (as defined in paragraphs
(e) below); (ii) the exercise of the conversion rights under the terms of any securities currently in issue
which are convertible into overseas listed foreign shares of the Company; (iii) the exercise of rights of
subscription under the terms of any warrants issued by the Company; or (iv) any scrip dividend or
similar arrangement providing for the allotment of overseas listed foreign shares in lieu of the whole or
part of a dividend on overseas listed foreign shares of the Company in accordance with the articles of
association of the Company, shall not exceed 20 % of the aggregate nominal value of the overseas
listed foreign shares in issue of the Company at the date of the passing of this resolution;

{d) the approval in paragraph (a) above shall be conditional upon the approval of the China Securities
Regulatory Commission being obtained by the Company;

(e) for the purpose of this special resolution:

“Relevant Period” means the period from the passing of this special resolution until whichever is the

earlier of:

(i) the conclusion of the next annual general meeting of the Company following the passing of this
special resolution;




(i1) the date falling 12 months following the passing of this special resolution; or
(iii) the date on which the authority set out in this special resolution is revoked or varied by a special
resolution of the members of the Company in general meeting.
“rights issue” means an offer of shares open for a period fixed by the Directors of the Company to
holders of shares of the Company on the register of members of the Company on a fixed record date
and , where appropriate, the holders of other equity securities of the Company entitled to be offered
therein, in proportion to their then holdings of such shares or other equity securities (subject to such
exclusions or other arrangements as the Directors of the Company may deem necessary or expedient in
relation to fractional entitlements or having regard to any restrictions or obligations under the laws of
any relevant jurisdiction, or the requirements of any regulatory body or any stock exchange).”
7. To consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolution as a special resolution:
“The proposed resolution by the Board of Directors of the Company regarding the proposed amendments
to the Articles of Association (the contents of which are set out in the circular to shareholders in relation
thereto) is hereby considered and approved, and the Board of Directors is hereby authorized to modify the
wordings as appropriate and to do all such things as necessary in respect of the amendments to the
Articles of Association pursuant to the requirements (if any) of the relevant PRC authorities and the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.”

By order of the Board
YUANLU
Company Secretary
Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China
20 April 2004
Notes:

1. Holders of domestic shares (or A shares) who at the close of trading in the afternoon on 30 April 2004
(Friday) are registered on the Register of Members of the Company, and holders of overseas listed foreign
shares (or H shares) of the Company who at the close of trading in the afternoon on 7 May 2004 (Friday)
are registered on the Register of Members of the Company, shall have the right to attend the Annual
General Meeting,. In order to determine the list of holders of H Shares who are entitled to attend the
Annual General Meeting and entitled to the cash dividends for the year 2003, the Register of Members
for H Shares of the Company will be closed from 7 May 2004 to 8 June 2004 (both days inclusive). Any
holder to H Shares of the Company who intends to obtain a distribution of cash dividends for the year
2003 must submit the transfer documents together with the relevant share certificate(s) to the Company’s
H Shares registrar, Hong Kong Registrars Limited at Rooms 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong before 4:00 p.m. on 6 May 2004 (Thursday). A separate announcement
will be made in respect of the registration of entitlement for holders of A Shares, the timing and the
arrangements for distribution of cash dividends.

2. Shareholders who intend to attend the Annual General Meeting are required to lodge the completed and
signed reply slip for attendance with the Secretarial Office of the Board of Directors of the Company on
or before 19 May 2004 by hand, by post or by facsimile. For the written reply, please use the “Reply Slip
for Attending the Annual General Meeting” enclosed with this notice or a copy thereof. The written reply
will not affect the right of the shareholders to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting as
mentioned in Note 1 above.

3. Each shareholder having the right to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting may appoint one or
more proxies (whether a shareholder or not) to attend and vote on his behalf. Should more than one proxy
be appointed by a shareholder, such proxies shall only exercise their voting rights on a poll. Each
shareholder (or his proxy) shall be entitled to one vote for each share held.

4. Shareholders shall appoint a proxy in writing (i.e. by using the “Proxy Form for use at Annual General
Meeting” (“Proxy Form”) enclosed with this notice or a copy thereof). The Proxy Form shall be signed by




the person appointing the proxy or an attorney authorized by such person. If the Proxy Form is signed by
an attoméy, the power of attorney or other documents of authorization shall be notarially certified. If the
person appointing the proxy is a legal person, then the Proxy Form shall be under seal or be signed by its
director or a duly authorized attorney. To be valid, the Proxy Form and notarially certified power of
attorney or other documents of authorization must be delivered either to the Secretarial Office of the
Board of Directors of the Company or with the Company’s H Shares registrar, Hong Kong Registrars
Limited, at Rooms 1901-5, 19th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not less
than 24 hours before the time appointed for the holding of the Annual General Meeting,

5. Shareholders or their proxies shall present proofs of their identity upon attending the meeting. Should a
proxy be appointed, the proxy shall also present his form of proxy.

6. The Annual General Meeting is expected to last half a day. Those who attend the meeting shall bear their
own traveling and accommodation expenses.

7. Details of the proposed amendments to the Articles of Association of the Company as referred to in
resolution 7 above are set out in the Circular to holders of H Shares of the Company.
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Document D

TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED

(a Sino-foreign joint stock limited company established in the People’s Republic of China)
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The Board of TsingTao Brewery Company Limited (the “Company”) proposed to amend the Articles of
ssociation and a special resolution for approving the amendments to the Articles of Association will be put
forward to shareholders at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting to be held on 8 June 2004
(the “AGM”). ’

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO THE ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

The China Securities Regulatory Commission and the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council jointly promulgated the “Notice on Certain Issues Concerning the
Regulation of Capital Flow Between Listed Companies and Related Parties and the Provision of Guarantees
by Listed Companies (Document Zheng Jian Fa [2003] No.56)” (the “Notice”) on 28 August 2003. The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) has revised the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) relating to
corporate governance, which took effect on 31 March 2004.

The Board of Directors of the Company (“the Board”) has proposed that amendments be made to the
Articles of Association of the Company in accordance with the Notice and the newly revised Listing Rules,
and the same be considered and, if thought fit, passed by the shareholders of the Company at the AGM.
These amendments include:

* incorporating the regime contemplated by the Notice governing the provision of the guarantees by PRC
listed companies so as to safeguard the rights of investors

* incorporating the amendments made to Appendix 3 to the Listing Rules in relation to the period within
which the intention to propose a person for election as a director should be given to the Company, and in
relation to the validity of votes cast by interested shareholders in general meetings and by interested directors
at the relevant board meetings

» updating the definitions of terms like “connected person”, “president” and “vice president”

Further details of the proposed amendments are set out in the circular to be despatched to holders of H
Shares. '

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND BOOK CLOSURE

A special resolution for approving the proposed amendments to the Articles of Association will be put
forward to shareholders at the Company’s forthcoming AGM to be held on 8 June 2004. The Register of
Members for H Shares of the Company will be closed from 7 May 2004 to 8 June 2004 (both days inclusive)
in order to determine the list of holders of H Shares who are entitled to attend the AGM and entitled to the
cash dividends for the year 2003.

By Order of the Board
TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED
YUAN LU
Company Secretary
Qingdao, 20 April 2004

Directors of the Company:

Mr. Li GuiRong (Chairman), Mr. Jin ZhiGuo, Mr. Liu YingDi, Mr. Sun YuGuo,
Mr. Stephen Burrows, Mr. Wang LiJun,

Mr. Chu ZhenGang, Mr. Tan LiNing, Mr. Wu HaiHua, Ms. Pan Gui Rong




